Historic Mining Resources of San Juan County, Colorado
Name of Multiple Property Listing State

Table of Contents for Written Narrative

Provide the following information on continuation sheets. Cite the letter and title before each section of the narrative.
Assign page numbers according to the instructions for continuation sheet in How to Complete the Multiple Property
Documentation Form (National Register Bulletin 16B). Fill in page numbers for each section in the space below.

PAGE NUMBERS SUBJECT TO CHANGE

E1  Statement of HiStOrC CONEXIS. .. .. v ittt et e e e e v e e ene 1
L0 11 od o] o PPN 1
The Physical Environment of San Juan CoUNtY.........ouvieriiiin i e e e, 2
San Juan County’s MiniNg DiStrICTS. .. ... .uue e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 5

Las Animas Mining DIStrCT. .. ... v e e e e e e e D
Eureka Mining DiStriCt... ... ...ouie i et e e e e een . O
Cement Creek SUD-DIStriCt..........veie e e e e eeiieaene 0. O
Mineral Creek Mining DISLriCE. .. ........ovuiieiie s e D
Ice Lake Mining DistriCt.........ccuuirii i e e e ee ]
Mineral Point Mining DiStriCt. .. .........ve o e e el T

7

8

Poughkeepsie MiniNg DIStriCt. .. ......vue oo e e e e e e

Bear Creek Mining DiStriCT. .. .. ... e e e e e e e
E1  The History of Mining in San Juan COUNY.........c.oiiiiiiiiiie e e e e e e 8
The Gold Rush, 1860 — 1861.. PPN o |
Return to the San Juans, 1870- 1874 P 24
Settlement and Establishment of Industry, 1875 1881 ............................... 29
The Early 1880s Boom, 1882-1885 ........c.oouiiiiiiiiiieieiee e e e e e aenns 53
The Late 1880s Slump, 1886-1889..........cviviiiierie et cee e, 68
The Value of Silver is Restored, 1890-1893 .........ccooeiviiiiiiiiiiie e 12
The Silver Crash, 1894-1897 ... .ccc.ninii i e 81
The Great Mining Revival, 1898-1910 .........c.ccoviiiiiiiiie e e v e 92
World War | Revival, 1915-1921.......cccviviiiiiiiiiiii e ene e 0. 126
Major Decline, 1922-1932.. PP - ¥
Great Depression Era ReV|vaI 1933 1939 ........................................... 155
World War Il, 1941-1945.. P I ¢ 1
Post World War I Recovery, 1946 1954 ............................................ 164
An End to Mining... PPN X o 1
E2 Mining and Milling Methods, Technology, and Equipment..............ccccoviieiininnn 172
PlaCer MINING ... e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 172
The Nature of Placer DepOSItS. .. ......vev i e e, 172
Prospecting for Placer Gold...............ccooveiiiiiiiiin e 173
Placer Mining Methods..........coveriiriie i e, 173
Hardrock MiNiNG... ..o e e e e e 175
The Nature of Hardrock Ore Deposits. .. ....c.vvviveiieieie e i eiiienaa, 175
Prospecting for Hardrock Ore.. - S 4 ¢
Deep Exploration and the Development of Ore Bodles ..................... 177
The Mine Surface Plant...........oooo i e 179

Surface Plants for TUNNEIS. .. ... oo e e e 180



Historic Mining Resources of San Juan County, Colorado

Name of Multiple Property Listing State
Surface Plants for Shafts......... ..o 186
Additional Surface Plant Components... .. ceeennnn201
Ore Beneficiation: Smeltlng Ore Concentration, and Amalgamatlon .............. 214
Smelters.. PR I
Concentratlon MI||S PP 2 I o
Amalgamation Stamp |\/|I||S ...................................................... 219

F Y 7= 1)1 = T2 R |

F. Property Types and Registration Requirements..............................................221

Introduction.. e 221
Overview of Perlods of Slgnlflcance and Areas of Slgnlflcance 0222
Property Types and Registration Requirements...........o.evvrveieiie e e e en 241
Property Type: PIacer MINE. .. ... ... e e e e e e e 241
Property Type: Hardrock PrOSPECE. .......coviee ittt e e e e e e aes 246
Property Type: Hardrock Mine............ccooiiiiiii i i e 2. 253
Property Type: Aerial TramWaY ... ....ovue e e e e e e e eae e ae e en e 264
Property Type: Ore Concentration FaCility..........cueuuieiie i e e e 271
e 00] 0 T=T 2 =11 (= 284
Property Type: Mining Settlement and Residence.............ccoveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin e 288
Property Type: Rural Historic Mining LandsCape..........ccoviriieiiiiiieiie e e, 304
G. GEOGraPNIC DAL, .. ... ettt e e e e e 309
H. Summary of Identification and Evaluation Methods..............ccoviiii e, 309
L. Mayjor BibliographiC REferenCes. .........ouviriie i e 311
J. 1 WIS 1 = 11 o] 325
Section E: The Geography of San Juan County’s Mining Districts.............ccoevevnenn. 325
Section E: The History of Mining in San Juan County... NG 1C 7
Section E: Mining and Milling Methods, Technology, and Equlpment ........................ 353

Section F: Property Types and Registration Requirements..............cooevvevveineeneannn, 386



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018
(Revised March 1992)

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places
Multiple Property Documentation Form

This form is used for documenting multiple property groups relating to one or several historic contexts.
See instructions in How to Complete the Multiple Property Documentation Form (National Register
Bulletin 10-900-a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer to complete all items.

_X_ New Submission ___ Amended Submission

SECTION A: NAME OF MULTIPLE PROPERTY LISTING
Historic Mining Resources of San Juan County, Colorado

SECTION B: ASSOCIATED HISTORIC CONTEXTS
(name each associated historic context, identifying theme, geographical area, and chronological period)
The Gold Rush, 1860-1861

Return to the San Juans, 1870-1874

Settlement and Establishment of Industry, 1875-1881

The Early 1880s Boom, 1882-1885

The Value of Silver is Restored, 1890-1893

The Silver Crash, 1894-1897

The Great Mining Revival, 1898-1910

World War | Revival, 1915-1921

Great Depression Era Revival, 1933-1939

Post World War 11 Recovery, 1946-1954

SECTION C: FORM PREPARED BY

namel/title Eric Twitty, historian, M.A.

organization___Mountain States Historical (303) 499-4334 _ date September 27, 2010
street & number 1011 Glenwood Drive telephone_(303) 499-4334
city or town___ Lafayette state_CO zip code__ 80026

SECTION D: CERTIFICATION

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, | hereby certify that this
documentation form meets the National Register documentation standards and sets forth requirements
for listing of related properties consistent with the National Register criteria. This submission meets the
procedural and professional requirements set forth in CFR Part 60 and the Secretary of the Interior's
Standards and Guidelines for Archaeology and Historic Preservation.

(see continuation sheet for additional comments [])

State Historic Preservation Officer
Signature and title of certifying official date

Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation, Colorado Historical Society
State or Federal agency and bureau




NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018
(Revised March 1992)

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places
Multiple Property Documentation Form

This form is used for documenting multiple property groups relating to one or several historic contexts.
See instructions in How to Complete the Multiple Property Documentation Form (National Register
Bulletin 10-900-a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer to complete all items.

_X_ New Submission ___ Amended Submission

| hereby certify that this multiple property documentation form has been approved as a basis for
evaluating related properties for listing in the National Register.

Signature of the Keeper date of action



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 1

Section E 1: History of Mining in San Juan County

INTRODUCTION

In terms of mining history, San Juan County is among the most important regions in the
Rocky Mountain states. The county hosted a local mining industry that was significant for its
longevity, productivity, role in key industry events, and association with important people. For
example, in 1860, the Animas River drainage was the scene of the first popular gold rush in
southwestern Colorado. This initial event led to the exploration and popularization of the San
Juan Mountains. During the late 1870s, hardrock mining took hold and became important
enough to convince the Denver & Rio Grande Railroad to grade a narrow-gauge line to the San
Juans and then up to Silverton. The railroad is still in service today as one of Colorado’s
premiere tourist attractions, designated a National Historic Landmark in July 1961. Following
the Silver Crash of 1893, the owners of the two largest mines in the county instituted the practice
of producing and milling low-grade ore in unprecedented volumes to offset the meager returns
per ton of material. When these two individuals demonstrated that the strategy was effective, the
rest of Colorado’s hardrock mining industry followed and pulled the state out of the mid-1890s
depression.

An outstanding assemblage of historic resources represents the county’s fascinating and
important hardrock mining industry. Following abandonment, many of the prospects, mines, and
mills succumbed to the pressures of mineral exploration, scavenging, recreational use, and
especially natural decay, leaving a number of resources in various states of preservation. While
some of the important mines and towns are well-known, forgotten resources are being
rediscovered through historic preservation efforts, environmental cleanup, and greater attention
to local and Federal public lands.

To foster the understanding and preservation of important sites, the Bureau of Land
Management (BLM) commissioned a Multiple Property Documentation Form focused on the
county’s rich mining heritage. Little other context work has been completed as of 2009 regarding
the county’s mining history. Several popular publications and a series of resource inventory
reports constitute the only broad-scale body of historical analysis. Between the late 1990s and
early 2000s, the BLM funded a sweeping inventory of the county’s principal mine and settlement
sites. The BLM divided the county into study units, identified the principal sites within each unit,
and contracted with archaeological consultants to inventory the selected resources. The
consultants then produced reports of findings."

While these projects established an important baseline, they were not designed to provide
specific guidance regarding the identification, interpretation, and evaluation of the county’s

! Steve Baker, Cement Creek West Study Unit-AML Historic Site Survey (Montrose, CO: Centuries Research, 1998); Ross S. Curtis, Recording
of Historic Mining Properties in the Galena Mountain Study Unit, San Juan County, Colorado (Durango, CO: Durango Archaeological
Consultants, 2001); Eric Twitty, Mining Cement Creek: A Selective Inventory of Historic Mine Sites on the East Side of the Cement Creek
Drainage, San Juan County, Colorado (Boulder: Mountain States Historical, 2000); Eric Twitty, The Silverton Mining District k: A Selective
Inventory of Principal Historic Sites, San Juan County, Colorado (Boulder: Mountain States Historical, 2002).
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mining resources. The 2010 Historic Mining Resources of San Juan County, Colorado Multiple
Property Documentation Form commissioned by the BLM attempts to fill this need. The
document contains an abundance of information that has been formatted for an understanding of
the common types of mining-related resources that may be encountered today.

The Historic Mining Resources of San Juan County, Colorado is a subcontext of the
larger statewide Multiple Property Documentation Form The Mining Industry in Colorado.? Jay
Fell and Eric Twitty wrote the document in 2005, and the Colorado Historical Society published
a revision in 2008. The Mining Industry in Colorado provides a broad overview of mining
throughout Colorado between 1858 and 2001, general descriptions of its common resource types,
and their general registration requirements. A subcontext with greater detail and specificity to
San Juan County is necessary to better support regional nominations. The county’s history is
complex, and the resources varied in type specialized to the region’s environment.

Section E.1 of the subcontext describes San Juan County’s geography, mining districts,
and history in greater detail than the statewide context, and in chronological order. The statewide
context, in contrast, follows a geographic approach. The subsection on history is new material
and covers the events, trends, people, organizations, and Periods of Significance specific to the
county. The subsection is crucial for placing present historic resources in time and place, and
identifying relevant Areas of Significance for nomination. Section E.2 reviews the technology,
methods, and equipment commonly employed for prospecting, mining, and milling in the county.
This information is important to promote a better understanding of the county’s mining history
and to help interpret mining resources in the field. Section E.2 directly reproduces a parallel
section in the statewide context, with author permission, and adapted to the county-specific
industry. Material not directly relevant to San Juan County, such as coal mining, has been
omitted.

Section F of the subcontext describes the property types common to the mining industry
in San Juan County as well as their registration requirements. The section was also directly
repeated from the statewide context for consistency, and because terminology and many resource
types are universal throughout the greater Rocky Mountains. Section F was, however, adapted to
San Juan County where needed. Some resource types are described in more detail while those
not found in the county, such as dredge placers, were omitted. Editorial improvements were
made as well, and embedded illustrations removed to comply with revision to National Park
Service policy.

THE PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT OF SAN JUAN COUNTY

San Juan County lies in southwestern Colorado, and it encompasses approximately 753
square miles within the central San Juan Mountains. Cycles of geological uplift, subsidence, and
glaciation contributed to particularly difficult terrain dominated by high alpine peaks and deep

2Jay Fell and Eric Twitty, The Mining Industry in Colorado Multiple Property Documentation Form (Denver: On file with the Colorado State
Historic Preservation Office, Colorado Historical Society, 2008).
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valleys. The peaks range in elevation from around 11,000 to 14,000 feet, and separate several
distinct drainages.

The Animas River carved the county’s principal valley from between towering
landforms. Following a cultural geographic pattern common to the greater Rocky Mountains,
nearly all the county’s principal towns grew in the valley. The river begins at the confluence of
three alpine creeks in the county’s northern extent. The appropriately named town of Animas
Forks lay at the confluence, and from here, the river trends southerly for around three miles to
the townsite of Eureka. The valley widens, curves southwest around two miles to Howardsville,
and continues three more miles to the town of Silverton, the county seat. From there, the valley
constricts again and resumes a southward course out of the mountains toward Durango.

Numerous streams descend into the Animas River valley from both sides, draining basins
between the principal peaks. On the north side, the principal streams are, west to east, Mineral
Creek, Cement Creek, Eureka Gulch, California Gulch, and the North Fork of the Animas.

Mineral Creek ascends northwest from Silverton for several miles and then branches at a
point historically known as Burro Bridge. The South Fork continues west into a cluster of peaks
and basins forming a divide with the Telluride area in the western San Juans. Ice Lake Basin,
near the headwaters, was noteworthy because it was center to the Ice Lake Mining District and a
cluster of mines developed during the 1880s. The basin is above treeline, features an alpine
environment, and, historically, was remote and difficult to access, which confounded mining.

The main fork of Mineral Creek ascends due north from Burro Bridge for around four
miles and ends at Red Mountain Pass. Here, the tributary Mill Creek extends west into a group of
peaks. The historic settlement of Chattanooga grew at the confluence, and it was center to a
small collection of mines. When the Red Mountain Mining District boomed on the north side of
the pass (Ouray County) during the mid-1880s, Mineral Creek became a principal route and
Chattanooga served as a gateway.

Cement Creek, another principal drainage, ascends north from Silverton and is flanked on
both sides by high peaks. The valley trends north for around six miles, curves northeast, and ends
at the townsite of Gladstone, which was established at a confluence. Near Gladstone, Prospect
Gulch ascends steeply northwest into the Red Mountain peaks, which rise to elevations of more
than 12,000 feet. At Gladstone, the South Fork of Cement Creek branches south, the main fork
ascends north, and both end in alpine basins. While Cement Creek was heavily prospected during
the late 1870s, twenty years passed before the drainage saw mining of significance. Most of the
substantial operations were relatively close to Gladstone, and a few were in Prospect Gulch. The
Gold King, one of the county’s most productive mines, was on the east edge of Gladstone.

Eureka Gulch enters the Animas valley at the townsite of Eureka, and it passes northwest
between peaks to Lake Emma and Sunnyside Basin. The gulch saw some of the county’s earliest
activity, and Sunnyside Basin hosted the Sunnyside Mine, which was one of the most important
mines both in the county and state.

California Gulch and the North Fork of the Animas are the last two principal drainages
on the north side of the Animas River. They and Cinnamon Creek join at the townsite of Animas
Forks, and this confluence serves as the Animas River’s headwaters. California Gulch ascends
gently west, the North Fork ascends north, and Cinnamon Creek extends east. High peaks rising
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to elevations of 12,500 to 13,200 feet surround the confluence, and the confluence itself is a lofty
11,000 feet.

The south side of the Animas River valley features almost as many tributary drainages as
the north side. From west to east, the tributaries include Arrastra Gulch, Cunningham Gulch,
Maggie Gulch, Minnie Gulch, and Burns Gulch. Arrastra Gulch, scene of the first hardrock mine
in the San Juans, is relatively short and ascends steeply south to an abrupt headwall bracketed by
high peaks. Beyond lies Silver Lake Basin, which hosted several of the county’s most advanced
mines.

Cunningham Gulch is one of the deepest of the tributaries and featured several of the
earliest and longest-lived mines. The drainage extends southeast from Howardsville for one mile
and curves southwest. At the curve, Stony Gulch veers southeast, and while it is a minor
tributary to Cunningham, the gulch is noteworthy because it was historically one of the main
entry points into the region. Cunningham Gulch continues south for around two miles and
branches into several alpine creeks. King Solomon Mountain and North Star Peak form the
gulch’s west side, and Green Mountain serves as the east side.

Maggie and Minnie gulches open into the Animas valley relatively close together. Over
the course of two miles, Maggie Gulch curves from southeast to south and ends in a glaciated
basin. Minnie Gulch is almost as long and follows a similar course. Burns Gulch, which featured
several productive mines, lies between Eureka and Animas Forks and follows a short and
southeastern ascent into numerous peaks.

The far northern reach of the county, mostly above treeline, is the only portion that drains
northwest away from the Animas River. Mineral Creek carries snowmelt from the area north of
Animas Forks westerly into Ouray County and the Uncompahgre River. Poughkeepsie Gulch,
north of Cement Creek, flows from alpine basins into Mineral Creek. Both drainages were, for a
brief time early in the county’s history, important centers of prospecting.

The climate in the San Juan Mountains presented the mining industry with conditions that
some observed were second in difficulty only to Alaska. The editors of the Silverton Standard
summed the general weather pattern in a simple sentence: “Snow-banks whiten these upper
elevations from January to August, and from August to January. The clouds weep about all the
year round.”® What the editors forgot to mention were the high winds.

The summers were the most important season for activity, and while they tended to be
hospitable, they were remarkably short and cool. Summer begins in June when temperatures in
the 60s and 70s, Fahrenheit, melt the thick snowpack from lower elevations and improve
transportation. June is usually clear and bright, but by July, a regional phenomenon known as the
monsoon shrouds the mountains in clammy and rainy weather until September, when reliable
warmth and sun return. With occasional snows, the middle of summer in the San Juans could be
mistaken for mild winter in more temperate climates. The fall begins in October, and while it
tends to be dry, the weather has an element of unpredictability. At the least, the temperatures
during both day and night are cooler, and cold snaps, snow, and prolonged warm weather are all
possible through November. Winter sets in during November and lasts through April. Powerful

3 Silverton Standard (7/27/95): 1.
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Pacific storms blowing in from the west deposit up to several feet of snow at a time and send
temperatures plummeting well below zero degrees. Cold air masses that follow the storms force
the temperatures down as low as -40 degrees, although readings in the 30s and 40s are more
typical. Because the cold air tends to sink, the mountain canyons, where most of the settlements
were located, channeled streams of frigid air, while the areas on the slopes where the mines lay
tended to be much warmer. Despite such conditions, mining thrived in the San Juans by the
1880s and all-year residence became common. Nevertheless, both the geographic and climatic
factors contribute to a distinct sense of physical isolation.

SAN JUAN COUNTY'’S MINING DISTRICTS

In general, prospectors across the West organized mining districts as a primitive form of
frontier government to regulate claim activity and some behaviors of miners. The boundaries of a
mining district were usually drawn around concentrations of mineral claims. When prospecting
and mining spilled outside of an established district, the boundaries were usually amended to
incorporate the additional activity. An elected board set regulations that defined the types of
claims, claim sizes, requirements to maintain title, rights for infrastructure and engineering
projects, and discovery rights for placer and hardrock deposits. The board also kept records,
defined laws that governed behavior and enforced law and order. With the rise of effective
county governments throughout Colorado, the majority of these responsibilities fell to a clerk
and recorder, while the sheriff administered law enforcement. Mining districts, however,
continued to be recognized.

Roughly between 1870 and 1880, prospectors in San Juan County established seven
formal mining districts: Animas, Bear Creek, Eureka, Ice Lake, Mineral Creek, Mineral Point,
and Poughkeepsie. The press, industry experts, and local interests often attributed new centers of
activity to the nearest district and substituted popular names for original designations. As a
result, some of the county’s districts are known by several names, and their exact boundaries
remain nebulous.

Las Animas Mining District

The Las Animas Mining District enjoys the status of first district in the county and
probably the greater San Juan Mountains. Prospectors organized the entity, often known simply
as the Animas district, on June 15, 1871, to govern claim activity throughout the Animas River
drainage. The original district proved unwieldy in size, and when prospectors arrived in
significant numbers in 1873, they began carving other districts out of the Las Animas. The
Eureka district was the first and took in the territory north of the Animas River and east of
Cunningham Gulch. Mineral Creek was the second and assumed the Mineral Creek drainage and
mountains west of the Animas River. This left the large cluster of towering peaks southwest of
Silverton as the Las Animas district, and they included Kendall Mountain, Kendall Peak,

* Allen Nossaman, Many More Mountains: Volume 1: Silverton’s Routes (Denver: Sundance Publications, 1989) 103.
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Hazelton Mountain, Round Mountain, King Solomon Mountain, and North Star Peak. Silver
Lake Basin lay near the center. In terms of final boundaries, the Animas River defined the
district’s west and north edges, Cunningham Gulch was the east side, and Whitehead Peak
marked the south line. Silverton anchored the district’s northwest corner and Howardsville the
northeast corner.

Eureka Mining District

Ruben J. McNutt and George W. Howard, two of the county’s pioneers, were the driving
force behind the Eureka Mining District. They formalized the district in 1873 and, while the
original boundaries are unclear, they designated the region north of the Animas River, east of
Cunningham Gulch, and west of the Continental Divide. The boundaries became defined in 1874
or 1875 when prospectors created the Mineral Creek district to the west, and the Mineral Point
district to the north. Ultimately, the Eureka district assumed a complex shape. Silverton lay at the
southwest corner, and from here, the west boundary passed northwest through the series of peaks
that culminated as the Red Mountains. In particular, the west boundary passed through, south to
north, Anvil Mountain, Ohio Peak, McMillan Peak, and Red Mountain No.3.

The district’s north boundary was inconsistent. It started at Red Mountain No.3, followed
the ridge east to Red Mountain No.1, and wrapped around the head of Cement Creek to
Hurricane Peak. The north boundary then followed the ridge northeast to Tuttle Mountain, east to
Houghton Mountain, and crossed over the North Fork of the Animas to Cinnamon Pass. In
essence, the entire north boundary followed the separation between south-flowing and north-
flowing drainages.

The east boundary followed a similar principal. That boundary was drawn along the
Continental Divide from Cinnamon Pass south to Stony Pass. The Divide also served as the
separation between San Juan and Hinsdale counties.

The south boundary was almost as complex as the north. Specifically, the boundary
extended from Stony Pass west to Cunningham Gulch and then followed the gulch northward to
Howardsville. Thus, the mountains on the west side of the gulch remained within the Animas
district while those on the east side belonged to the Eureka district. The south boundary then
followed the Animas River west to Silverton.

Cement Creek Subdistrict

It remains uncertain whether the Cement Creek Mining District was formally organized,
but archival sources, including mining journals and mine inspectors’, reports allude to the
existence of a district by that name. The Cement Creek district was limited to the Cement Creek
drainage and can be considered a subdistrict within the Eureka.

Mineral Creek Mining District
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When prospectors fanned out into the western portion of the county in 1874 and 1875,
they found enough mineral deposits to justify a mining district. The prospectors organized the
Mineral Creek Mining District, and because the discoveries were widely scattered among the
peaks and drainages, the district boundaries remained poorly defined. In general, we can assume
that the district included the Mineral Creek drainage west of the Animas and Eureka districts.
Most of the activity in the district occurred along the forks of Mineral Creek.

Ice Lake Mining District

During the late 1870s, prospectors found a concentration of mineralized veins in Ice Lake
Basin, near the head of the South Fork of Mineral Creek, at the county’s west edge. Because the
collection was a distinct entity, they organized the Ice Lake Mining District, which was limited
to the basin and head of the creek. Ground largely devoid of mineralization between Ice Lake
Basin and the mines on Mineral Creek helped the district maintain recognition as distinct.

Mineral Point Mining District

The county’s northern extent featured a second Mineral Creek, and it was center to
another early district. When Albert W. Burrows and Charles H. Mclntyre prospected the area and
staked a number of claims in 1873, they almost certainly organized a district at the same time.
The original name probably contained the term Mineral but excluded Point because the name
Mineral Point did not come into being until 1875 when the Postal Service recognized the
settlement of Mineral City as Mineral Point. Afterward, the mining industry adopted the name
Mineral Point, and the district was one of the most remote, highest, and difficult to work in.

The district straddled southeast Ouray and northeast San Juan County and encompassed
the Mineral Creek drainage. The northeast edge followed the Continental Divide between Wood
and Engineer mountains, and extended west from Engineer Mountain across several unnamed
peaks. The west edge went almost due south to Tuttle Mountain and respected the divide
between the Mineral Creek and Poughkeepsie drainages. The district’s south boundary was the
same as the Eureka district’s north boundary. In particular, the south edge connected the crests of
Tuttle and Houghton mountains, and leapt over the North Fork of the Animas River to Cinnamon
Pass. The east edge then followed the Continental Divide from the pass north to Wood
Mountain, closing the loop.

Poughkeepsie Mining District

The Poughkeepsie Mining District encompassed the Poughkeepsie Gulch area, which
was also the headwaters of the Uncompahgre River, in the county’s northern portion. From
another perspective, the district occupied a pocket of territory west of the Mineral Point and
north of the Eureka districts. McNutt and Howard may have formulated a version of the district
as early as 1873, when they staked the Poughkeepsie and other claims. The original boundaries
are uncertain, but the district became well-defined by 1875. The Poughkeepsie district’s east
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boundary was the same as the Mineral Point district’s west edge. In particular, the boundary
formed a line from Tuttle Mountain north over Mineral Creek to the crest of an unnamed peak.
Originally, the west boundary may have extended as far as Ironton Park and Red Mountain
Creek, but this was pushed eastward with the creation of the Red Mountain Mining District in
the early 1880s. As a result, the Poughkeepsie district’s western edge followed the crest of
Brown Mountain, which was also the boundary between San Juan and Ouray counties. The
district’s southern edge respected the divide between the Cement Creek and Poughkeepsie
drainages and extended from the south end of Brown Mountain through Poughkeepsie Pass to
Hurricane Peak.

Bear Creek Mining District

The Bear Creek Mining District was one of the last designated in San Juan County.
Prospectors discovered gold on Bear Creek in 1893, prompting a small rush the following year.
The district centered on Bear Creek, which flows northeast into the headwaters of the Rio
Grande River. Deep in the mountains southeast of Cunningham Gulch, the district was so remote
that mining companies found Creede in Mineral County to be easier to reach and relied on it as
the nearest point of commerce instead of Silverton. The district extended west over the
Continental Divide and included the headwaters of Elk Creek.

THE HISTORY OF MINING IN SAN JUAN COUNTY

Each subheading in Section E itemized below refers to a discrete Period of Significance
in San Juan County mining history as defined by historical events, trends, and patterns:

The Gold Rush, 1860-1861

Return to the San Juans, 1870-1874

Settlement and Establishment of Industry, 1875-1881
The Early 1880s Boom, 1882-1885

The Value of Silver is Restored, 1890-1893

The Silver Crash, 1894-1897

The Great Mining Revival, 1898-1910

World War | Revival, 1915-1921

Great Depression Era Revival, 1933-1939

Post World War Il Recovery, 1946-1954

The Gold Rush, 1860 — 1861

Mining in San Juan County began not in the San Juan Mountains, but far to the northeast
in California Gulch near present-day Leadville. A prospector named Charles Baker postulated
that the gulch lay within a huge mineral belt extending from Boulder County southwest to points
deep in the mountains. Baker came to Colorado with the Pikes Peak Gold Rush in 1859 or 1860,



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 9

examined placer mining centers on the Front Range and in Park County, and finding the most
profitable ground already claimed, joined the excitement in California Gulch. Arriving late, he
found the same conditions there and, in need of income, joined a crew of miners working for
S.B. Kellogg & Company. In his travels, Baker observed that from Boulder County to California
Gulch, the placer fields conformed to a northeast-southwest pattern, which supported the mineral
belt idea.

Baker discussed the concept with Kellogg and convinced him that more gold probably
lay to the southwest. Kellogg agreed to fund an expedition, which Baker led into uncharted
territory during the summer of 1860. Leaving the Arkansas River valley, the Baker party crossed
over the Continental Divide and descended west along the Gunnison River panning for gold.
Repeated failures to find even traces put the mineral belt hypothesis in doubt, although had the
party gone south along Cochetopa Creek or north in the EIk Mountains, they would have been
successful. Baker instead continued southwesterly toward the San Juan Mountains and followed
the Lake Fork of the Gunnison River. When the party arrived at Lake San Cristobal, Baker found
gold, but the small deposits were unprofitable and some members turned back. The gold,
however, was enough to tantalize Baker and six or seven others into further exploration, and they
crossed west over Cinnamon Pass into the Animas River valley. Thus Baker and partners became
the first Euro-Americans clearly known to penetrate the deep San Juan Mountains.”

When the party reached the Animas River, it followed the constricted, rocky gorge until
the valley broadened into an area where tributary drainages converged from nearly all directions.
Here, the members pitched camp and prepared for a systematic search for gold. The party
allotted specific tributary drainages to its members, who would later compare findings in camp.
W.H. Cunningham assumed the first deep gulch near camp that extended south, a prospector
named Mason took the only gulch to the west, Baker wandered the Animas valley, and others
fanned out to the north.

In the latter portion of summer, Baker and partners grew excited when they discovered
what they thought were bonanza placers at the mouths of Cunningham and Mason gulches (later
renamed Arrastra Gulch), and near the later townsite of Eureka, presumably named after this
initial placer strike. During August, men converged on the discoveries and pursued deeper
deposits. Had they taken the time, however, to track the horizontal extent of the gold-bearing
gravel, the prospectors may have proceeded less enthusiastically.

Regardless, they processed the shallow gravel with pans and sluices through September,
realizing that the season’s end drew near. In need of supplies, and seeking to popularize the find,
Baker traveled out from the San Juans. In October, he followed the Animas River south to the
New Mexican trading outpost of Abiquiu. After relaying his story, Baker turned east and trekked
to settlements on the Rio Grande River, where he not only acquired goods, but found a ready
audience. After heavily promoting the placer discoveries, Baker assembled a party of around 150
prospectors and other individuals willing to try their luck in what he referred to as Baker’s Park.°

5 Nossaman, 1989: 36-37.
6 Nossaman, 1989: 39.
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By mid-October, the original party welcomed Baker and his 150-member entourage.
Baker apparently neglected to inform the new prospectors that their window for exploring the
high country was short and that they would have to descend before deep snows stranded them.
This became painfully obvious as the temperatures fell and the weather turned increasingly
unpredictable. Still, the participants of the small rush had just enough time to examine the placer
fields, stake claims, and break ground. In response to new competition and out of certainty that
the following year would see a major rush, the Baker party claimed their camp and surrounding
land as Baker’s Park. When winter set in, the entire assemblage of prospectors decided the
season was over and descended south out of the mountains.’

When they approached the lower elevations, the prospectors broke into several groups.
Wanting more than just the Animas River gold, Baker and several others wrapped west around
the San Juans to the Dolores River for additional prospecting. Some of the 150 returned to the
San Luis Valley and Abiquiu, while Baker’s original party and others established a small
settlement on the Animas River. The group named their collection of dank and crude cabins
Animas City and felt some security in its strategic location (another town by the same name was
founded during the mid-1870s down river). The immediate area offered water, shelter, timber for
cabins, and game, and the settlement was as close as possible to the gold discoveries. Reasons
for insecurity also abounded, however. Because Animas City was completely isolated, residents
had to be completely self-sufficient. Of greater import, the settlement was within territory
traditionally used by the Ute Indians, and the presence of the prospectors fueled tribal fears of
encroachment. Ultimately, these fears would prove well-founded.®

As various parties left the San Juans in late fall, they conveyed information that
contributed substance to the rumors initially spread by Baker. The reports of gold in the
mysterious San Juans spread like wildfire. The Pikes Peak Gold Rush was souring, mountain
discoveries were at their zenith, older gold fields were claimed and moreover showed signs of
exhaustion, while optimistic wealth seekers continued to arrive. Colorado was ready for another
significant gold discovery.

As individuals repeated Baker’s stories, the richness and extent of the gold deposits were
wildly elaborated. Even the voices of rational and experienced prospectors who personally
journeyed to Baker’s Park were unable to counter the exaggerations. The highly seasoned
Richard Sopris and partners left Animas City by December and returned to the Front Range to
report that Baker’s discoveries were a bust. Another prospector went so far as to write a series of
letters to Rocky Mountain News in January 1861 arguing against Baker’s finds. The dissent did
little to dissuade the unsuccessful, optimistic, and adventurous from journeying to the San Juans
as early as October 1860.°

S.B. Kellogg was among those that mobilized almost immediately. He felt that Baker’s
discovery would incite a significant rush and wanted to be among the first to stake profitable
ground. He quickly returned East for his family, brought them to Colorado, and organized a party

7 Ibid.
8 Ibid.
° Nossaman, 1989: 40, 51.
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of 150 to 200 individuals. Some of Colorado’s most notable pioneers were among the group, and
their interest fostered a sense of confidence that Baker’s Park would be the next bonanza. Abe
Lee, the discoverer of California Gulch, Henry Allen, a founder of Auraria, and Thomas Pollock,
one of Denver's first settlers and business operators, all joined Kellogg. In an attempt to establish
a foothold in advance of the big rush, Kellogg’s party hastily left in the uncertain weather of
December with relatively few provisions.

Meanwhile, the idle residents at Animas City grew impatient as they waited for the
weather to change. Eager to be first at the diggings, Baker and partners built sleds, hauled
supplies 30 miles up to the park, erected cabins, and readied for the season. Much to their
surprise, Kellogg’s massive party arrived at Animas City in early April along with other, smaller
groups of prospectors. Kellogg then joined Baker on what they hoped would be the last trudge up
to the placer fields. Despite snow, they tramped to the discovery site and began panning gravel in
the icy water.'?

After Baker had been absent for some days, some Animas City residents assumed that
conditions had dramatically improved. A large contingent ascended into the park, and they were
undoubtedly disappointed when they saw a thick snowpack covering much of the ground not
exposed to direct sun. Further, the weather turned and snow began falling. And yet, the
prospectors respected the frontier etiquette of permitting the discoverer, Baker in this case, to
stake his claims first before defining their own. As the conditions worsened, the prospectors
grew panicky at the thought of being snowbound and implored Baker and partners to take action.
Aware of the potential uprising, Baker, his partners and members of Kellogg’s party reluctantly
staked claims, despite the snow, over the areas that Baker remembered being the best. The group
staked 20 claims ascending Cunningham Gulch from its confluence with the Animas River, a
like set of claims in Mason Gulch, and another 20 on the Animas at what the group named
Eureka. In the context of haste and uncertainty, the Baker party staked the first claims recorded
in the San Juan Mountains. As soon as this was finished, the extraneous prospectors then staked
their locations adjoining the Baker and Kellogg assemblages, and all retreated back down to
Animas City and safety.™

Finally, in May, scouts reported that the passes were negotiable, and within several days,
Animas City emptied. When the swarm of prospectors arrived in Baker’s Park, some paused to
build cabins around Baker’s supposed townsite while others continued on to the diggings. There,
eager prospectors looked over the groups of claims staked in April, added their own, and built
cabins and crude shelters nearby. Through May and into June, more prospectors continued to
arrive, constituting the first mineral rush to the San Juan Mountains. Silverton historian Allen
Nossaman claims that more than 1,000 individuals were interested in Baker’s Park in 1861 but
not all came. In total, the rush probably drew between 500 and 700 prospectors who invested
considerable emotional capital and time in the difficult journey."

10 1pig:53.
1 Nossaman, 1989: 56.
12 |bid:60.
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Within several weeks, the Animas River ran muddy as those prospectors fortunate
enough to possess claims began to process gravel for gold. As a brilliant June progressed,
however, doubt about the richness of Baker’s Park slowly grew. The meager returns from
backbreaking labor demonstrated that the gravel deposits in the lower reaches of Cunningham
and Mason gulches and at Eureka were the only ones that contained appreciable amounts of gold
and that all the rest offered nothing. Further, the profitable deposits had been claimed by the
Baker party and the other prospectors who braved the April snows, leaving little for hundreds of
others. Some despaired, many grew angry, and the disenfranchised prospectors looked for
someone to blame for their failure. They seized upon Baker, who countered that he had been
accurate and that exaggerations of his factual reports were at fault. Regardless, some prospectors
attempted to foment rebellion and sought punishment of and even threatened to hang Baker.
Most, however, conceded defeat and left the San Juans in June and early July, popularizing the
event as the San Juan Humbug.*

After most of the rush participants departed, Baker, Kellogg, and party members
continued to recover gold but realized that they were not going to be wealthy. The party quickly
exhausted its claims in Mason and Cunningham gulches then contracted around Eureka, and after
a number of weeks, quit and packed their tools. With little to show after a year of hardship,
Baker and partners left the San Juans and brought to an end a gold rush in a land that would later
yield millions of dollars in silver.

When Baker arrived at Fort Garland, he found that the Civil War had begun, and feeling
the call of duty, hastened to his native state of Virginia to enlist in the Confederacy. After the
war’s end, Baker returned to Colorado to resume prospecting and was drawn to the upper
Arkansas River valley in 1867 by gold discoveries at Granite. Probably still interested in his gold
belt hypothesis, he and a small party began exploring the Western Slope and followed the
Colorado River into Utah. There, Baker, who managed to survive the deadly Civil War, was
killed in tribal conflict with the Ute.**

Return to the San Juans, 1870 — 1874

The failure of the San Juan Humbug etched an indelible prejudice against the mountains
during the 1860s and 1870s, even though the region was in reality a mineralogical treasure trove.
Experienced prospectors, however, remained cognizant of this potential. Unknown to each other,
two parties made plans during the late 1860s to search the San Juans not for additional placer
deposits, but for hardrock silver and gold ore.

One party consisted of Adnah French, John C. Dunn, Rodney McKinnon, and Solomon
Shoup, who prospected together in west-central Arizona. Born in Brandon, Vermont, French

13 Robert L. Brown, An Empire of Silver (Denver: Sundance Publications, 1984) 19; Nossaman, 1989: 64; J.G. Pangborn, The New Rocky
Mountain Tourist Arkansas Valley and San Juan Guide (Chicago: Knight & Leonard, 1878) 41; Robert E. Sloan, and Carl A. Skowronski, The
Rainbow Route: An lllustrated History of the Silverton Railroad, the Silverton Northern Railroad, and the Silverton, Gladstone, & Northerly
Railroad (Denver: Sundance Ltd, 1975) 14.

14 Brown, 1984: 19; Nossaman, 1989: 74; Pangborn, 1878: 41; Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 14; Muriel Sibel Wolle, Stampede to Timberline:
The Ghost Towns and Mining Camps of Colorado (University of Ohio Press, 1991 [1949]; Swallow Press) 340.
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joined the famed Lawrence Party in 1858, one of the three original groups to find placer gold in
Colorado and launch the Pikes Peak Gold Rush. As such, French was one of the founders of St.
Charles City at the Cherry Creek diggings, and went on to help found Denver. Two years later,
French hoped to repeat his good fortune and joined the Baker Party, where he became intimately
familiar with Baker’s Park. Dunn was born in New Brunswick in 1838, moved to Maine, and
then to Lawrence, Kansas at the age of sixteen. Seeking adventure, he traveled over the Santa Fe
Trail to wild New Mexico in 1862 and worked at the Apache-Navajo Indian Agency. Dunn also
served as an agent between 1864 and 1866. During his time in New Mexico, Dunn heard of the
failed rush to Baker’s Park and suspected that the gold came from a parent source.™

Corydon E. Cooley, Henry W. Dodd, and Dempsey Reese constituted the second party,
also in Arizona. Like French, Reese had direct experience as a prospector. Born in Henry
County, Indiana, in 1835 Reese joined the Pikes Peak rush in 1860. Finding no gold, he worked
for outfitters and helped Charles Baker begin his journey into the San Juans. When the Pikes
Peak rush went bust, Reese left Colorado and joined a party to prospect in Oregon. Wealthy in
experience but not gold, he returned to the East via Idaho, British Columbia, and Montana.
Restless, Reese came west on another whirlwind prospecting tour of Utah; California; Nevada;
and Sonora, Mexico, winding up in Arizona in 1868.1°

Whether the two groups met or simultaneously came up with a common idea is unknown,
but both parties idealized the potential for hardrock ore in the San Juans and joined forces. In
1869, the merged party began its journey across the Southwest and quickly confronted problems.
Water was difficult to find, and Apache raids and threats struck fear into most of the party, who
had increased beyond the original eight. Within a short time, all but the original eight turned
back. With Dunn’s experience as an Indian agent, the party successfully negotiated passage
across the desert and finally reached abandoned Animas City by October. An early snowstorm
blocked their ascent into Baker’s Park, but the group was unwilling to hunker down in the
abandoned collection of cabins, some of which the Utes had destroyed, and went southwest to
the safety of Fort Lowell in New Mexico.”

Once there, the party decided to split and winter in various points in the region. A few
stayed at Santa Fe, several went on to Tierra Amarilla, and Reese and others took up residence at
San Juan Pueblo. There, Reese met Miles T. Johnson, an old Pikes Peak friend. During the
winter, Cooley arrived at San Juan Pueblo with several of the prospectors who turned back, and
all waited for the spring thaw.®

When April 1870 arrived, the party amassed at Tierra Amarilla and left for the San Juans.
They reoccupied the intact cabins at Animas City and waited for the snowpack on the passes to
thaw. During the idle time, Dunn and some of the other members grew impatient, and they left
for a venture around the west base of the San Juans to the Dolores River drainage, which was

15 Roger Henn, Lies, Legends & Lore of the San Juans (Montrose: Western Reflections, 1999) 14; Nossaman, 1989: 43, 81.
16 Nossaman, 1989: 82.

o Brown, 1984: 21; Nossaman, 1989: 81-82; Pangborn, 1878: 42; Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 15.

18 Brown, 1984: 20; Nossaman, 1989: 84.
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free of snow. French, Reese, Johnson, and a few others, however, were still fixated on Baker’s
Park and awaited passage.*®

Later in the month, French was able to wait no longer and broke tracks over the passes
and into Baker’s Park. These adventurous prospectors were the first Euro-Americans in the area
since the rush of nine years before and must have thought that the realization of riches was only a
matter of time. They had the river valley to themselves, and furthermore sought hardrock ore,
which the Baker party had not considered. French and partners at once returned to the scene of
the original gold discoveries in Cunningham and Mason gulches and probably occupied one of
the original cabins built in 1861. Possibly working as a group, the prospectors tried the stream
gravels again for gold but eagerly began examining the sides of the gulches for the parent veins.

While French, Reese, and Johnson would have considered silver ore, they were interested
primarily in gold. In 1870, gold was valued at $20.70 per ounce and could be easily separated in
the field with fine crushing and amalgamation with mercury. Silver, by contrast, was valued at
$1.33 per ounce and usually required in-depth processing including roasting, leaching, and
smelting. In addition, the exact process was dictated by the proportion of silver and other metals,
which could only be determined through assay.

With this in mind, the trio began their search for ore in Cunningham Gulch, followed the
drainage to its end, and veered southwest up a tributary they named Mountaineer Creek. Near an
unusual geological formation on the north side, one of the prospectors found a vein that carried
metals. Close examination suggested that the metal was silver, and the party claimed the
formation as the Mountaineer (later part of the Highland Mary Mine). French, Reese, and
Johnson thus found the first hardrock lode and staked the earliest hardrock claim in the Animas
drainage. On the way down and north out of the gulch, the party examined the steep walls and
found another vein of similar character on the east side and staked it as the Manderfield, the
second lode and claim (later the Green Mountain Mine).?

Afterward, French, Reese, and Johnson focused on Mason Gulch, which had featured the
richest placer deposits in the past. At first, the prospectors examined mineralized veins in the
gulch’s outcrops and cliffs, and one of them ascended a ridge on the west side and encountered a
third silver vein. The group staked the region’s third discovery as the Mammoth (later part of the
Aspen Mine) and then resumed the search for gold.?

Rather than try to find the source of the placer gold by happenstance, the party resorted to
a systematic strategy practiced by experienced hardrock prospectors. In particular, they sampled
the gravel in the gulch for traces of placer gold, not to recover the material, but instead to find
the point where the gold particles were being introduced into the drainage. Through digging and
panning, they slowly progressed upward until the gold disappeared. This marked the point where
the gold was eroding into the stream from its parent source, and the prospectors turned to soil
samples taken from the gulch sides. Recovering gold well above the stream channel, the
prospectors neared the source and began closely examining the gulch sides for any sign of a

1 Nossaman, 1989: 86; Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 15.
20 Nossaman, 1989: 89.
2L |bid: 89.
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mineral formation, vein, or fault. Possibly after encountering fragmented vein material lying on
the ground, the party found that the gold came from a minor drainage on the gulch’s east side,
and after inspecting the bedrock outcrops, one of the prospectors finally found gold ore. Excited
and optimistic, the party staked the find as the Little Giant but was reluctant to declare absolute
success until the vein’s content had been proven. The claim was the fourth in the region and the
only gold vein yet found.?

By drilling and blasting, the prospectors drove a discovery cut into the vein and found,
that the ore continued deep into the rock. The size of the discovery workings remains unknown,
but it seems highly likely that the prospectors collected sacks of ore for assay. During the last
month of summer 1870, French, Reese, and Johnson reluctantly packed their camp. Even though
they were undoubtedly excited, the three prospectors understood that hard work was ahead if
they were to make the claims legal and profit from their finds.

French, Reese, and Johnson wintered in Santa Fe, where they met the Dunn party. Dunn
reported gold and silver discoveries near what became Rico. Based on French’s recounts, Dunn
planned his own visit to Baker’s Park in 1871. While in Santa Fe, French also encountered
William J. Mulholland, one of the 1869 Arizona prospectors who turned back in fear of Apache
attacks. Mulholland was born in Ireland in 1837 and immigrated to Canada in 1847 to seek a
better life. He went south in 1859, working as a carpenter before reaching Colorado in 1865,
where he tried his luck at Buckskin Joe in Park County. When the boom there collapsed, he
engaged in construction in Huerfano County before joining the rush to Elizabethtown, New
Mexico. In 1869, Mulholland went to Arizona to prospect, where he encountered French and
Reese. After abandoning French’s expedition, Mulholland finally reached Santa Fe, where he
accepted a position as carpenter for the government and worked with Thomas Blair.®

Blair was a western roustabout and skilled carpenter. He was born in Pond Mills, Ontario,
probably during the 1830s and may have served as a mercenary in the Civil War. Restless after
the war ended, Blair sought adventure in the West, working as a carpenter and prospecting along
the way. In 1870, he found employment at Santa Fe as a government carpenter and worked with
Mulholland.**

After meeting Mulholland and Blair, French realized that the two carpenters possessed
the skills needed to develop the Little Giant. In particular, they had tools, knowledge of
mechanics, the ability to build from scratch, and most importantly, adventurous spirits. The only
resources that lacked were adequate capital for supplies, specific mining equipment, and
materials. To interest the carpenters and several investors, French, Reese, and Johnson divided
the Little Giant into six shares and offered one each to themselves, Blair, Mulholland, and
merchant James H. Cook for $500 and a grubstake. French realized that $500 was not enough

2 Nossaman, 1989: 89; Frederick Leslie Ransome, USGS Bulletin No. 182: A Report on the Economic Geology of the Silverton Quadrangle,
Colorado (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, Government Printing Office, 1901) 19; "The San Juan Mines" EMJ (2/11/73); Sloan and
Skowronski, 1975: 15.

2z Nossaman, 1989: 93.
2% |bid: 94.
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and approached William A. Pile, New Mexico governor, and Joshua S. Fuller, Santa Fe
merchant, to offer them a deed to half of the Little Giant for a greater sum.”

In May 1871 French, Reese, Johnson, Mulholland, Blair, and Cook left Santa Fe to
develop the Little Giant. They departed in secrecy and followed the Rio Grande River to its
westerly headwaters. Certain that the party had not been followed, the six wealth-seekers pitched
camp on the grassy floor of Cunningham Gulch, relocated the Mountaineer claim, and conducted
additional prospecting. Afterward, the party made the short climb into Mason Gulch and
immediately went to work.?®

While French, Reese, and Cook began blasting ore from the vein, Blair and Mulholland
most likely erected several cabins. Because the ore could not be economically shipped to one of
the handful of mills in New Mexico or Colorado’s Front Range, the party came prepared to build
their own facility, based on the traditional Spanish arrastra. This simple apparatus consisted of a
circular stone floor hemmed in by low sidewalls with a capstan at center and a beam that rotated
around the capstan. A draft animal walked a track around the arrastra and pulled the beam, which
dragged stones around the floor. As the stones ground the ore, an attendant added water and
mercury, which amalgamated with the gold as it was freed.

The arrastra that Mulholland and Blair built, however, was more sophisticated to treat a
larger tonnage of ore in less time. The Little Giant facility featured four drag beams linked to a
side-shot waterwheel with a leather belt. The arrastra floor was relatively large at 15 feet in
diameter, the sidewalls consisted of vertical planks, and the waterwheel was 18 feet in diameter.
To take advantage of waterpower, Mulholland and Blair sited the arrastra on the floor of what
came to be known as Arrastra Gulch. A dam and flume provided the water, which flowed
through a ditch.’

When the apparatus was finished, the party gathered for the trial run and eagerly awaited
the results. After the ore had been ground, they drained out standing water, shoveled off the
sandy tailings, and grew excited over the dark gray amalgam lining the stone floor. They scraped
the material into a leather bag, squeezed out the liquid mercury, and heated the pasty mass in a
retort to drive off and condense the remaining mercury for reuse. When the retort’s cover was
cautiously removed, all marveled at the golden results of their year-long planning. They
produced the first pure gold, or any metal for that matter, in the San Juans.

Isolation was ordinarily perceived as an impediment to mining, and yet, the French party
treasured the fact that they had the Animas River drainage and its potential riches to themselves.
Thus, they were pained when they saw another party of prospectors arrive in May, followed by
two more in June. George Howard led the first party, and he too had direct experience with the
San Juan Humbug. Howard spent the winter of 1871 in Elizabethtown, New Mexico, where he
learned of the gold discoveries at what became Summitville. He assembled a party at Loma, on
the Rio Grande River, and traveled into the mountains where they were turned back by snow.
When the party reappeared in Loma, Howard learned of the French party’s quiet escape and set

% |bid: 94.
% Nossaman, 1989: 95, 97.
27 1big: 102-3.
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out after them only several days behind. Imitating French, the Howard party arrived in
Cunningham Gulch, pitched camp, and prospected the area. Howard ascended the east flank of
King Solomon Mountain, found a silver vein, and staked it as the Weminuche claim. Afterward,
Howard joined the French group in Arrastra Gulch and staked several more claims.?

John Dunn brought the second party into Baker’s Park. Disenchanted with the Dolores
drainage and remembering French’s excitement over Baker’s Park, Dunn formed his group and
came to the Animas drainage. The party consisted of George U. Ingersoll, David P. Quinn,
Andrew Richardson, and Edwin Wilkinson. Ingersoll was born in Maine during 1847 and began
life on the frontier as a reporter in the railroad town of Cheyenne in 1867. The following year,
Ingersoll prospected south through Colorado and into New Mexico, and turned back north to
Gilpin County, where he worked as a miner until 1871. There, he honed his knowledge of
prospecting and mining gold. Rumors of strikes around the San Juans, particularly Summitville,
drew him back south to Del Norte, where he joined Dunn’s party.

Like the two parties before him, Dunn and compatriots gravitated to the head of
Cunningham Gulch, where they may have encountered French’s Mountaineer claim. Nearby,
they found another silver vein and claimed it as the Highland Mary. In Arrastra Gulch, the
prospectors found a gold vein, named it the Sampson (which should not be confused with the
Sampson Mine on Cement Creek), and began development. In imitation of the Little Giant
operation, Dunn and partners built their own arrastra, probably relying on traditional animal
power. Unlike the Little Giant arrastra, however, Dunn’s facility was unsuccessful and became
the first in a long series of mill failures that plagued the region for three decades.®

Ruben J. McNutt, Jim Pringle, George Rolbin, and Jack Munroe constituted the third
prospecting party to arrive in the summer of 1871. McNutt had as much experience with the
western frontier as anyone in Baker’s Park. He was born on a farm in Albany, New York, in
1841, went west to California on the tail end of the Gold Rush in 1859 to find the placer fields
mostly exhausted. To earn income, he worked as a miner at Placerville before joining the Fifth
California Infantry in 1861 to participate in its Civil War march to New Mexico. After the war
ended, McNutt remained on the plains as a scout amidst perennial conflict between settler and
tribal interests before returning to New York. Unhappy, McNutt came to Colorado in 1870 and
ended up at Loma, New Mexico, where he learned of the strikes in the San Juans.™

Pringle was another seasoned frontier prospector. He was born in Roxburghshire,
Scotland, in 1838 and immigrated to the United States as a young man. Pringle spent a year in
New York, followed by a brief sojourn in western Canada, and tried his luck in the California
gold fields. When he arrived in 1857, Pringle found that organized companies dominated the
available placer deposits, and, in need of income, shoveled gravel for one of those companies
until he saved enough money to move on. Hoping to strike it rich at distant, inland placer strikes,
he joined the rushes to Boise Basin and Montana in 1865. Still unsuccessful, he went to White

% Ibid: 98.

2 Henn, 1999: 14; Nossaman, 1993: 39, 100, 121.

%0 Henn, 1999: 13-14; Nossaman, 1989: 100-101.

3 Nossaman, 1989: 102; Portrait and Biographical Record of the State of Colorado (Chicago: Chapman Publishing Co., 1899): 1026.
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Pine, Nevada, during its 1869 silver rush then prospected his way south through Utah to Arizona.
When Pringle assessed his situation, he realized that Colorado was the only place of
mineralogical significance he had yet to visit, so he traversed the dangerous southwest to the San
Luis Valley in 1871. Impressed with the region’s potential, he made a semipermanent home in
Caiion City and spent the warm months prospecting. On his way to Cafion City, however, Pringle
joined McNutt and partners.*

During June, the three parties of prospectors acknowledged that there was enough
activity, to justify the organization of a mining district. Because the French party was the first in
Baker’s Park, the rest of the prospectors gave them seniority in terms of administration and
appointed Miles T. Johnson as recorder. On June 15, 1871, they congregated around Johnson’s
tent and created the Las Animas Mining District around the main portion of the Animas River
drainage. Initially, the district included the peaks and tributaries flanking the Animas River from
the Continental Divide on the east, over to the west end of Baker’s Park. As noted above, this
original geographic entity was divided into smaller mining districts during the following ten
years. Ultimately, the cluster of peaks and basins bounded on the east by Cunningham Gulch, on
the nagrth by the Animas River, and on the south by Whitehead Peak constituted the district’s
core.

With a mining district formally designated, an estimated forty to fifty prospectors kept
Johnson busy recording claims. Thomas Blair was among the prospectors who submitted
information and, curious about the Mammoth Lode, he ascended Arrastra Gulch’s west rim and
found a more robust, parallel formation. Blair claimed the vein as the Aspen, which sparked only
minor interest at the time because gold commanded the attention. This would change. The
Aspen, like the other veins recorded by Johnson, featured silver and industrial metals, and none
offered gold like the Little Giant. However, that mine was the only truly productive operation in
the San Juans during 1871.

When the working season came to a close, the prospectors made preparations to leave.
They had demonstrated that the mountains abounded with mineral veins, and in an attempt to
regulate claim activity, created the first mining district. The prospectors also established a camp
in Arrastra Gulch, which would serve as a base of operations for years to come. Of greatest
significance, the first profitable mine and mill were brought into production, proving that mining
could be successful.*

1872 was also significant for mining in the San Juan Mountains due to three factors.
First, prospectors realized that Baker’s Park was vast and untapped, and therefore offered high
potential. Thus, when the French, Dunn, and McNutt parties returned in the late spring, other
groups followed and increased the total number of individuals up to around 150. Second, these
new prospectors were interested in silver as well as gold. The net result was that the p
prospectors spread out, found silver veins of considerable richness, and began actual
development of them. Third, the overall increase in activity, proof of ore, and success of the

32 History of the Arkansas Valley (Chicago: O.L. Baskin, 1881) 755; Portrait and Biographical Record, 1899: 1102.
33 .

Nossaman, 1989: 103.
3 Nossaman, 1989: 104. Dollar conversions are derived from consumer price indexes on eh.net.
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Little Giant Mine began to draw the interest of alert investors. Because the San Juans were
remote, though, another rush was long in coming.

During 1872, Arrastra Gulch, Cunningham Gulch, and the Animas River valley
continued to host most of the activity. The French party enlarged the camp in Arrastra Gulch,
other individuals built cabins in nearby drainages, and George Howard pioneered the mouth of
Cunningham Gulch. With silver now of interest, individuals began developing the Mountain
Boy, Green Mountain, and other veins on the east side of Cunningham Gulch. With the Sampson
gold mine not producing, the Dunn party joined the search for silver, targeting veins near
Howard’s discovery on King Solomon Mountain. Dunn ascended Cunningham Gulch’s
precipitous west wall into a glaciated hanging valley. The basin was crowded on all sides by
North Star Peak, another peak to the south, and a connecting aréte, or knife-edged ridge,
between. In what became known as Dives Basin, Dunn, Ingersoll, Richardson, Quinn, and
several others established a camp and fanned out across the ragged bedrock walls. Within days,
the party located the Shenandoah vein, traced it northwest across the valley, and staked the
extension with a series of claims that included the Dives and Shenandoah No.3. Satisfied, Dunn
and partners returned to Arrastra Gulch. In imitation, Miles Johnson made the ascent and staked
his namesake claim on the peak, and Henry B. Adsit, John Goodwin, and members of the Dunn
party located additional properties.®

Prospecting partners Theophile Benjovsky and Martin VVan Buren Wason were among the
new arrivals in 1872, and they joined the small rush up to North Star Peak. Benjovski was born
in Poland in 1854. Possibly in response to the Moose silver discovery of 1871 and Fairplay’s
reputation for placer gold, he decided to try prospecting the Mosquito Mountains. Discouraged,
Benjovski tried his fortune at Summitville. During 1871, Benjovsky staked and sold a few claims
there and formed a partnership with Wason.*

Wason could match almost anyone in terms of mining and prospecting experience. Born
in New Hampshire or Vermont in 1823, he became a sailor, traveling to Japan, China, and India.
He weathered Cape Horn several times and joined the California Gold Rush, during which he
learned the basics of prospecting, placer mining, and the dark side of the mining frontier. Wason
also spent much time in Central and South America where he served as a captain on a pearl boat,
ranched in Argentina, and mined gold in Central and South America. He returned to California in
1870, acquired a small herd of horses, and drove them east into Colorado. Impressed by the Rio
Grande River valley and its proximity to markets, he established a ranch. When gold was
discovered at Summitville, Wason joined the small rush in 1871 where he met Benjovsky. The
partners staked several unsuccessful claims, but with whetted appetites, continued on the
following year to North Star Peak.*’

In Dives Basin, the partners enjoyed a streak of good fortune. They identified one of the
best silver veins, claimed it as the North Star, then followed it northwest with the North Star

% Nossaman, 1989: 124, 220.
% Allen Nossaman, Many More Mountains: Volume 2: Ruts into Silverton (Denver: Sundance Publications, 1993) 145-6.

37 Nolie Mumey, Creede: The History of a Colorado Silver Mining Town (Denver: Artcraft Press, 1949) 81-2; Nossaman, 1989: 122; Nossaman,
1993: 99.
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Extension claim. They also identified a spur south of the Shenandoah vein and staked the Spotted
Pup claim. In so doing, Wason and Benjovsky had unwittingly laid claim to the best veins in
Dives Basin.

Inevitably, reports of silver, word of the North Star excitement, and the success of the
Little Giant Mine reached eastern investors who specialized in remote and unproven mining
ventures. Emery Hamilton reasoned that, because the San Juans had just been opened, he could
have his choice of prospects, but only if he personally spent time on the scene. Thus, in 1871, he
left New York for Loma, New Mexico, a major departure point for prospectors. Because the
Little Giant Mine was already a seemingly rich producer, it clearly offered great potential. When
the French party came to town for supplies, Hamilton offered them immediate payment of
$1,000 to each party member, the equivalent of $15,000 today, and another $4,500 to each by
September 1, 1872.%

Hamilton’s desire for a quick return, however, clouded his judgment, and he made a
major financial error that proved costly. Instead of paying the outstanding debts to the French
party, Hamilton used his capital to purchase a stamp mill. The plan was to replace the arrastra
with the mechanized mill, process higher volumes of ore, and recover more gold in less time.
Shipping the pieces from the East over the Santa Fe Trail and into the Rio Grande valley was
relatively easy, but Hamilton was unable to secure a freighter willing to complete the last
difficult leg to Arrastra Gulch. An entire working season passed, when Hamilton finally
interested Martin Van Buren Wason in the project. While in Santa Fe, Wason learned of the mill,
and since he was going back to his ranch on the upper Rio Grande, made a costly proposition to
Hamilton to haul the pieces onward. Hamilton agreed, Wason purchased ten heavy wagons, and
with Hamilton, freighted the first substantial cargo into the Animas drainage. Unfortunately for
Hamilton, the trip consumed two months, placing him in the mining district at the end of
September, too late for construction.*

Subsequently, Hamilton neglected to make the September payment to the French party,
and they rightfully repossessed the Little Giant with other buyers waiting in the wings. In
Hamilton’s absence, French sold the mine to Samuel S. Wallihan, Sterling P. Rounds, and
George W. Bishop of Wisconsin, and Dan Castillo of New Mexico. The four investors then
organized the Little Giant Gold & Silver Mining Company, also known as the Chicago
Company.*?

Horrified, Hamilton attempted to pry his way into the new organization. When company
officials arrived in Loma with supplies, he met with them and used the disassembled mill as a
bargaining tool. Hamilton offered to trade the equipment for company stock and asserted that he
would also pay Cook’s share of the mine, which had not been transferred. After clashing with

38 Nossaman, 1989: 109; Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 15.
% Nossaman, 1989: 122; Nossaman, 1993: 99; Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 15.
%0 Nossaman, 1989: 126; Ransome, 1901: 167; "The San Juan Mines" EMJ (2/11/73).



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 21

Wallihan, the rest of the owners consented and Hamilton was once again a force behind the Little
Giant. Flush from the sale of the mine, the French party returned to the Las Animas district.*

The new owners of the Little Giant invested considerable capital to make their mine as
well-equipped as any other of similar size in Colorado. The company appointed Mulholland as
superintendent. In July 1873 he had a crew assemble the mill machinery on the valley floor. A
Dodge crusher pulverized crude ore into small cobbles, a battery of stamps reduced the material
to sand and gravel, and a ball mill pulverized the lot into slurry. With increased surface area, the
particles flowed over amalgamating tables coated with mercury to leach out the gold. As was the
case with the earlier arrastra, workers recovered the amalgam and drove off the mercury in a
retort. The mine and mill were separated by around 500 vertical feet, which presented the
logistical problem of transporting the ore efficiently. Ordinarily, burros would have packed the
material down in canvas sacks, but the company instead built a single-rope reversible tramway.
A bucket on a pulley rode a fixed-track cable spanning between the mine and station, where a
worker winched the bucket up and lowered it down via a brake. Compared with the tramways
built three decades later, the Little Giant system was simple and limited, but it was the earliest in
western Colorado.*

Despite progress at the Little Giant, localized excitement over silver discoveries, and
some claim development, there was little actual production in the San Juans. The vast distance to
nodes of commerce and communication and the lack of treatment facilities rendered all but the
richest ore uneconomical to produce. In addition, politics between the U.S. government and the
Ute Indians, who depended on the natural resources of the region, exacerbated the isolation and
threatened the fledgling mining industry.

Simply put, the prospectors were squeezed between the Utes, who did not want them in
the San Juans, and the U.S. government, which recently outlawed activity there. During the
1860s, the Utes learned to mistrust newcomers due to interactions of intolerance and violence,
and several times attempted to regain portions of their traditional territory. Aware that settlement
and mining were inevitable in the territory, the government and the Utes agreed to the Hunt
Treaty in 1868. Accordingly, the Utes would relinquish the central portion of the territory and
remove to the west and southwest; in exchange, the government outlawed permanent settlement
there. However, officials perceived the Utes as a single entity when, in fact, they belonged to at
least seven bands. Secondly, for the sake of political convenience, the government recognized
Ouray as spokesman for all Utes, when he actually held limited power. Lastly, the government
ignored the fact that the lust for gold and silver overpowered respect for the law.*

As a result, settlement in the San Juans followed the problematic pattern wherein non-
native settlers usurped native American lands. Prospectors infiltrated the mountains, the Utes
responded, settlers felt threatened, and tensions rose. In hopes of preventing violence, the
government passed an order during the spring of 1873 outlawing prospecting in the San Juans.
Because unenforceable and against popular sentiment, the government attempted again to treat

4 Nossaman, 1989: 127.
42 Nossaman, 1989: 134; Nossaman, 1998: 311; Ransome, 1901: 19; Rocky Mountain News (7/20/73):4; Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 15.
43 Brown, 1984: 23; Nossaman, 1989: 79; E.F. Tucker, Otto Mears and the San Juans (Montrose: Western Reflections, 2003): 51.
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with the Utes. With Otto Mears as mediator, the government met with Ouray and devised the
Brunot Treaty in 1873. Mears and Ouray both understood that settlers would inevitably come,
and that the Utes must leverage some agreement at least favorable to tribal interests. The Utes
ultimately ceded the San Juans in exchange for annual interest on a $500,000 trust and a promise
that the lands surrounding the peaks would remain theirs.**

The treaty revolutionized mining in the San Juans because they were now
unquestioningly open. With the prospect of violence mitigated, prospectors were free to wander
the San Juans, and businessmen and merchants felt that permanent lines of trade could be
established with the growing, if still seasonal, population. Political stability instilled confidence
among investors. Under these circumstances, the central San Juans saw more prospecting and,
finally, ore production in addition to the Little Giant. Extreme isolation and difficult conditions
were now the principal impediments to the blossoming of a mining industry.

In 1873, Arrastra and Cunningham gulches were still the hub of activity, largely because
they had been proven to offer ore. What the Little Giant Mine featured in actual production,
adjacent properties had in promotion. The Little Giant Extension, just developed but as yet
unproven, was one example, for which capitalists offered an astounding $450,000 (around $7
million today). Prospectors continued to make rich discoveries in the gulches. When Thomas
Blair developed silver ore at his Aspen Lode, prospectors hastened up to the ridge west of
Arrastra Gulch and searched for similar veins. Robert McGregor found a parallel chute in what
was becoming a complex series of narrow ore bodies and named the claim after himself. Several
days later, Thomas P. Higgins and Z.H. Lawman, both of whom arrived in 1873, staked the
nearby Susquehanna and began a tunnel downslope and east.*

As most of the prospectors who arrived in 1873 congregated around Arrastra and
Cunningham gulches, some pioneer individuals turned their attention to other drainages where
competition was lesser. Reuben J. McNutt and George Howard trekked into the high peaks on
the north side of the Animas River, which were relatively unexplored. During the summer, they
made several discoveries, which confirmed their suspicions that the peaks on the north side of
the river held as much promise as those on the south side. At what became Lake Emma, at the
head of Eureka Gulch, they found a particularly rich gold and silver vein and claimed it as the
Sunnyside. The partners then crossed north over barren ridges and found another silver
formation they named the Poughkeepsie. Aware that other prospectors would begin searching
the area, McNutt and Howard organized the Eureka Mining District so their claims would be
officially recognized. At the time, the Eureka district took in nearly the entire region on the
north side of the Animas.*

Even though the northern peaks were largely unexplored in 1873, McNutt and Howard
were not completely alone. Albert Burrows and Charles H. Mclintyre established a camp in open

4 Brown, 1984: 23; Nossaman, 1989: 144-145: Tucker, 2003: 51, 55.
5 Nossaman, 1989: 179; "The San Juan Mines" EMJ 10/28/73.

46 Nossaman, 1989: 139; Nossaman, 1993: 206; "The San Juan Mines" EMJ 12/2/73; Laurel Michele Wickersheim and Rawlene LeBaron, Mine
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country at the headwaters of the Animas River. En route to the San Juans in 1872 or 1873,
Burrow met Mclntyre, who came from the Dakotas. With a party in tow, the partners followed
Baker’s old route up the Lake Fork of the Gunnison River and began their search in what became
known as Burrows Park. The party then crossed west over the Continental Divide and were
immediately impressed by the plentitude of mineralized veins at the headwaters of the Animas.
Wasting no time, the party claimed a number of veins, including the Big Giant, Bill Young,
Bonanza, Boston, Burrows, and Red Cloud. Exactly where the camp was located is uncertain,
but it lay proximal to the Mineral Creek in the county’s northeast reaches.*’

While Burrows, Mcintyre, McNutt, and other prospectors wandered the peaks,
entrepreneurs familiar with the needs of mining prepared to profit from the region. Henry F.
Tower and Wesley A. Stevens understood that every mining industry required lumber, so they
established the first sawmill in the Animas drainage at Mineral Creek ascending north from
Silverton. Their lumber was consumed almost as quickly as they could mill it.*®

Reese, Blair, and William Kearnes claimed large tracts of land for ranching or platting a
townsite. Adnah French was conspicuously absent from the group’s plans. A true prospector,
French realized a dream with the discovery of the Little Giant. Flush from its sale, French spent
his money on luxurious living and died of alcohol poisoning during the summer. Reese filed an
eighty acre homestead claim on the broad, open floor of Baker’s Park, where a settlement was
most likely to grow. Blair and Kearnes filed adjoining 160 acre homestead claims.*

Just as the Animas River drainage gained momentum in its transition from prospecting to
mining, snow brought the working season of 1873 to an end. The year saw key elements for
future growth. Mears and the U.S. government successfully negotiated the San Juans away from
the Utes and formally opened the mountains for development. The resultant security encouraged
a wave of prospecting, bold investment in minor claim development, and machinery for ore and
lumber. By setting up their sawmill, Tower and Stevens began providing one of the most
important commodities needed for the growth of industry. In addition, these lumbermen, and
Martin Van Buren Wason, hauled in the first machinery and, in so doing, set a precedent. Mining
would come to depend on machinery. The last significant factor was the actual production of
silver ore from the Aspen and other claims, and gold bullion from the Little Giant. When these
materials arrived in Del Norte and other commercial centers, they contributed to an ever growing
interest in the San Juans.

In the spring of 1874, entrepreneurs put in place the final pieces necessary for a mining
industry to blossom. Approaching the season with foresight, Donald Brown, aware of a nascent
townsite in Baker’s Park, recognized that the region’s population was too small to support two
competing locations. In an attempt to get ahead of Reese, Brown risked winter storms to cross
over the range from Del Norte and locate the townsite claim of Bullion City at the mouth of
Cunningham Gulch. Brown, Horton D. Chase, Theodore F. Braun, and others formed a townsite

47 Brown, 1984: 96; Henn, 1999: 45; Nossaman, 1993: 176.
48 Nossaman, 1989: 147.
*9 Nossaman, 1989:127, 152; Nossaman, 1993: 11.
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company and filed the necessary papers. The location was well-chosen, because it offered water,
open land, building materials, and lay at one of the most important crossroads in the entire
drainage. The trail up Cunningham Gulch and over Stony Pass was the principal artery to points
east, and another trail that ascended the Animas River to Cinnamon Pass was the second
gateway. A third trail descended southwest into Baker’s Park. Given such a strategic location,
Bullion City was poised to receive most of the traffic flowing into the deep San Juans.”

Meanwhile, after planning a townsite with Blair and Kearnes, Reese spent the winter in
Chicago and Cedar Rapids, promoting the mineral wealth of the San Juans and soliciting
investment. Reese found a ready audience in George Greene, one of the founders of Cedar
Rapids, a justice on the lowa Supreme Court, and president of the Union Bank of Cedar Rapids.
Reese boosted the handful of nascent mines and dozen proven ore bodies under development.
Greene, who previously published a mining periodical, was experienced enough to see through
fraudulent promotion. He nevertheless gathered from Reese that even though the region was not
yet thoroughly explored, it was already an outstanding opportunity. Further, Greene understood
that real profit could be made by treating the ore that others produced instead of investing in
specific mines, and so he committed to financing a smelter. Reese returned to Colorado
victorious with a key element for the mining district and a major anchor business for his
townsite.™

When the working season of 1874 opened, Cunningham and Arrastra gulches remained
the centers of activity. Some of the known veins now yielded ore, others were being developed,
and prospectors found yet more. In Cunningham Gulch, Reese, Blair, and Mulholland prospected
the high, barren, east side and found a startlingly rich silver vein that they staked as the Green
Mountain. Over the course of several months, they drove a tunnel and produced enough ore to
render the operation one of the region’s most important. Dunn, Quinn, and Richardson returned
to their Highland Mary claim on the west side of the gulch’s head to conduct development work.
King Solomon Mountain, between Cunningham and Arrastra gulches, also drew interest. W.S.
Stratton was among those at work on the Cunningham side, where he staked the Silver Cross and
Black Crook claims. Later in the 1890s, Stratton discovered the Independence Lode near Cripple
Creek, and realized millions of dollars.>

In Arrastra Gulch, Blair, Ingersoll, and Higgins were at work on the Aspen ore system,
and the Little Giant continued production. With the obvious veins now claimed, the prospectors
who arrived in 1874 invested in searching inaccessible areas. Gregory and Brower picked their
way along the gulch’s shear, west wall, where, nearly opposite the Little Giant Mine, they found
a clearly exposed vein. One of them claimed it as the Gray Eagle. But because the vein cropped
out high on the cliff face, the prospectors had to scale the wall to determine the vein’s
orientation, measure the claim boundaries, and place corner monuments, all on uncertain footing.
Gregory and Brower began production and shipped 1,200 pounds of high-grade ore to New York

50 Nossaman, 1989:162.
51 Nossaman, 1989:184, 207; Nossaman, 1993:20, 161.
2 Nossaman, 1989:106, 169, 178, 261.



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 25

for processing. Meanwhile, the Black Hawk smelter in Gilpin County could have treated the
material at a much lesser cost.”®

In addition to hosting the region’s first ore production, Arrastra Gulch also was the scene
of the region’s first serious conflict. After Emery Hamilton used his mill to win a prominent
position in the Little Giant, Samuel Wallihan continued to protest Hamilton’s involvement but
found it difficult to dislodge the wily investor because the mill was now an important part of the
operation. To maintain control, Wallihan and Bishop hired Gassy Thompson and crew to work
through the winter, hold the property, and turn it over when Wallihan and Bishop arrived in the
spring. When Hamilton learned that Wallihan and Bishop were to take physical possession of the
property, he resorted to trickery. In Del Norte, Hamilton paid for four gunmen to seize and
occupy the mine in advance of Wallihan and Bishop. They hastily made their way into Arrastra
Gulch, met Thompson and claimed ownership without raising his suspicions. Leaving the
gunmen at the mine, Hamilton accompanied Thompson to Del Norte to meet Wallihan and
Bishop. Hamilton then filed claim amendments on the argument that the property had to be
reloca5t4ed when the Brunot Treaty conveyed the San Juans over to the Territorial government in
1873.

Wallihan and Bishop arrived in Del Norte in June to meet Thompson and take possession
of the mine, when Thompson innocently informed them of Hamilton’s actions. The trio quickly
figured out Hamilton’s deceit and rushed to the Las Animas district to reclaim their operation,
leaving Hamilton behind in Del Norte. Hamilton hit the trail to beat them to the Little Giant.
Hamilton overtook the party and tried sneaking around but was noticed. Thompson responded by
pursuing Hamilton, and they raced until Hamilton’s horse proved to be have better endurance.
Hamilton barricaded himself in the tunnel and ordered his gunmen to form a shield. Thompson in
turn appealed to Miles Johnson, who called the miners’ court into special session because claim
jumping was a grave offense in any mining district. William Kearnes and Alexander Wilson
armed themselves for battle and crept into the mine and confronted Hamilton. More armed
miners arrived and the party threatened Hamilton with public hanging. Ultimately, they banished
him from the region without reimbursement. Hamilton later continued to attempt to wrest control
of the Little Giant through a series of lawsuits in distant courts.>

Meanwhile, the Little Giant failed by the end of 1874. During the summer, miners
encountered an end to one portion of the gold-bearing vein after another, and the company
operated the mill fitfully until the payrock was gone. Wallihan let a contract to have miners drive
exploratory workings in search of an extension of the vein, but when profits evaporated and legal
fees moSLénted, Wallihan suspended operations. Wallihan closed the mill and Arrastra Gulch
quieted.

53 Nossaman, 1989: 178.
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In 1874, outside of the Animas River drainage, the geographically expansive Eureka
district boasted the most activity. The district featured the subsequently named mountains
including, north to south, California, Treasure, Hanson, and Eureka, the peaks of which were the
focus of considerable prospecting. The mountains were neatly framed by a circular arrangement
of drainages, such as California around the north half, Eureka at the southwest edge, and the
Animas River on the east side. Placer Gulch, which offered limited amounts of placer gold,
descended northeast through the peaks.

The Sunnyside Vein, discovered the previous year by McNutt and Howard, drew the
most interest, and prospectors traced it from what was later named Lake Emma, at the head of
Eureka Gulch, at least one mile northeast into Placer Gulch. In advance of the other prospectors,
McNutt and Howard had all of 1873 to examine the bold formation and claim what they thought
was the best section, which crossed Hanson Peak and over to Placer Gulch. McNutt paid Howard
for his share of the Sunnyside property and began shallow development in 1874. On the other
side of Hanson Peak, prospectors staked additional segments of the vein, such as the Sunnyside
Extension. Elsewhere, prospectors began work opening the Crispin, Niagara, Silver Wing, and
Tom Moore.”’

Because Eureka and California gulches were the two gateways into the cluster of peaks,
prospectors established camps at the mouths of both drainages. McNutt’s log cabin, built in
1873, became a magnet for prospectors at Eureka Gulch. Local speculators predicted that
because of the strategic location, the camp would probably evolve into a formal settlement. They
quickly organized the Eureka Townsite Company and platted a townsite of the same name. The
founders lacked in promotion, however, and did little to secure businesses and residents. They,
like the rest of the camp’s residents, were busy prospecting.®®

Albert Burrows was largely responsible for the Eureka district’s second camp at the
mouth of California Gulch. After the working season of 1873, Burrows remained fixated on the
veins at the watershed between the Animas River, which flowed south, and Mineral Creek,
which trickled northwest. In 1874, he led a party that included Henry E. Wood and E. Bradford
Greenleaf back into the area, and pitched camp a short distance south. As with McNutt’s cabin at
Eureka Gulch, prospectors began to congregate around the camp, enlarging the settlement. The
name of Animas Forks derived because the river began at the confluence of the three drainages
there.>® Burrows apparently maintained a second camp at the watershed, northwest of Houghton
Mountain. The reason for the dual residence was that he, Charles Mclintyre, and partners also
developed the Red Cloud and other claims. Their camp was on the edge of a marshy meadow at
treeline, and it was most likely Burrows’ party that named the camp after the explorer.

With the Las Animas district busy and competition increasing in the Eureka district,
frontiersmen went farther afield to unexplored territory in the northwestern river drainage. At
least one group picked their way up Cement Creek, found many exposed mineral formations, and

> John Marshall and Zeke Zanoni, Mining the Hard Rock in the Silverton San Juans (Silverton: Simpler Way Book Co., 1996) 119; Wolle,
1995: 405.

%8 Brown, 1984: 87; Nossaman, 1993: 203.
% Nossaman, 1993: 184.
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established a camp. Within several months around twenty individuals joined them, and the camp
grew into a noteworthy collection of crude cabins and wall tents. Several prospectors developed
the Porcupine and Gopher claims and actually began producing ore. Farther west, more wealth-
seekers examined Mineral Creek, and on Sultan Mountain someone discovered the Hercules,
which held great promise.®

Even though a number of veins throughout the river drainage were in development during
1874, the work qualified more as prospecting than mining. The operations were shallow, simple,
and yielded only small tonnages of ore due to a lack of capital and efficient transportation.
Despite the slow start to mining, Reese and the Greenes were confident enough to continue with
their smelter idea. During the spring, Greene organized Greene & Company, gathered the
components for a smelter and sawmill, and hired John J. Epley and Thomas E. Bowman to
accompany them to Reese’s new townsite. Epley was an expert with heavy machinery and
Bowman was a formally educated metallurgist and assayer.®*

Greene’s son Edward arrived in advance of Epley and made preparations to break ground
for the smelter where Cement Creek emptied into the Animas River. Part of the preparations
involved establishing a supply business for the smelter and crew, which Edward did as Greene,
Eberhart & Company. Seeing an opportunity to profit from retail to local individuals as well as
from smelting, the Greenes opened a public mercantile, which was gladly welcomed as the first
in lower Baker’s Park.

Other entrepreneurs simultaneously saw the opportunity presented by the growing mining
industry in the Animas River drainage. Two other parties constructed smelters during the
summer of 1874 to compete with the Greenes. Christian Schoellkopf, Ashley Cooper, and Henry
Remington constructed the Little Pioneer Furnace and the Little Dutch Smelter on flat ground
just west of Arrastra Gulch’s mouth. The facility was primitive and relied on an arrastra made of
brick to crush silver ore, and a furnace to roast then melt the material. Schoellkopf, an ethnic
German, likely based the furnace on designs he worked on in Swansea, Wales, smelting capital
of the world. The choice of an arrastra for crushing was unusual since the Little Giant mill
exemplified superior machinery requiring less manual labor. It therefore seems likely that a lack
of capital was the reason for Schoellkopf’s choice of a labor-intensive arrastra. Calder, Rouse &
Company built the second facility, the Rough & Ready Smelter, on Cement Creek near the
Greene operation.®

When the three smelters of various sizes were finished, the river drainage finally saw the
last crucial component needed to bring the nascent mining industry to fruition. The Greene
Smelter was perceived as the best facility and used ore from the Gray Eagle Mine for its trial run.
After the furnace had been heated and charged with ore, a crowd gathered to see the silver matte,
an unrefined blend of silver and industrial metals, pour out of the ports. They were not

60 Nossaman, 1993: 169; Wickersheim and LeBarron, 2005: 397.

61 Brown, 1984: 29; "Mining News" EMJ (8/14/80): 111; Nossaman, 1993: 15; Nossaman, 1989: 210; Sloan & Skowronski, 1975: 19, 46; Duane
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disappointed, initially. But when Brown, Epley, and Edward Greene compared the results with
the amount of metals that the ore was supposed to contain, they were embarrassed to find that the
smelter recovered only a fraction. Schoellkopf and the Rough & Ready Smelter had similar
disappointing experiences. Word quickly circulated that the smelters were failures.
Disappointment pervaded, the backers of the smelters lost precious capital, and confidence in the
region faltered. Greene & Company, however, refused to concede defeat and applied their capital
and metallurgical expertise to identify a process that would work. One important factor was
ultimately that the region’s ore was more complex and resistant to treatment than first suspected.

Meanwhile, Reese continued to formalize and promote his townsite. Reese, Blair, and
Kearnes interested William Mulholland, Francis M. Snowden, Nathaniel E. Slaymaker, and
William Munroe in the venture, and organized the Silverton Townsite Company. Reese acted as
president and Munroe, a surveyor, arranged the lots and streets on paper. Slaymaker, a lawyer
who came to prospect, reverted to his former profession and administered the legal aspects. On
slightly different dates, Blair, Snowden, and Slaymaker built the first three cabins in Silverton to
anchor development. Greene & Company erected buildings, followed by prospectors who
constructed a few more cabins. By summer, Silverton featured at least twelve residences and the
Greene mercantile, while the smelter stood on the north fringe.®®

While Silverton grew slowly and its role as a milling center was tentative due to the
smelter failures, Bullion City saw nothing less than a boom. Donald Brown was correct in his
faith that the mouth of Cunningham Gulch was an excellent location, and Bullion City quickly
became the region’s principal hub. During the spring, speculators and businessmen rushed to the
townsite and claimed the best lots, while prospectors took up residence on the outskirts. The
north side of Cunningham Creek offered the best land, and a small business district materialized
there. John C. Sullivan and James N. Galloway opened the first blacksmith shop, Thomas Trippe
established a surveying office, William Nichols formed an assaying business, and F.B. Hackett
organized a law practice. All these men were experienced and provided the services necessary
for the successful evolution of a mining industry. Trippe was born in Brooklyn in 1848, earned a
degree in engineering and surveying, worked as a surveyor for a railroad, and came to Colorado
in 1872. Nichols was an early arrival in Colorado, ran an assaying business in Clear Creek
County, and closed shop to come to the Las Animas district. Due to his skill, he was later
appointed Territorial Assayer for the San Juan region.®*

Other entrepreneurs established businesses catering to the prospectors and miners. John
and Amanda Cotton, the first woman to permanently reside in the river drainage, opened a
mercantile-cum-restaurant. George Howard first sold liquor, followed by the formal saloons of
George L. Wright and John Burrow. During the summer, additional businesses including another
mercantile, boot maker, and bakery opened. Located at the crossroads of important transportation
arteries, Bullion City attracted a livery and the first cattle herd as stock for a butcher.®

63 Nossaman, 1989: 187.
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As the business district began to take form, residents built cabins on surrounding lots and
in a cluster near George Howard’s establishment on the south side of Cunningham Creek. Based
on this association, residents named their suburb Howards. During 1874, residents petitioned for
a post office, which the Postal Service granted as Howardsville. The post office, the first in the
drainage, furthered Howardsville’s role as a commercial center.®® To complete Howardsville’s
supremacy over Silverton, after the Brunot Treaty was signed, the Territorial Government
realized that the considerable new tract of land would be prospected and homesteaded in time.
Forecasting the demand for government administration, the Territorial Legislature divided the
southwest quarter of Colorado into La Plata, Rio Grande, and Hinsdale counties in 1874. La
Plata County encompassed the Animas River drainage with Hinsdale as its eastern neighbor.
When the legislature surveyed for the best seat, they identified the largest, most promising town,
Howardsville. George Howard offered his small cabin for the administrative building, and a
second log cabin was rented as the court house. Howardsville’s status as county seat was not to
last, however, Reese and partners petitioned the Territorial Legislature and managed to have the
seat transferred. The victory was important to Silverton, but the failed milling center still paled in
comparison to Howardsville.®’

Settlement and Establishment of Industry, 1875 — 1881

At the beginning of 1875, the San Juan Mountains possessed the ingredients necessary
for a tangible rush, despite the smelter failures. Prospectors had proven rich silver ore and
regularly made new strikes, the limitless mountains offered plenty of unexplored territory, the
Animas River drainage featured several towns, and residents could live on site year round. The
only key element missing was outside investment, and developments elsewhere in Colorado
siphoned off the attention of capitalists willing to risk money in the frontier. In 1873, Richard C.
Irwin, William J. Robinson, and James Pringle proved rich silver in the Wet Mountain Valley,
southwest of Canon City. Their discovery incited the Rosita rush of 1874, one of Colorado’s
most important silver excitements of the mid-1870s. Concurrently, miners at Gold Hill in
Boulder County realized that a dark material previously discarded as waste rock was actually
telluride gold. Boulder thus saw its most intense period of prospecting since the initial gold rush
of 1859. The development of the Moose, Dolly Varden, and other silver mines in the Mosquito
Mountains stimulated a wave of prospecting and mining west of Fairplay. Montezuma in Summit
County experienced a similar trend. Mining in Nevada also drew considerable share of investor
attention. Remote, new, and unproven, the Las Animas district could not compete with these
rushes. As a result, the mining industry grew slowly during the mid-1870s and may have even
become static were it not for several important advancements in 1875.%

8 william H. Bauer, James L. Ozment, and John H. Willard, Colorado Post Offices: 1859-1989 (Golden: The Colorado Railroad Museum,
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The Greenes were behind the first fundamental development, which began when John A.
Porter arrived at Silverton in 1875. Porter was born into privilege in Berlin, Connecticut, in
1850. Intent on a career in mining, Porter attended the Columbia School of Mines before
studying metallurgy at the Royal Academy of Mines in Germany. Porter returned to the United
States in 1872 and went to Eureka, Nevada, where he gained practical frontier experience as an
assayer for the Richmond Consolidated Mining & Smelting Company. After several years, Porter
moved on to Cherry Creek, Nevada, and served as assayer and assistant metallurgist, before
establishing a consultancy. At the behest of investors, Porter traveled southeast through the Great
Basin into the San Juans to report on the region’s potential. Porter approached the San Juans
from the south and ascended along the Florida River, through sedimentary geology rich with coal
beds. As a mining expert and metallurgist, Porter took an interest in the coal, a resource always
in demand, and noted the location for future reference.®

Edward Greene and John L. Pennington, business manager for Greene & Company, saw
in Porter the expert who could solve the smelter’s problems. Within a short time, Greene &
Company secured Porter as chief metallurgist. Porter may have also sensed that Silverton was
the gateway to a lucrative trove for capitalists.”® Porter refitted the smelter. Repeating the
sequence of events that preceded the 1874 failure, the furnace was blown in, charged with ore,
and company officials impatiently waited to see what came out of the spouts. Not only was the
material liquid metal, but also in the proportions necessary for the smelter to be an economic
success. Due to Porter’s acumen, the Greene Smelter was now open for business, which
electrified the Animas drainage. The Rough & Ready Smelter showed promise anew as well. The
owners came to an agreement, rallied, and fired up the facility. After the furnace generated a ton
of matte, however, they resumed fighting and suspended operations, leaving Greene & Company
with a monopoly. Even though the Greene Smelter was the only regional ore treatment facility,
the company wisely secured contracts with mines for ore and even went so far as to lease the
Aspen from Blair and partners, who were glad for the effortless income from royalty payments.”

The Greenes could not have expected their monopoly to last long. While Porter worked,
the Crooke brothers engaged in similar activities in the Summitville Mining District, located
southeast over the range. The Crookes were highly experienced, and Jonathan in particular was a
New York City smelting and mining financier with a twenty-five-year year record. Instead of
entering direct competition with the Greenes, the Crookes hastily built a smelter in the Lake City
area to capture trade there. The mines of the Lake Fork drainage, however, were part of what the
Crookes hoped would be a larger empire to include the Animas River drainage.’

Before the Crookes even completed their smelter, they aggressively solicited contracts for
ore throughout the San Juans, initiating a trade war with the Greenes. To ensure reliable sources
of ore, both companies either leased or purchased mines outright during 1876. The Greenes
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claimed Hazelton Mountain as their territory, leased the Aspen Mine, and invested $11,000 in
properties elsewhere in the Animas drainage. In their home territory of Hinsdale County, the
Crookes purchased the Ute and Ulay mines, and in the Animas drainage bought the Royal Tiger
claim and an interest in the North Star Mine.”

The demand for ore and the superior returns provided by the two smelters finally fostered
a long-awaited wave of intense mining, property transactions, claim development, and additional
prospecting. Because the Las Animas district hosted more prospecting to date and featured the
highest number of mines, however simple, it naturally led the way in ore production. Greene &
Company did well with the Aspen, and independent parties drove tunnels from several directions
to develop different sections of this ore system. Several prospectors pushed the Legal Tender
Tunnel from a point downslope and north, and, striking the vein in 1876, found Greene &
Company petitioning them for a lease. Higgins and Ingersoll continued to advance their
Susquehanna Tunnel from Arrastra Gulch. In 1877, after penetrating 515 feet of rock, miners
struck the ore formation, which featured a bonanza of silver; they named the vein the Victor.
Higgins and Ingersoll renamed the operation the Ingersoll Tunnel and enjoyed significant profits.
Nearby, James L. Briggs attempted to imitate the success with his Briggs Tunnel, which
progressed slowly. The Gray Eagle, around the corner in Arrastra Gulch, produced and shipped
to the Greene Smelter.”

Prospectors in the Animas district tried to profit from the smelting war by hitting the trail
in search of new ore formations. A fortunate few found silver veins in areas that had been
examined at least once already. In 1875 Howardsville assayer William Nichols prospected the
north face of King Solomon Mountain a short distance above town, found a small system of
veins, and claimed the apex as the Little Nation.”

Most prospectors, however, sought new ground in the district’s remote reaches, where
few others had yet been. Théophile Ressouches and Alfred Py chose Little Giant Basin, which
was a glaciated, hanging valley on the east side of Arrastra Gulch. Ressouches and brother Louis
were born in France and came to Denver in 1866. Laurent found employment as a premier
gardener, but Théophile and Louis left for the San Juans when they were able and of age. The
brothers arrived in the Animas drainage with little money and worked as miners until they saved
enough to prospect. Théophile met Py, and the partners ascended into Little Giant Basin and
made camp on the valley floor. In 1875, they examined King Solomon Mountain on the valley’s
east side, found a vein with a rich showing of silver, and claimed it as the Jura. But before the
partners could develop the formation at depth, dwindling finances forced them back to work. The
following year, they returned with Louis, staked the adjoining King Solomon, repeated the
pattern in 1877 with the Mountain Queen (not to be confused with the Mountain Queen in
California Gulch). When other prospectors learned of the discovery, they joined the Ressouches
brothers, picked over the opposite side of the valley, and found a vein so large they named it the
Big Giant.
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At the same time that Ressouches and Py examined King Solomon Mountain, several
independent prospectors made the dangerous ascent into the upper reaches of Arrastra Basin, a
short distance south. During the first several years in the Animas district, prospectors on the floor
of Arrastra Gulch undoubtedly gazed up and south at the imposing headwall and wondered what
lay beyond. The wall was locked in ice and snow for all but several months of the year, which
discouraged ascent. John Reed was the first prospector documented to satisfy his curiosity, and
in 1876, he scouted a route up the headwall.

What he found was another hanging valley carved by glaciers from between Kendall
Peak and Round Mountain to the west, and North Star and other peaks to the east. Their flanks,
with 1,000 feet of relief, were as sheer and rugged as those in Dives Basin, which was the next
valley to the east, and the peaks presented a lacework of veins and dykes that would have excited
any prospector. At the valley’s center lay a pristine glacial lake, and its outflow cascaded
northward until it roared over the headwall into Arrastra Gulch. Examining the flank of Round
Mountain on the valley’s west side, Reed quickly found more than one vein that carried silver
and industrial metals. He claimed two on Round Mountain as the Whale and the Round
Mountain, and located the Silver Lake near the lake. Around the same time, another prospector
working at the valley’s head identified a huge fault and traced it southeast, where it featured a
vein he claimed as the Buckeye. During the summer, both men excavated shallow workings to
prove ore and retain title to the claims, then left for the season. When the prospectors returned
the following year, Silver Lake Basin, as the valley came to be known, saw its first production,
which was shipped by burro to the Greene Smelter. To the Greenes, the volume of ore was
insignificant because the arduous and dangerous approach discouraged Reed and the other
prospectors from packing much out and importing anything but the most essential materials,
which limited production.”

In the Eureka district, the success of the Greene and Crooke smelters stimulated a wave
of activity in 1875 and 1876. A greater number of wealth-seekers than ever climbed through the
peaks and valleys in the district’s center. Eureka and California gulches, and the peaks between,
were thoroughly examined and most of the principal veins claimed. Prospectors also began to
seriously explore the district’s southern portion, including Minnie and Maggie gulches, soon
realizing that the area was not as mineralized as the north side of the Animas River.

Even though rich ore had been proven in veins scattered throughout the district, there was
little production because lack of capital retarded development. This began to change when
handfuls of adventurous investors took an interest in the most promising properties, and tepidly
fronted limited funds. Milton M. Engleman was one such individual, coming to the Animas
River drainage in 1876 on the assumption that the region was on the brink of a boom. Engleman
was born in 1842 in Carrolton, Illinois, and became involved in a men's clothing business in his
hometown. Within a short time, Engleman was a partner, and through the business met Emma
Thompson, who operated a millinery shop. Engleman and Emma married but enjoyed their life
in Carrolton for only a short time before a change in the business partnership forced Milton to

76 Nossaman, 1993: 35, 118; Ransome, 1901: 149.
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examine other regions, and he targeted Colorado as a potentially lucrative market. An
exploratory trip in 1872 confirmed his hopes, and Engleman established a clothing outlet in
Canon City. When Engleman arrived in the Animas River drainage, he settled in Eureka and sent
for Emma, and they brought with them dearly needed capital.”’

The Englemans bought a share in the Eureka Townsite Company to open a mercantile
and also acquired mining property. In particular, Engleman bought a half interest in the
Sunnyside from Ruben McNutt, and Emma purchased interests in George Washington and
Poughkeepsie No.2. Afterward, they had little left over for development of the claims, but
managed to hire several miners who began sending down ore from shallow workings. Thus the
Sunnyside assumed the role of one of the Eureka district’s first productive operations, although
the mine remained small for years.”

The Silver Wing was another important property, and it was among the earliest in the
Eureka district to attract an organized company. In 1874, prospectors found the vein near the
mouth of Burns Gulch on the east side of the Animas River valley, between Eureka and Animas
Forks. Investors learned of the find, organized the Silver Wing Mining & Reduction Company,
and purchased the group of claims. Nathan S. Culver, a physician in Colorado Springs, was a
company principal, and used his success as a gateway for other mining investments. Matt France,
the other principal, owned a ranch in Colorado Springs and came equipped with considerable
experience from developing several mines in Clear Creek County. Because of his experience, the
company appointed France as on-site manager, and under his guidance, a small crew of miners
conducted development and began production.”

Probably because of the potential offered by as yet undeveloped claims, John Epley broke
away from Greene & Company with the intent of building his own smelter in the Eureka district.
The timing was questionable because few mines in the district produced enough ore to sustain
such a costly enterprise, but Epley and Newton A. Foss interested H.C. Brown in the idea, and
they allocated the necessary capital. In 1876, Brown, Epley & Company began construction in
the Animas valley south of Animas Forks and made considerable progress before winter stopped
work. Epley suddenly sold to his partners and moved to Ouray. Foss and Brown reorganized as
the San Juan Smelting & Refining Company and resumed construction. When the facility neared
completion, an avalanche destroyed it, and the company dissolved, leaving the local market for a
smelter untested.®

Epley was not alone in assuming that the Eureka district was ready for an ore treatment
facility, although productive mines were few in number. In 1875, Charles Mclintyre organized
the Dakota & San Juan Mining Company to develop the Red Cloud and other claims at Mineral
Point and build a mill to treat the ore. The mill was not intended to produce gold bullion like the
Little Giant nor silver matte as with the Greene Smelter. Instead, Mcintyre planned a
concentration facility to separate as much waste from the metalliferous material as possible.

" Nossaman, 1993: 205.
"8 Nossaman, 1993: 206; "Mining News" MSP (3/3/88): 141.

™ Colorado Mining Director, 1883 (Denver: The Colorado Mining Directory Co., 1883) 674; Nossaman, 1993: 250; Wickersheim and
LeBarron, 2005: 425.

80 Nossaman, 1993: 39, 193.




NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 34

Following conventional concentration processes, machinery was supposed to crush the ore into
sand and slurry, special appliances would achieve the separation, and the concentrates were to be
shipped to a smelter for final processing. In so doing, Mcintyre hoped to save the costs of
transporting waste-laden ore and some of the fees that smelters levied for full treatment.
Mclntyre also planned to accept custom orders in addition to material from the Red Cloud to pay
for construction, but the prospects at Mineral Point were not ready to support a mill. Thus
Mclintyre eyed Animas Forks as a better location. He projected that the mill would require a year
to complete, and by the time it was ready, the district would be far enough along to keep the
facility busy. In 1876, he interested E. Bradford Greenleaf in the project, secured investors, and
began what was known as the Greenleaf or Dakota & San Juan Mill. Although the facility was
small, it lent legitimacy to the small camp of Animas Forks.®

It was outside capital from Edward Innis that made the Highland Mary Mine, at the head
of Cunningham Gulch, the most advanced operation in the Animas River drainage, if not the
entire San Juans. Innis poured money into the property for reasons that defied logic and
economics. Edward and brother George inherited a fortune and profitable businesses in New
York: a wood dye plant, investment banks, the Pennsylvania & Erie Railroad, and the
Poughkeepsie Bridge over the Hudson River.®? Edward kept an advisor on retainer who guided
him in business matters. Interested in the potential offered by mining, Innis consulted his
advisor, who suggested that he examine the Las Animas district. What Innis kept to himself was
that the advisor was actually a psychic medium. Rather than follow the criteria of most
capitalists, legend has it that she chose the Las Animas district by placing her finger on a map
and declaring that there lay a lake of gold awaiting discovery!®

Confident in the seeress’ advice, Innis journeyed to the Animas River drainage and
surveyed the mines in production. It perhaps seemed reasonable to assume that a lake of gold in a
region rich with silver veins would logically be the only gold mine. The psychic claimed that the
lake of gold lay underneath a mountain in the area, but could not be specific about which one.
Seeking further clarification, Innis examined several operations and consulted with Emery
Hamilton, but did not divulge his source of advice. Hamilton informed Innis of extremely rich
ore specimens collected from the Highland Mary claim, which Christian Schoellkopf had bonded
for purchase. Innis quickly purchased not only the Highland Mary, but adjoining claims to the
west for the exorbitant sum of $30,000.%

Innis then consulted with H.D. Whittemore to drive a tunnel into the lake of gold.
Whittemore was an agent of the Ingersoll Rock Drill Company in New York City conversant
with the new technologies of compressed air and rockdrills, although he was by no means an
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experienced mining engineer. Whittemore naturally made rock drills a centerpiece of the
operation, which pleased the company he represented.®

So sure was Innis that he would realize his Holy Grail within a short time, he financed the
construction of a small smelter at Howardsville in 1875. With the support of Hamilton, Innis
attempted to pillage the idle Little Giant Mill not to save capital, but because he did not want to
wait for machinery that otherwise had to be shipped from the East. Goaded, Innis sued Wallihan
for possession and lost, forcing Innis to have mill machinery sent anyway. Completion of the
smelter undoubtedly excited Howardsville residents, who looked forward to challenging
Silverton as an ore treatment center.®

In 1876, Whittemore arrived at the Highland Mary with the rock drills and immediately
put them to work driving the Innis Tunnel. Whittemore returned to New York, leaving a
significant and lasting impact on the western mining industry. His introduction of rock drills to
the mine in 1876 was one of the earliest commercial applications in the Rocky Mountain west.
Not until the 1890s did the mining industry truly embrace rock drills, and ten years passed again
before they were commonplace.®’

A year after Innis began developing the Highland Mary, the lake of gold still eluded him,
although he remained confident in the psychic’s advice. Because progress was slow, Innis
decided to approach from two directions, so he purchased the Little Giant Mine in hopes that it
would lead to the gold. He consulted the psychic regarding the direction that the Innis Tunnel
should take, but she often gave inconsistent directions. As a result, miners drove the tunnel until
it was serpentine. When the miners penetrated perfectly fine, profitable veins of silver ore, they
were astounded when Innis commanded them to ignore the veins and drill and blast onward to
some unknown destination.®®

The Highland Mary complex became a community hub by 1878, in part because Innis
was generous at his residence known as the Whitehouse, which cost around $10,000 to build, or
$175,000 today. The cost was for construction alone, as the land on which the log building stood
was public. Innis took in the occasional guest, offered a few meals to prospectors and other mine
owners, provided a polling place for elections, and obtained a post office under the name
Highland Mary. Innis ordered a stamp mill with a battery of twenty-five stamps and hired Lewis
Schantl, expert metallurgist, to replace Mosely. Schantl was to oversee construction of the mill,
but quit within the year.®

As mining and prospecting gained momentum during the mid-1870s, many single men
collected in the growing settlements. Silverton experienced the greatest change and mushroomed
to 210 buildings by 1876. One new building housed the San Juan County courthouse when the
Territorial Legislature carved out of La Plata County to administer the concentration of activity

& Henn, 1999: 16; Nossaman, 1989: 262, 319; Nossaman, 1993: 120.

8 Nossaman, 1989: 264, 266.

8 Nossaman, 1989: 319; Nossaman, 1993: 120.

8 Nossaman, 1993: 120; Nossaman, 1998: 104.

89 Bauer, et al., 1990: 72; "Colorado Mines" EMJ (10/19/78):278; Nossaman, 1993: 136, 252.
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in the Animas River drainage. Designation as county seat ensured that Silverton would remain
the dominant town. James Briggs took a break from his Briggs Tunnel on Hazelton Mountain
and opened the first hotel in 1875. Four saloons opened. The community also erected a
combination school, courtroom, and meeting hall.*®

Howardsville continued to rival Silverton as the region’s commercial and social hub. In
1876, Charles and John Pearson established a slaughterhouse and a stockyard to supply butcher
shops and mines with meat. John, James, and Joseph Gunsolus ran pack trains to the surrounding
mines. Charles Fischer and Henry P. Gill built western Colorado’s first brewery, the Rocky
Mountain Brewery (Gill & Fischer). In 1877, Edward W. Johnstone and Andrew Bigger both
opened saloons. Johnstone was a family man and Bigger was a bully who shot a man in Del
Norte and fled to Howardsville. He went to prison for subsequent murders after he left.
Prostitutes set up several tents on the edge of town. The enterprise was unsuccessful, however,
and the ladies failed to return the following year.”* Individuals who did not gravitate to Silverton
or Howardsville established residences in one of the six other settlements. On Hazelton
Mountain, local prospectors and miners referred to their informal collection of cabins around the
Aspen vein as Quartzville. A similar demographic maintained the small camp at the head of
Cement Creek, the name of which remains unknown.

While Burrows Camp on Mineral Creek was also a primitive settlement, members of the
original Burrows party actively guided its development into something more. In 1875, they
named the collection of tents and cabins Mineral City and applied for a post office, but another
town with the same title already existed. Thus, the community chose Mineral Point after a
prominent quartz outcrop, which the Postal Service recognized. Ironically, Mineral Point
featured offices for several mining companies before a single retail or service business opened.
In 1875, Mcintyre’s Dakota & San Juan Mining Company established headquarters, and J.S.
Buell and brother organized the Buffalo & San Juan Mining Company. The following year,
entrepreneurs brought in a few businesses. Henry Ketchum and John Dowling ran a miners’
supply store, Ehrenfried Steinbach an assay shop, and Albert Dyes a mine brokerage business.
To accommodate travelers, B.F. Weeks and H.B. Perry served meals, and Perry’s restaurant
doubled as the Forest House, the first hotel at Mineral Point. The population, including all the
prospectors scattered in the area, numbered around 75.%

Animas Forks, which began in a manner similar to Mineral Point, rapidly progressed due
to a more diverse group of interests. Because the settlement was a gateway into the mineralized
portion of the Eureka district, it naturally hosted prospectors. Miners lived in town as well, and
worked on one of several properties in development within walking distance. Entrepreneurs
chose Animas Forks because they were interested in the potential offered by the upper Animas
River drainage but felt that Mineral Point was too small, remote, and harsh in climate. Animas
Forks, located at treeline, was not much better. Even though the settlement was little more than a
prospectors’ camp in 1875, community activists confident in the future secured a post office.

% Nossaman, 1989: 238, 283; Nossaman, 1993: 12.
o1 Nossaman, 1989: 252; Nossaman, 1993: 215, 218, 219; Rocky Mountain News, (10/17/77): 2.
92 Bauer, et al, 1990: 98; Nossaman, 1993: 176, 178, 179.
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William Randall and Martin Codding built the first mercantile. Unlike Mineral Point, Animas
Forks enjoyed a boom the following year. For those who called Animas Forks home, Henry
Warren, William and Frank Stein, and Edward Suydam opened three more stores, and regional
meat dealer Henry Helmboldt and another individual established two butcher shops. Lewis and
Clara Mercer and Esther Ekkard ran boardinghouses for workers. The Mercers opened the
Mercer House hotel and livery and Frank McGivern served meals in the Flagstaff House
restaurant and bakery. In contrast to the stereotypes of western mining camps, Animas Forks
featured only one saloon, which Albert and Anna Brendel tended. Specialized businesses also
served the nascent mining industry. An assay shop and blacksmith provided services needed by
prospectors, and several freight packers established headquarters. Charles Mcintyre began
building the Greenleaf Mill to receive ore from local mines.”

Curiously, Eureka lagged far behind Animas Forks in development, although it shared a
similar function and geographic relationship with the mining district. In 1875, the townsite
company secured a post office and cleared trees and stumps from the platted streets but neglected
to follow with promotion. As a result, few businesses and residents chose Eureka. Founder Fred
Blaisdell opened a tiny store, and in 1876, Henry O. Montague established a second, while
Suydam moved his mercantile down from Animas Forks. Eureka had lodging, but no saloons or
restaurants. It seems likely that Milton Engleman chose to settle in Eureka prior to his
involvement with the Sunnyside because the vacuum in business afforded opportunity.*

The other settlement that drew some of the prospectors and miners was Niegoldstown,
located in the Las Animas district where Stony Gulch opened into Cunningham Gulch. Reinhard
Niegold, the eldest of four German brothers, came to the Las Animas district in 1872 to prospect,
and brother Gustave, joined him within a year or two. Despite the tardy arrival, Gustave found a
vein rich with silver and industrial metals south of Stony Gulch in 1874, and the brothers
claimed it as the Philadelphia and Little Fanny. Two more brothers joined the Niegolds in 1876
and they began production according to the simple, labor-intensive methods commonly
employed in the mining district. The brothers had select ore samples assayed in Howardsville,
probably by William Nichols, and the reports indicated that the payrock featured as much as
$1,1009gn silver per ton. With visions of wealth, the Niegolds hired a crew to increase the
output.

Like Charles Mclntyre, the Niegolds decided to build a concentration mill at the mouth of
Stony Gulch instead of sending waste-laden crude ore directly to a smelter. In 1877 or early
1878, the brothers started the mill, and it worked at first. But as the ore increased in complexity
with depth, the mill lost too much of the metal content and forced the Niegolds to ship the
payrock to a smelter anyway. The bunkhouses for the miners and mill workers became the seed
for a small settlement that the brothers modestly named Niegoldstown. Taking advantage of
opportunity, the brothers decided to formalize the settlement and requested a post office, which
the Postal Service granted in 1878. They also built a sawmill for their operation and sold the

9 Nossaman, 1993: 186-9.
94 Bauer, et al, 1990: 52; Nossaman, 1993: 203-205.
% Henn, 1999: 68; Nossaman, 1993: 40, 224.
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surplus lumber, which was always in demand. The Niegolds’ employees and a few prospectors
and miners who moved into the settlement fostered enough demand to support a mercantile,
saloon, and hotel, which may have been operated by the Niegolds. The town, however, remained
small and primitive and never grew beyond a cluster of log buildings, even though it lay directly
on the heavily traveled Stony Pass route.*®

By 1877, both the promotion and proof of ore in the Animas River drainage created a
sensation that spread through Colorado and onward to the greater mining industry. The region
possessed a small smelting industry, despite initial failures, as well as a permanent population,
formal settlements, and businesses. A leading mining journal noted:

In the spring of 1872, when the San Juan excitement first began, few people regarded it in light of
anything but a common mining stampede, which would shortly die out or prove to be only an
ordinary furor over a fairly good mineral district. Instead of this, however, the five years that have
passed since then have, in their results, not only upheld all but the most exaggerated of the
assertions first made in regard to the wealth of the district, but have brought to light many new
resources which are at present being developed with an energy equal to that found in any part of
the West. In a word, San Juan is an undoubted success. Its mines are not myths, nor its rich ore
products solely of the imagination.”’

While the statement may have been slightly ahead of the actual situation in the San Juans, the
Animas River drainage seemed to be headed for greatness. The cornerstone, of course, was
mining, which continued to gain momentum. The Crookes and Greenes battled for sources of
ore, and the Greenes retained their exclusive rights to Quartzville, Arrastra Gulch, and Silver
Lake Basin. The Greenes had so many contracts and independent deliveries that metallurgist
John Porter decided to add a second furnace to the smelter. North Star Mountain remained the
domain of the Crookes, and they tightened their grasp on the productive operations there. In
addition, the Crookes had a relatively easy time establishing a presence at Animas Forks and
Mineral Point because of the easy route northeast over Engineer Pass and down Henson Creek to
Lake City.

The Crookes’ presence was as symbolic as practical because most of the operations
around the Animas River headwaters were still being developed and only a few had just begun to
produce ore in meaningful tonnages. Some of those that did generate ore were financed by
outside investors, which was a noteworthy trend. Cleveland capitalists Alfred A. Hard and Harry
L. Bull backed the Mastodon Mining & Reduction Company, which brought the Mastodon Mine
into production. The Mastodon was on the Sunnyside Vein. Local prospectors developed the
Mountain Queen, at the head of California Guich, into one of the Eureka district’s most
important producers for the year. Small amounts of ore trickled from other mines such as the
Columbia and Vermillion.”

% Bauer, et al., 1990: 105; Nossaman, 1993: 85.
97 “The San Juan Mines" EMJ (5/5/77): 291.
% Colorado Mining Directory, 1883: 650; Nossaman, 1993: 173; Ransome, 1901: 21.
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Some of the mines saw more activity on paper than in the ground. C.H. Graham
organized the Graham Silver Mining Company to speculate with claims in the area, and when he
lost interest in 1877, Graham left. His partners William and Alexander G. Bowman bought in
and reorganized as the Sioux City & San Juan Mining Company. Jonathan S. Buell established
the Buffalo & San Juan Mining Company with a like intent and reformed it as the Colorado
Mining & Land Company. Charles Mclintyre ran short of funds for his mill in 1877; he
subsequently found investors and included them as the Animas Forks Mining Company. None of
these entities produced much in 1877.%°

The Red Cloud, the only truly promising property at Mineral Point, was shallow but
served as an anchor for one of the most important operations in the upper reaches of the Animas.
It appears that in his effort to allocate capital, Mclntyre sold the claim to Franklin Josiah Pratt,
who represented a group of wealthy investors in Massachusetts. Instead of developing the vein
from the top down through a shaft, Pratt promoted the idea of undercutting the formation at
depth with a long haulage tunnel. Even though the Red Cloud was near Mineral Point, Pratt
proposed driving the tunnel northward from California Gulch because this offered the lowest
point of entry. The tunnel would have to penetrate around one mile of rock to reach the vein, and
Pratt probably forecasted that the tunnel was likely to intersect other ore formations over this
distance. If these veins were not claimed, then Pratt and partners could obtain rights, and if they
were, then the owners could work them from bottom up through the tunnel and pay a royalty.
Such a scheme made the tunnel attractive in theory, and the investors provided Pratt with the
funds to start. Pratt then commissioned what was known as both the Bonanza and the Mineral
Point tunnel in 1877, and the following year, organized the Mineral Point Tunnel Company.
Animas Forks benefited as the nearest commercial and communication center, and Mineral
Point, where the target vein was located, received some publicity as well.**®

Previously quiet portions of the county finally began to see significant claim development
and some production in 1877 and 1878. This deeply interested the Greenes because these areas
lay to the west of the Eureka district and within their territory. One of the most remote was
Poughkeepsie Gulch, which was a drainage to the north of Cement Creek. There, prospectors
made a number of discoveries in 1875 and 1876, designated the Poughkeepsie Mining District,
and developed their claims. Ruben McNutt and George Howard, who already extracted payrock
from their Poughkeepsie Mine, were probably principals in the district’s creation. By 1877,
partnerships had the Alaska, Bonanza, Columbia, Forest, and Red Roger mines in limited
production. Packtrains carried the ore in sacks south over Poughkeepsie Pass and down Cement
Creek to the Greene Smelter. Sale of the Old Lout Mine for $10,000, even though it was shallow,
caused a stir and stimulated a small rush to the district.'**

The center of new activity that was nearest the Greenes lay on Sultan Mountain, which
loomed west of Silverton. In 1876, several prospectors found a lengthy vein they named the
Empire, and within a short time, other prospectors identified several parallel formations

9 Nossaman, 1993: 191-2; Wickersheim and LeBarron, 2005: 371, 382, 426.
100 Nossaman, 1993: 121; Wickersheim and LeBarron, 2005: 376.
101 pansome, 1901: 192; Silverton Standard (10/20/17): 1; Wickersheim and LeBarron, 2005: 370, 376, 418.
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including the Hercules, Little Dora, and North Star. Simultaneously, parties began driving
tunnels to develop the veins, and all but one of the operations were small. Knight, Slocum &
Company began work on the Hercules, and John Williams started his tunnel toward the North
Star. The most significant endeavor was the Diamond Tunnel, which the Silver Producing
Mining Company pushed to undercut the Hercules and other veins. Ironically, all but the well-
funded Diamond Tunnel began minor production by 1878.*%

In 1877 and 1878, the Crookes and Greenes no longer competed only with each other for
the ore produced by San Juan County’s young mining industry. Each faced potential rivals in
their home territories, and some of the threats were serious while others were not. In Hinsdale
County, three new plants posed the possibility of diverting some of the ore that the Crookes
relied on. The Ocean Wave Smelting & Mining Company built a smelter in Lake City, George
Lee started the Lee Smelter at Capitol City, and both of these made the Crookes uneasy because
they were relatively efficient. The Van Giesen Lixiviation Works at Lake City, however, was not
much of a threat because during its brief life, the mill proved to be a failure.*

In San Juan County, five organizations built facilities that made the Greenes wary. In
1876, James H. Winspear began promoting a smelter he proposed for Eureka, formed the Eureka
Reduction Works the following year, and convinced investors in Ohio to provide him with
money. He saw the smelter completed by 1878, sought contracts for ore, and apparently
purchased an interest in the North Star Mine on North Star Peak for its payrock. When Winspear
started the plant, however, it proved to be a complete failure due to mismanagement, debt, and
inappropriate processes. The Greenes were relieved, and Winspear quietly escaped his creditors
and left for Rosita.'%*

W.G. Melville paralleled Winspear in terms of both timeframe and outcome, but his
method for recovering silver differed. In 1876, he organized Melville & Summerfield and built a
lixiviation mill at Silverton. Developed in Europe, lixiviation was specific to silver and used
chemicals and water as a solvent to leach the metal out of roasted payrock. While lixiviation had
been proven to work with simple silver ores, it was no match for the complex material in the
Animas drainage, and the mill’s immediate failure in 1877 sent Melville back to the drawing
board. He tried again in 1878 with the same result and, like William H. VVan Gieson at Lake City,
suspended operations.*®

Thomas P. Medly, Lorenzo Dow, and J.H. Earnest Waters planned another lixiviation
mill in Cement Creek that would intercept the ore that passed from mines in that canyon and the
Poughkeepsie district to the Greene Smelter. Melville had not yet demonstrated that lixiviation
was inappropriate for San Juan silver, and also failed to run adequate tests to prove that the
process would work. This seems curious because two of the three principals had considerable
experience in the mining industry.
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Waters was born in Parsonstown, Ireland, in 1851, son of prominent physician John
Waters. Interested in mining and not medicine, he received a formal education at the Royal
School of Mines in London and the School of Mines at Freiberg, Germany. In 1872, Waters
became an apprentice in the machine shops of John & Henry Gwynne in London for practical
experience with machinery. Ready for the field, Waters traveled far and wide. Under the
employment of a London investment syndicate, he traveled to Gilpin County in 1873 and
examined mines there, then went to Japan where the imperial government hired him to serve as
State Mining Engineer and build the Japanese Imperial Mint. In 1875, Waters resumed his
practice as a consulting engineer and examined mines in the Lake Superior area and Mexico,
then came to Colorado and joined the Leadville rush in 1877. He spent the next four years
primarily in Leadville and the San Juans, where he made his mark. %

Dow, much older than Waters, was born in Maine in 1824, received a formal education at
Wesleyan University, and moved to Topeka, where he was elected mayor in 1859 and then to the
state supreme court. Dow traveled widely, and on a visit to Europe during the early 1860s,
became fascinated with mining and engineering. He became an expert with explosives, brought
one of the first diamond drills for mining from Europe to the United States, and became involved
with several mining companies.*”’

The San Juan Lixiviation Company, which the trio established in 1877 with British
backing, was Dow’s latest venture. The group sited the new mill at the confluence of the South
Fork and main fork of Cement Creek, and named the associated settlement Gladstone, after the
British prime minister who held office at that time. The company began operations in 1878 and,
along with Melville at Silverton, immediately ran into trouble. To obtain capital for the
improvements deemed necessary, Dow and Waters reorganized the firm as the San Juan
Reduction Company and managed to win 200 pounds of silver from Poughkeepsie district ore.
That slggall amount was the crowning achievement, and the company spiraled into bankruptcy in
1879.

Charles Mcintyre’s Greenleaf Mill was not much of a threat to the Greene Smelter either.
David Nevin, brother of the inventor of the Nevin jig, a concentration apparatus, designed the
mill and saw it completed in 1877. To his embarrassment, the jigs, which used water currents to
separate heavy metalliferous particles from light waste, proved to be only moderately successful
on the complex ore of the upper Animas. Thus, the mill operated intermittently, may have been
refitted, but drew away no business from the Greenes.'%°

Edmund T. Sweet and Oliver Matthews opened the only facility that presented the
Greenes with competition. Even then, the threat was limited because the new plant filled a
specific niche. Specifically, Sweet and Matthews erected an ore sampler in 1878, which catered
to small mines with sporadic production. A sampler was a combination assay house, smelter, and
ore buyer, and it specialized in providing assays, testing batches of complex ore to identify the

106 \ossaman, 1993: 170; "Obituary” EMJ (5/13/93): 444; "Prominent Men in the Mining Industry” EMJ (8/22/91): 213; Clark C. Spence, C.
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best treatment methods, and buying small lots of ore from outfits that needed immediate income.
At the sampler, the purchased ore was segregated into piles by composition and when enough of
a single type had accumulated, the batch was smelted in a custom run. Ordinarily, samplers
posed no immediate threat to smelters such as Greene & Company although the smelters, set up
for large volumes of specific ore types, were unwilling to make process adjustments just for the
small, specialty batches. Sweet and Matthews, however, did have some impact on the Greenes,
who wanted every pound or ore that they could secure. Instead of building a facility anew, which
would have been costly, Sweet and Matthews refitted the idle Rough & Ready Smelter. Because
the Animas drainage possessed an array of small mines with complex ore, the Sweet Sampler
enjoyed success from the start.**°

To simultaneously nurture and profit from the growth of mining, local investors and
community activists backed the development of a primitive infrastructure in the county. Because
the industry depended on the movement of supplies, ore, and people, improvements to the
transportation system were among the most important.

Prior to the smelting war, the Animas River drainage lacked formal roads, and horses,
mules, and burros were the principal movers of materials and people. Given the reliance on draft
animals, it comes as no surprise that the original transportation system in the Animas River
drainage consisted of a network of pack trails. As alluded to in the pages above, several well-
beaten artery trails entered Baker’s Park from the east over Stony, Cunningham, and Cinnamon
passes, and from the south over Molas Pass. From the commercial and transportation hubs in the
county, more packtrails extended up all the major valleys and gulches to the centers of mining.
The trails naturally followed the paths of least resistance and fewest obstacles and usually wound
along the flattest ground. Feeder trails branched off the main routes and zigzagged up to nearly
every mine and prospect of note, and because these were the responsibility of the users, they
tended to be well-constructed. By winter, these trails became impassable, however, and all but
the most daring and resourceful on snowshoes attempted to follow only the principal routes out
of the region. For a mining district with aspirations of notoriety and fulltime ore production, this
simply would not do.

Otto Mears, pathfinder of the San Juans, understood this problem and foresaw great profit
in toll roads. During the 1870s, he hired crews to grade a network of roads from the San Luis and
Arkansas River valleys west toward the San Juans and the Gunnison area. The fathers of Lake
City, including the Crookes, realized that roads were necessary for their well-being and graded
several trunk lines in the eastern San Juans. The principal interests in the Animas River drainage,
however, were slightly less developed.

Most of the goods consumed in the drainage came from shipping points in eastern
Colorado and so it would seem logical to improve the Stony and Cinnamon pass trails first and
establish links with the Lake City and Otto Mears’ road networks. Instead, Dempsey Reese and
lumberman Henry F. Tower commissioned the first toll road, which took a route south and down
the Animas River canyon to Hermosa and Animas City in 1876. Reese and Tower’s direct

110 Nossaman, 1993:153.
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experience with the region’s weather superseded geographic distances. They understood that
wagon roads over Stony and Cinnamon passes would become blocked by snow while the
Animas River valley route, although much longer, was serviceable most of the year. Further, a
road graded by the Park View & Fort Garland Freight Company already linked Conejos, in the
San Luis Valley, with Animas City and provided the essential connection with eastern Colorado.
Reese and Tower saw their road carrying traffic by 1877 and began to recover the construction
costs by charging a lofty $6 for teams and $6 round trip for stages, which equates with about
$100 today.*™

An embarrassment to the Greenes and other Animas River drainage interests, Lake City
investors apparently completed a road to Animas Forks before they did. The Lake City interests
widened the trail over Cinnamon Pass, obviously to encourage residents to conduct business in
Lake City. In 1875, the Animas Forks Toll Road Company began a road from Silverton up to
Animas Forks, but the project took two years because it was under-funded. The road was poorly
engineered and a bog in places, but it granted the desired shortcut over the range to Otto Mears’
eastern network. San Juan County now had two routes that could accommodate wagons, which
lowered the cost of both mining and living. Because wagons carried freight in some volume, they
were able to haul larger loads into the county at lower rates than the pack animals.**?

Several areas of mining in the county were important enough to justify the construction
of rough but negotiable spur roads. In 1876, the Innis brothers assumed that a toll road would be
graded over Stony Pass and funded the first segment from Howardsville to Stony Gulch.
Probably at the behest of the Greenes and Blair’s party, the county graded a road up Hazelton
Mountain to the Aspen vein system in 1877, which increased the volume of ore packed to the
Greene Smelter. In 1879, local investors funded a toll road up Cement Creek, over Poughkeepsie
Pass, and into the Poughkeepsie district, whose miners were glad to now ship ore by wagon to
the Greene Smelter.'?

Communication with the outside world was necessary for the success of mining in San
Juan County, and it saw great improvement during the mid-1870s. The mail, newspapers, and
word-of-mouth were the principal sources of information. In the early 1870s, someone from the
Animas River drainage had to fetch the mail from Del Norte, where the nearest post office lay.
By 1875, post offices at Animas Forks, Eureka, Highland Mary, Howardsville, Mineral Point,
and Silverton served the county, and a carrier delivered the mail at regular intervals.
Newspapers were an indispensable institution, and county residents had a choice of several,
which they read, reread, and passed on to others. The Rocky Mountain News, published in
Denver, usually covered important national and territorial stories as well as cultural topics, but
because it arrived by post, the news was usually outdated. In 1875, John R. Curry established the
La Plata Miner in Silverton, which became the Silverton Miner in 1879. Curry’s paper, the first
in the Animas River drainage, covered local news, extracted stories from Denver and eastern
publications, and served as a promotional voice for the region.

u Nossaman, 1993: 87; Nossaman, 1993: 294; Pamgborn, 1878: 50
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To keep pace with new construction, several firms erected additional sawmills at the
timber stands. In 1876, Greene & Company merged its logging operation with Tower & Stevens
on Mineral Creek (north of Silverton), and Melville & Summerfield set up another sawmill in the
same area. After the company finished its lixiviation mill, it began selling the lumber in
Silverton. H.F. Schenk brought a third sawmill into the Cement Creek drainage, previously
untimbered. The San Juan Reduction Company erected a fourth sawmill at Gladstone in 1878.

In 1878 and 1879, several trends and forces set in motion events that permanently
changed the social, industrial, and economic landscapes of San Juan County. One of the trends
had to do with the value of silver. In 1878, the Federal government passed the Bland-Allison
Act, which was, in essence, a massive subsidy for the silver mining industry. Initially, the
government declared that the federal treasury would recognize a gold standard to the exclusion
of silver. Concerned over the impact to silver mining, western senators and representatives
drafted the Bland-Allison Act, which reinstituted the partial monetization of silver and required
the government to buy the metal at an average of $1.20 per ounce, or around $21 today.
Previously, silver fetched $1.15 per ounce, and the increase in value, coupled with the stability
imparted by the Act, instilled considerable confidence among investors, mine owners, and ore
buyers. This should have generated considerable interest in the Animas River drainage, where
rich silver ore had been proven at a number of mines in need of development.***

A conspiracy of factors, however, prevented interest from taking hold. First, Colorado
hosted two of the most significant booms in the West in 1878 and 1879, which captured the
attention of investors. The first was Leadville and the second was Silver CIiff, ironically in the
same area as Rosita, whose boom distracted investors from the Animas drainage in 1874.
Second, the wave of mill and smelter failures in the San Juans and San Juan County specifically,
clouded the region’s reputation among individuals knowledgeable about sound mining
investment. The ore could be profitably treated, as the Greenes, the Crookes, and Sweet’s
Sampler demonstrated, but investors instead focused on the failures. Third, the Meeker Massacre
resulted in considerable caution. The Brunot Treaty granted various bands of Ute Indians title to
the lands surrounding the San Juans, and following the established pattern, settlers encroached
on the territory anyway, and the Utes were moved several times. The Southern Utes quietly
settled on a reservation in southwestern Colorado. Nathaniel Meeker, in charge of the White
River agency in northwestern Colorado, tried to force the Northern Utes into an agricultural
lifestyle. As tensions between the Northern Utes and Meeker escalated, Meeker sent a
communication to the army, which headed for the White River area against warnings by the
Utes. The Meeker Massacre ensued. Subsequent virulent hysteria developed, although the
settlers themselves had ultimately been the perpetrators. With the resultant Ute removal of 1881,
however, the tribe was left with only two reservations in the state.

114 Joseph King, A Mine to Make A Mine: Financing the Colorado Mining Industry, 1859-1902 (Texas A&M University Press. 1977): 92;
Report of the Director of the Mint (Washington, D.C., Government Printing Office, 1894) 20; Glenn O. Saxon, Colorado and Its Mining Industry
(1859-1959) (New Haven: Yale University, 1959) 7, 8, 14, 16; Smith, 1982:92; Smith, 1994: 148.
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For San Juan County, these factors proved to be very troublesome. Why, investors
reasoned, should they risk capital on an underdeveloped and remote region where the climate
was uncertain and problematic, when Leadville, Silver CIiff, and other booms held great
potential? As a result, the mining industry in the drainage remained static and many of the small
operations even ceased as their high-grade ore gave out. Production figures for the county reflect
the downward trend. In 1876, the county’s mines produced $56,000 in silver, $5,000 in gold, and
$15,000 in lead. By 1879, the value dropped to $35,000 worth of silver, $6,000 in gold, and
$20,000 in lead.'™

Competition between the smelters and mills, built on the expectation of an increase in ore
production, intensified and the vulnerable ones closed. In a move that stunned the Animas River
drainage, the Greenes decided to suspend their operations at Silverton in 1879. Financial
troubles, emotional exhaustion, and the distance of the Greenes from Silverton were partially
responsible, but competition and ore that grew increasingly complex and difficult to treat were
the major underlying reasons. The physical frailty of George Greene, the engine behind the
business, certainly contributed as well.

Caught by surprise, the county’s miners tried to assess how the smelter’s closure would
impact them. Other mills and smelters existed at Lake City and Ouray, but the costs of shipping
ore over the mountains consumed most of the profits. Sweet’s Sampler and the San Juan
Reducing Company lixiviation works at Gladstone were able to process some of the ore, but the
mining companies relegated themselves to producing only the highest grades of ore. As the
county subsided into a depression, many wage laborers left, but visionary mine owners and
business interests held fast because an end to their problems was already in sight.

William J. Palmer, William A. Bell, and other principals with the Denver & Rio Grande
Railroad clearly saw the inevitable growth of southwestern Colorado and the potential offered by
mining in the mountains. They began grading a line in 1876, spent three years traversing south
around the San Juans, and established the town of Durango as a terminal. The track required
several years to finish, but assurance of service in the near future increased optimism and
confidence in San Juan County. The close proximity of the railroad would bring immeasurable
benefit because trains could carry greater volumes of freight at much lower rates than wagons.
Not only would this reduce the cost of living in the county, but also ore could be shipped to the
large smelters in Black Hawk, Golden, Denver, Pueblo, and Leadville. Further, these facilities
were prepared to profitably treat the district’s complex ore.

While the residents of San Juan County were certainly excited about the Durango
railhead, few thought that the Denver & Rio Grande would bear the exorbitant costs of grading a
spur up the Animas River to Silverton. Palmer and associates, however, quietly made
arrangements for exactly that. They envisioned Durango as the hub of an empire that would
capture the two surest and most profitable aspects of mining, transportation and smelting. As
track gangs pushed toward Durango in 1880, Palmer contacted John Porter, who had returned to

15 Henderson, Charles W. USGS Professional Paper 138: Mining in Colorado: A History of Discovery, Development, and Production
Washington, D.C., 1926, U.S. Geological Survey, Government Printing Office:216.
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Eureka, Nevada, in 1877 and explained his strategy. He planned to build a massive smelter in
Durango, capable of treating the most resilient ores the San Juans had to offer and at rates that
would undercut the facilities in the mountains. A railroad to Silverton would carry ore down and
send supplies and coal up, and similar lines to other portions of the San Juans were to be
considered. In so doing, the Denver & Rio Grande would dominate the freight and smelting
business with the investors as beneficiaries. Palmer offered Porter the position of chief
metallurgist and manager of the smelter, which Porter accepted.

As a first step, Palmer, Bell, and associates organized the New York & San Juan Mining
& Smelting Company in 1880 and, through Porter, secured the Greene Smelter. Porter then hired
Thomas Bowen and John Pennington as metallurgists, and began securing contracts for ore at
highly competitive rates. Porter had the Greene equipment freighted down to a site on the lower
Animas at Durango, then unloaded. At the same time, the company came to an agreement with
Edmund Sweet where Sweet would serve as ore buyer if he agreed not to expand his sampler
into a smelter. To ensure a constant supply of ore, the company surveyed the best mines in the
Animas River drainage and came to the conclusion that the Aspen, Ingersoll, Legal Tender, and
the other mines on Hazelton Mountain offered the greatest potential. In 1880, the company
approached Blair, Ingersoll, Higgins, and the other claim owners with an offer of $60,000, or
$1,073,483 today, for their interests.'®

News of the project traveled fast in the San Juans, and the inhabitants of San Juan County
learned not only that they were to have direct rail service, which was a benchmark for any
mining region, but also a new smelter. The greater mining industry had finally accepted San Juan
County as legitimate, which stimulated attention. Prospectors returned, investors examined
proven properties, optimistic individuals cautiously invested in new properties, however, and
existing companies and successful mines saw greater development. Curiously, the county’s
production figures continued to fall instead of rise. In 1880, the existing companies generated
only $13,000 worth of silver, $6,000 in gold, and $21,000 of lead. The reason for the trend was
that, instead of shipping ore to the distant smelters at high costs, the mine owners engaged in
some production, much underground development, and patiently waited for Palmer and Porter to
finish the railroad and smelter. By 1882, the owners deposited around 1,200 tons of payrock at
the future railroad depot in Silverton and stockpiled more at their mines.'*” The dismal
production figures belied an overall increase in activity among the county’s mines, although the
industry remained depressed. Mine owners in particular benefited from the wave of confidence
and either invested capital developing their properties or sold to one of a number of new
companies.

In the Las Animas district, most of the owners were unwilling to sell because they knew
their mines were valuable and would only become more so. Instead, owners self-funded
development and improvement. The Aspen complex remained one of the district’s most
important mines, and the New York & San Juan company consolidated the 4,000 feet of

116 "Mining News" EMJ (3/27/80): 222; Nossaman, 1993: 295-296; Nossaman, 1998: 39, 58; Smith, 1992:18.
17 Henderson, 1926:216; Nossaman, 1998: 180.
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disparate workings into a single operation. Foreman C.M. Osman kept a crew of thirty-five
miners based in Quartzville busy driving development workings and stockpiling ore in
anticipation of the railroad’s arrival.*®

North Star Peak and Dives Basin remained the Las Animas district’s other key center of
ore production. During the summer, Martin Van Buren Wason, Theophile Benjovsky, George
Ingersoll, and others maintained production from the Shenandoah and Dives mines, as well as
several surface operations. In complete control of the North Star, the Crooke brothers became
unsatisfied with the seasonality of operations and decided to consult with a professional mining
engineer in 1880. At this time, Ebenezer Olcott arrived in Lake City at the Crookes’ doorstep.

Olcott came from a wealthy New York family, and from an early age was interested in
mining and had the opportunity to enter the industry from the top. Olcott studied engineering and
metallurgy at Columbia School of Mines in New York, graduated in 1874, and took a job as a
chemist for the Ore Knob Copper Company in North Carolina. In 1875, he accepted a position as
superintendent of the Pennsylvania Lead Company, and then jumped at an offer the following
year to work as an engineer for the Orinoco Exploring & Mining Company in Venezuela. In
1879, Olcott returned to the United States, established a consulting practice, and easily secured
several important clients due to his experience. D. Willis James of Phelps, Dodge & Company
was one of Olcott's best clients, and Olcott quickly packed his bags when Willis requested a
survey of a number of significant mining districts in the West. Olcott started in Colorado and
perused Leadville, Silver Cliff, and Caribou, before heading to Lake City in 1880 specifically to
examine the Crooke Mining & Smelting Company.**

The Crookes were open to showing Olcott the North Star Mine in hopes of securing
additional investment. The North Star was probably unlike anything that Olcott had yet seen, and
during his visit, he was immediately impressed by the harsh environment. Seemingly as an act of
fate telling him that the North Star was to play a role in his future, Olcott was literally struck by a
small lightning charge, which electrified him all the more. When Olcott returned to Lake City, he
and the Crookes came to a mutual understanding. They realized that Olcott had what it took to
bring the mine into substantial production, and Olcott saw the Crookes and the mine as an
exciting physical and management challenge. Olcott negotiated a sound deal with the Crookes
that included a $25,000 investment in the North Star from Willis and associates in exchange for a
monthly salary of $500, or $8,946 today, plus expenses.'?’

While the North Star was arguably more difficult to work than nearly all the other mines
in the county, it exemplified the typical operation above treeline. Olcott kept a crew of eight
miners busy developing the North Star vein through three levels, with the lowest tunnel as the
principal point of entry. Each tunnel had one small blacksmith shop and either a platform or bin
in which the miners stored sacked ore for shipment by burro. The living quarters were within a
crude boardinghouse integral with the tunnel house and blacksmith shop at the lower level.

118 »Mining News" EMJ (12/11/80): 384; Nossaman, 1998: 99, 202.

119 Nossaman, 1998: 18; Duane A. Smith, San Juan Gold: A Mining Engineer's Adventures, 1879-1881 (Montrose, CO: Western Reflections,
2002) 6.
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Though the operation was seasonal in theory, winter came early at 13,000 feet and
presented the crew with considerable challenges. As the temperatures plummeted and the winds
picked up in fall, the miners may have grown claustrophobic in the cramped quarters. The
interior was more like a ship than a boardinghouse. The miners spent nearly all their time in one
large room when not at work because the outside was intolerable. They slept in a set of bunks
three tiers high, warmed themselves around a single stove, ate meals together, and competed for
the few pieces of furniture during leisure. Sacks of provisions were suspended from the ceiling,
boxes were stacked along the walls, and tools leaned against the corners. On windy nights, warm
air promptly left the drafty building and the stove was insufficient for heat. Damp rags froze and
workers could see their breath. The crew simply had no escape from each other, the ambiance of
mining, or the cold. But like their counterparts elsewhere in the county’s high mines, they
labored until Olcott called an end to the season in November or December.'?!

On the opposite side of North Star Peak in Little Giant Basin, the positive climate of
1880 and 1881 fostered not only prospecting, but also the development of several of the ore
veins discovered earlier. Prospectors searching the rock formations at the gulch’s head found a
rich vein that carried silver and industrial metals exposed at the surface and claimed it as the
Potomac. They had no trouble finding buyers, who organized the Potomac Silver Mining
Company and immediately began development. As early as 1879, prospectors were driving a
tunnel south into a cliff on the floor of Little Giant Basin to undercut the Big Giant vein at depth.
They erected several buildings including a tunnel house to support activity underground and, in
1880, found investors who furnished capital for major development. A small crew of miners
drove the tunnel to the impressive length of 400 feet where they struck a vein laced with gray
copper and silver ore. Excited, the investors increased the crew to seven miners who began
extracting and stockpiling the ore. Down the gulch to the north, a party of prospectors hoped for
the same result and pushed an exploratory tunnel toward the Black Prince vein.*?

The King Solomon Mine was Little Giant Basin’s most important operation, although it,
like most of the producers in the Las Animas district, remained small, shallow, and labor-
intensive. In 1879, the Ressouches brothers realized that their King Solomon would never pay in
desirable guantities without capital for development. Despite the regional economic slump at the
time, they interested Robert Hook, a lawyer who practiced in Silverton during the warm months
and in Chicago during the winter. Hook convinced other investors in the Windy City of the King
Solomon’s potential, and together they organized the Solomon Silver Mining Company to work
the property. The Ressouches brothers retained a significant share of the company and probably
personally oversaw development in 1880 while Hook acted as superintendent.*?

Once the King Solomon began proving its potential in 1881, the Ressouches and Hook
elicited additional money from the Chicago investors to pay for an expert engineer capable of
increasing production. The nationalistic Ressouches brothers had an individual in mind, who was
Victor Vincent, a fellow Frenchman. While Vincent actually had little direct experience with

121 Smith, 2002:115.
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mining, he was an accomplished engineer in France, as well as a talented artist. Vincent had
aspirations of becoming a well-practiced American mining engineer and came to the Animas
River drainage in the late 1870s. Hoping that the King Solomon would be his first step in a
career, Vincent convinced the Ressouches to hire him. During the year, Vincent was given
charge of a crew of sixteen, who increased development of the vein while bringing ore to
daylight.***

Within the Las Animas district, the movement of prospecting and claim development
crept over to the northwest face of Kendall Mountain above Silverton. After the sale of the
Ingersoll Tunnel, Thomas Higgins pursued other interests, including backing his wife Mary
Anne in a lease on the Grand Central Hotel in Silverton in 1881. He also invested in two highly
promising claims staked in Swansea Gulch during the late 1870s. One, the Lackawanna, was
within a short walk from Silverton and consisted of a group of claims that covered several veins
on the gulch’s east side. The other, the Scranton City, lay at treeline at the base of a cliff on the
gulch’s west side. In light of the coming railroad and the smelter in Durango, Higgins sensed that
the time was right to bring the claims into production and hired several miners to work with him
in initial development. At the same time, prospectors were at work driving tunnels and sinking
shafts into six other claims on Kendall Mountain.'?®

The Eureka district, and especially the core area around California Gulch, drew more
interest among new investors than perhaps any other portion of San Juan County. Capitalists
local and distant organized at least ten new companies, which developed seven mines into
substantial operations and speculated on numerous other claims. In addition, the six companies
and partnerships already in production during the late 1870s continued to conduct development
and store their ore.

Increased activity fostered the growth of Eureka and Animas Forks, which evolved from
tenuous camps into small towns with business districts. By 1880, Eureka had a population of
around 125 residents, although less than half lived in the town year round. A full assemblage of
businesses satisfied their needs, as well as those of individuals who came to find work or
examine the surrounding mines for investment. Thomas G. Andrews and Peter Tallman opened a
combination restaurant and hotel. H. Bert Clifford ran another, while the wives of local investors
kept several boardinghouses. Tallman also tended a mercantile that competed with Engleman’s
store, and Henry Helmboldt established a branch meat market. Tallman and Andrews served
liquor in their hotel, and other entrepreneurs opened two saloons in 1881. That year, the townsite
company also formally platted and surveyed Eureka. While Winspear’s smelter was silent, the
sawmill was not and produced construction materials desperately needed.*?°

Several individuals noteworthy in Colorado’s history claimed Eureka as home. One was
James R. McKinney, who arrived in Eureka in 1879 to direct the Moline Silver Mining Company
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for investors in Illinois. The company developed the Confidence prospect in Eureka Gulch and
the Sultana Mine on Sultan Mountain. The venture was largely a failure, although the Sultana
produced in later years, and McKinney sought income by opening a livery stable in Eureka. He
ran the business for several years before moving to Colorado Springs, where he became involved
with the Exchange National Bank. Through this organization, McKinney invested in Cripple
Creek when that district boomed and realized a huge fortune. He reinvested some of this in
Colorado’s beet sugar industry, which assumed a prominent role in national production.**’

Theodore B. Comstock opened an assay shop in 1879. Described by peers as overly
energetic, Comstock was born into an upper class family in Cutahago Falls, Ohio in 1849 and
immediately embraced the sciences. He gravitated toward geology at Cornell University,
establishing the school’s renowned geological department. In 1873, Comstock combined a lust
for adventure with his penchant for science and joined Captain W.A. Jones’ exploratory party to
Yellowstone in 1873, producing the first geological report of the area. He subsequently led his
own expedition into Canada’s Northwest Territory and made some of the first scientific
observations of the far north. Afterward, Comstock decided to use his geological knowledge for
profit and came to the Animas River drainage to examine the possibilities of establishing an ore
treatment facility, knowing that this would be difficult due to the complexity of the ore. He
solved some of the region’s treatment problems and later moved to Arizona, founded the
University of Arizona School of Mines in 1891, and maintained a consulting practice as a mining
engineer.'?®

Animas Forks did not grow quite as dramatically as Eureka, in part because the town was
already established. A basic business district included several mercantiles, a drugstore, several
lodging establishments, a blacksmith, and an assayer. Animas Forks also boasted two ore
treatment facilities and a sawmill. One of these was Charles Mcintyre’s Greenleaf Mill, which
ran intermittently because not well-suited for the district’s ore. The other was Eclipse Smelter,
which James Cherry built in 1880 as part of one of the district’s promising new ventures. Cherry
and fellow investors organized the Eclipse Mining & Smelting Company with a plan of buying
several proven properties and building the smelter to treat the ore. Like Mcintyre, Cherry also
forecast treating custom lots from local outfits to increase income. He purchased the Eclipse, Red
Cross, and Mountain Queen mines at the head of California Gulch, the latter of which had been
ready to provide ore since 1877. In 1880, Cherry erected the smelter in the Animas drainage
several miles south of Animas Forks, testing Mountain Queen ore in 1881 with complete
success. At least, this is what the eastern investors believed. The smelter actually had great
trouble with the complex ore, and Cherry realized that he would need more capital to refit the
facility. However, without informing the investors, Cherry had applied some Eclipse capital and
most of the proceeds from the test run to another mining scheme that collapsed. In 1881, the

127 Garl Abbott, Stephen Leonard, and David McComb, Colorado: A History of the Centennial State (Niwot, CO: University Press of Colorado,
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multiple failures came to a head. As the investors discovered the truth, Cherry disappeared and
the smelter abandoned like so many other failures.*®

The Eclipse was one of two monumental failures that gave remote investors pause. The
other was the Bonanza or Mineral Point Tunnel. Franklin Pratt, a businessman, but no mining
engineer, underestimated the cost of boring a mile-long tunnel in the San Juans. The operation
started well, and Pratt took the highly progressive approach of using rock drills to expedite the
drilling and blasting process. In 1878, Pratt lured drill expert Whittemore away from the
Highland Mary to install a compressed air system at Mineral Point. The system was the second
in the county and among the earliest in Colorado. As noted above with the Highland Mary, rock
drills and air compression were new technologies in the late 1870s, and became indispensable for
mining around twenty years later. The system and general expenses of operating in the San Juans
consumed $300,000 to $400,000 by 1880, which placed Pratt in a difficult position. He had a
tunnel only 1,000 to 1,500 feet long to show for such an astounding cost, with triple the distance
yet to go. The Mineral Point Tunnel Company went bankrupt in 1881, and the Silver Peak
Mining Company of London bought the property and continued work. They suffered a similar
fate and suspended operations in 1884.1%

Despite the failures, a number of investors maintained a general sense of confidence in
the operations around Animas Forks. In Placer Gulch, Rasmus Hanson discovered what he
thought was an extension of the Sunnyside Vein, which he named the Sunnyside Extension. L.C.
Osborne may have grubstaked Hanson because Hanson granted him a share of the claim. The
Mastodon Mining & Reduction Company continued developing the adjoining Mastodon, and
nearby, the Gordon Mining Company developed the Sound Democrat. This promising property
was under female directorship, rare in western mining. In 1881, Canadian Martha A. Gordon
organized the company to speculate.™"

Eureka enjoyed its share of mining ventures during 1880 and 1881. Mercantile owner
Milton Engleman received news that miners struck rich gold ore in the Sunnyside on the east
shore of Lake Emma, named for his wife. The word was welcome, but the operation uncertain
because of conflict among the owners. In particular, when Engleman began development during
the late 1870s, he offered interests in the property to his in-laws for capital. They squabbled over
profits, control, and ownership, which poisoned the relationships between Emma, Milton, and
the family. Barely in control of the Sunnyside, Engleman ordered the ore to be stockpiled instead
of sold. On California Mountain above the Sunnyside, Ruben McNutt discovered rich ore in his
Washington claim and sold to the Colorado Mining, Smelting & Investment Company.**2

In 1881, several new companies began work in Picayune Gulch, east of Lake Emma.
Chicago investors established the Treasure Mountain Mining & Milling Company and developed
the Pacific on Treasure Mountain. New York capitalists organized the Great Animas Gold &
Silver Mining Company with two purposes. One was to speculate with hardrock claims and the
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other was to operate what may have been the first large-scale placer mine in the county. In
particular, the company began processing the gold-bearing gravel of Picayune Gulch with
hydraulic placer methods. Around one mile up the Animas River canyon from Eureka, the Silver
Wing Company continued to drive a deep tunnel to undercut its claims at depth. Miners did so
with rock drills, marking another early use of the machines in the San Juans.**

The Mineral Point district finally saw its first serious activity since the mid-1870s.
Because the region was near Hinsdale County, the few productive mining outfits in the district
did not wait for the railroad to arrive at Silverton and instead shipped to the Lee and Crooke
smelters. The Polar Star on Engineer Mountain was the largest, and because the Crookes owned
the mine, the ore naturally went to the Crooke Smelter. The Red Cloud was the other major
operation at Mineral Point. In 1879, E.B. Greenleaf’s Mineral Mountain Mining Company
bought the Red Cloud and adjoining claims from Pratt, possibly when he needed capital to save
the Mineral Point Tunnel from going bankrupt. The company then invested in a concerted
development campaign. James Trezona, a Cornish miner with extensive experience in California,
Nevada, and Michigan, hired thirty miners and sank several shafts on the Red Cloud Vein with
steam equipment. The company was rewarded at the end of 1880 with a rich strike and sustained
production.'®*

Most other operations in the Mineral Point district were little more than prospects.
Chicago interests established the Palmyra Mining Company and installed one of the district’s
first steam hoists and sank a shaft. The Colorado Mining & Land Company, the Chicago & San
Juan Mining Company, and other interests developed other prospects.”*® James K. Herring
oversaw development of the Maid of the Mist on the divide between Mineral Point and
Poughkeepsie Gulch. Herring earned minor fame in 1883 as groom in North America’s highest-
altitude wedding to Mary Beck at Mineral Point. Herring purchased a share in Sound Democrat
Mine and served as superintendent at the Red Cloud under Trezona. In 1880, he was given
charge of the Maid of the Mist.**®

As can be expected, the town of Mineral Point enjoyed a growth due to activity in the
district. The town center was a cluster of around forty cabins, a mercantile, butcher, saloon, and
blacksmith. A boardinghouse provided accommodations for local miners, while visiting
dignitaries chose between the Forest House and Mineral Point hotels. The population was around
200, but this included the workforce scattered amid surrounding mines.

The Poughkeepsie Mining District deviated from the sluggish trend in the rest of the
county and saw major activity between 1879 and 1880. Firstly, in terms of location, Lake City
and Ouray were almost as easy to reach as Silverton. Thus when the Greene Smelter closed, the

133 Colorado Mining Directory, 1883: 637, 678; Nossaman, 1993: 250.

134 Colorado Mining Directory, 1883: 653; "Mineral Point Mines, Colorado" EMJ (9/4/80): 155; "Mining News" EMJ (8/28/80): 143; "Mining
News" EMJ (11/27/80): 351; Nossaman, 1998: 117.

135 Colorado Mining Directory, 1883: 624, 660, 663; "Mineral Point Mines, Colorado" EMJ (9/4/80): 155; "Mining News" EMJ (11/27/80):
351; Nossaman, 1998: 119.

138 Lenn, 1999: 47; "Mineral Point Mines, Colorado™ EMJ (9/4/80): 155.




NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 53

mining outfits found it economical to pack their ore, however small the production, to the Lee or
Crooke smelters in Hinsdale County or to the Windham and Norfolk & Ouray smelters. Either
trip remained protracted, however, and therefore costly.

Secondly, Horace Tabor’s interest in the district stimulated confidence that, in actuality,
may have been disproportionate with the prospects. In 1878, Alfred Hard, a principal with the
Mastodon Company, purchased the Alaska Mine in Alaska Basin, which descended northeast
into Poughkeepsie Gulch. He convinced Tabor to provide capital for development, and they
organized the Alaska Consolidated Mining Company. Tabor was a national celebrity through his
fortune made at Leadville and a romance with the diva Baby Doe. The Alaska proved rich, and
Tabor announced that he would finance a concentration mill in Cement Creek. While the mill
was never built, the success of the operation, its association with Tabor, and his personal
examination of the mine made a news sensation.™*’

By 1880, the district featured nine mines in production. Of these, only the Alaska,
Bonanza, Red Rogers, and Old Lout were well-developed, the rest shallow and small operations.
Two prospectors staked the Bonanza in 1877, which the Kalamazoo Bonanza Mining Company
bought in 1879, driving the Bonanza Tunnel, and sinking a shaft. The Old Lout yielded small
amounts of ore from 1877 until 1879, when it saw substantial development.'*®

Business entrepreneurs arrived in the district on the heels of Tabor and the swarm of
prospectors that followed. As early as 1877 or 1878, freight packers traveling between Silverton
and Ouray maintained a camp on Lake Como, which became the seed for a small mining hamlet.
William Boot took time from his Mineral Point mercantile to open the first store and saloon in
1879, and others established a restaurant. The Poughkeepsie post office established in 1880,
when Lucius B. Kendall began printing the Poughkeepsie Telegraph newspaper.**

Kendall was overly optimistic about the future of Poughkeepsie, however, as the boom
died within a year. In 1881, the Alaska went bust, Tabor lost interest, and most prospectors were
unsuccessful. Nearly all the nascent mines were quickly exhausted. When the prospectors,
business owners, and most of the mining outfits left for winter in 1881, they did not return.
Poughkeepsie lost its post office, although the store may have opened seasonally for several
years afterward. The Poughkeepsie district would not participate in the boom that swept the rest
of San Juan County when the railroad arrived in 1882.**°

The Early 1880s Boom, 1882 — 1885

In 1881, the Denver & Rio Grande Railroad prepared to lift the mining industry of San
Juan County out of its slump. The railroad was not motivated by altruism, however, and stood to
gain huge profits. The carrier organized the subsidiary Denver & Rio Grande Extension and

137 colorado Mining Directory, 1883: 611; Frank Fossett, Colorado: Its Gold and Silver Mines, Farms and Stock Ranges, Health and Pleasure
Resorts (New York: C.G. Crawford, 1880): 528; Henn, 1999: 59; Nossaman, 1993: 173, 250.
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began grading a narrow gauge line up the Animas River canyon from Durango to Silverton,
despite the challenges construction presented.

In the summer of 1882, the first formal train arrived in Silverton bearing capitalists and
dignitaries. It was greeted by jubilant spectators, as well as 1,200 tons of ore that had been
stockpiled in anticipation of the railroad’s completion. Finally, the county had an all-season link
with the outside world and New York & San Juan Smelter, the largest ore treatment facility in
southwestern Colorado. The railroad was revolutionary for day-to-day life, business, and mining.
Commerce exploded because a wider array of goods became readily available at a much lower
cost,. During the mid-1870s, residents paid as much as $400 per ton of freight from Denver, a
cost which fell as low as $100 when the Denver & Rio Grande established its railhead at
Durango. The Denver & Rio Grande Extension, also known as the Silverton-Durango railroad,
reduced the cost to $16 per ton, which tumbled to $12 when regional business interests protested
the rates. The railroad also opened the county to affluent capitalists who could travel more
comfortably and stay in one of the hotels in Silverton.***

At the same time, John Porter and Thomas Bowman brought the New York & San Juan
Smelter, popularly known as the Durango Smelter, into action. The smelter was large enough to
process ore in economies of scale, which allowed the New York & San Juan company to
undercut smaller facilities in the mountains. The combination of rail service and the discounts
offered by the Durango Smelter dramatically reduced mining overhead. Whereas freighting
outfits charged $35 to $40 to haul a ton of crude ore to the Front Range for treatment, a mere $12
would send the same material to Durango. Delighted, mining companies reassessed the worth of
their properties because abundant medium-grade ores were now profitable to produce.*?

While popular history claims that the discount service offered by New York & San Juan
crushed the local smelting industry, this was not completely true. Smelters continued to operate
in Lake City, Ouray, and Telluride because the cost of freighting the ore over to Silverton for
shipment remained high, and in Silverton, the industry did not collapse; it merely adjusted. The
complex ore and numerous small mines in the county guaranteed a market for a few custom
independent smelters and samplers.

As early as 1881, Seth R. Beckwith forecasted the need for a local smelter in the vacuum
left by the removal of the Greene facility. He, Edward C. Dean, Lemon G. Hine, and Almon M.
and Henry H. Clapp organized the Martha Rose Smelting & Mining Company in hopes of filling
what was a void, despite the presence of the Durango Smelter. Beckwith was an experienced
metallurgist who had surveyed mining districts in Arizona, Nevada, and Colorado. With British
capital, Beckwith and Arthur Macy, another metallurgist, began construction of the Martha Rose
Smelter on the northwest edge of Silverton in 1882. They competed aggressively with the New
York & San Juan for ore contracts and locked in the Potomac, Silver Lake, Gray Eagle, and a
few nascent operations in the Ophir area.**®
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Beckwith started the smelter in September, confirming claims that the Animas River
drainage’s mining industry was prolific enough to support both a local facility and the Durango
Smelter. After a successful trial run, Beckwith and Macy ordered their workers to dig into the
1,000 tons of stockpiled ore. Like most smelters, the Martha Rose furnaces had to be stopped
periodically to remove slag and input more ore, but after the third or fourth day, no new charges
were added. The operation stalled due to financial, legal, and management issues and the owners
spent additional money suing each other over the problems. Even though the Martha Rose was
an engineering success, it became a financial failure soon idle.***

Ore samplers, however, continued to serve the needs of the small mines that yielded
complex payrock. Although the New York & San Juan certainly wanted the business, their small
difficult batches of ore were ultimately not financially feasible due to the adjustments and
interruptions required for custom treatment. As a result, Sweet’s Sampler thrived. Sweet also
wisely adapted to the railroad and Durango Smelter combination by expanding the sampler’s
niche, but within the terms of his arrangement with the New York & San Juan Company. In
addition to providing custom treatment, Sweet bought ore, tested it to identify the best smelting
methods, segregated the payrock, then brokered shipments to the Durango Smelter. This strategy
was so effective that, in 1883, Germans Edward G. and Gustavus H. Stoiber came from
Leadville to open their own sampler near the Martha Rose.'*

The rise of concentration mills in the Animas River drainage was another response to the
New York & San Juan. As aforementioned, concentration mills were not intended to produce
matte or refined metals, but merely separated the metalliferous ore content from waste. By
concentrating the ore, mining companies could avoid shipping waste-laden payrock to the
Durango Smelter and the fees levied for full treatment. The concentrating process began when
crushers pulverized crude ore into gravel, following which Cornish rolls, pan grinders, stamp
mills, and ball mills gradually reduced the gravel further into particles ranging from sand to
slurry. Screens segregated particles by size, followed by concentration in jigs, vanners, and other
appliances using gravity and water currents. While the process seems simple, it was nothing of
the sort. The character of the ore’s host rock, the chemical compounds of the metals, and the
different types of metals conspired to render concentration in the Animas River drainage a
science fraught with difficulty and the potential for failure. Particle size, the behavior of crushed
material and metals, and the specific gravity of the rock types required calculation, experience
with machinery and metallurgy, experimentation, and outright cunning to win them from the host
rock.

Few metallurgists and engineers in the Animas River drainage possessed all these
abilities, but several persevered during 1882 and 1883 to make concentration a viable adaptation
to the changed circumstances of the ore treatment industry. Although the Niegolds pioneered ore
concentration at Niegoldstown, Theodore B. Comstock developed truly effective methods using
his assay shop in Eureka as a front to understand the character of the county’s ores. When the

144 Report of the Director of the Mint, 1882: 545; "Mining News" EMJ (12/30/82): 351; Nossaman, 1998: 206; Rocky Mountain News (10/17/82):
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railroad arrived in 1882, Comstock applied his knowledge and understanding of scientific
processes to complete an efficient sampler in Silverton. What separated Comstock’s facility from
the Sweet and Stoiber samplers was that, in addition to small-batch sampling, the Comstock
Sampling Works also included a complete concentration process that separated metalliferous
material from waste without smelting. Comstock contracted with the North Star on Sultan
Mountain and other mines for ore, enjoyed early success, and shipped the products to smelters in
Denver, Omaha, and St. Louis for final refining. He carefully avoided doing business with Sweet
and New York & San Juan because they were now staunch competitors.**®

Comstock’s precedent of concentration began to take hold in the region, and the county
saw construction of three mills in 1882 and five more facilities the following year. Late in 1882,
George Ingersoll erected a small mill at Green Mountain Mine in Cunningham Gulch. The Green
Mountain Mill proved a success probably because the Green Mountain ore was fairly
straightforward. The other two mills treated custom ores solicited from mines in the Las Animas
and Eureka districts. The Solomon Silver Mining Company built one of the two custom mills in
the western portion of Howardsville. J. Woodbury Jones built the Middleton Mill at a new
settlement between Eureka and Howardsville. Jones and New York investors organized the
Uncompahgre Mining & Smelting Company and built the mill to process ore from both their
Uncompahgre Chief Mine and other contributors. The Solomon Mill was an outright failure even
though it featured adequate equipment. The mill’s simplicity, juxtaposed with complex ore and
improper adjustments were to blame. The Middleton Mill proved only partially successful
because it was tailored for ore in the district’s northern reaches, which differed greatly from
material produced elsewhere. Thus the mill treated payrock produced from a relatively narrow
geographic area.**’

Of the five mills erected in 1883, three were for in-house use while the other two
accepted custom ore. Milton Engleman financed one of the in-house mills at the Sunnyside
Mine, despite a conflict with his extended family. Engleman hired John H. Terry to build the
facility at Eureka in 1883, with Terry fresh from milling the complex gold ores of Gilpin County.
Terry was Comstock’s equal in designing an effective process, in part because the Sunnyside ore
was similarly complex gold compound that resisted traditional methods. Terry built a ten-stamp
mill at Lake Emma which used mercury to amalgamate with free-gold and concentration
machinery to recover the material that would not amalgamate. The mill produced concentrates
and some gold bullion, which the Englemans in turn used to fund their legal squabbles.**®

Comstock built the other successful in-house concentration mill at the North Star Mine
on Sultan Mountain. When planning his sampler, Comstock forecast that the North Star Mine
would become one of his largest clients due to proximity and the affinity of his process to North
Star ore. Further, the mine was on the brink of becoming a major producer. In 1881, eastern
investors organized the Sultan Mountain Mining Company, purchased the North Star, and hired
Oliver Posey as manager. Posey drew John Williams and the Sultan Tunnel into the company
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and began production. In 1882, Comstock offered to build a concentration mill adjoining his
sampler and lease the facility to the North Star. Posey agreed, and Comstock’s mill began in
earnest in 1883.1%

Gladstone, largely idle since the lixiviation mill failure of 1879, hosted the county’s third
in-house concentration plant. Theodore Stahl operated an assay shop in Howardsville during the
late 1870s and became involved with the Gladstone Mining & Reduction Company, which
attempted to restart the lixiviation mill in 1881. Although the operation was a failure, Stahl
became aware that prospectors had found an unusual vein on Bonita Mountain that featured a
combination of silver and bismuth. They claimed it as the Sampson, which Stahl purchased in
1882 to recover the metals, especially the bismuth. Satisfied by his assay experiments, in 1883
Stahl organized the Southern Colorado Bismuth & Silver Mining Company, allocated investors,
and began development of the Sampson. He built a surface plant at the mine, a concentration mill
near Gladstone, and the second tramway in the San Juans linking the two. During 1883, Stahl’s
miners made a rich strike that ordinarily would have elated owners, but in fact confounded the
operation. In particular, they encountered gold, and exploration revealed that with depth, the gold
content increased while the silver and bismuth decreased. Whereas Stahl thought he had a silver
and bismuth mine, the Sampson turned out to be a gold mine. He produced some ore and shipped
it to distant smelters in hopes of enough income to refit the mill. Regardless, the Sampson Mill
drew the first substantial population to Gladstone in years, and the workers filled the available
housing.*

Like the in-house mills, the custom concentration plants built in the county in 1883 met
with mixed success. Cherry’s idle Eclipse Smelter below Animas Forks was one custom facility
converted from a failed smelter with limited success. As with the Middleton Mill, the
metallurgist found the ore differed in character depending on the source, and batches from
different portions of the Eureka district must be treated variably. After three years of
experimentation, intermittent operations, and constant adjustments the Eclipse investors
withdrew.

The other custom plant was the product of an entirely new center of activity in the
county’s northwestern portion. As early as 1874, prospectors found mineralized veins along both
sides of the main and middle forks of Mineral Creek, but because the formations were scattered
and offered largely low-grade ore, the drainage attracted only minor attention. The Silver Crown
on Mill Creek, western tributary to Mineral Creek, was the most promising mine during the late
1870s and saw some development. At the same time, prospectors examining Red Mountain
Creek on the north side of Red Mountain Pass found deposits of silver ore. In 1881, John
Robinson prospected the east side of Red Mountain Creek and staked the Guston, and John H.
Haynes located the Congress. These were promising discoveries, and yet, from outward
appearances, were too low in grade to generate serious interest. However, these initial
assessments proved deceiving. Convinced that it was only a matter of time before they found a
significant vein, Robinson returned in 1882. Near camp, they discovered rich samples of float,
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chunks of ore broken off a parent vein and scattered on the ground by erosion. The party traced
the float to its source and unearthed a vertical stock of ore they named the Yankee Girl. The find
was so large and pure that it incited a true rush to Red Mountain valley. The event was at first a
local, and quickly a statewide phenomenon. When Robinson and Haynes turned their attention
back to the Guston and Congress, they found that at depth, these ore bodies were as significant as
the Yankee Girl, which further fueled the rush.

By 1883, prospectors organized the Red Mountain Mining District, established several
camps, and staked hundreds of claims. The district extended north from Red Mountain Pass and
encompassed the valley on the west side of the Red Mountains, which lay mostly in Ouray
County. The Mineral Creek district was to the south and the Poughkeepsie district to the east,
both in San Juan County. The Red Mountain district developed quickly due to the proximity over
Red Mountain Pass of commercial centers, communication systems, and transportation routes.

Just as San Juan County residents laid the foundation for the Red Mountain rush, they
were also poised to profit from the event. The county was the main port of entry into the Red
Mountain district, and Silverton the starting point for two routes. One logically followed the
main fork of Mineral Creek to the base of Red Mountain Pass, where a settlement known as
Sweetville began to grow in 1882. E.T. Sweet’s saloon was the first business and became a seed
for the camp. C.P. Mallett opened a restaurant, followed by William Emerson’s butcher shop and
Frank W. Barnes’ lumberyard. The rival camp of Chattanooga materialized adjacent. In 1883,
the two camps merged under the name of Chattanooga and one secured a post office. Afterward,
T.E. Guerin started the Enterprise Restaurant, prospector Charles Robinson and Benjamin Brown
opened mercantiles, and J.W. Shields erected a hardware store. Chattanooga was ready to serve
the basic needs of prospectors and investors in the Red Mountain district.*>*

Other entrepreneurs completed key infrastructure that deepened the relationship between
the Red Mountain district and Chattanooga. In 1883, the San Juan County commission awarded
George W. Seaman a contract to grade a wagon road from Chattanooga. At the same time,
Silverton pioneer Henry Adsit, George H. Brown, and James Downey organized the Red
Mountain Sampling & Concentrating Company and built a custom mill at Chattanooga. This was
San Juan County’s second concentration facility built in 1883 and apparently modeled after
Comstock’s dual flow path. The intent was to provide processing for the Red Mountain district’s
low-grade material. The same year, the Mineral Creek Concentrating Company prepared to build
a mill at Chattanooga, although it may have been the same facility.'>

The other route from Silverton into the Red Mountain district ascended Cement Creek,
from which prospectors crossed west over several passes between the Red Mountain peaks. The
traffic increased business in the Gladstone mercantile, which already did a sound trade with the
Sampson miners. But Gladstone failed to grow, and entrepreneurs established two nearby and
competing settlements in 1883. The most promising was Del Mino, which George W. Bachman
and William Bowman started at the mouth of Prospect Gulch. Other businessmen founded
Vernon at the mouth of Georgia Gulch a short distance south of Del Mino. During 1884, Mineral
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Creek became the most popular route, and traffic in Cement Creek declined and neither hamlet
survived. Del Mino’s buildings were moved to Gladstone.**

In stark contrast, Silverton literally boomed due to the railroad, its role as Red Mountain
gateway, and as the center of the county’s growing mining industry. Thomas Blair and Dempsey
Reese saw their quiet hamlet evolve into a noisy hub of industry, freight, commerce, finance, and
communication. By end of 1882, Silverton had eleven telephone subscribers. In 1883, the San
Juan County Bank was formally chartered as the First National Bank of Silverton. Green Street
became the commercial district and its side streets offered diverse businesses and services.
Silverton hosted the first mining business exchange in the San Juans. Cushing M. Bryant, a
successful metallurgist from Boston, opened Bryant’s Mining Exchange in 1882, as a
clearinghouse stocked with reference books and periodicals as well as access to investments. In
1883, Henry Adsit, Edmund Sweet, W.G. Melville, and other investors organized the Silverton
Electric & Gas Light Company, although they did not immediately act.***

As the county’s main point of contact with the outside world, Silverton was the principal
cultural center. John and Amanda Cotton ran Cotton House, a community performance and
celebration hall of sorts. The saloon was one of the most important social institutions in any
mining camp, and Silverton featured around thirty, as well as two dance halls, mostly on Blair
Street. The saloons in Silverton served as communication centers, public meeting halls, and
entertainment centers. Silverton’s residents even finally found time for God during the early
1880s. The Congregational Church Society built the first church in 1881, and the Catholics built
their church in 1883. Many of Silverton’s residents brought the tradition of fraternal orders with
them, which was another important institution on the mining frontier. Fraternal orders provided
social contact, assistance, guidance, death benefits, and even a primitive form of unemployment
support. Men joined the Masons, the Odd Fellows, the Order of Eastern Star, and the Woodmen
of World, while some women belonged to the Women of Woodcraft and the Rathbone Sisters.™

These and other organizations served as surrogate families for the few residents bold
enough to winter in the county, and the organizations hosted holiday celebrations. Silvertonians
and regional residents made sure that they enjoyed every holiday to the fullest and orchestrated
social events on the slightest pretense. In 1876, young men established a baseball league and the
older residents organized dances that drew men from miles away. Summer was a time for the
Animas River drainage residents to celebrate their mining culture and, starting in 1882, miners’
contests became a part of every July Fourth event.

A few visionary residents, mostly from Silverton, continued Dempsey Reese’s low-level
promotional campaign during the early 1880s, although by now, Silverton earned a name in the
greater mining industry. As a showing of local pride, some of the mine owners in the Las
Animas district contributed show-quality ore specimens for presentation and a contest at the
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National Exhibition in Denver in 1882. Several local voices and experts maintained contact with
reporters for the Rocky Mountain News, various mining industry journals, and the United States
Mint. The most reputable individuals such as Theodore Comstock even produced their own
articles on the region for publication.*®

Paralleling the rise of positive attributes, crime and vice increased in the Animas River
drainage, although it never approached the levels misrepresented by popular history. Through
1878, Howardsville, Silverton, and greater San Juan County were able to claim only one
shooting each. By 1881, there was certainly more violent crime such as shootings, but it was
proportional to the overall increase in population and occurred mostly among the rough element
in Silverton. Robbery and theft, reliant on the anonymity of a large population, also increased.
To prevent crime from reaching the epidemic proportions experienced in other boom towns,
Silverton fathers hired legendary Bat Masterson to keep order while other concerned citizens
formed midnight vigilance committees, which made use of the noose on more than one occasion.
In contrast to another myth of the mining frontier, the Animas River drainage was nearly bereft
of prostitutes. “Aunt Jane” Bowen brought the first of these service workers to Silverton around
1878 as the town grew and found the market quite limited. The entire Animas River drainage
was unable to support more than around twelve prostitutes into the early 1880s. To be near the
potential customers, the prostitutes set up shop on Blair Street, which was the region’s only red
light district. Amusingly, to distinguish themselves apart from the strip of sin, those respectable
citizens who already lived on Blair Street renamed the ends of the avenue Empire Street.™’

While the Red Mountain rush was certainly an important local event, the county’s
established mining industry was even more significant. The three public samplers, the Martha
Rose Smelter’s brief life, and four successful concentration mills directly reflected a highly
productive and growing industry. The number of mines either in development or production
between 1882 and 1886 doubled. In particular, the county hosted around ninety-one small mines,
eight medium-sized operations, two large producers, and two placers. A small mine is defined as
a shallow operation with basic surface facilities, a handful of miners, and limited output. A
medium-sized mine had between five and thirty workers, fairly extensive workings, and a
surface plant with at least several buildings. A large mine had extensive workings, a surface
plant with substantial buildings and some machinery, a workforce greater than fifty, and a
significant output. While the number of operations doubled, their tonnages of ore mushroomed
by a factor of ten. The ore value soared from $53,000 in silver, $10,000 worth of gold, and
$16,000 for lead in 1882, when the railroad arrived, to $749,000 in silver, $40,000 worth of gold,
and $207,000 in lead by 1885. Mineral exploration continued largely as before, and prospectors
developed around 375 claims, only a slight increase from the late 1870s.'*®
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Las Animas Mining District

In contrast to the rest of the county, the roster of active mines in the Las Animas district
barely increased after 1882, although almost every significant operation began sending ore down
to Silverton. At the Aspen, the New York & San Juan company appointed Thomas Hackett as
foreman because of his experience driving the Ingersoll Tunnel. Under Hackett, a large crew of
miners drilled and blasted six to seven tons of ore per day, which Sweet’s Sampling Works
prepared for shipment to the Durango Smelter. By 1883, the Aspen featured at least 7,000 feet of
underground workings.**®

To the southwest, new properties high on the flank of Kendall Mountain began to make
good on their promise of ore. In 1882, the Lackawanna Tunnel & Mining Company drove two
tunnels to undercut the J.B. Smith and A.J. Craine veins. A short distance up Swansea Gulch,
miners pushed Thomas Higgins” Scranton City Tunnel toward another vein. Almost one mile to
the west, above Silverton, prospectors discovered a vein with potential in Idaho Gulch and staked
the Idaho Group of claims. During 1883, a small party of miners leased the property and shipped
ore to a Denver smelter for testing and treatment. The ore was visually impressive but difficult to
treat and therefore less profitable than the lessees hoped for.'®°

In Little Giant Basin, the operators of the Big Giant Mine encountered similar problems
when their tunnel reached the target vein. The ore assayed well but was too complex to treat at a
profit, and the operation stalled. The nearby Solomon and Potomac mines more than made up for
the Big Giant’s lack of production. At the Potomac, miners enjoyed the relatively easy work of
drilling and blasting ore from the vein’s surface and shipped the particularly rich payrock to
Durango.'®*

Still aspiring to become a mining engineer and operator, Victor Vincent deepened his
involvement with the Solomon Mine, which proved his undoing. In 1882, Vincent interested
fellow Frenchmen Jules Rifflard and Richard Salembier in the Solomon and discussed leasing
the property from the Solomon Silver Mining Company. The trio agreed, Vincent appealed to the
wealthy Arthur C. King in New York City for capital, and they organized the French Silver
Mining Company. The outfit retained the Solomon company’s crew of twenty miners and kept
them busy all winter producing ore. After encountering a 10”-wide vein of solid copper and
galena ore, the French petitioned the Ressouches brothers and Solomon Silver Mining Company
to sell the claims. The owners agreed, but only on condition of regular payments and specified
underground development should the French default and abandon operations.*2

After signing the sale contract, Vincent was suddenly caught in a difficult position. In an
unrealistically short time, King began demanding returns on his investment while the Ressouches
reminded Vincent about their payment schedule. To appease King, Vincent procrastinated on the
required development and directed the miners to extract ore as fast as they could. After several
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months, the Ressouches found out about the neglected development and immediately ordered a
stop to ore production, which left Vincent in an impossible situation. He was not allowed to
produce ore until he paid the Ressouches, and he could not pay the Ressouches without mining
ore. The French defaulted on the contract and the Ressouches attempted to reclaim the Solomon
Mine, but the French resisted. At a deadlock, both parties filed suit at the end of 1883 and shut
down the operation. Deflated, Vincent quit the French and returned to France.*®®

To the southwest Silver Lake Basin began to resound with activity. In 1881, several
prospectors imitated John Reed and made the dangerous ascent into the basin, where they
examined the west wall a short distance south of Reed’s claim. After climbing rock cornices,
they found a rich vein, staked it with the lowa and Stag claims, and began development of a
tunnel and shaft. At the end of the season, the party had ore samples assayed in Silverton. The
report surprisingly found that the ore was not only rich with silver and industrial metals, but also
gold. In 1882, the party returned and began production. The members enticed a crew of miners to
make the sheer cliff at the lowa their home for the working season with all the supplies and
lumber necessary to build a basic surface plant.***

While the lowa miners acclimated, John Reed labored on Silver Lake a short distance to
the north. During 1880 and 1881, he traced the Silver Lake vein for a considerable distance with
shallow excavations hewed into solid bedrock. In 1882, he produced several tons of ore from a
tunnel he drove while lamenting the slothful progress due to the short working seasons. To be
caught by a heavy snow in the basin would be a life-threatening event, which forced him down
relatively early each year.

During a stay in Silverton in 1883, Reed convinced John W. Collins that the Silver Lake
and Round Mountain claims would pay well if worked, but required an initial investment. For a
share of the Silver Lake, Collins and Reed formed a partnership, ascended into the basin, and
began production. Reed and Collins also packed in enough lumber and equipment to build a
small blacksmith shop and cabin. They hired a small crew of miners to begin a second tunnel.
Once the miners reached the vein, the party produced around five tons per day and packed it
down to Sweet’s Sampler.®®

On the east side of Silver Lake Basin, Julius Johnson drove a tunnel underneath the Royal
Tiger claim. An old-time prospector, he leased the property from McPherson Lemoyne. The
lease ended around 1883 when Lemoyne sold the Royal Tiger to Innis, who hoped to approach
his fabled lake of gold from the opposite side of the mountain should the Highland Mary fail,
which it was.*®

After ten years of confusing instructions, conflicting orders, and decisions that railed
against common sense, Edward Innis finally ran out of money. In 1885, he closed the Highland
Mary. Innis’ reliance on a psychic confirmed the suspicions of workers and caused a minor
sensation in the Colorado press. Rocky Mountain News announced: “The Silverton Miner

163 Report of the Director of the Mint, 1882: 548; Nossaman, 1998: 308.

164 Ransome, 1901: 157; Rocky Mountain News (8/1/82): 3; Rocky Mountain News (9/19/82): 3.

165 Report of the Director of the Mint, 1883: 409; Henderson, 1926: 49; Nossaman, 1998: 307; Ransome, 1901: 149; Rocky Mountain News
(8/30/83): 2.

166 Nossaman, 1998: 325; Prosser, 1914.




NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No0.1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 63

pronounces the Highland Mary Mine a howling failure. This mine has been worked, says the
Miner, under the direction of spirits.”*®” Innis left the county broke and embarrassed, with little
recognition that, despite the complete lack of ore production, he had made the Highland Mary
one of the most advanced operations in the San Juans to date. In the process, he squandered
around $1 million (or $19,000,000 today) and paid his seeress $50,000.%°

Eureka Mining District

Unlike the Las Animas district, Eureka enjoyed a major boom between 1882 and 1885.
Capital flowed, the number of substantial operations increased, and ore production rose as a
result. California and Placer gulches, in the district’s northern portion, saw the most activity.
After limited success with the Alaska Mine, Alfred Hard settled in Animas Forks or Eureka.
Hard served as manager of the Mastodon Mining & Reduction Company in Placer Gulch, which
was so productive that he planned for a mill. When not at the Mastodon, Hard worked as a
superintendent at several other mines and participated in new ventures. In particular, Hard and
his Cleveland friends organized the Silver Lead Mining Company in 1882 and speculated on
claims near Eureka.'®

Rasmus Hanson was easily as busy as Hard, if not as successful. Born in Denmark in
1847, Hanson immigrated to Quebec at age twenty-one, and moved on to Chicago. The
opportunity for adventure drew Hanson west, as far as Cheyenne where financial circumstances
forced him to work for the Union Pacific Railroad. He became interested in mining, saved pay,
and tried his luck prospecting in Nevada. Unsuccessful, Hanson migrated to Central City in
1870, Clear Creek County, and ultimately Park County, where he prospected and worked as a
miner. In 1873 or 1874, Hanson realized that the San Juans presented possibilities, being recently
opened.

He built a cabin and realized his dream in 1880 by discovering the Sunnyside Extension
at the head of Placer Gulch. As noted above, he worked the claim with L.C. Osborne, but
Osborne apparently tired of the labor and leased the property to Hanson in 1882. Hanson struck
rich ore during the year and realized enough income to buy the property in 1883. From that
point, Hanson engaged in a cautious development strategy anathema to most profit-hungry mine
owners. Specifically, he did not overcapitalize the operation and instead reinvested his profits in
development and improvements. Progress was slow, but steady, and once the mine was ready for
major production, Hanson stood to profit significantly. This pattern characterized the first years
of the Sunnyside Extension, and in 1885, Hanson was ready to treat ore in his own mill and save
the fees levied by custom plants. He leased the Greenleaf Mill at Animas Forks. The Greenleaf,
however, performed no better on Hanson’s ore than on material from the rest of the Eureka
district, so he relinquished the lease, planned his own mill, and patiently saved his money.
Hanson attempted to increase his income by working the Atlantic for the Red Gulch Mining &
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Milling Company at the same time as the Sunnyside Extension. A fire in the Atlantic tunnel
house, however, destroyed his equipment.*”

To the west in California Gulch, new owners of the Mountain Queen prepared to bring
the mine into production. When James Cherry left the county following the Eclipse failure,
investors sold company assets to two camps. One bought the smelter and refitted it as a
concentration facility. The other group purchased the Mountain Queen, originally supposed to
provide the smelter with excellent silver ore. While sources conflict regarding the exact date,
S.W. Thorne likely bought the mine in 1882 for the high price of $125,000, which inspired
confidence among other investors. Thorne pursued a development campaign and brought the
mine into meaningful production. Shortly afterward, Thorne formalized the operation as the
Mountain Queen Mining Company.'"

Despite the positive economic climate of the early 1880s boom, some of the established
operations ran into considerable difficulty. After significant investment in advanced equipment,
Matt France drove the lower tunnel on the Silver Wing and finally reached the target vein.
Unfortunately, the vein did not feature ore in the same amount or character as it did near the
surface, and instead offered complex, low-grade material that was difficult to treat. Although
France may have been confident that he could find profitable ore, investors were unwilling to
risk more money and suspended work. France probably produced small amounts of ore from the
upper workings in an attempt to pay the costs of further exploration. Conversely, mining
engineer J.F. Taylor at Mineral Point Tunnel in California Gulch, previously the Silver Peak
Mining Company, grossly underestimated the cost of driving the mile-long tunnel. By 1884, the
tunnel was still far from its destination and had not encountered any of the hidden veins that
were expected. Taylor had little to show, his British investors granted no more capital, and the
operation went bankrupt due to unpaid debts. The town of Animas Forks lost a major employer,
and the tunnel remained closed for decades.'"

Numerous other operations and a large population at Animas Forks mitigated the loss.
During the early 1880s, Animas Forks had a distinct business district, numerous cabins, a
population of at least 160 residents with an additional 300 scattered amid the surrounding mines.
The business district catered to the needs of workers primarily and visiting company officials
secondarily. This can be expected because of the town’s role as the Eureka district’s northern
commercial hub and the eastern gateway into the county. Eureka was the second most important
town in the mining district and the commercial hub for its central portion. The population was
similar to that of Animas Forks, but the surrounding mountains featured fewer mines and the
area population was therefore less. Thus, Eureka did not grow as quickly as Animas Forks and
had a smaller business district.”®

The southern portion of the Eureka district finally saw activity during the early 1880s as
prospectors began to develop claims in Minnie and Maggie gulches. Oliver and Frank Gorsage
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built cabins at the mouth of Maggie Gulch and worked the Auburn, Charity Ann, Minnie, Silver
Lead, and other nascent mines. Their camp evolved into the settlement of Middleton, which
attracted a mercantile and the Middleton Smelter. The Hover Brothers found the pasture offered
by the wide Animas River valley was excellent for cattle and established a dairy. Middleton was
never formally platted as a town, but it remained an important local settlement for decades.'"

The mines on the east side of Cunningham Gulch were among the county’s earliest
producers and enjoyed additional improvements during the early 1880s boom. It remains
debatable whether the east side was in the Eureka district’s far southern extent or the east edge of
the Las Animas district. In either case, Reese, Mulholland, Blair, and Mickey Breen sold the
Green Mountain Mine to British interests in 1881, who in turn leased it to George Ingersoll and
partner. The concentration mill that Ingersoll built in 1882 functioned correctly, unlike most, and
provided Ingersoll sound returns for several years. Nearby, Christian Schoellkopf kept twenty
miners busy extracting a substantial tonnage of ore from the Pride of the West. Around 1880, he
developed the vein through three tunnels, and each had its own tunnel house and ore bin. To the
north, another party began preparing the Old Hundred for production.'”

Mineral Point Mining District

The Mineral Point district enjoyed a small wave of interest during the early 1880s. Even
though the district was far from Silverton, the samplers there provided mining companies with an
alternative to the smelters in Hinsdale County, and the cost of goods and materials was less due
to the railroad. The Polar Star and Red Cloud continued to be the principal operations. By 1882,
the Crookes developed the Polar Star to the point where the underground workings were
accessed through tunnels on both the San Juan and Hinsdale county sides of Engineer Mountain.
The mine was more important to the Crookes than ever because their smelter was in financial
difficulty and they needed the high-grade ore. Greenleaf and his Mineral Mountain Mining
Company maintained production at the Red Cloud through two shafts and expanded work to the
nearby Burrows No.2. In addition to these principal producers, a few partnerships began shipping
high-grade ore from shallow mines such as the Big Giant, Bill Young, San Juan Chief, and
Palmyra.'’® The remote town of Mineral Point changed little during the early 1880s. The
population increased slightly to 200, which supported two mercantiles. The town featured the
Forest House and Mineral Point Hotel.*"”

Mineral Creek Mining District

While Silverton was popularly known as a mining town, the definition came mostly from
a role as the milling, ore shipment, and business center of San Juan County. In actuality, few
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mines of significance lay within a reasonable distance by foot, at least until 1882. At that time,
the development of some of the county’s largest and most important operations granted Silverton
a direct association with ore production. The mines were centered on the Hercules and North Star
vein system at the base of Sultan Mountain, an easy walk from town.

As noted above, the Sultan Mountain Mining Company purchased the North Star in 1881,
hired Oliver Posey as manager, and began heavy production. The company gladly leased the
concentration mill that Theodore Comstock built at the mine and enjoyed substantial profits. The
mill generated so much concentrate that the Denver & Rio Grande graded a siding just for the
mine. However, the available ore underground began to dwindle and the company responded by
selling the entire operation to Lucius B. Kendall for $75,000 in 1884. Kendall obtained the
money from investors and profits earned from the Bonanza Mine in the Poughkeepsie district.
He astutely observed that the Sultan Mountain company merely extracted the shallow ore and
failed to fully develop the vein at depth, leaving vast ore reserves. Kendall sold a one-third
interest to W.M. McKelvey for $72,500, and they organized the Silverton Mining Company.
Through the sale, Kendall recovered his own costs and had plenty of capital for formal
development. Posey was out of a job, although the Congress and Yankee Girl mines, two of the
best in the Red Mountain district, now consumed his attention. He purchased them in 1882 with
George Crawford of Pittsburgh, in addition to the National Belle in 1884, and soon realized a
fortune. Kendall and McKelvey did well also, because the North Star became one of the county’s
longest-lived producers.’

A short distance to the south, several other companies were at work on the Hercules and
Little Dora veins. One outfit had been driving the Empire Tunnel toward the Little Dora in 1881
in anticipation of the railroad and struck the formation. When trains began service, the company
sent its ore to the Durango Smelter. After John Williams sold his interest in the Sultan Tunnel, he
turned his attention to the Victoria section of the vein system. Knight, Slocum & Company did a
little work on the system and likely started the Montezuma Tunnel. In 1881 or 1882, Williams
became involved with the Victoria Consolidated Mines Company, which purchased the
incomplete Montezuma and Ajax tunnels and began pushing them toward the Victoria and
Hercules veins. By 1884, Williams had both tunnels in production.*”

During the mid-1880s, subtle change began to creep through the county. The first sign
was that many small pocket mines and shallow operations either curtailed or suspended
production altogether. Another indicator was that investors grew tight with the capital necessary
to develop small mines into sound producers. In 1886, a combination of internal and external
problems brought to an end the boom stimulated by the railroad and Porter’s smelter. Miners
exhausted the shallow veins, overestimated their ore reserves, and found that the substantial
veins decreased in value and increased in complexity with depth. In short, miners had finished
off the easily treated, shallow ore and were left with deeper unprofitable material. Outside the
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district, a synergy of forces eroded confidence in the silver market and not only caused the value
of the white metal to slip, but also made investors wary. In particular, opponents of the silver
standard shifted Treasury policy in favor of paper currency and opposed the free coinage of
silver. In 1885, the value of silver decreased from $1.12 per ounce to $1.06 and continued a
downward trend until it bottomed out at $.94 in 1888. The watershed year, however, was 1886,
when silver reached $1.00 per ounce, which seemed to be the threshold for mining investors. The
prices for industrial metals fell in parallel, and they constituted a significant portion of the
county’s ore. Copper dropped from $.21 to $.16 per pound, and lead decreased by a penny to
$.04 per pound.*®

The net result was that the mine owners and operators in San Juan County saw their
profits evaporate and closed many of the remaining operations. In the Las Animas district,
almost all the mines went idle except for the Aspen, North Star, and Titusville (recently
developed on Kendall Peak). In the Eureka district, the roster of productive mines fell until the
Sunnyside, Hanson’s Sunnyside Extension, and the Mountain Queen remained the only reliable
principals. Mineral Point’s miners exhausted the shallow ore, and investors were unwilling to
risk more capital on deeper work. Cement Creek was quiet and grew even more so when the
Sampson Mine, the most promising operation, went bankrupt in 1885. To the west, activity in the
Mineral Creek district contracted around Sultan Mountain and Chattanooga, which shrank in size
and depended on Red Mountain district traffic more than ever.

A third symptom of the countywide problems was that well-funded companies scaled
back their operations and tried cutting costs, much of which was labor. In 1885, S.W. Thorne
reduced the wages of his miners at the Mountain Queen from the already low rate of $3.00 per
shift to $2.50 without reducing the price of room and board in tandem. Miners protested and
threatened to strike. At the Aspen Mine, John Porter decreased wages from $3.50 to $3.25. For
additional savings, however, he stopped providing miners with the luxury foods they had grown
accustomed to. Pay and food being sacred to miners, they still threatened to strike and Porter,
unwilling to negotiate, tested the miners’ will.*8*

Unfortunately for Thorne and Porter, they underestimated the miners’ resolve and set in
motion the county’s first serious labor dispute. The miners walked away from both operations,
and the Aspen crew appealed to the Silverton chapter of the Knights of Labor, the most powerful
miners’ union in Colorado during the 1880s. The union met with Porter, who proved intractable,
and word quickly spread and other groups of miners threatened to strike in sympathy. Porter and
Thorne’s actions appeared to initiate a wage-cut trend that other mine owners throughout the
county would imitate. To nip this in the bud, miners in support of their Aspen and Mountain
Queen brethren gathered in huge numbers in Silverton and pressured Porter to accede. Tensions
ran high and the fate of the region’s entire mining industry teetered on Porter’s decision.'®?
Backing up their threat in writing, a reporter for the Engineering & Mining Journal noted: “At a
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meeting of miners held at Silverton, a resolution was passed and signed by all who were present,
pledging themselves not to work for less than $3.50 a day.”*®* Unwilling to precipitate a
catastrophe, Porter conceded and his miners went back to work. Thorne instead closed the
Mountain Queen. When the investors found out about this and Thorne’s other mismanagements,
they ousted him. The Aspen Mine, a bellwether of the Las Animas district, went silent for the
first time in over ten years. It was now obvious that a depression was at hand.

The Late 1880s Slump, 1886 - 1889

San Juan County entered a dark period in 1886, and the principal mining interests of the
county had reason to believe that silver’s value would continue to slide. And yet, they instituted a
handful of significant projects using mostly their own capital. The projects did not involve
fabulous discoveries, new veins, or rich ore. Instead, they were an attempt to improve efficiency
through mechanization and other infrastructure improvements, increase production, and reduce
the extraction cost per ton of ore mined. Some of the projects were costly, and they collectively
maintained some momentum to mining industry in the county.

The Las Animas district hosted a significant share of the activity. Howardsville assayer
Thomas Trippe spearheaded one of the county’s most important projects in 1888 when he
convinced investors to build a $50,000 concentration mill for the Titusville Mine. Trippe
asserted that separating the waste from the metalliferous content and then shipping the
concentrates to the Durango Smelter would provide significant cost savings. Instead of building
the mill at the mine, Trippe sited it on Deer Creek near the Animas River where he could harness
water power. Moving the ore to the mill, however, was a problem and in response, Trippe
contracted for a Huson aerial tramway to carry the ore for a distance of around 8,000 feet. This
may have been the county’s third major tramway system. Because the construction season was
short, the mill was not ready when winter set in. Trippe, however, had been courting St. Louis
investors who accepted his word as an experienced mining expert that the operation was one of
the best in the region. There was certainly some truth in this because the tramway was the second
ever built in the Las Animas district, and the mill was one of a few constructed within the last
five years. Trippe then negotiated a deal for an astounding $250,000, which he divided among
his investors.*®*

The North Star Mine on North Star Peak was among the few operations to weather the
1886 recession, but not without difficulty. The Crookes finally wearied of the high operating
costs engendered by the challenging location and floundered for ways to trim the budget. With
their Lake City smelter closed, the Crookes accepted the reality that they had to send the ore to
the Durango Smelter. The teamsters took the shortest route to the railroad at Silverton, leading
mule trains on a well-built trail that wound around the exposed east summit of North Star Peak,
down Little Giant Basin, and to a transfer station in Arrastra Gulch. There, workers hefted the
sacked payrock into wagons and completed the final leg to Silverton. This cumbersome process
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consumed a huge proportion of the profits, and so the Crookes finally decided to invest in a
concentration mill to separate out some of the waste. Why they waited until 1889 is a mystery
since the benefits of concentrating ore for a mine such as the North Star were well known by
then. Regardless, the Crookes invested $40,000 to $50,000 in a facility similar in scale to
Thomas Trippe’s Titusville Mill. The North Star facility, however, was not nearly as well
planned. The Crookes could have followed Trippe’s template with the Titusville and sited the
facility on the floor of Cunningham Gulch. The distance from mine to mill had the ideal fall line
for an aerial tramway. Instead, the Crookes chose a location at the head of Little Giant Basin
along the Silverton route, which required that the crude ore be packed around North Star Peak
first. In addition, the physical environment presented the same impediments that convinced
Trippe to build his mill lower down on the Animas River. When finished during 1889, the
Engineering & Mining Journal praised the mill as the highest in the nation at 12,700 feet. This,
however, was an exaggeration because the mill actually lay at around 12,160 feet. The Crookes
ran the mill until 1892, when they moved it down to the mouth of Boulder Gulch.**®

At the time that Trippe and the Crookes were building their mills, the New York & San
Juan Mining & Smelting Company was reorganized as the San Juan Smelting & Mining
Company and consolidated its assets to achieve the business practice known as vertical
integration. The massive company controlled coal mines, coke ovens, the Durango Smelter,
transportation, and several silver mines including the Aspen complex. Given the low price of
silver, San Juan Smelting & Mining decided to remedy the awkwardness of managing the
Aspen’s five separate tunnels and improve efficiency by driving a central haulageway to
undercut the vein system at great depth. In 1888, the company commissioned the Amy Tunnel,
named for Henry Amy, manager of the Durango Smelter, on the north base of Hazelton
Mountain, 1,000 feet lower than the mine’s early workings. In so doing, miners could work the
ore veins from the bottom up and haul the ore through the tunnel to a proposed concentration
mill. By 1889, miners drove the tunnel more than 1,000 feet where they struck the ore system
and brought the property back into profitability. In later years, the tunnel was renamed the Aspen
to reflect its association with the Aspen ore system.*®®

The Eureka district had grown relatively quiet except for two of its principal mines,
which were the Sunnyside and Sunnyside Extension. The high gold content of their ores was the
reason that these two mines did well during the recession. Although the value of silver ebbed,
that of gold did not, but the recession created difficult economic conditions. As a result, the
owners of the mines attempted to reduce their operating costs in the same manner as Trippe and
the Crookes. Both, however, needed no outside investors and instead had their saved earnings for
exactly such purposes.

Rasmus Hanson, owner of the Sunnyside Extension, continuously if not cautiously
reinvested his profits in formal development for long-term operations. Progress was slow for
several years because Hanson’s funds were limited, but by 1886, he finally shifted from
development to substantial production. He generated so much gold and silver that his income
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partially offset the decline of the other mines in terms of the county’s overall production figures.
Hanson also saved enough capital to build his own mill. Thus, he organized the Sunnyside
Extension Mining Company and began construction at the mine in Placer Gulch. Originally,
Hanson entertained grand plans of electrifying the facility with power generated at a hydro plant
on the Animas River, but quickly shelved the idea. In 1889, Hanson finished the mill and found
it to be a metallurgical success.*®’

John Terry combined elements of Trippe’s Titusville model and Hanson’s electrification
plan when he erected a mill in Eureka Gulch for the Sunnyside Mine. He was unsatisfied with
the small capacity, inefficiency, and remote location of the stamp mill at Lake Emma and
petitioned Milton Engleman to fund a new facility. Like Hanson, Terry wanted to electrify the
mill, and similar to Trippe, he thought a lower location and an aerial tramway were best. Also
like Hanson, Terry was unwilling to incur too much debt and so planned to build the system in
financially sustainable phases. Thus, he began construction in 1889 at a confluence deep in
Eureka Gulch, around one mile west of the town. The mill featured two processes that relied on
mercury to amalgamate with free gold and concentration equipment to recover the material that
resisted amalgamation. A small hydro-power plant was installed at the mill, which provided
lighting and probably ran the machinery. When finished in 1890, the facility performed well and
allowed Terry to increase production at the mine, but he waited until capital reserves were
replenished before adding the tramway.'®®

The other major project in the county was a fifth mill erected during the late 1880s. This
one went up within sight of Silverton on the base of Sultan Mountain at what was now known as
the Victoria Mine. During the mid-1880s, John Williams brought either the Ajax or Montezuma
tunnel into production under the Victoria company and demonstrated that the Hercules and Little
Dora vein system were productive. On this premise, even though the value of silver was at a low
point in 1888, Williams managed to sell the Victoria company to a group of Boston capitalists.
They reorganized Williams’ outfit as the Victoria Mining & Milling Company and continued
production. It remains uncertain who proposed the idea of a mill, but Williams was convinced
that shipping concentrates to the Durango Smelter was far less costly than waste-laden ore. In
1889, the investors fronted the money for the mill and secured Alonzo Smith to build it. Smith
claimed he had superior experience from his participation in erecting Colorado’s first stamp mill,
which is unproven. The new Victoria Mill and the nearby North Star complex, which may have
been the most productive mine in the county during the late 1880s, contributed greatly to
Silverton’s popular image as a gritty mining town.*#°

Otto Mears backed the last major project completed in the Animas River drainage during
the late 1880s, and it had a regional impact. After assembling a network of lucrative toll roads in
the eastern San Juans, Mears saw a railroad as the next logical step in his transportation empire
and proposed a line from Silverton northwest up Mineral Creek, over Red Mountain Pass, and
down into the Red Mountain district. No one but Mears, John Porter, and the most powerful
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mine owners thought that it could be done, and they brought their capital to bear and completed
the Silverton Railroad in 1888. The railroad astonished the mining industry and the Denver &
Rio Grande directors, who claimed that such a venture was impossible. The mine owners in the
Red Mountain district had a direct interest in the new line because the railroad reduced their high
operating costs and restored profitability despite the low value of silver. Porter in particular
wanted the railroad because he needed the ore for the Durango Smelter, which had trouble
securing enough payrock due to the recession. Even though the Silverton Railroad better served
the Red Mountain district than Silverton, the railroad benefited San Juan County. In essence, the
railroad ensured that the county, and especially Silverton, remained the all-season portal into the
Red Mountain district. This was crucial during the late 1880s because, despite the new mills, the
rest of the county’s mining industry was in poor condition.**

190 \whitman Cross, Earnest Howe, and F.L. Ransome, Geologic Atlas of the United States: Silverton Folio, Colorado (Washington, .D.C: U.S.
Geological Survey, Government Printing Office, 1905) 26; Henn, 1999: 134; Sloan & Skowronski, 1975: 35; Smith, 1982: 50; Smith, 1994: 166;
E.F. Tucker, Otto Mears and the San Juans (Montrose, CO: Western Reflections, 2003) 91.
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The Value of Silver Restored, 1890 — 1893

The residents of San Juan County were rewarded for their perseverance through uncertain
times when the politics surrounding the value of silver turned in their favor. During the late
1880s, western legislators clamored for a return to a pro-silver policy to bolster sagging mining
industries in their states, as well as their own personal silver stock portfolios. Well organized,
they succeeded in 1890 in passing the Sherman Silver Purchase Act, which required the federal
government to buy 54 million ounces of silver per year at $1.05 per ounce. The figures fostered a
demand and price capable of resuscitating the west’s silver mining industry, creating jobs,
revitalizing regional economies and improving the popularity of the legislators among
constituents.?™

San Juan County was caught up in the return to mining, and more than just its economy
was revitalized. The mountains boomed with sound, and an atmosphere of industry and purpose
returned. During 1890, investors loosened their purse strings and purchased some of the proven
mines, invested in mills and machinery to lower operating costs, and enlarged existing
operations. The net result was an increase in the number of operations, amount of ore produced,
and population. During the late 1880s recession, the county featured between ten and twenty
small mines, around seven medium-sized operations, and one substantial producer. During the
early 1890s, this increased to at least twenty small mines, ten medium-sized operations, and two
substantial producers. The production of metals almost doubled from the 1890 figure of
$337,000 in silver, $187,000 worth of gold, and $156,000 in lead.?®?

During the revival, mining companies in the county and Red Mountain district sent more
ore through Silverton than the Durango Smelter could process. Otto Mears saw this as an
opportunity, organized the Standard Smelting & Refining Company, and built a second smelter
in Durango in 1892. Mears’ strategy was threefold. First, he attempted to compete directly with
the Durango Smelter and subsume a share of the smelting business. Second, Mears operated the
smelter in coordination with his Silverton Railroad, which strengthened both companies. Last,
Mears wanted to provide a low-cost treatment facility for the mines that he and friends operated
and pocket the savings. Although the facility was equipped to treat the copper-rich ores of the
Red Mountain district, it also processed similar payrock from San Juan County. The San Juan
Smelting & Mining Company responded by adding several furnaces to its Durango Smelter,
lowering its fees, and improving the returns. The Crookes also attempted to profit from the high
volume of ore and built a silver leaching mill at the mouth of Boulder Gulch, near
Howardsville.?*®

Las Animas Mining District

201 Brown, 1984: 193; Smith, 1982: 92; Ken Reyher, Silver & Sawdust: Life in the San Juans (Montrose, CO: Western Reflections, 2000) 179;
Stephen M. Voynick, Colorado Gold: From the Pike's Peak Rush to the Present (Missoula: Mountain Press Publishing Co., 1992) 62.

202 Henderson, 1926: 216 for production figures. Active mines were derived from a survey of EMJ and Silverton Standard.
203 "Mining News" EMJ (2/6/92): 187; Nossaman, 1998: 252; Ransome, 1901: 23; Smith, 1982: 101; Smith, 1992: 28; Tucker, 2003: 114.
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In the Las Animas district, the key mining outfits that managed to survive the recession
were among the first to boom in response to positive climate of 1890, and several of these were
in Silver Lake Basin. What followed laid the groundwork for that basin to become one of the
most advanced centers of mining technology in Colorado. Benjamin W. Thayer and James H.
Robin thought they had outsmarted the recession when they examined the lowa Mine in 1888
and found a vein that offered an unusual combination of gold and silver. The Sunnyside Vein
system was the only other similar known ore formation. The partners leased the property in
1889, began production, and were elated when the Sherman act restored silver’s value and
rendered the new ore even more valuable than before. Thayer and Robin increased the workforce
to exptezdoite development and discovered a second vein of galena, which ensured even greater
profits.

Thayer and Robin were well on their way to realizing a dream shared by other local
businessmen who dabbled in mining. Thayer arrived in Silverton in 1881 with the railroad and
found a job in a mercantile. Dissatisfied, he migrated to Durango in search of opportunity and
married Nellie, daughter of John L. Pennington. Probably with Pennington’s capital, Thayer
returned to Silverton in 1883, opened his own mercantile, and invested in real estate. A solid
businessman, Thayer ascended into Silverton society, where he met Robin.?%®

Born on the Isle of Jersey in New York, Robin was one of the first entrepreneurs to
establish a business other than a mine in the Animas River drainage. In 1875, Robin and several
brothers leased a brick yard near Silverton, which generated handsome profits that they
reinvested in real estate. The brick yard also demonstrated that construction materials, always in
demand, provided surer income than uncertain mining ventures. With this in mind, Robin and
John Pennington pooled their resources, established a sawmill on Cement Creek in 1880, and
sold the lumber in a yard in Silverton. At the same time, Robin maintained a real estate office
and speculated with his own money. He cemented his role in Silverton society by entering local
politics and working as a community activist alongside his wife Amelia. Once Robin had enough
capital, he ventured into more uncertain mining projects, including the lowa.”®

During the summer of 1891, the lowa consumed of Robin and Thayer’s attention. They
hastily repaired the buildings up on Kendall Peak’s cliff, brought in additional supplies, and
made arrangements for a small crew of miners to stay the winter. When the mine became
snowbound, all the crew could do was develop the several veins and stockpile ore for the coming
thaw. And when it arrived in June, Robin and Thayer eagerly received the precious payrock and
reports that the veins looked better than ever. Thayer and Robin realized that their meager
investments would constrain production and more money was necessary for the mine to blossom.
Robin approached Gustavus Stoiber, a trained mining expert with funds, and together, the men
organized the lowa Gold Mining & Milling Company in 1893. Stoiber served as president, Robin
secretary, and R.W. Watson and H.W. King as vice-presidents.”®’

20% »Mining News" MSP (11/2/89): 339; "Mining News" MSP (3/1/90): 140.
205 Nossaman, 1998: 62.
206 Nossaman, 1989: 62, 238; Nossaman, 1993: 32, 60, 310.

27 Colorado Mine Engineers' Reports: lowa Mine; lowa Gold Mining & Milling Company Stock Prospectus Denver, CO, 1896; "Mining News"
MSP (11/21/91):331; Silverton Standard (8/20/92.



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No.10twenty-four-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page 74

While the lowa was a confirmed bonanza, developments on the Silver Lake claims a
short distance north dwarfed Robin and Thayer’s relatively simple operation. After running the
Stoiber Brothers Sampling Works for four years, brothers Edward and Gustavus had a significant
disagreement in 1887 and divided their mutual assets. Gustavus assumed the sampling works and
Edward the Silver Lake claims. Gustavus’ choice was the safer because the sampling works
provided a reliable source of income, while Edward based his decision on the educated guess that
Silver Lake would provide great rewards for its high risk.?®

The Stoibers were proper, conservative Germans reared in a privileged socioeconomic
climate. Edward was born in 1854, began studies in engineering at a young age, and attended the
famed School of Mines at Freiberg. In 1879, he and Gustavus sought their fortune in Leadville
where Edward experienced immediate success as a mining engineer and metallurgist.
Competition among professionals increased in Leadville while the Animas River drainage
begged for metallurgists, and so the Stoibers came to Silverton in 1883 and built their sampling
works. While on business in Denver, Edward met Lena Allen Webster, described as a very
liberated divorcée. Lena embodied the image of frontier woman and was well-suited for the
remote and industrial environment to which Edward brought her.2%

When Edward assumed the Silver Lake, he spent two years sampling, examining the
property’s geological features, conducting assays, staking claims with Lena, and calculating the
most effective manner of development. Unlike most mine owners, Edward took a primary
interest in the low-grade ore and considered high-grade material to be merely a bonus. The main
problem, however, was that the costs of shipping the low-grade payrock from the basin and
processing it in the sampling works exceeded the returns. Stoiber realized, however, that if he
could mine and concentrate the ore in large volumes with a highly efficient system, the
economies of scale would render the low-grade material profitable through a nominal cost per
ton. Devising an efficient system and working out the economic calculations was easy for the
German engineer, and by 1890 he had a plan devised.

During the late spring when Silver Lake Basin’s snow blockade stabilized, a small army
of workers with mule trains packed in thousands of board feet of lumber, tons of hardware and
machinery, and the basic necessities of life. This they assembled into the largest surface plant
and mill yet in the county. When finished, the mill was able to generate 50 tons of concentrates
per day, which provided Stoiber his economy of scale. Because Silverton lacked a facility or
storage area capable of accommodating the hundreds of tons of concentrates and high-grade ore
that Stoiber expected to store at a time, he built his own. Stoiber chose the abandoned L.ittle
Dutch Smelter site on the west side of Arrastra Gulch’s mouth. While the exact structures remain
unknown, they certainly included large bins, freight platforms, and a corral and stable for the
constant procession of draft animals.

The crown jewel to Stoiber’s instant empire was an electric power plant that he
commissioned on the Animas River. In 1890, electricity was a revolutionary technology under

208 By reau of Mines, Manuscripts MSS Box 640, v27 (Denver: Colorado Historical Society) 20; Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 29.

209 Henderson, 1926:4 9; Allen Nossaman, Personal Interview, Durango, 2002; "Obituary" EMJ (5/5/06): 865; Prosser, 1914; Sloan and
Skowronski, 1975: 29.
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experimentation, and the San Juans served as a cradle for its application to mining. In 1888, the
Virginius and Tomboy mines above Telluride installed the first electric plants in the San Juans,
followed by John Terry’s small facility at the Sunnyside Mill in Eureka Gulch. These early
power plants were small and generated direct current (DC), which was able to run variable speed
motors but only could be transmitted short distances before suffering a debilitating power loss.
As aresult, DC current had to be consumed near the point of generation, giving mining engineers
pause for thought. What, they reasoned, was the advantage of electricity if it had to be generated
on-site? Even if a DC power plant could be run by hydropower, a costly steam engine and boiler
usually had to be kept on standby in case the water system failed. Why not do away with the
electrical equipment and merely use the steam engine alone to operate mine machinery for a
fraction of the capital? Alternating current (AC) provided a partial answer to this problem. AC
current could be transmitted for miles without power loss, but as of 1890, AC motors were
unable to run variable speed equipment. AC current could, however, energize lighting and run
constant speed motors that operated with little drag, such as those used in machine shops and
some mill applications. With this in mind, progressive electrical engineers near Telluride
finished the first AC power plant in the San Juans and Colorado at Ames in 1891, which set the
precedent.?!?

Stoiber was not far behind. Around the same time, he completed what appears to have
been the second AC power plant in the San Juans and Colorado. According to archival
references, a power plant built on the Animas River, most likely at the concentrates storage
terminal, and power lines carried the electricity two miles up to Silver Lake Basin, which was
too far for DC current. Given this, Stoiber’s power plant had to generate AC current, which lit
the interiors of the buildings and ran several small motors in the mill.?*

At the beginning of November 1890, Stoiber started the mill and it ran to perfection,
although the electrical equipment may not have been working initially. Over the course of the
summer, mule skinners hauled up supplies and coal so the mine and mill could run through the
winter. After around a year, Stoiber and Lena pored over the balance sheets of their Silver Lake
Mines Company. The conclusion was $255,000 net, or around $5,148,286 today, which
constituted around twenty-five percent of San Juan County’s total production. This was far from
pure profit, however, because an operation as large as the Silver Lake Mines Company at an
elevation of 12,000 feet was very costly.?*?

After two years of constant production and milling, Stoiber declared the Silver Lake a
success. While his strong work ethic may have prevented him from the retirement sought by
other successful mine owners, Stoiber instead spurred him to expand operations in 1893. Lena,
personnel manager for the company, requested a second boardinghouse at the mine and increased
the workforce to 130. Like the first boardinghouse, it featured uniquely luxurious amenities in
such as running water and steam radiators.*®

20y s, Burbank, E.B. Eckel, and D.J. Varnes, "The San Juan Region," Mineral Resources of Colorado (Denver: Colorado Mineral Resources
Board, 1947) 396; "Mining News" EMJ (12/29/1888): 551; Smith, 1982: 98.

211 "Mining News," EMJ (4/26/90): 479; “Mining News," EMJ (11/15/90): 581.

212 Ransome, 1901: 149.
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While the Silver Lake was clearly the most significant operation in the Las Animas
district, if not the county, other mines participated in the wave of renewed activity. At the
Titusville, new director Thomas Kane started up the mill and tramway in 1890 on stockpiled ore,
and the facility apparently recovered a satisfactory amount of the metalliferous content. Kane
ordered his miners to increase production, and when the tonnage they generated exceeded the
mill’s capacity, he ordered the mill to operate around the clock.

In Dives Basin, Martin Van Buren Wason and Theophile Benjovsky finally reopened
their Dives Mine in 1890 after patiently waiting for the value of silver to rise. Their operation
was small but sound. At the North Star, the Crookes found that the run-of-mine ore now
provided excellent returns, and in 1891 saw profits increase when miners happened into a vein
rich with high-grade material. To increase production, the Crookes increased the workforce to
thirty. In 1892, they moved the North Star Mill from Little Giant Basin down to the mouth of
Boulder Gulch to process ore from their other holdings in the county. Meanwhile, several lessees
at the Highland Mary wisely remembered the silver veins that Innis left in place in the upper
workings during his misguided search for gold. They had an easy time bringing the workings
into minor production.?**

Mineral Creek Mining District

The Mineral Creek district finally assumed a position of prominence in the county during
the early 1890s, after receiving little attention for decades. While it saw no developments quite
as grand as the Silver Lake, Mineral Creek surpassed the Eureka district in terms of investment,
large operations, and production. Ore poured from the Hercules and North Star ore systems on
Sultan Mountain and comprised a significant proportion of the county’s total production, but not
without challenge.

Ever since Lucius Kendall bought the North Star Mine in 1884, his Silverton Mining
Company concentrated the ore in the mill that Theodore Comstock built. Over time, however,
the mill recovered less and less of the metals content. Comstock based his concentration process,
highly successful at first, on the character of the ore that was available during the early 1880s.
Most of this material came from upper, oxidized areas of the ore system. As the Silverton
company developed the deep reaches of the system, its miners entered a zone where the ore
became increasingly complex and resistant to Comstock’s concentration process, however. By
1890, company directors conceded that too much of the metals content was leaving as tailings
and admitted that the facility had to be refitted at great cost. They consulted an expert who
reiterated that the mill would actually have to be almost totally rebuilt. Under contractor John
Thexton, the Denver & Rio Grande built a siding to deliver the construction materials and
equipment, and a large crew installed a system to power the mill by water. By October, Thexton
opened the mill cautiously. The company was relieved to find higher recovery of metals content,
and during the year, the North Star produced well over $100,000. In 1892, the Silverton

2% Bureau of Mines Manuscripts MSS Box 640, v. 27: 6;"Mining News," EMJ (3/28/91); "Mining News" EMJ (9/9/93): 273; Silverton Standard
(5/24/90).
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company optimistically and increased the workforce to thirty-five miners, but mill returns fell off
dramatically the following year. Company directors scaled back operations and let some miners
go. The company faced the decision of permanently reducing operations, and hence income, or
parting with yet more capital to troubleshoot problems. They chose the latter course, which
began a protracted and costly trial-and-error process of making the mill effective.*®

The Victoria Mining & Milling Company followed a similar trajectory, sited as it was
adjacent to the North Star on the same ore system. The company produced heavily through 1890
and its mill ran with some success at first, but when mill trouble materialized, the directors lost
confidence and engaged in avoidance. The company put the entire operation up for lease, hoping
that someone else would solve the milling problem while paying the lease royalties. In 1891, the
partnership of Morrison & Fitzgerald took a three-year lease and found enough ore to keep the
mine in production. Within the first year of their term, the Victoria company went bankrupt due
to unpaid debts, however. The sheriff seized the mill and Little Dora Mine, appointed a receiver,
and put them up for sale in 1891. It is unclear whether the partnership was allowed to continue
work in the interim. Threatened by the loss of their entire investment, company principals repaid
outstanding debts during 1892 and repossessed the mine. In an attempt to restore the operation to
profitability, they found additional capital in 1893 to refit the mill and improve the flow of ore by
building an aerial tramway up to the Little Dora.?*®

A third company floundered, despite huge capital investment. In 1889 or 1890, the San
Bernardino Syndicate of London spent a considerable sum on a mill and tramway for the San
Juan Tunnel and adjoining San Bernardino claim, both on Sultan Mountain. The investors
immediately overextended themselves, went bankrupt, and sold to other British capitalists who
organized San Bernardino Silver Mines, Ltd. The mine appeared to be a ready-made producer,
except that ore was not much different from that at the North Star and Victoria. The complex
material confounded the mill, and after several years of struggling, the company failed.

The area around Chattanooga, at the head of Mineral Creek, was a center of activity. The
town of Chattanooga was a key stop on the Silverton Railroad, which, coupled with road traffic
to the Red Mountain district, incubated it from too much contraction during the late 1880s
recession. Chattanooga featured a tiny business district that included a mercantile and a
combination saloon, restaurant, and boardinghouse run by James Sheridan.?’

When the value of silver increased in 1890, Sheridan and other Chattanooga residents
grew optimistic that several important mining ventures would revive the town. To the south lay
the Bonner, in which Gustavus Stoiber recently invested. The mine was small but began to yield
payrock in 1890. The other was the Silver Ledge between the town and Red Mountain Pass. The
Silver Ledge vein was discovered in 1883 but lay fallow until J.C. Kingsley sank a shaft in 1890.
A catastrophic fire in the shaft house the following year cooled his interest. Several miners were
at work at the bottom of the shaft during the event, but pursued their work unaware. When the

215 uMining News,” EMJ (9/9/93): 273: Ransome, 1901: 251 Silverton Standard (5/17/90): 1: Silverton Standard (7/14/90): 2.

216 "Mining News," EMJ (3/1/90): 256; Silverton Standard (1/25/90): 2; Silverton Standard (4/25/91): 2; Silverton Standard (10/10/91): 5;
Silverton Standard (3/26/92): 2; Silverton Standard (5/13/93): 2.

2 Colorado Business Directory, 1892: 152; Colorado Business Directory, 1893: 182.
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fire unleashed the signal bell cord, it drifted down to their station and the miners realized that
something was wrong. When the ore bucket followed with a crash, they knew it was time get out.
The fire apparently turned them back down the shaft, which was wise because a full box of
dynamite exploded and scattered burning debris. The miners managed to survive without
suffocating, however.?*® Shortly after the fire, Kingsley sold the Silver Ledge to the partnership
of O’Brien and Anderson, who repaired the damage. The partners then leased the mine to a
British syndicate in 1891, which purchased the property but defaulted on payments. William
Feigel bought the mine at bankruptcy auction and finally brought it into meaningful
production.”*®

Eureka Mining District

In the Eureka district, the Sunnyside and Sunnyside Extension remained the dominant
operations and followed similar development paths. The advantage that both mines had over
most others in the county was both fiscally prudent management and gold ore. Like Stoiber’s
Silver Lake Mine, the Sunnyside and Sunnyside Extension possessed a preponderance of low-
grade ore over rich material, which the managers made profitable. Any remaining rich material
could then be pure profit.

John Terry was already processing the Sunnyside’s low-grade ore with the Midway Mill
that he built in Eureka Gulch in 1889. His economic calculations were proving correct and the
Sunnyside remained profitable, although how much so was uncertain due to secrecy. Until 1890,
most of the profits, with deductions for improvements such as the mill, went to the feuding
Engleman family. Then, Milton Engleman, the family’s principal contact with Terry, died. Terry
saw in this an opportunity to take possession of the mine as no one in the Engleman family was
willing to assume Milton’s administrative duties. They sold to Terry, and with the Englemans out
of the equation, Terry had more money to devote to the mine. By the early 1890s, the operation
featured several principal tunnels driven on the vein, a large surface plant at the lowest entry, a
mill on Lake Emma, the Midway Mill in Eureka Gulch, and a herd of pack animals that fed the
lower mill in an endless procession. The next large project would be a tramway to replace the
tired animals, but Terry put this on hold.??°

Rasmus Hanson was sole owner of the Sunnyside Extension almost from the beginning
of operations and cautiously invested in improvements. With the new Hanson Mill in regular
operation by 1890, Hanson increased the workforce to around twenty-five miners and ten surface
employees. They generated forty to fifty tons of ore per day, ran the mill around the clock, and
produced $15,000 per month. Some of the ore came from the adjoining Mastodon Mine, which
Hanson linked to the Sunnyside Extension through underground workings. By 1891, Hanson felt
that he had enough capital to finance the next move toward efficiency, a tramway from one of
the main tunnels down to the mill. Once complete, Hanson’s operation began to approach

218 sjlverton Standard (6/28/90): 2; Silverton Standard (4/11/91): 3.
219 sjlverton Standard (6/6/91): 2; Silverton Standard (10/24/91): 2.
220 Marshall and Zanoni, 1998: 119.
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Stoiber’23218ilver Lake Mine, although Hanson’s workforce was a fraction of that employed by
Stoiber.

Just as the Sunnyside Extension appeared to reach a peak of production and complexity,
Hanson curiously sold the operation in 1892. Perhaps Hanson knew something about the ore
reserves that the British buyers did not. They paid Hanson $200,000, retained him as manager,
but ran into trouble, possibly as early as 1893. Based on Hanson’s ten-year record of extracting
ore that assayed well, the new owners supposed that plenty such material remained. They
miscalculated, however, and exhausted the rich ore within a year or two, leaving low-grade
material that resisted treatment in the mill. Despite Hanson’s efforts, and possibly to his
embarrassment, production declined, and he ran the mill only intermittently, while deciding how
to remedy the problem.*%

Ordinarily, Animas Forks could be expected to celebrate the sale of the Sunnyside
Extension and the financial success of one its residents. Few people were present to do so,
however. In 1891, a fire that started in the Kalamazoo House burned most of the business
district, and most of the residents left. The population that stayed was tiny, no one replaced the
lost buildings, and the town had almost no businesses. The Postal Service revoked the post office
later that year.??

Even though the Sunnyside was going well and smaller operations were active in the
area, the town of Eureka remained small and relatively quiet. The town contracted during the late
1880s recession and did not recover as well as could have been expected. Around 120 residents
lived in and around the hamlet, and the business district featured only the Helmboldt meat
market, a mercantile run by W.G. White, and a hotel operated by Esther Ekkard.?*

Elsewhere in the Eureka district, a few other mines showed promise, if not regular
production. On the northeast flank of appropriately named Galena Mountain, the Swartz brothers
reopened the Hamlet, initially developed during the early 1880s. They drove several tunnels on
the vein and shipped ore regularly for several years. The Tom Moore, between Eureka and
Animas Forks, began production in 1893. The Green Mountain and Pride of the West were the
principal operations in the district’s southern portion and contributed to a growing energy in
Cunningham Gulch. Joseph Williams, Morgan Jones, and partners took a lease on the Green
Mountain in 1889 and struck an outstanding vein just in time for passage of the Sherman act the
following year. They enjoyed the results for three years when Gustavus Stoiber and James Robin
assumed the lease and increased the workforce. Christian Schoellkopf still owned the Pride of
the West, which featured three tunnels that penetrated the vein at different elevations. He
reopened the mine in 1890 and planned to undercut the vein with a tunnel driven from the floor

221 wMining News,” EMJ (7/19/90): 81.

222 3onathan Horn, Gold Prince Mine, Mill, and Aerial Tramway National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (Montrose: Alpine
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223 Bauer, et al, 1990: 12; Jonathan Horn, Animas Forks National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (Montrose, Alpine
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of Cunningham Gulch. To expedite the project, Schoellkopf installed a compressor and rock
drills, a considerable investment.?®

Cement Creek Subdistrict

The increase in the value of silver revived an interest in Cement Creek, quiet since the
mid-1880s. Nearly all the properties there were dormant and had seen little work except for
prospecting, and so appeared to offer more potential than those in the county’s other districts.
Most of the activity materialized around Gladstone, abandoned since 1887. Paul McCann was
the first investor of note to arrive, examining the idle Sampson Mine for its gold potential as
early as 1889. McCann had extensive experience with mining and milling ventures in Clear
Creek County and qualified to render objective judgment on the property. He felt that it could be
made to pay if the mill was equipped appropriately, so he purchased the mine in 1890 and put a
crew to work installing new machinery.

Willis Z. Kinney represented Henry Soule and Cyrus Davis, wealthy eastern investors.
They reopened the Harrison Mine, a short distance south of Gladstone, and appointed Kinney as
manager by 1890. The mine appeared to offer enough ore to justify a mill, which Perry Fisher
erected in 1890. While the operation was not a huge success, it kept the Fisher Mill busy at least
on a seasonal basis. The company workers lived in Gladstone and were the first inhabitants to
occupy the town since around 1887. A small crew of miners employed by John M. May joined
Kinney’s workers in town, from whence they commuted up the South Fork of Cement Creek to
the Big Colorado. May felt that conditions were right to begin developing the upper portions of a
vein on that property, and when his miners proved ore, he commissioned a deep haulage tunnel
from the valley floor in 1893.%

Kinney and the Fisher Mill figured prominently in development of the Gold King. Olaf
A. Nelson worked as a miner in the Sampson and became familiar with the local geology and the
trend of the main gold-bearing vein. Nelson felt that the Sampson company was working the
wrong portion of the vein and that he could locate a richer segment. Nelson spent time searching
the area downslope from the Sampson property for traces of the vein, found promising ground,
and staked the Gold King claim around 1887. During the next several years Nelson devoted time
to exploring the claim at depth and struck the Gold King Vein. Nelson subsequently followed the
course taken by many prospectors. He sought financial assistance and approached Kinney around
1892. The following year, Kinney sent several of the Harrison miners to conduct further
exploration; they brought around forty-five tons of ore to the Fisher Mill for testing. Like the rest
of the Sampson Vein, the ore proved complex but rich, and Kinney’s enthusiasm convinced
Davis and Soule that they probably had a bonanza worth pursuing. They leased the claim from
Nelson and began developing the Gold King Mine, which became one of the county’s best

225 sjlverton Standard (11/23/89): 2; Silverton Standard (5/10/90): 1; Silverton Standard (5/23/91): 2; Silverton Standard (5/20/93): 2; Silverton
Standard (12/9/93): 3.

226 "Mining News," EMJ (5/25/89): 485; Silverton Standard (8/8/91): 2.

21 Brown, 1984: 71; Silverton Standard (10/4/90): 2; Silverton Standard (8/8/91): 2; Silverton Standard (12/26/91): 2; Silverton Standard
(6/9/93): 3.
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producers. But before Kinney could make much headway with the Gold King, San Juan County
faced one of the worst economic disasters in the history of the mining industry.?®

The Silver Crash, 1894 — 1897

Almost immediately after the Sherman Silver Purchase Act was signed into law,
reformers rebelled against what they perceived to be a massive government subsidy for mining
and profiteering among powerful capitalists, and they clamored for repeal. At the same time, a
national economic crisis loomed, creating political instability and factions in both the federal
government and Great Britain, one of the main consumers of American silver. Repeating the
cycle of the mid-1880s, the increasingly dour climate contaminated investment in silver and the
industries that depended on it, causing the metal’s value to slip. The price of silver eroded from a
high of $1.09 in 1891 to $.99 and kept going down to $.78 by mid-1893, an all-time low that
forced mining companies in San Juan County to assess the viability of their operations. As with
the 1886 cycle, some of the small mines closed, but many companies were able to get by because
they were more efficient than before and the smelters in Durango improved their operations.?*

Then, in 1893, the political factors noted above came together to bring the ruin of the
western mining industry, followed by a nationwide depression. President Grover Cleveland
called a special session of congress to repeal the Sherman Silver Purchase Act, effective
November 1893, hoping to prevent an economic crash. At the same time, Britain adopted a gold
standard and abolished silver, as well as ceasing minting of Indian rupees. The market for silver
promptly evaporated and the metal’s value plummeted to $.64 by March 1894. The result was
cataclysmic. Mines across the west suspended operations and thousands of workers suddenly
found themselves jobless. A financial panic swept the west and rippled out to the rest of the
nation, ushering in a depression that lasted through much of the 1890s.%*°

Like the rest of Colorado, the San Juan region, which relied to a great degree on silver,
was devastated. All the mining companies in San Juan County that depended on the high price of
silver closed, and the rest faired little better. Some estimates suggest that as many as 1,000
workers in the county lost their jobs, from a total population in the county of 1,600 in 1890.
Residents with enough security to stay witnessed a mass exodus. With little ore coming down
from the mountains, the San Juan Smelting & Mining Company and Otto Mears shuttered their
smelters in Durango, and Mears and the Denver & Rio Grande reduced service on their
railroads.?

A review of the county finds that while nearly all the medium-size and small mines
suspended work, each district featured a handful of companies that appeared to be surviving and
even thriving in some cases. As the depression dragged on through 1896, the impossible
happened. A number of mines reopened, and the county’s production figures increased to record

28\ 7. Kinney, Correspondence: Exhibit A, 1932; Nossaman, 1998: 313; Wolle, 1995: 418.

229 Henderson, 1926: 216; Report of the Director of the Mint, 1894: 20; Saxon, 1959: 7, 8, 14, 16.

230 Brown, 1984: 194; Report of the Director of the Mint, 1894: 26, 30; Saxon, 1959: 7, 8, 14, 16; Smith, 1982: 92; Smith, 1994: 184, 187;
Stone, 1918, V.1: 437.

281 Schulze, 1977: 1890-7; Smith, 1992: 68.
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levels. Between 1894 and 1897, the county featured twenty small mines, eleven medium-sized
operations, and two large mines. In terms of production, 1894 was a poor year and the county’s
mines generated $221,000 worth of silver, $340,000 in gold, and $132,000 in lead. By 1896,
these figures climbed to $1,515,000 worth of silver, $909,000 in gold, and $169,000 in lead. This
railed against the downward trend in the rest of the state. Four principal reasons explain why the
mining industry survived and kept the county from collapsing.*

Even though the Standard and San Juan Smelting & Mining Company smelters in
Durango suspended during 1894, mining companies still had several outlets for their ore. The
Sweet Sampler was purchased in 1892 and renamed the Keith Sampler, and Gustavus Stoiber
sold his sampler in 1894 to partners that reorganized it as the Silverton Public Sampler. These
two facilities received enough business to prevent them from closing and were able to ship their
concentrates and matte by rail to smelters on the plains In 1894, Thomas F. Walsh initiated one
of the most important ore buying firms and built the first new smelter at Silverton in nearly a
decade. Walsh’s motives were twofold. On one hand, he felt that if he provided relatively low
cost ore treatment, companies in the county and Red Mountain district would generate enough
payrock to keep the facility afloat until better times returned. On the other hand, Walsh needed a
smelter to process the ore from his own mines, the Mountain Queen and others leased in the
Eureka district. Walsh, Charles J. Hughes, and Albert Smith incorporated the Silverton Smelting
& Mining Company and purchased the abandoned Martha Rose Smelter because it featured the
building and original infrastructure, which saved them capital. During the winter, workers
repaired the facility and installed new equipment, and by spring, Walsh had the facility
operating. After several weeks of operation, the smelter appeared to be a success. Walsh became
a local hero for delivering a functional smelter to the county in its darkest hour of need.?*®

The Omaha & Grant Smelting & Refining Company, one of the most powerful smelting
firms in the Rocky Mountain West, saw the void left by the closure of the Durango Smelter.
With aspirations of a monopoly, Omaha & Grant leased the Durango Smelter from the San Juan
Smelting & Mining Company in 1895. During 1896, the directors realized that production in San
Juan County started to recover while the rest of the state suffered and interpreted this trend as a
harbinger of an enormous revival. The firm strategically used the poor economic climate to
convince San Juan Smelting & Mining to sell the Durango Smelter.*

Another reason why the county’s mining industry seemed to weather the depression lay
in the ore that the solvent companies produced. Their payrock contained a higher proportion of
gold than most of the ore bodies in the region, and the value of this precious metal held a
constant value of around $20.70 per ounce. Because the ore featured a combination of gold and
silver, as the mining companies produced more gold, they generated more silver in parallel.
Nearly all the mines that continued operations from the early 1890s into the depression were
proven gold producers, including the Green Mountain, lowa, Mastodon, Silver Lake, and

232 Henderson, 1926: 216 for production figures. The estimate for active mines was derived from a survey of EMJ and Silverton Standard.
233 Thomas A. Rickard, "Across the San Juan Mountains,” EMJ (July, 1903); Sloan and Skowonski, 1975: 51, 121; Wolle, 1995: 431.
234 Ransome, 1901: 23; Smith, 1982: 101; Smith, 1992: 77.
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Sunnyside. In a few cases, mine owners reassessed their idle properties for gold ore and
reopened them if warranted.?®

Perhaps the most important factor of why the county overcame the depression and dismal
value of silver was a dramatic change in attitude toward ore production and the required
investment. A handful of mine owners responded to the Silver Crash not by curtailing operations
but by taking the opposite approach. They expanded operations and poured capital into
underground development, mechanization, and mill improvements on a proportion that the
county had not yet seen. The purpose was to produce and concentrate ore in economies of scale
that were great enough to dramatically reduce the cost per ton. The owners calculated that this
offered the double benefit of not only offsetting silver’s low value, but also rendering low-grade
ore profitable to produce, a key factor since the principal mining districts were awash with the
material.

The strategy of economies of scale was an excellent model for companies with large ore
reserves, but it required one resource difficult to secure during the mid-1890s depression, capital.
Only four or five mining companies in the county were able to implement the strategy, and they
were so successful, their enormous yield skewed the county’s production figures and made the
overall mining industry appear to be in a better state than it actually was. Most of the small and
medium-sized operations were either closed or not doing well. Some mining experts credited
Edward Stoiber and John Terry with pioneering the economies-of-scale practice, and Frederick
Leslie Ransome observed:

The success of Messrs. Stoiber and Terry in handling low-grade ores has demonstrated that when
wasteful and inadequate methods are replaced by modern appliances and shrewd management,
mines carrying abundant low-grade ore may be made profitable, even with the present low price of
silver.2

The Silverton Standard offered a more detailed explanation:

In 1893, when the price of silver was cut in two, or reduced nearly one-half, many of the low-
grade producers were closed, but about all of these have resumed operation, and many more new
producers of like character have been added to the list. At the time the operators of the silver
mines were confronted with a situation which seemed to preclude further effort. Edward G.
Stoiber, then proprietor of the Silver Lake plunged into problem with more than a million to lose if
he failed, but emerged successfully, after employing every close value-saving appliance which the
character of his low-grade lead-silver ores suggested. He saved the values so well that his
concentrates of $7 ores enabled him to continue mining profitably. When this had been done the
other owners of low-grade mines proceeded to the building or alteration of mills which enable
them to operate, and all along the line, throughout the entire San Juan region, there has been a
marked advancement in the economy and better value saving of mill enterprises.*’

2% gaxon, 1959: 78, 14, 16.
236 Ransome, 1901: 23.
237 silverton Standard (1/11/02).
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Out of self-interest as well as a desire to support the central San Juans, Otto Mears also
made major contributions that helped the region weather the depression. He understood that the
mining industry relied on his roads, railroads, ore production, and financing. To prevent a
complete shutdown of the Red Mountain district, he maintained service on the Silverton Railroad
even though it meant no profits. On his roads, Mears softened his tolls and even suspended them
at times, and he continued production at his mines to keep ore going through Silverton. Mears’
greatest contribution, however, was the construction of another railroad, even though the project
over-extended his finances. In 1895, he and other Colorado capitalists incorporated the Silverton
Northern Railroad to build a line up the Animas River from Silverton to Animas Forks. Because
Edward Stoiber would see direct service to his terminal and the railroad would carry John
Porter’s coal, both men were heavy investors. Further, Stoiber promised Mears all the ore traffic
that he could generate, and in return Mears assured him a half rate. The railroad company
purchased Mears’ Animas Forks Toll Road as the rail bed and began construction in fall 1895.
With the region in depression, the project created quite a stir, and the county was elated at the
prospect of direct rail access for its principal centers of mining. Track gangs labored between
snowstorms throughout the winter until they finished the line to Howardsville by May 1896. The
following month saw the crew move camp to Eureka, where Mears stopped work due to the
financial burden. Despite its short length, the Silverton Northern would prove to be Mears’ most
profitable railroad because it served one of the richest portions of the San Juans.?®

Bear Creek Mining District

The constant value of gold was the force that drew prospectors into the southeastern
reaches of San Juan County while silver values declined. In the spring of 1893, E.L. Roberts of
Silverton and D. Preston Bell of Durango prospected Bear Creek, the first principal drainage
south of the Las Animas district, and they found ore at the drainage head. With interest in silver
already waning and mines closing, prospectors were eager for a gold discovery. When word of
the Bear Creek strike began circulating, around 500 wealth-seekers eagerly hastened to the site,
began staking claims, and organized the Bear Creek Mining District. Among the new properties
were the Bonita and Sylvanite, named after a type of telluride gold ore, and both seemed to offer
excellent potential. By June, community organizers attempted to formalize the collection of
prospectors’ tents on the valley floor as a camp. Within a short time, someone secured a post
office under the name of Sylvanite, although the settlement was popularly known as Bear Creek.
R.W. Bastin & Company began carrying in supplies via pack train, and a few local investors
perused the claims in hopes of securing the best ones while the prices were low. Among these
were Ira Scott, his wife, and Judge E.T. Wells, and they bought the Sylvanite and immediately
put five men to work on development. When winter arrived, everyone left the remote region, and

238 Henn, 1999: 134; Michael D. Kaplan, “The Toll Road Building Career of Otto Mears, 1881-1887,”” The Colorado Magazine, Vol. L2, No.2
(1975): 168; Sloan and Skowonski, 1975: 34, 127, 150; Tucker, 2003: 91, 104.
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as they waited to return the next year, the economy collapsed and set the stage for a full rush
during 1894.%%

When the spring arrived, many of the original prospectors returned, followed by a large
number of others. Sylvanite grew in size and may have attracted a few of the businesses expected
in a prospecting camp, such as a mercantile and saloon. Lute Johnson, publisher of the Creede
Candle, thought enough of the settlement to haul in a press and began printing a newspaper.
Johnson had an easier time packing the press from Creede than prospectors experienced with
their goods from Silverton. While Silverton was only eighteen miles away and Creede fifty, the
glaciated peaks of the Las Animas district presented a major obstacle. Bear Creek, on the other
hand, drained east into the Rio Grande River valley, a direct and gentle route to Creede. Thus,
Creede became the district’s principal point of entry.?*°

The Bear Creek excitement followed the course typical of short-lived rushes. During
1894, fortunate prospectors identified and claimed the few obvious veins, while others left.
Because of the decrease in population and the seasonality of Sylvanite, the Postal Service
revoked the post office at the end of the year. Regardless, some prospecting continued, and the
most promising claims demonstrated ore below the surface. The Sylvanite and Bonita yielded
several tons of payrock for testing, and gold was proven on the Elk Horn, Gold Bug, Good Hope,
and Kankakee. With the above claims proven, investors had enough confidence by 1895 to
purchase them and begin development. Scott and Wells used some of the profits from their
Sylvanite Mine to buy the Good Hope. A.L. Emigh, Freeman Thomen, and others organized the
Golden Shear Mining Company and bought the Bonita. Thomen came from Creede and
discovered the Sunnyside, the first vein developed in that area. F. Nathan & Company of Kansas
City bought the Gold Bug for $25,000, established the Gold Syndicate Mining Company, and
planned an 800-foot tunnel to undercut the vein.?*

Isolation was an impediment and kept the new operations small and seasonal. By 1896,
two years after the initial rush, Sylvanite had seen much speculation but relatively little work at
depth. All the productive mines were shallow, poorly equipped, and the extent of their ore
reserves unknown. Unlike the rest of San Juan County, nearly all the work was by hand, and not
until 1896 did Bear Creek begin receiving even small pieces of machinery. Scott and Wells
installed a hoist and compressor at the Good Hope, likely the first apparatuses of their kind in the
area. Most of the mining outfits did not follow this example. They had little need, because by the
end of the season, they reached the end of their profitable ore and abandoned further efforts.**?

When the spring thaw of 1897 granted a return to the Bear Creek district, only the Bonita,
Gold Bug, Good Hope, and Sylvanite mines reopened. The Golden Shear company produced
small batches of ore in the Bonita, the Calaverite Mining Company employed nine miners at the
Sylvanite, and the Wonder Leasing Company did well with the Good Hope. The Gold Syndicate
company was the largest operation and kept several miners driving the main tunnel toward the

239 Bauer, 1990: 138; "Mining News," EMJ (9/30/93): 351; "Mining News," EMJ (2/9/95): 133; Silverton Standard (5/13/93): 3; Silverton
Standard (6/17/93): 2.

240 sjlverton Standard (5/25/95): 3; Silverton Standard (8/26/99): 1.
241 Bauer, et al., 1990: 138; "Mining News," EMJ (2/9/95): 133; “Mining News," EMJ (10/24/96): 397.
242 sjlverton Standard (6/6/96): 5.



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No.10twenty-four-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page _86

Gold Bug and around fourteen others producing ore. Finally, miners struck the vein at depth, but
the company kept the findings a secret, which raised suspicions that the vein was bereft of ore.
This proved false, and the vein offered enough payrock to allow the company to outlast most of
the others that remained in the district.?*?

Las Animas Mining District

When Edward Stoiber began implementing the economies-of-scale concept during the
early 1890s, he did so with a huge mill, an army of workers, and electricity. Stoiber understood
that more improvements were necessary for the strategy to fully reach its potential. He revisited
the mill, his power sources, and transportation system for ways to increase production and reduce
costs. Because the mill already had a high treatment capacity and was relatively efficient, it
needed no major changes. Instead, Stoiber and the expert metallurgist Robert J. McCartney
tinkered with improvements to some of the concentration equipment. They invented one of the
best vibrating tables for concentrating San Juan ores, the so-called Stoiber-McCartney table.?**

A small power plant wired electricity up to the mine, where it was used primarily for
lighting and secondarily to run simple appliances. Because motor technology was nascent, steam
powered the energy-intensive machinery, which kept a herd of mules busy packing the fuel coal
required. To reduce the expense of both the coal and packing, Stoiber installed more motors at
mine and mill in 1894 and built a second power plant on the Animas River, which also provided
some current to his brother’s lowa Mine. He chose a site on the south side between Arrastra
Gulch and Silverton for the plant, which had a generator house, boiler house, a set of massive
coal bins, and direct rail service. Several years after construction, newspapers claimed that the
power plant was the most complete privately owned AC facility in the nation and saved Edward
$15,000 in coal per year, or $330,096 today. Along with the power plant buildings, in 1895
masons also erected what was the largest and best appointed residences in the San Juans with hot
and cold water, sinks, bathtubs, toilets, and steam heat. Edward and Lena named the power plant
and mansion complex Waldheim, German for forest home.?*®

Stoiber realized that his transportation system was an outstanding resource to look for
savings. Nearly everything hauled up to the mine and all the concentrates sent down from the
mill moved by mule train, at a cost of around $4.00 per ton. While mules were well-suited for the
trip to Silver Lake Basin, they were slow and cumbersome. Of greater importance, mules were
costly to purchase and maintain and requiring the constant supervision of mule skinners. His
master plan called for replacing the mules with a tramway, and Stoiber’s desire for savings
forced the issue in 1895. Like Terry, Stoiber wanted to minimize his debt. Given this, he
designed the system in two segments that linked the mill with the shipping terminal on the
Animas River. Stoiber contracted with William M. Frey, tramway expert from Leadville, to build

243 colorado Mining Directory, 1898: 295; "Mining News" EMJ (8/28/97): 255; "Mining News," EMJ (11/13/97): 586; Silverton Standard
(9/11/97): 2; Silverton Standard (10/23/97): 8.

244 "Mining News," EMJ (8/20/98): 226; "Obituary," Mining Reporter (2/18/04): 173; Silverton Standard (12/3/98).

245 uColorado's Wealth in Water Power," Denver Times (12/31/98): 10; Rickard, 1903: 60, 68; Silverton Standard (6/30/94); Wyman, 1993: 3-4.
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the first, 8,700 feet in length. By November, Frey completed construction and watched with the
press as the system started without incident.?*®

Gustavus Stoiber and James Robin were also busy improving the lowa Mine. Through
the lowa Mining & Milling Company, they made the lowa second only to the Silver Lake in
terms of implementing economies of scale. Following Edward’s example, they focused on large-
scale production and savings, including improvements at the mine, widespread adoption of
mechanization, a mill, and a tramway. Like Edward, they insisted on enacting the plan in
manageable steps. The first was the construction of a large concentration mill to separate out the
waste and retain a portion of the treatment fees paid to smelters. Unlike Edward, Gustavus and
Robin sited their mill not at the mine but instead on the floor of Arrastra Gulch, almost directly
over the obsolete Little Giant arrastra. This location was inefficient in the beginning because it
required mule trains to carry down the crude ore, but the location made shipping out the
concentrates easier. Workers broke ground for the mill early in 1895 and built a highly functional
facility capable of concentrating 150 tons of ore per day.**’

A tramway was the next logical step. Stoiber and Robin contracted with the Trenton Iron
Works of New Jersey for a Bleichert system in 1896 and then directed their attention to mining
operations and claim development. They hired more miners to drive two tunnels into the vein
system to work it simultaneously at different elevations. In keeping with proper mining
engineering, Gustavus planned a third tunnel from the lowest elevation possible to serve as a
haulageway for the ore produced in the upper levels. Vertical raises linked the lower and upper
tunnels and served as conduits for ore. Miners in the upper workings dumped ore into the raises,
which rolled down and collected in bins over the haulage tunnel, where other miners sent it out
directly to the tramway. While this extensive vertical development was costly and ambitious, it
ultimately lowered production costs and created a lasting underground infrastructure. At the
same time, external infrastructure in the form of a surface plant was necessary to support the
work underground. The new tunnels and facilities initially taxed the company’s coffers but paid
off in the long run.?*

In 1896, Gustavus, Robin, and the other lowa investors were well on their way to
building an empire as large as Edward’s Silver Lake. The party gained advantage when they
purchased the Tiger Mining & Milling Company, which just began work on the Royal Tiger
Mine directly across Silver Lake from the lowa. The outfit had done little with the property and
was eager to sell because it could not bear the costs of development. Once Gustavus and Robin
erected a surface plant, they invested in underground development and brought the mine into
production.?*®

In the climate of the mid-1890s depression, the success of the Stoiber brothers was
impressive and railed against the statewide trend. When Edward built the Waldheim power plant,

2% sjlverton Standard (11/9/95); Silverton Standard (1/28/98).
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he intended to provide electricity to both his and the lowa Mine. At the same time, Gustavus
installed one of the largest compressed air systems in the county at the lowa and provided air for
drilling in lowa and also the Silver Lake. Gustavus convinced the Postal Service to locate the
misspelled post office of Arastra at the lowa in 1895, while Edward housed most of the
combined workforce at the Silver Lake. In addition, Gustavus, Robin, Joseph Bordeleau, Frank
B. Brown, and R.S. Courtney organized the Silverton Deep Mining & Tunnel Company to drive
an ambitious haulage tunnel from Arrastra Gulch to undercut the Silver Lake, lowa, and
Titusville mines. They fully expected to encounter Edward’s Silver Lake first and the lowa
second. In the spring, miners began the tunnel high up on the west side of Arrastra Gulch and
worked into the fall.**°

Eureka Mining District

While sources claim that John Terry was instrumental in developing the strategy of
economy of scale at the Sunnyside, his participation was, at first, somewhat accidental. Like the
Stoibers, Terry had a master plan for the Sunnyside that included extensive underground
workings, an advanced surface plant at the mine, and a tramway that delivered ore to a large mill.
He completed several of the most expensive pieces, and then the Silver Crash forced him to put
the plan on hold. Even though Terry reinvested his profits to minimize his debt, he still financed
some of the improvements with credit, problematic when his funds ran short in 1894. To make
matters worse, the vein pinched out and required Terry to pay for a costly exploration campaign.
When the economy soured, creditors demanded payment on Terry’s debt, which he was unable
to pay. They threatened foreclosure, and Terry held them at bay with a clever argument. He
explained to the creditors that if they seized the property now, it would sell for a fraction of its
worth given the poor economic climate and they would recover only a portion of the outstanding
debt. Instead, if they waited, it was only a matter of time before Terry found a continuation of the
vein. The creditors agreed, and in 1895, Terry vindicated himself by contacting the rich elusive
vein. He paid off all his debts, began buying out other investors for sole ownership, and saved for
further improvements.?!

By 1896, Terry felt financially secure enough to construct the next phase of his plan. Like
the Stoibers, he replaced costly mule trains with a tramway from the mine to the Midway Mill.
Next, Terry installed vibrating tables in the mill. The improvements had the desired effect of
lowering some costs, increasing the tonnage of ore sent to the mill, and recovering a higher
proportion of the metals content.?*® Terry also entertained the long-term goal of building a third,
larger mill at Eureka and extending the tramway. The fact that the vein proved to be inconsistent,
however, eroded his confidence in the financing. A group of New York investors took an interest
in the Sunnyside and made Terry an offer of $450,000 over time with a $100,000 advance as
earnest money. Terry accepted. The investors hired mining engineer Thomas A. Rickard as

20 "Mining News," EMJ (7/27/95): 86; "Mining News," EMJ (8/31/95): 206; Prosser, 1914; Silverton Standard (5/4/95).
21 Marshall and Zanoni, 1998: 120.
2 B\ rbank and Luedke, 1969: 56; Ransome, 1901: 176.
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manager. The Sunnyside was not Rickard’s only charge, however, as he oversaw other large
mines through his Denver consulting practice. From the comfort of Denver, Rickard reviewed
Terry’s plans and supported the idea of a third mill in Eureka. Rickard dispatched a subordinate
to the Sunnyside as acting manager to begin preparations for the new mill and tramway.?*®

After spending a considerable amount of capital on the new mill, overhauling the
Midway Mill, and other improvements, investors were horrified when miners lost the vein again.
Rickard recommended an exploration campaign, but the investors did not want to risk further
loss. After a half-hearted attempt to find the vein, they allowed the property to revert to Terry,
who now had $100,000 to invest. Between 1896 and 1897, his miners struck the vein and
produced so much ore that Terry ran both the Midway Mill and the old facility on Lake Emma.
He resumed construction on what became known as the Eureka or Terry mill, its tramway, and a
power plant.?*

Mineral Creek Mining District

The other two mines that explored economy of scale were the Victoria and North Star on
Sultan Mountain in the Mineral Creek district. Physically, both operations conformed to the
same template as the Silver Lake and lowa and were ready to produce. They featured several
tunnels on a shared vein system, extensive workings, fully equipped surface plants, and mills at
their lower tunnels. The Victoria also had an aerial tramway linking its upper tunnels with the
mill. The character of the ore and the efficiency of the mills, however, differed from the Silver
Lake and lowa. The ore was a complex compound of silver and industrial metals, which had
plagued the expert mill men for four years. The Silverton Mining Company refitted the North
Star Mill in 1890 and again in 1894. The Victoria company changed its mill in 1893 and 1894.
However, the Silverton company principals gave up on the mill and compensated by focusing on
the highest grades of ore and leasing sections of the vein to independent partnerships for added
income. More than forty miners shipped high volumes of ore to the Durango Smelter until 1897,
when they exhausted the profitable material. Plenty of low-grade ore remained, but because the
investors were unwilling to refit the mill again, the company closed the mine.?®

The Victoria company, on the other hand, triumphed and its mill proved effective,
rendering the low-grade ore in the mine profitable to produce. It seems curious that the Victoria
Mill was effective while the North Star Mill was not because both companies were adjacent and
worked the same vein system. In 1895, the Victoria hired Thomas Kane as manager, formerly
superintendent of Colorado Mining & Land Company at Mineral Point. Kane ran a workforce at
least as large as that of North Star and produced and milled around forty tons per day through
1896. However, during 1897, the ore changed in character again and the Victoria company

253 Henn, 1999: 34; “Mining News," EMJ (4/25/96): 406; Silverton Standard (4/18/96): 1.
24 Henn, 1999: 34; “Mining News," EMJ (10/9/97): 435; "Mining News," EMJ (4/30/98): 531; Silverton Standard (10/2/97): 1.
255 uMining News,” EMJ (3/30/95): 301; Ransome, 1901: 23; Silverton Standard (6/9/94): 3; Silverton Standard (6/23/94): 3.
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scaled back operations, reverted to the small amount of high-grade ore that was left, and then
suspended.?®

One last factor contributed to sound production in the county during the post-Silver Crash
depression. Some mine owners attempted to realize at least some income from their properties
rather than let them remain idle. At the same time, investors saw the dismal conditions as an
opportunity to snatch up otherwise productive mines at reduced prices. Both groups then tried to
mechanize operations to the extent their capital allowed to reduce operating costs. Nearly all the
county’s districts saw at least several such ventures.

The Mastodon Mine in the Eureka district was well-positioned to be reopened. The mine
was quiet during the early 1890s because its richest ore was exhausted. Rasmus Hanson was
familiar with the property because it was connected with the Sunnyside Extension, which he sold
in 1892. Hanson managed the Sunnyside Extension for the new owners, and the operation was
failing because, like the Mastodon, the rich and easily milled ore had been exhausted. He leased
the Mastodon in 1894 or 1895, developed the vein, and began treating the ore with limited
success in the Hanson Mill. Between this and shipping the ore to Silverton, Hanson
demonstrated to the Sunnyside Extension owners that the Mastodon was worth their attention,
and since it was adjacent, could be worked in tandem. They agreed and either leased or
purchased the property, which provided enough ore to postpone the inevitable failure of the
entire operation.”’

A.L. Jones, an investor in Denver, was convinced that the Silver Wing Mine offered great
potential because it possessed plenty of low-grade ore although closed since the early 1880s.
Jones envisioned a large operation similar to the North Star or Victoria, with multiple tunnels, a
mechanized surface plant, and a large mill at the lower tunnel. He enlisted Chicago capitalist
E.W. Morrison, and together they bought machinery, water rights, timber rights, and numerous
claims on the Tom Moore Vein. Not only was the operation similar to the North Star, it suffered
a similar fate. In 1895, Jones hired a large workforce of forty-five to install the machinery,
develop the upper workings, drive the lower tunnel, and prepare a site for a new mill. The
following year, while the mill was still under construction, Jones shipped high tonnages of ore to
the Durango Smelter.?®® After the mill was finished, the company found that the payrock was too
complex for the new facility and reverted to shipping the ore to the Durango Smelter. Of the
failure, the Silverton Standard stated: “A magnificent mill is connected with the property which
has thus far been unused. We are informed that the ores of the Wing are better adapted to
smelting than milling.”*° In response, Jones hired more miners and improved efficiency, without
running the mill.

Cement Creek Subdistrict

2%6 "Mining News," EMJ (9/14/95): 258; Silverton Standard (7/27/95): 4.

27 sjlverton Standard (8/10/95): 2; Silverton Standard (2/29/96): 8.

2%8 "Mining News" EMJ (9/14/95): 258; Silverton Standard (5/1/8/95): 3; Silverton Standard (8/10/95): 1.
299 silverton Standard (12/25/97): 1.
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In the Cement Creek drainage, Willis Kinney continued work on the Gold King, which he
and backers Cyrus Davis and Henry Soule purchased. In 1895, they formed the Gold King
Mining & Milling Company to allocate capital and pursue the rich gold vein that awaited
underground. The following year, Kinney had enough funds to commission Tunnel No.1 high up
on the mountainside in the vicinity of the original discovery. Before reaching the target ground,
the miners struck an unexpected vein that they termed the Davis. Around 200 feet of exploratory
drifting proved that the vein was nothing less than a bonanza. After striking the Davis Vein,
miners then encountered the Gold King Vein, as expected. With miners extracting payrock from
not one but now two fabulous veins, Kinney immediately planned the facilities to produce in
economies of scale. To minimize debt, he built the facilities incrementally. He started with a ten-
stamp mill on the east edge of Gladstone in 1896 and enlarged it fourfold the following year. He
also erected an aerial tramway to deliver the ore from the mine. In a few years, the Gold King
produced enough ore to contribute materially to the county’s production figures, and this trend
would only intensify.?®

Mineral Point Mining District

The Mineral Point district had no massive mines to sustain activity during the Silver
Crash, and its small operations wilted in the poor economic climate. The town of Mineral Point
was nearly abandoned. The nearby San Juan Chief Mine was the only center of noteworthy
activity. Ed M. Brown tinkered with the property during the early 1890s and even built a mill in
preparation for production, but the Silver Crash brought this to an end. In 1895, owner George S.
Orth & Company of Pennsylvania tried to get things moving again by conducting underground
development and enticing Brown to return. He did, but because the ore was complex and the mill
ineffective, he continued only limited development for several more years and waited for the
value of silver to rise.?"

Ice Lake Mining District

Ice Lake Basin, locked in the high peaks at the head of the South Fork of Mineral Creek,
saw limited activity. In 1890, William Sullivan began work on the Bandora Mine, proved rich
silver ore, and sold it to Colorado Springs investors the following year. They organized the
Bandora Mining & Milling Company but did little with the property until 1893, and nothing after
the Silver Crash. Unwilling to wait for the price of silver to be restored, they reopened the mine
in 1896 under superintendent James B. Snow and began production. Because the mine was far
from Silverton, the cost of importing supplies and packing out the ore was too high to sustain the
operation. Thus, the owners built a mill to separate out waste from the ore, and either they or the
county commission contracted with Ben Harwood to improve the existing trail into a road. This

260 Kinney, 1932; "Mining News," EMJ (6/19/97): 639.
%81 Sjlverton Standard (7/27/95): 1.
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had the added benefit of making the basin more accessible for other ventures. By 1897, the
owners leased the Bandora to Patterson & Johnson, who enjoyed a sound yield.?®?

The Great Mining Revival, 1898 — 1910

As the decade of the 1890s waned, a variety of factors contributed to a revival of silver
mining across the west and especially in Colorado. Even though the value of silver did not
recover from the Silver Crash of 1893 and hovered at around $.60 per ounce, the residents of San
Juan County saw their mining industry blossom. With the exception of isolated years, miners
produced more gold, silver, and lead than any time in the past. Given the low value of silver,
several factors help explain the trend.

First, the nation’s economy recovered from the depression, and while the rebound started
in the east, it reached the west by the late 1890s. As the economic climate stabilized, investors
felt secure enough to risk capital, and mining companies were able to find financing such as
loans and credit for their projects. Second, transportation improved, railroad traffic increased,
and goods and services were readily available again. Third, mine and mill owners, tired of
bearing the costs of idle, profitless properties, were more than willing to extend themselves to
bring their operations back into production or sell or lease them to investors who would. Fourth,
the demand for industrial metals such as copper, lead, and zinc greatly increased due to the
revival of industry. Fifth, advances in mining technology and engineering decreased the costs of
ore production, and improved milling methods recovered even more of the metalliferous content
than ever. Some of these were developed in response to the Silver Crash.

The last and sixth factor was the production and concentration of low-grade ores in
economies of scale through massive investment and mechanization. As noted above, John Terry
and the Stoiber brothers pioneered this practice. When capital and credit became available again
by the late 1890s, other large mining companies in the county and throughout Colorado imitated
them and profited from the abundance of low-grade ore. While the movement gave rise to
gigantic operations, smaller outfits were also able to profit when they supplanted labor with
machinery and ensured the production of high volumes of ore per shift.

The revival was dramatic in San Juan County at all levels. By 1900, the county
population rose 2,300, 700 more than the last peak of 1890. The number of mines nearly tripled
from those that were active the depression. In 1898 and 1899, the county featured approximately
seventy-five small outfits, twenty-five medium-sized operations, and five large producers. These
figures shifted as companies expanded their operations, and the numbers of medium-sized and
large mines increased. Between 1900 and 1905, there were fewer small outfits, but the medium-
sized mines rose to thirty-three and the large producers jumped to fourteen. The buoyant
conditions stimulated a wave of prospecting in turn. In 1898 and 1899, prospectors developed
around 25 new properties, and by the early 1900s, they worked at least 100. The production of
metals fluctuated during the revival but changed little on average. Yields of approximately $1

262 u\Mining News,” EMJ (10/3/91): 393: Silverton Standard (6/6/96): 5; Silverton Standard (8/1/96): 3.
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million in gold, $400,000 to $500,000 in silver, $300,000 to $400,000 in copper, and as much in
lead per year were the norm.?®®

If the number of mines increased, then production should have risen in concert, and yet it
remained static through the revival. What accounted for this trend? First, many of the new mines
were failures and produced little ore. Second, the quality of ore decreased and offered a smaller
metals content, which was troublesome because the material was already low in grade. Third,
some large companies exhausted their ore reserves, and even though the mines were physically
substantial, their production was not as high as might be expected.

While the revival brought San Juan County out of the post-Silver Crash depression, it
changed the corporate landscape of the mining industry. The massive amounts of capital required
to mine and mill economies of scale, and the proportional profits to be made, attracted
companies that were larger, and capitalists who had more power than in years past. Most of the
substantial companies consisted of groups of wealthy investors with interests in other mining
regions and even separate industries. These companies had plenty of capital, developed
individual mines into major operations, and were satisfied with regular ore production. Some of
the companies owned proven mines and mills throughout the San Juans and considered their
overall profitability most important, even if a few of the individual operations failed. Companies
sought domination within the industry, speculated with prominent mines as if they were no more
than prospects, and worked through subsidiaries. These entities contributed to an atmosphere of
corporate mining in the county, although a high number of modestly sized operations maintained
a strong local presence.

The American Smelting & Refining Company (ASARCo) was among the first of the
massive corporate entities to affect San Juan County. The company was organized in 1899 by
some of Colorado’s and the nation’s most powerful smelter men. They were bent on nothing less
than national domination of the smelting industry, which they hoped to achieve through the
business trust of ASARCo. James B. Grant of the Omaha & Grant Smelting & Refining
Company was among the organizers, and he included the Durango Smelter in the new trust. In
the same year, ASARCo acquired Otto Mears’ Standard Smelter, and in so doing, controlled a
significant share of the smelting capacity that served the San Juans.?**

The company was adamantly antilabor and had the support of Frank Guiterman, manager
of the Durango Smelter. Guiterman detested organized labor from personal experience quashing
strikes at Telluride, and he carried his policies over to the Durango Smelter. In 1899, the State of
Colorado mandated the eight-hour law for mill workers, and clever Guiterman told his workers
that he would uphold the law but pay them for only eight hours instead of the usual ten-hour
shift. Guiterman underestimated the power and unity of the workers, who belonged to the Mill
and Smelterworkers’ Union, and they struck and literally shut down both plants. Chapters in

263 Henderson, 1926: 216; Schulze, 1977: 1890-7; Schulze, 1977: 1900-10. The number of active mines was derived from a survey of Colorado
Mining Directory, EMJ, and Silverton Standard.

264 James E. Fell, Jr., Ores to Metals: The Rocky Mountain Smelting Industry (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1979) 223, Ransome,
1901: 23; Smith, 1982: 101; Smith, 1992: 78.
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Pueblo, Denver, and other smelting centers in Colorado followed in sympathy, and the Western
Federation of Miners threatened similar action at many mines in Colorado.?®

The result of the massive strike was profound. At first it paralyzed Colorado’s mining
industry, and as mines began to close, the demand for coal slackened and railroads curtailed
traffic. Some of the mining districts in the San Juans were definitely in trouble, although
Silverton offered enough ore treatment to soften the blow in the Animas River drainage. The
mining industry became polarized as prolabor individuals sided with the strikers and antilabor
forces, mostly mine owners, argued that the action was to everyone’s ruin. In heavily unionized
San Juan County, mine owners felt threatened by the potential for sympathy strikes. Newspapers
fed the fires of tension and harped on the fact that if the strike in Durango forced the closure of
mines, 500 workers in Silver Lake Basin and Arrastra Gulch alone would be jobless. After
several weeks, the Colorado Supreme Court declared the eight-hour day unconstitutional, the
wages and shift issue was back to where it started, and the strike collapsed. Everyone breathed a
sign of relief as mining returned to normal in the Las Animas district.?*®

Despite the near monopoly that ASARCo held over the smelting industry, mining
companies in the Animas River drainage generated enough ore to support at least one niche
smelter. Unable to compete with the Durango plant, Thomas Walsh closed his Silverton Smelter
in 1898 or 1899. The San Juan Smelting & Refining Company filled the void with the Kendrick-
Gelder Smelter, built at mouth of Cement Creek in 1900. Like Walsh’s facility, the Kendrick-
Gelder Smelter specialized in treating ores rich in pyrite and copper, which attracted mining
companies in the Red Mountain district. Because some of the operations in the Las Animas
district had similar payrock, they found the smelter to be of benefit.*®’

In 1907, the vagaries of economic cycles again impacted San Juan County. This time, a
national recession struck, and it nudged San Juan County into decline. The year began like many
others during the revival. Mining companies generated almost $1 million in gold and $105,000 in
zinc, then being recovered as an important industrial metal. Miners also produced $776,000 in
silver and $662,000 in lead, both in greater quantities than previous years. The county was so
productive that it ranked second only to Leadville in terms of lead and copper in Colorado. As
the recession set in, prices ebbed until silver averaged a lowly $.56 per ounce and copper
dropped from $.17 to $.13 per pound. At the same time, many mining companies were
experiencing only low-grade deposits. The large companies with concentration mills were able to
subsist on ore valued at $6 to $12 per ton, but the value had to be double for those companies
without. Many small outfits simply lacked such payrock and were forced to close. Production in
the county declined after 1907, peaked briefly in 1910, and then abruptly dropped off. The
number of active mines fell from the heights of the early 1900s to around ten small outfits,
fifteen medium-sized operations, and five large producers. Mining in the county contracted

205 Eell, 1979: 227; Smith, 1992: 78-9.

288 Denver Times (6/7/99): 2; Fell, 1979: 230; Smith, 1982: 128.
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around those large companies that were savvy and wealthy enough to profit from their low-grade

ore reserves.?®®

In the face of low metals prices and poor economic conditions, some of the large mining
companies again made a concerted effort to cut their operating costs. Management closely
examined budgets, and, in what was becoming a wearisome pattern, identified labor as a place to
seek savings. The companies tried to get more out of their workers for less money by either
increasing hours or reducing pay, which set the stage for inevitable conflict. Both labor and the
companies were well prepared. Willis Kinney and Franklin L. Ross represented the San Juan
Mine Owners’ Association, and the Silverton Chapter of the Western Federation of Miners was a
shield for the miners. Ross was related to J.B. Ross and a partner in the Ross Mining & Milling
Company. Kinney himself rose from humble working-class roots, as the son of a leather
merchant. In search of opportunity, he journeyed to Pueblo in 1880 and worked in a smelter then
as a miner in Silver Cliff, before moving to the San Juans in 1883. Prior to his success with the
Gold King, Kinney managed the Harrison Mine.?*®

In response to the mining companies’ desire to either extend the miner’s work day or
reduce pay, the miners’ union demanded a wage of $3 per eight-hour shift, which the mine
owners’ association vehemently protested. As tensions rose in 1907 and a strike seemed
imminent, the Deputy State Labor Commissioner made a trip to Silverton to mediate. The
miners’ union and more than one thousand members proved to be a resolute opponent. To avoid
a shutdown of the mining industry, risky in the poor climate of the recession, Kinney and Ross
acceded to the miners’ demands.?”

The economic climate was especially unkind to the county’s milling industry.
Collectively, the small mining companies constituted the principal customer base for the
independent mills. The small outfits were unable to afford their own concentration mills and had
to send their ore to these facilities, which either purchased the material or treated it for a fee.
Most of the large mining companies, in contrast, did little business with the independent mills
because they concentrated their own ores in-house. Some companies, such as at the North Star,
even accepted custom business to offset the waning production from their own mines. When the
small outfits began to run out of ore valued above the $12 to $24 per ton threshold, they sent less
to the independent mills. As a result, the demand for custom treatment slumped, which caused
the independent milling business to collapse. Only the Silverton Public Sampler, Silver Lake
Mill, and Kendrick-Gelder Smelter accepted custom business after 1907.2"

268 George E. Collins, "Mining in the United States During 1908: Colorado," EMJ (1/9/09): 104-5; George E. Collins, “Mining in the United
States During 1909: Colorado," Engineering & Mining Journal (1/8/10): 97-8; Howe Cross, 1905: 26; Mineral Resources, 1908: 395; Saxon,
1959: 7, 8, 14, 16; Henderson, 1926: 216 for production figures. EMJ and Silverton Standard for number of active mines.

269 Brown, 1984: 71; Kinney, 1932; "Mines of Cement Creek: Wonderful Progress made during the past Seven Years and a Great Future
planned by People of Enterprise," Silverton Standard (10/19/01); Sloan and Skowronski, 1975: 49.
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The reason why the Kendrick-Gelder Smelter survived was because it was a niche facility
that processed ores primarily with a high copper and pyrite content. The Durango Smelter, and
the independent mills that did business with Durango, shunned such ores because they were
incompatible to process alongside the region’s lead-zinc material. In 1905, J.B. Ross purchased
the smelter from the San Juan Smelting & Refining Company, which was in trouble, to treat
pyretic ore from his mines in the Red Mountain district. His Ross Mining & Milling Company
owned the Congress on Red Mountain Pass, the Galty Boy in Cement Creek and the Champion,
all of which yielded pyretic ore. Ross also operated the Silver Wing, Bandora, and other lead-
rich mines at times to fuel the smelter with fluxing-grade ore. The firm also hoped to attract
custom ores from independent mines in the Red Mountain district. The Ross brothers did well
with the mining business but not with the smelter. Their mines provided enough ore to pay most
of the operating costs, but little custom ore came down from Red Mountain. Thus, the Ross
brothers shut down the smelter in 1908 and sold the facility to wealthy New York investor W.B.
Lowe a year later. Lowe attempted to modify the furnaces to treat lead-zinc ores typical of San
Juan County in hopes of securing local business. The facility proved unable to economize
production sufficiently, and in 1910, Lowe closed Silverton’s last independent smelter.?”?

Las Animas Mining District

The Las Animas district featured several of the county’s most significant companies
during the late 1890s revival, and although they were among the largest in the county, the
companies were local entities because their directors began in Silverton. These included Edward
Stoiber’s Silver Lake Mines Company and Gustavus Stoiber and James Robin’s lowa Mining &
Milling Company. At Silver Lake, Edward continued to reinvest capital. As aforementioned,
Edward planned a tramway from the mine down to an ore storage terminal, with the first 8,700-
foot long segment, built to a short distance above the lowa Mill. In 1898, he finished the system.
He contracted again with William Frey who began construction on the tramway’s second
segment and on a massive terminal that replaced the original. In addition to receiving ore, the
terminal served as a base station for the mine and included assay, machine, and carpentry shops.
In total, the ore bins had the capacity for 16,000 tons of material, and the two tramway segments
totaled almost 15,000 feet, making it one of the longest systems in the state.””®

The underground workings in Silver Lake Basin took the form of an ore factory with
more than a dozen miles of passages and levels linked by a central internal shaft. An electric
hoist raised a cage in the shaft, and miners pushed loaded cars off the cage and across a long set
of ore bins directly over the Stoiber Tunnel. Mules pulled trains of cars under the bins, workers
filled them, and they continued out to the mill. To expedite the blasting process required to break
the ore loose, Edward employed compressed air rock drills. When he wanted to increase the
number of machines, he realized that a new compressor would have to be hauled up to the mine

212 "Mining News," EMJ (5/15/09): 1019; "Mining News," MSP (5/22/09): 708.
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and sought an alternative. In keeping with his progressive attitude, Edward decided to
experiment with revolutionary electric models, since the mine already had an electrical
infrastructure. By January 1899, miners were using the drills with success, drawing the attention
of mining experts.”

In 1900, ten years after Edward began at the Silver Lake, he finally accomplished his
vision. When the Silverton Standard received the news of the tram terminal under construction in
1898, the editors postulated that Edward would eventually build a mill on the site. Fulfilling the
predictions, Edward did just that in 1900. With McCartney’s assistance, Edward personally
designed the new mill and selected the equipment, and then pushed its construction around the
clock throughout the year. The mill and associated facilities were among the largest and most
advanced ore treatment complexes in the San Juans, if not Colorado. The main building alone
covered two acres, and the ore delivery structure and terminal built in 1898 occupied additional
ground. With an array of advanced equipment, the mill was able to treat an astounding 1,000
tons of ore every 24 hours, more ore than many mines generated in a month. In general
arrangement, the Silver Lake was now like Terry’s Sunnyside, only the facilities were at least
twice the size.?”

While the lowa Mine was not quite as extravagant as the Silver Lake, Gustavus Stoiber
and James Robin were almost matching Edward’s improvements one-for-one. They already
owned the Royal Tiger Mine, across Silver Lake from the lowa, and incorporated this sound
producer into the lowa operation. In 1898, Stoiber and Robin organized the Tiger Mining &
Milling Company to finance an aerial tramway to the lowa, a compressed air line from the lowa,
and additional surface facilities. The double-rope tramway allowed miners at the Royal Tiger to
send ore over the lake and into the lowa terminal, where workers coupled the buckets onto the
main line. The buckets then coasted down to the lowa Mill, emptied by workers, and sent back
up to the Royal Tiger for filling. To power a number of new drills at the Royal Tiger, Stoiber and
Robin increased the capacity of the compressed air system at the lowa.”"®

Imitating Edward, Gustavus and Robin decided to build a storage terminal on the Animas
River for concentrates from their lowa Mill and smelting-grade ore from the mine. Gustavus
chose a site on the north side of the river slightly east of Arrastra Gulch. Crews then erected the
facility in 1899, completed a tramway to the mill, and secured direct freight service from the
Silverton Northern Railroad.”’”

In addition to aggressively pursuing improvements at the Silver Lake and lowa, Edward
and Gustavus continued to fiddle around with their joint tunnel project, originally known as the
Silverton Deep. The idea behind the tunnel was to undercut the ore systems of both mines at
great depth, provide a platform for miners to stope the veins 700 feet upward to the existing
workings, and serve as a central artery through which the deep ore could be hauled out. Such a
project would be an engineering feat on par with similar tunnels in Creede, Idaho Springs, and

2% Arthur Lakes, "The Silver Lake Mine," Mines and Minerals (Apr 1903): 389; Ransome, 1901: 156.

%> Bureau of Mines, Manuscripts MSS 640 V.27: 19; "Mining News," EMJ (12/1/1900): 648; "Mining News," EMJ (5/11/01): 600; "Mining
News," Mining Reporter (12/4/00): 361; Ransome, 1901: 156.
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other important Colorado mining districts. The Stoibers started the tunnel in 1895 but put the
project on hold. With both mines highly productive by 1897, they renewed their interest in the
tunnel and renamed it the Unity, probably to reflect their fraternal cooperation. Teams of expert
miners resumed work on the tunnel, and around 1898, Edward installed a mechanized surface
plant that included an aerial tramway tied into the Silver Lake system. Edward provided the
Unity crew with plumbing, steam heat, and electric lighting. In 1901, miners made the
connection with the deepest workings in the Silver Lake Mine, around 3,000 feet to the south.?

During the early 1900s, large corporate entities from outside the county targeted well-
developed properties in the Las Animas district for acquisition. The North Star Mine was one of
the first to draw interest. After operating the property for more than twenty-five years, the
Crookes decided to sell after realizing around $2.5 million in ore. In 1900, they were approached
by wealthy and experienced investors with the Smuggler-Union Mining Company. This outfit
was one of the largest in Telluride and held the Contention Mining Company as a subsidiary.
Some of the investors were from Boston, others associated with the powerful Calumet & Hecla
Mining Company in Michigan, and the rest were local to the San Juans. The Contention directors
offered the Crookes a fair price, and they accepted.?”

Like the Stoibers, the Contention company intended to build a mill on the Animas River,
secure a siding from the Silverton Northern Railroad, and send the ore down through Little Giant
Basin via tramway. The Contention company wasted no time in pursuing its production scheme,
but there was one important impediment to the plan. The summit of North Star Peak lay between
the mine’s surface plant and Little Giant Basin, the tramway route to the mill. Further, the route
itself was not straight and featured a crook like Stoiber’s Silver Lake system. After considering
these factors, the engineer bored a tunnel from the North Star workings through the peak and
blasted a room out of the north cliff. In the room, workers erected a terminal for a double-rope
reversible tramway, which descended to the abandoned North Star Mill in Little Giant Basin.
They converted the mill building into a midway station, and a Bleichert system continued down
to the Contention Mill on the Animas River. The tramway was unique because of the refitted
mill and two different legs.?®°

Once the mill and tramway were finished, the company increased the workforce to 100.
Miners engaged in development and ore production, and others started up the Contention Mill on
the river. After only a year, however, the entire operation collapsed. Bulkley Wells, the colorful
manager of Smuggler-Union, had neglected to adequately develop the ore veins in the North Star
and did not ensure that the concentration process in the mill was truly effective. During the
winter of 1902, Wells closed the mine and mill as a monumental failure, and the company looked
to its other mines to recover the loss.?®!

278 | akes, 1903; "Mining News,” EMJ (12/8/00): 677.
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In 1901, Edward Stoiber’s Silver Lake empire was the subject of the second acquisition
in the Las Animas district by a major corporate entity. The Guggenheims, empire builders on a
national scale, offered Edward a stunning $2.5 million for the Silver Lake collection, or $54
million today. Some sources claim that Edward accepted around $1.3 million in cash and the rest
in stock. The only stipulation that Edward had was that he be retained as a consultant until the
mill was finished and treating ore successfully, which was proven in May. Satisfied that his
legacy was fully functional, Edward and Lena retired to Denver and traveled Europe.?*?

The Guggenheims continued Edward’s operation. They purchased the Titusville for
$500,000 and the Scranton City because these mines lay long the same geological features as the
Silver Lake workings. Immediately after the transactions, Samuel I. Hallett, a talented mining
engineer and metallurgist, arrived from Aspen to replace Robert McCartney as manager. Hallett
maintained the Silver Lake Mines Company structure, kept the employees, and hired McCartney
as a consultant. McCartney attended to other operations as well, including the North Star Mill on
Sultan Mountain. Amusingly, one of the first changes that Hallett instituted was the replacement
of some of the concentration machinery in the mill with Hallett tables, apparatuses of his own
design.”® The Guggenheims did not have the personal interest that possessed Stoiber, and
problems soon developed. The first drew Stoiber’s honesty into question. Within three months of
the sale, the principal ore vein pinched out, leaving the costly operation with much less payrock
than had been supposed. Possibly at Stoiber’s recommendation, Hallett directed nearly all the
miners to extract the existing ore and drive exploratory workings in search of the lost vein and
others. The miners triumphed, Hallett was relieved, and Stoiber exonerated.

Although Hallett was not as intimate with the mine as Stoiber, he was an effective
manager. The workforce produced 260 tons of ore per day, and although this was only one-
quarter of the new mill’s capacity, it still was more than any other mine in the county. Around 30
percent of the ore flowed out of the Unity Tunnel, which was now a haulageway for the Silver
Lake’s lower workings, and the remainder came from Silver Lake Basin. The figure was
honorable, especially given that the mill reduced the ore to 60 tons of concentrates, which
required daily rail service to remove. With all the ore descending to the Silver Lake Mill, Hallett
mothballed the old facility in Silver Lake Basin. Shortly after, the Guggenheims dispatched
Hallett to Mexico to examine several promising mines there.?*

In 1903, the Guggenheims merged with smelting giant ASARCo, which controlled the
Silver Lake empire both for the mine’s profitability and as a source of ore for the Durango
Smelter. Under ASARCo, problems with the Silver Lake continued and consumed profits almost
as quickly as they were generated. In October 1904, workers in the tramway’s turning station
above the lowa Mill stoked their stove a little too high, and the wind blew sparks out of the

282 olorado Historical Society Manuscripts MSS 640, V.27: 20; Denver Times (5/2/01): 4; Denver Times (12/29/01): 6; "Mining News," EMJ
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stovepipe onto the building, which caught fire and burned to the ground. The cables on both tram
segments released, which dropped the tram buckets and pulled over a number of towers. The
system was a total wreck and the conflagration suspended the entire mining operation. The Silver
Lake Mill was shut down until the tram system could be repaired, and instead of bringing the
original mill in Silver Lake Basin back into operation, the manager laid off half the workforce
and curtailed activity at the mine.”®

After the tramway had been repaired, another catastrophe struck. In 1906, workers at the
Silver Lake Mill noticed that a fire had been deliberately started in the office and sounded the
alarm. They frantically rushed to the hydrants only to find that someone had cut the hoses. With
no way to control the fire, the blaze enveloped the entire building, ancillary structures, and the
lower terminal for tramway, which suffered another massive release. The devastation was not
total because the ore elevators, powerhouse, shops, and boardinghouse remained intact. Without
a mill, ASARCo suspended operations yet again and considered whether the Silver Lake was
worth the trouble. The disaster caused a distinct dip in the county production figures for 1906.2%°

ASARCo decided to invest in the Silver Lake one more time and likely consulted with
the manager. Guess to revise the original operating strategy. ASARCo floated the idea of
reopening the long-quiet Aspen Tunnel, which still offered low-grade ore with a high zinc
content. A single mill, however, would not be very efficient for the ore from both mines since it
differed greatly, and in response, Guess planned a mill with two separate flow paths. One path
would be tailored to ore from the Silver Lake and the other could treat not only high zinc
payrock from the Aspen, but also custom orders. By April 1907, the reincarnated Silver Lake
Mill was finished and featured split flow paths as planned. The path for Silver Lake ore could
treat 200 tons per day and the other path half that, a large downgrade from Stoiber’s original
design of 1,000 tons per day.

The lowa Gold Mining & Milling Company, second largest outfit in the Las Animas
district and one of the county’s most profitable, experienced problems during the early 1900s
even worse than the Silver Lake. Gustavus Stoiber and James Robin discovered that the main
problem with producing ore in economies of scale was that a mine’s life was relatively short
when the ore reserves were limited. By 1901, the lowa showed signs of exhaustion after only six
years of intensive mining, and, in response, Gustavus and Robin pursued an aggressive
exploration and development campaign to prolong operations. When this failed, they curtailed
operations, let go more than half of the workforce, and suspended the mill and tramway.
Gustavus and Robin then took the option that companies reserved for times of trouble and leased
both the lowa and Royal Tiger properties while seeking a buyer. In 1902, around forty workers
sought ore in both mines, and Al Kunkle struck a fabulous vein in his Royal Tiger lease, but it
lasted for only one year. Because of the meager production from both properties, no one

285 "Mining News," MSP (2/4/05): 77; Silverton Standard (10/24/04); Silverton Standard (12/17/04).
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seriously considered purchasing the complex, including the Guggenheims, who owned the Silver
Lake on one side of the lowa and the Titusville on the other.?®’

The stress of the rapid lowa’s failure proved to be too much for Stoiber and Robin.
Depressed and despondent, Robin shot himself in 1903. In 1905, an avalanche wrecked a
significant portion of the lowa Mill. Gustavus died of a massive stroke on the train from the Red
Mountain district down to Silverton soon after.?®®

During the late 1890s and early 1900s, the revival in the Las Animas district was by no
means limited to large companies. Investors with moderate resources, who greatly outhumbered
the Stoibers, Robins, and Guggenheims of the industry, financed and even personally worked a
number of small to medium-sized operations. Some of these were continuations from the mid-
1890s while a substantial proportion of them were new. Significant fortunes were not won or lost
on these mines, by they were an important part of the revival on a cumulative basis.

While most of the companies organized during the late 1890s boom were there to mine, a
few sought riches by exploiting investors. For much of its history, San Juan County saw little
obvious fraud, but free-flowing capital of the revival proved to be a sound financial resource for
a few highly dubious schemes. In 1897, B.F. Kelly and W.H. Bush organized a project so
preposterous that only investors as out of touch with reality as Edward Innis could possibly see
its merit. Kelly and Bush established the Gold Tunnel & Railway Company to drive the Oro
Tunnel no less than 20,000 feet from the Animas River east under Deer Park and Silver Lake
Basin, terminating at the Highland Mary Mine. Not only was the tunnel supposed to pierce
known veins, but, as with the Mineral Point Tunnel, it in theory was going to discover new
formations and repay investors many times over. In 1898, Kelly and Bush collected enough
money to secure the Highland Mary and a site on the Animas River, and began work.”®
Silvertonians, well versed in mining, frowned on the project, as the Silverton Standard stated:
“B.F. Kelly, better known as “Tunnel Kelly,” if he never was thought of before as being a rustler
and ‘smart’ man, will be now since he and W.H. Bush, the promulgators of the famous Oro
Tunnel scheme, have realized out of their enterprise $400,000.”“® The project was a clear sign to
the Las Animas district that investors in fact had plenty of capital and were eager to spend it
during the late 1890s. The Oro was not Kelly’s only venture, and he engaged in similar projects
in Clear Creek County. As preposterous as the Oro was, it led to one of the most important
operations to develop in the Las Animas district during the revival.

The operation involved the Highland Mary, which Innis left as a ready-made mine when
he went bankrupt in 1885. When miners originally drove the Innis tunnel, they pierced several
major silver veins but did little with them because Innis was bent on finding the lake of gold.
Kelly and Bush also neglected the veins probably because they were focused on their financial
scheme and took little interest in what the Highland Mary had to offer. Kelly and Bush were
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ousted from the Gold Tunnel & Railway Company in 1900, and Mary B. Murrell of Denver,
Toledo investor C.W. Everett, and New York City capitalist John R. Wyatt assumed control.
Murrell was probably the first of the partners to realize that at least several silver veins lay
undeveloped in the Highland Mary and convinced Everett and Wyatt to organize the Highland
Mary Gold Mining & Railway Company to bring them into production.?*

Because knowledgeable about mining, Murrell assumed the position of manager,
extremely rare in the mining industry. In 1902, she hired fifteen miners who repaired the surface
plant and began rehabilitating the 6,500 tortuous feet of the winding Innis Tunnel. At the same
time, Murrell secured J.A. Snedaker to build the mill originally planned for the Oro Tunnel, but
adjacent to the Innis Tunnel where it was actually needed. Snedaker designed an excellent
facility that not only effectively concentrated ore, but also included a small hydropower
generator for electricity. The mine, however, was a long way from being truly profitable because
the underground workings were so disorganized that they interfered with the movement of ore to
mill. Under superintendent W.E. Wilson, miners split their duties between ore production and
trying to link the disparate levels together through vertical workings. By 1904, he was satisfied
with the development and directed the crew to send a steady stream of ore into the mill. The
operation enjoyed such a high level of profitability through 1906 that the Silverton Northern
Railroad considered grading a line up Cunningham Gulch to the mine.

On the other side of North Star Mountain, the Black Prince had the signs of becoming a
major operation. In 1902, W.B. Severn, L.H. Chadwick, and other investors from Chicago and
Michigan organized the Black Prince Gold Mining Company with the intent of developing the
forgotten Black Prince vein. Severn and partners found that, with Contention’s mill and
tramway, the Black Prince was almost a ready-made mine. Eager to be done with the North Star
debacle, the Contention company was more than willing to sell the Black Prince claims, the
tramway, and the mill to Severn and partners.*?

During the fall, the company put a large crew to work driving the main tunnel toward the
vein and erecting a well-appointed surface plant. The conservative Engineering & Mining
Journal noted: “Black Prince. This company has purchased the possessions of the Contention
Mining Company on King Solomon Mtn, near Silverton, and is making many improvements.
The old Contention tram is also being extended to the Black Prince lode.” The tramway was not
exactly “extended” and was, in reality, shortened. Workers erected a new terminal directly under
the original Contention system and linked it to the Black Prince with a rail line. When the
adjustments were finished, the Black Prince company operated the mine and mill with success at
first. However, repeating the same pattern of the preceding twenty-five years, the ore increased
in complexity with depth, the mill recovered only a fraction of the metals content, and the mine
proved very expensive to operate. Had the investors looked into the histories of the operations
that surrounded the Black Prince, they may have been more thorough in their planning. By 1904,
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the company closed the mine but continued to run the mill as a custom facility on ore from other
mines in the area.?*

The Lackawanna Mine, on the north flank of Kendall Mountain above Silverton, was
promising enough to draw significant investment. In 1898, George Whitelaw and John Norton,
principals with the Four Metals Mining Company in Pueblo, added the property to its growing
roster of mines in the San Juans. By driving exploratory passages on several veins, miners found
enough ore to sustain a constant but limited production, which encouraged the company to invest
in surface improvements. A system for shipping and storing ore was among the new facilities,
and it consisted of a double-rope reversible tramway and set of ore bins on the Animas River.
The Four Metals Mining Company enjoyed such success with the Lackawanna that one of the
directors proposed a concentration mill at the base of the mountain. After several years of regular
production, the rest of the directors felt confident enough to agree and financed a modest facility.
Workers finished the mill in 1903, which is when trouble began. Similar to the Black Prince, the
ore was too complex for the mill and the veins featured less material than expected. By 1904,
Whitelaw and partners found the operation became unprofitable and stopped work.?**

The Las Animas district weathered the 1907 recession better than most, but was not
immune to the widespread failure of many of the small and medium-sized mines caused by the
poor economic conditions. Some of these, however, were replaced by new ventures of similar
size and productivity. In addition, the Silver Lake and the lowa maintained their status among
county’s most important operations.

Despite this status, the dismal economic climate and a host of problems gave ASARCo
reason to doubt whether the Silver Lake had been worth buying from Stoiber. When the
replacement Silver Lake Mill was finished in 1907, ASARCo planned to treat silver-lead ore
from the Silver Lake Mine in one of the two flow paths and zinc-rich material from the Aspen
Tunnel in the other circuit. The Garfield Smelting Company, a subsidiary of ASARCo, reopened
the Aspen, a short distance west of the mill, and was confident enough in the operation to build a
new tramway. The arrangement, however, was short-lived. Neither treatment path in the new
mill recovered a sufficient percentage of the metals content. ASARCo found that the facility was
simply not profitable and suspended operations. ASARCo cancelled production at the Silver
Lake and leased out blocks of ground instead of working the mine itself. Garfield decided to
continue with its Aspen project and erected its own mill at the tunnel. Garfield’s metallurgist had
no better luck with the zinc-rich ore, however, and after spending a small fortune on a brand new
mill, Garfield suspended work at the Aspen as well.

With an enormous amount of capital invested in both the Silver Lake mine and mill,
ASARCo was unwilling to concede defeat. The managers agreed that the split treatment concept
in the Silver Lake Mill held great potential, so they went back to the drawing board to refit the
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facility. The task likely fell to Louis O. Bastian, a milling expert who served as one of the
superintendents for much of the decade and had experience with the facility. By late winter of
1909, ASARCo was ready to try again, brought ore down from the Silver Lake and over from the
Aspen, and ran the first tests. To the relief of all, the mill ran as expected, after two years of
delays. Management prepared to resume normal operations at the Silver Lake Mine, but before
they made headway, the tramway’s turning station burned. Yet another disaster struck when a
series of avalanches let go following a powerful spring storm in 1911. One slide took out towers
for both the Silver Lake and lowa tramways and laid power lines on the ground, which shorted
and started a fire at a transformer station. ASARCo fixed the tramway relatively quickly.**

In June, ASARCo sent a crew of eighteen miners to join the lessees at the Silver Lake
and they naturally took up residence in one of the boardinghouses. While the massive residential
complex was not filled to capacity, Silver Lake lessees and a considerable crew of miners
employed at the lowa made for a population of several hundred. The population, however, was
too transitory for the Postal Service to justify maintaining the Arastra office, which was revoked
in 1910. By July, the ASARCo miners began production, and as the demand for lead-rich ore
increased at the Durango Smelter, ASARCo sent up additional teams until the workforce was
around one hundred by the fall. The atmosphere of Silver Lake Basin approached the heyday
yearszglejnder Stoiber and the tramway carried as much as 100 tons of ore per day down to the
mill.

The last and final disaster for ASARCo struck in the summer of 1912. Leaving out the
intense drama and excitement, the Mining & Scientific Press dryly reported that: “A fire
occurred on June 30 at the Silver Lake Mine, near Silverton, owned by the American S.&R. Co.
Practically all the mine buildings were destroyed, except the boardinghouse, which was saved by
dynamiting smaller buildings between it and the blacksmith shop, where the fire started. The
upper terminal of the tramway was destroyed, necessitating the closing of the mill.”?*” With that,
the company finally gave up on the mine, leased out blocks of ground to small parties.

Ironically, the Silver Lake and lowa mines literally traded roles after the 1907 recession.
Whereas the Silver Lake produced heavily and the lowa was failing before the recession, the
lowa resumed its status as a major operation and the Silver Lake declined. The poor economic
conditions facilitated the juxtaposed relationship, but the greatest factor was the difference of
management strategy between the conservative ASARCo at the Silver Lake and a new
organization that operated the lowa.

After Gustavus Stoiber and James Robin died, their heirs and the surviving lowa Tiger
Consolidated Mining & Milling Company directors assumed that both the Royal Tiger and lowa
properties were bereft of profitable payrock. Otto Mears suspected otherwise and reasoned that if
the lowa and Silver Lake mines were neighbors on the same general ore system, there was no
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logical reason why the lowa should not match the Silver Lake’s eighteen solid years of
production. The ore, however, would require expertise to find and attentive management to
produce. With this in mind, in 1908, Mears and Jack Slattery approached the lowa owners with a
proposal to lease the entire idle operation. The owners accepted, and Mears and Slattery
organized both the lowa-Tiger Leasing Company and the Mellville Leasing Company, the
beginning of a long-lasting and highly lucrative leasing syndicate.”®

Formally known as John H. Slattery, Jack was a staunch Silvertonian with experience in
business and mining. Slattery worked as a civil and mining engineer in the Red Mountain district
during the early 1890s left with the Silver Crash of 1893. The collapse of mining made
engineering jobs difficult to find, so Slattery chose an industry always in demand. He moved
down to Silverton and operated the Bucket of Blood Saloon, subsequently the Hub Saloon, and
Grand Hotel. Slattery thus became a community figure, started a baseball club, and even served
in the state legislature. Slattery’s capital, popularity, business experience, and knowledge of
mining made him an excellent leasing partner.

Instead of viewing labor as a resource to be tolerated only by necessity, like Kinney and
Ross, Mears and Slattery understood that their success hinged on their miners. Given this, the
partners hired the best workforce that could be assembled and gave the miners incentive to find
ore and produce it efficiently through a profit-sharing program. Up-front capital for repairs,
improvements, equipment, and labor was in excess of what Mears and Slattery were comfortable
providing, so they included around five other investors in their small but highly effective leasing
syndicate.

Louis O. Bastian, formerly superintendent of the Silver Lake Mill, provided metallurgical
expertise and some capital. When ASARCo ran into trouble with the mill, he went into semi-
retirement and purchased the Corner Store mercantile in Silverton in 1909, but was easily drawn
back into mining probably by Slattery. Matt Delsante was another Silverton resident and
immigrant Italian miner familiar with the area’s resources. King C. Gillette, of Beverly Hills,
was a major contributor of capital. Frank Slattery, Jack’s brother, provided management and
administrative oversight. James R. Pitcher was Mears’ right-hand man and son-in-law. Pitcher
met Mears through the Mack Brothers Motor Car Company in New York City as a mutual
investor, and they were convinced that the automobile was the wave of the future. Pitcher
socialized with Mears and met Mears’ daughter Cora, who he married in 1904. The following
year Pitcher was appointed secretary and treasurer of the company, but sided with Mears during
a stockholder disagreement in 1906 and walked out. Mears brought Pitcher west out of the
comfort of New York City to gritty Silverton and offered him the position of manager over the
Silverton Northern Railroad.>®

As a syndicate, the team of seven worked together to lease some of the county’s formerly
most productive mines, with an emphasis on the Las Animas district. Various combinations of
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two and three of the syndicate members claimed themselves as principals in any given lease
while all seven usually contributed capital. As a result, when several names of the syndicate
showed up on the paperwork for a lease, it was implied that all seven were actually involved.

During the summer, Mears and Slattery rehabilitated the surface plant and underground
workings at both the Royal Tiger and lowa, and then pursued an organized exploration program
for ore. Contrary to the property owners’ misconception, the miners found plenty of low-grade
material available in the old stopes and began production. The workforce divided itself into six
groups. The first two brought the existing ore out of the lowa and Royal Tiger mines for
shipment down to the lowa Mill, which the third group repaired and operated. The fourth group
outfitted the surface plants at both mines, while the last two groups carried out a planned and
educated underground exploration campaign. One of these last groups realized that the original
lowa company paid little attention to the geology below the main tunnel level and assumed that
ore surely lay deep in the ground. In 1909, miners sank a shaft and discovered an extension of
the Melville Vein, which had been previously mined in the upper levels. While additional
development demonstrated at least six months” worth of ore at the time, the Melville ultimately
yielded for years. Elsewhere in the workings, another crew discovered an entire vein of ore
valued at $1,200 per ton, around $40,000 today. In 1910, Louis Quanstrom, the metallurgist in
the lowa Mill, noticed that the proportion of gold recovered from Royal Tiger ore constantly
increased and suspected that the miners must have been encountering gold stringers too fine to
be obvious. Quanstrom relayed this to the Royal Tiger foreman, who tested the idea by blasting a
chamber out of the vein’s hanging wall. To everyone’s surprise, the shot revealed a hidden,
parallel gold vein.®*

With all the new ore that the lowa owners originally asserted did not exist, Mears and
Slattery kept over one hundred employees busy through 1911 and 1912. The mill workers tried
to keep up with the 100 tons of ore sent down to them every day, and the miners made several
additional discoveries. Heavy production continued through 1913, and after five years of a
continuous yield, Mears and Slattery finally saw operations at the lowa and Royal Tiger slow.

The 1907 recession did little to stop Martin Houk at the Shenandoah and Trilby mines, in
Dives Basin. By the spring of 1908, Houk’s Trilby Tunnel was an impressive 2,000 feet long,
and miners finally struck the sought-after vein. The findings were troubling, however, as Houk
realized that the vein was not quite as rich as he expected. Hoping to find a better section of the
Trilby vein, Houk devised a two-pronged approach, driving development workings along the
vein from the Trilby Tunnel, and through the Shenandoah. Houk organized the Danville Leasing
Company with investors from Danville, Illinois, and briefly brought ore out of both tunnels.
When winter closed the pack trails, Houk ordered his miners into an exploration and
development phase. Houk’s plan paid off in 1909 when miners finally struck a rich copper vein
at Shenandoah. However, the crew exhausted the payrock within several months, forcing Houk

3% Colorado Mine Inspectors’ Reports: lowa; "Editorial Correspondence: Denver," EMJ (7/30/10): 230; “Mining News,”” EMJ (10/30/09): 893;
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to return to his investors for more money. Although the ore in the Trilby proved unprofitable,
Houk kept the Shenandoah in constant but limited production through 1912 when he moved on.

When the Shenandoah came available, Daniel McLean mobilized to lease the historic
producer. McLean, who lived in Durango, leased the Dives several years earlier and felt that the
basin still had much to offer if managed correctly. In 1913, McLean organized the Dives Leasing
Company, sent a crew of miners up to the Shenandoah, and continued where Houk left off.
McLean’s miners had no trouble finding enough ore to assemble a shipment and sent 132 tons
down on mules when the trails were free of snow.*%

While some of the large operations were able to weather the 1907 recession, many of the
small and medium-sized mines became scenes of great disappointment and lost capital. Such
was the case with the Lackawanna Mine. A group of miners optimistically took a lease on the
property early in 1907, but as the economic climate disintegrated and metals prices slipped, they
were unable to find the capital necessary for exploration and suspended operations. At the same
time, Henry Frecker, who purchased the Little Nation Mine above Howardsville in 1900, was
finally ready for production. During the preceding seven years, he pushed the Tom Trippe
Tunnel, the lowest of three entries, toward the Royal Charter Vein as capital came available. In
1907, he finally reached his destination and rounded up the capital for formal development and
even a mill, which he planned at Howardsville.

Howardsville was thriving in 1907, although the town remained fairly static.
Howardsville continued its role as a hub for Cunningham Gulch and supported a number of
service businesses, a railroad station on the Silverton Northern, freight outfits, and
slaughterhouses. The late 1890s boom had a limited impact and brought more people and
Rickett’s Mill, a concentration facility that failed within several years. By 1907, the population
was mostly working class and numbered around 150 to 170.®®* As soon as the snow of 1908
melted, Frecker hired a construction gang to build the mill. By July, the facility was complete
and featured a battery of ten stamps to crush ore and concentration machinery to separate out the
metals. After a week of testing, the mill seemed to fulfill its promise and the Mining & Scientific
Press hesitantly declared it a success, but in actuality the ore was too complex for the limited
facility. The lack of further coverage suggests that Fecker had to close it sometime during the

year.®

Cement Creek Subdistrict

The Cement Creek drainage saw a small explosion of activity due to the revival, a change
from past trends. The drainage drew little interest during early 1880s boom or the late 1880s,
and just as investors prepared to develop a few claims during the early 1890s, the Silver Crash
wrecked the economy. By the late 1890s, the drainage was poised to boom because it seemed to
be one of the last areas in the county where investors might still encounter fresh bonanzas.
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The Gold King Mining & Milling Company, organized by Willis Kinney, Cyrus Davis,
and Henry Soule, was already in bonanza. In 1897, Kinney built a mill at Gladstone and a
tramway up to Tunnel No.1, which allowed the mine to rank among the county’s gold producers.
Like many other managers of large mines, Kinney envisioned increasing production through
more development and better surface facilities. Financing such a strategy, however, required an
enormous capital investment. Funded by stock, creation of subsidiary companies, and debt,
Kinney began a major improvement campaign in 1900. Kinney began two new tunnels to
undercut the vein system and work it simultaneously from different levels. He organized the
American Mine & Tunnel Company to drive the American Tunnel into the mountainside
between Tunnel No.1 and Gladstone, and the Anglo Saxon Mining & Milling Company to drive
the Gold King Tunnel from the mill at Gladstone (later renamed the American Tunnel). The
American company then built a tramway down to the mill. Meanwhile, the Gold King company
was entangled in a legal battle with the owners of the nearby Sampson Mine, who claimed that
they owned the rights to the entire vein system. Both camps were unwilling to see their profits go
to lawyers and came to terms in 1900. The Gold King directors suggested that the two parties
merge and share profits, with the majority going to Kinney, Davis, and Soule. The Sampson
owners accepted, and the directors reorganized the entire outfit, including the subsidiaries and
several coal mines in Durango as the Gold King Consolidated Mines Company.®

It appears that the American Tunnel intersected the vein system during 1901, because
production increased to the point where Kinney enlarged the mill a second time. The facility
reduced around 200 tons of ore per day into forty of concentrates, which were enough to justify
daily railroad service. Kinney continued his improvement campaign the following year and
attempted to lower production costs and increase the mill’s efficiency. Up to 1902, steam
powered nearly the entire mining and milling operation, hence company interest in Durango coal
mines. To reduce the costs of hauling coal, Kinney installed a powerhouse at the mill and
electrified as much machinery as possible. To increase the mill’s efficiency, he installed a
number of new appliances, including a battery of vibrating tables that recovered gold from what
had been discharged as tailings. It remains unknown how much the improvements cost, but they
resulted in immediate short-term profits. In 1905 alone, the company realized $656,000. The
mining industry recognized the Gold King as one of the county’s most advanced operations.*®

Gold King Mine lent legitimacy to the Cement Creek drainage and inspired investor
confidence in other operations. As early as 1896, eastern investors organized the Red & Bonita
Mining Company to develop a group of claims north up Cement Creek from the Gold King, but
progressed slowly due to post Silver Crash depression. As the economy showed signs of
recovery in 1897, they began driving two tunnels easterly into Bonita Mountain in hopes of
striking an extension of the Sampson Vein. Confident, the directors financed a small mill at the
lower tunnel and erected a surface plant. In 1898, miners reached the vein, found that it offered
ore, and began production. Repeating the well-worn trend, however, the shallow ore was simple
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enough to be treated in the mill, but after two years of extraction gave way to complex material.
As a result, the mill ran intermittently and ultimately suspended. The mill later played an
important role in the Cement Creek drainage’s second-largest mine, the Mogul.**’

The Yukon Tunnel followed a trajectory that paralleled the Red & Bonita. The Yukon
was among the first significant operations that the revival fostered in the Cement Creek drainage,
and even though the tunnel was a financial failure, the associated mill became important to other
mining outfits. A group of eastern investors looking for opportunities learned the Uncle Sam and
Lamont mines, on the west flank of Storm Peak, featured a bold vein largely untapped. In 1897,
Roswell F. Baker, Major M.W. Emery, and E.R. Perham organized Boston & Silverton Mining
& Reduction Company, and purchased the Lamont and Uncle Sam. A.A. Lamont, former owner
of the property, became manager. To provide immediate income, the company pulled ore from
the two remote properties but planned to drive a haulage tunnel around 4,000 feet easterly from
the floor of Cement Creek, undercut the main vein, and work it upward. Baker suggested that the
tunnel would probably penetrate hidden veins on its way and could serve as a platform for
mining interests on the east side of Storm Peak. Of the project, the Silverton Standard opined:

It is destined one day to be one of the most important factors in the development of the
mineral resources of San Juan County, being so situated that by a company-operative system
the entire section lying between the Animas River and Cement Creek could be developed at
great depth. It could be made to serve the same purposes for all of the producers and
promising prospects in that great mineral belt. Already some fifteen veins have been
intersected and every one of considerable value.*®

Under Lamont, miners began driving the tunnel in 1897 but progressed slowly because
they drilled largely by hand. To expedite the project, Lamont installed a compressor the
following year so the miners could bore blast-holes with rock drills. The company directors
understood that the tunnel would require several years to complete, but nevertheless grew
impatient. They ordered a mill be built at the tunnel in 1899, which, upon completion the
following year, stood idle. The mill was a typical concentration facility with a wide variety of
appliances. Lamont finally had the opportunity to test the mill in 1901, when miners penetrated
the first of several veins. Predictably, the ore at depth was too complex for the mill, which
recovered only some of the metals during its first two years of irregular use. During the next four
years, Lamont spurred his miners toward the principal vein, encountering several other ore
bodies on the way. Lamont attempted production in 1906 and 1907, but found the mill to be
ineffective. Without the mill, he was limited to producing only medium-grade ore, and the low-
grade material, of which there was plenty, would have to wait.**°

On the South Fork of Cement Creek, several miles south of Gladstone, Thomas J. Hurley
followed a similar path with the Occidental and Natalie properties. He was convinced that the
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Occidental and Silver Ledge veins, high on the valley’s east side, offered ore at depth and
planned to develop them through several tunnels. Hurley organized the Occidental Mining
Company in 1895 but was unable to secure funding because of the depression. He drew on his
reputation and interested enough investors to begin work and acquire the adjoining Natalie group
of claims in 1897. The amount of money was insufficient to support several tunnels, an advanced
surface plant, and a mill, so Hurley organized a second company and issued more stock. In 1899,
he conveyed the Natalie group to the new Natalie Mining & Milling Company and began
building one of the most advanced operations on Cement Creek. He commissioned the Hurley
Tunnel on the Natalie property and erected a large powerhouse that enclosed a steam-driven
generator and a massive air compressor. A crew of around twenty pushed the tunnel, operated
the costly machinery, and even produced a little ore in the Occidental workings. By 1903, Hurley
reorganized the two companies into the Natalie-Occidental Mining Company to delay investors
from demanding returns. This tactic bought Hurley only one year. In 1904 investors withdrew. In
response, Hurley organized yet a third company, the Mines Securities Corporation, to complete
the project. He began producing ore in the Occidental workings in 1905 but quickly went back to
work on the Hurley Tunnel. By 1906, Hurley permanently suspended operations.®*’

The Henrietta was developed around the same time, but was truly a success. ElImer King
worked the mine on a small scale in 1897 and 1898, revealing very rich pyrite-rich silver ore.
Because the mine lay on the south flank of Red Mountain No.3, the ore was similar in character
to material from the Red Mountain district. This interested the Kendrick Promotion Company
because the firm was securing sources of ore in the Red Mountain area for a new pyretic smelter
planned for the mouth of Cement Creek. In 1899, the company drove exploration workings,
confirmed the richness of the ore body, and leased the property. The following year, the
Kendrick investors reorganized their firm as the San Juan Smelting & Refining Company, built
the Kendrick-Gelder Smelter, and bought the Henrietta.**! In contrast to most mines in the
drainage, the Henrietta was successful for several reasons. First, it was not overcapitalized, and
second, its owners already had a process in place proven to be effective on the ore. During 1901,
the company aggressively developed the property and hired fifty miners to send large volumes of
ore to the smelter. A tramway down Prospect Gulch to the floor of Cement Creek in 1903 was
the only capital-intensive facility. In 1905, the San Juan company found the smelter to be
unprofitable and sold the plant to J.B. Ross, who bought it to treat ore from his mines in the Red
Mountain district. The San Juan company, however, was unwilling to part with the Henrietta
because of its richness and continued to send the ore to the Kendrick-Gelder Smelter through
1906.

The Grand Mogul, known simply as the Mogul, was part of a wave of new ventures in
the Cement Creek drainage during 1901. F.M. Snowden and Theodore Dick located the vein in
Ross Basin in 1881, produced a little ore, and then did little more for decades. In 1901, eastern
investor Howell Hinds organized the Sioux Mining Company and purchased the property. The
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company hired C.E. Condit as manager, and he ordered miners to simultaneously extract ore
from the old upper workings and drive a deep haulage tunnel from Cement Creek to undercut the
vein, and Ross Basin, at depth. Condit sent the ore to the nearest mill, the Red & Bonita
facility. >

Within the year, the Mogul Mining & Milling Company purchased the Mogul and
continued the plan initiated by the Sioux company. The Mogul company, however, possessed
greater financial resources because it installed machinery at the Mogul Tunnel and employed a
crew of fifty. Those financial resources were judiciously meted out, as the Silverton Standard
noted in 1902: “One entire working shift of 12 men quit at the Grand Mogul mine owing to the
refusal of the company to furnish rubber goods for working in the wet drifts.” In striking, the
miners suspended operations for a considerable length of time.**®

In 1902, the Mogul Tunnel reached the vein, and miners drove several raises to connect it
with the upper workings. They still produced ore from those workings and sent the material to
both the Red & Bonita and Fisher mills. Concurrently, Condit built his own concentration
facility, heeding lessons imparted by the long history of mill failures. He extracted ore samples
from depth, where it was most likely to be complex and tested them in the two mills, as well as
others, to determine an effective treatment process. With this information, a metallurgist
designed a massive facility specific to the Mogul Vein material. In 1905, the company allocated
capital for a new mill, sited the plant on the north edge of Gladstone, and finished it the
following year. After following what seemed like a sound policy, the company was disappointed
when the costly mill was unable to recover enough of the ore’s metal content to be profitable.
The company immediately refitted the mill, met with the same result, and tried a last time in
1907. With the third failure, the directors gave the operation up as an expensive loss.***

The Big Colorado, just across the South Fork of Cement Creek from T.J. Hurley’s
Natalie, was among Cement Creek’s 1901 ventures. John May began a deep tunnel during the
early 1890s but stopped due to the post Silver Crash depression. Around 1900, C.W. Bloodgood
and partners bought the property, organized the Big Colorado Mining & Milling Company, and
resumed driving the tunnel. As at the Natalie and Yukon, Bloodgood realized that rock drills
would expedite progress, but like Edward Stoiber, did not want the added expense of a
compressed air system. Thus, he imitated Stoiber, introduced electric models, and contracted
with the Natalie company for power. In 1903, miners struck the Paul B. Vein, which excited the
investors who patiently waited for two years. The ore was not rich, but Bloodgood felt that it
could be made to pay if concentrated on-site in a mill, so he built the mill and installed a
generator for power. Like all the operations in Cement Creek to date except for the Gold King,
however, the mill failed after several trial runs and eroded confidence among the investors. The
Big Colorado went idle and was later dismantled.**
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In 1898, when the revival was just beginning, a few visionary entrepreneurs forecast that
the Cement Creek drainage would boom because of the potential that its undeveloped mines
offered. Kinney, King, and Soule were among these entrepreneurs, and they felt that the
inevitable boom and steady stream of freight to and from their Gold King would almost certainly
be able to support a short-line railroad. The first wave of mining ventures to spread through the
drainage in 1899 confirmed the forecast for growth and spurred investors into action. During the
year, they organized the Silverton, Gladstone & Northerly Railroad, immediately turning to Otto
Mears because he already ran two of the county’s three railroads. Still recovering from the mid-
1890s depression, Mears declined, and so Kinney and partners obtained backing from eastern
capitalists. With financing in place, Kinney hired construction crews, placed an order for rolling
stock, and leased an engine from the Denver & Rio Grande. Workers tied one end of the line into
the Silverton yards of Mears’ railroads, established a terminal at the Gold King Mill, and
crisscrossed Cement Creek numerous times. The railroad began service in 1900 and immediately
captured most of the freight business in the drainage. Kinney and partners were pleasantly
surprised as the railroad surpassed expectations. The railroad immediately began generating
profits, and through reduced freight rates, offered Kinney cost savings for the Gold King and
contributed to growth in the drainage.

The town of Gladstone was one of the principal beneficiaries because it was the contact
point between the railroad and the upper portion of the drainage. In 1897, the Gold King Mine
brought renewed life to the town in the form of the large workforce. The following year, J.C.
Bowman opened a mercantile and secured a post office, and the wave of mining ventures that
began in 1899 drew additional businesses. Joseph Landry opened a saloon and Fred C. Grebles
established a busy lodging service. He operated an establishment that was a combination hotel
and boardinghouse for the Gold King company, as well as two more boardinghouses for the
Mogul and Natalie company workers. Around a dozen families moved to town, and the Kibosh
newspaper began printing. Gladstone possessed an industrial ambiance, which increased over the
years. In 1902, the Gold King company built three large bunkhouses at the east end of town, a
school, and electric lighting. In 1905, the Mogul company erected its huge mill on the north edge
of town. The town became bracketed with mills, in addition to the Gold King and Mogul
facilities, Theodore Grabowski ran the Fisher Mill at the south end of town. Around 1905, the
population was at 300. However, numerous mill failures and unforeseen economic troubles
ultimately curtailed Gladstone’s prosperity.**®

In the Cement Creek drainage, the 1907 recession brought disaster and few of the well-
capitalized, promising mines survived. Financial problems and ineffective mills ruined the Big
Colorado, Mogul, Natalie, and Red & Bonita mines. The Gold King burned and went bankrupt
because of its financial ties to the collapsed Gold Prince Mine (discussed below). In particular,
the recession ruined Davis and Soule, and the collapse of their personal fortunes dragged down
the Gold King and Gold Prince. The Gold King went idle and was placed in receivership. The
court appointed D.M. Hayes as temporary manager over the Gold King; but he was ineffective at
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maintaining production in the absence of the mill. Finally, the New Gold King Consolidated
Mines Company bought the property, rebuilt the burned facilities, and tried running the
operation. Another fire forced the company to suspend, and the directors leased it to the Mears
and Slattery syndicate in 1910. They apparently employed the same progressive strategy at the
Gold King as at the lowa and their other highly successful leases, and restored the Gold King to
its former status as one of the county’s best producers.

When Hayes resumed activity at the Gold King in 1909, some life returned to Gladstone.
The town was center to a population of Gold King workers who lived in boardinghouses and did
business there. However, the Postal Service revoked the post office in 1912 because the
population was too small, although the handful of businesses continued as before.*’

The Yukon Tunnel was the only other substantial mine in the drainage to operate through
the 1907 recession. The Boston & Silverton Mining & Reduction Company continued to drive
the tunnel toward the Uncle Sam and Lamont veins during 1906 and penetrated several other ore
formations. The company began production of medium-grade ore, shipped to Silverton. The low-
grade ore was unprofitable to produce because the new mill was ineffective, but the investors
were unwilling to pay the cost of refitting the facility. Manager Lamont left the low-grade
material in the ground, pushed the tunnel, and sampled the veins, perhaps to impart an
impression of progress. By 1909, investors ceased funding and put the property up for sale. W.B.
Lowe bought it to provide ore for the Kendrick-Gelder Smelter, which he acquired from the Ross
bothers around the same time. Lowe mistakenly thought that the accessible veins could feed his
smelter. He shipped some ore but found that it resisted treatment. The ore was complex, and the
smelter failed in 1910. Lowe closed both the smelter and the Yukon in 1910.%8

Eureka Mining District

In the Eureka district, mining interests responded slowly to the great mining revival of
the late 1890s. As elsewhere in the county, the revival started with a few substantial outfits that
were already in production and grew into a major movement during the early 1900s. Well-
financed companies, wealthy investors, and a few large corporations purchased the mines known
for production and poured capital into development projects. The Sunnyside was among the
major operations already in production when the revival began, and it helped to foster confidence
in the central portion of the Eureka district. During 1898, John Terry used the $100,000 earnest
money that investors left him when they forfeited the Sunnyside to finish his grand vision. He
developed the Sunnyside Vein through several tunnels, provided the entries with surface plants,
added surrounding claims, and was completing the last of a stairstep series of three concentration
mills linked by an aerial tramway. Even though Terry was highly successful, he endured a
procession of problems such as losing the vein several times and facing bankruptcy.

Unlike other mining companies, mill failures were not among his troubles. When Terry
finally started the new Terry Mill at Eureka in 1899, it was a technical success, although a new
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set of problems prevented the facility from reaching its potential. Because the smelter strike of
1899 closed the Durango Smelter, Terry had nowhere to send the concentrates for refining, while
a dry autumn reduced the water supply. Miners lost the vein again, which interrupted the flow of
ore to the new mill. By 1901, Terry resolved these issues, refitted the mill at Lake Emma for
custom business, and electrified the mine. From this point onward, he enjoyed continuous
production and notoriety in the industry for building a model operation.

With emergencies abated, Terry directed his energy to address one of the fundamental
reasons behind thirty years of mill failures in the county. Specifically, most ore throughout the
county featured a high zinc content. The metal interfered with conventional concentration
processes, rendered otherwise profitable ore worthless, and therefore ruined sound mining
ventures. Had mining companies been able to remove the material, they would have ejected it
with the mill tailings because little demand existed for the metal. During the early 1900s,
industrial manufacturers finally began to consume zinc, however, and it became a commodity
worth exploiting. With zinc now of some value, Terry and metallurgists sought a process to
separate the metal and recover it for shipment as a special form of concentrate. In 1905, a year
behind similar efforts at the Silver Ledge Mine, he devised the most efficient method in the
county to date and received enough income from the concentrates to justify a large-scale
application. In so doing, Terry made an important step in placing zinc among the county’s
portfolio of profitable metals.*"

The Silver Queen Mine was another operation that helped to anchor the revival in the
Eureka district. The Silver Queen Mining & Milling Company developed the property during the
early 1890s and enjoyed sound production into 1896, when the post Silver Crash depression
forced the company to suspend. In 1898, manager B.D. Smith reopened the mine, and like his
colleagues, realized that the ore was too impoverished to ship to Silverton without concentration.
In 1899, he convinced the company directors to lease the Mastodon Mill and refit it with a
process specific to the Silver Queen ore. In contrast to the trend of mill failures, Smith initially
realized success with the facility and ran it through 1901. Smith lost the lease on the mill the
following year, and because investors were unwilling to finance a new facility, Smith reduced
work to minor production and development. He tied to sell the property, grew tired of waiting for
a buyer, and resumed production in 1905. Without a mill, the ore barely paid the operating costs,
but he persevered into 1909 and joined forces with John Terry, who owned the nearby Sound
Democrat. Terry offered the Sound Democrat Mill, Smith provided ore from the Silver Queen,
and the partners divided the proceeds. The underground development that Smith completed in
the preceding years paid off, because the Silver Queen was well-prepared to sustain the
partnership through 1911, when miners exhausted the last of the profitable grades of ore.*?

The Tom Moore Mine was another early participant in the revival, and while it seemed
significant at first, the property was actually the foundation for a prolonged financial scheme.
Samuel G. Martin, more promoter than experienced manager, became involved with the property
in 1897, after a previous company enjoyed very brief success several years earlier. Martin
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convinced St. Louis investors to purchase the mine and appoint him as manager. He hired a crew
that produced ore from the old upper workings through 1897. Martin reasoned that if upper
workings offered ore, the depths of the vein would be even better, and recommended driving a
haulage tunnel to undercut the vein system. The investors stalled, during which time Martin
produced small batches of ore and sent them to local mills for testing. The results indicated that
the ore was too complex to be profitable, but Martin loudly promoted the operation and pursued
the tunnel idea anyway.

In 1901, investors provided Martin with enough capital to build a surface plant and start
driving the Tom Moore Tunnel. By 1903, the tunnel was 2,000 feet long, but without profit.
Martin continued heavy promotion and created press that production was imminent. Investors
believed in tangible financial returns, and withdrew their support. Martin had siphoned off
capital, incurred significant debt, fended off lawsuits, and scrambled to find more investors. He
reorganized in 1903 as the Tom Moore Consolidated Mining Company, lost the property to
bankruptcy in 1904, reclaimed it the following year under the Pittsburg San Juan Mining
Company, and repeated this cycle annually through 1907.%%

Legalities and furious investors finally caught up with Martin. While in Denver Martin
was arrested and jailed, but not for fraud. In 1892, Martin’s wife divorced him and was awarded
spousal and child support payments. Instead of paying, Martin had her committed to an asylum.
Upon her release, she filed a complaint. Martin used mining money to pay his way out of jail, but
the story created a minor sensation in the press. Matters worsened for Martin in 1908. He had
underestimated investors who backed the Tom Moore Gold Mining Company. Dennis Ryan,
vice-president of the company, had ample experience with fraud and lawsuits. The Bassick Mine
near Rosita was among his many lucrative ventures, and he kept that property locked in litigation
with recalcitrant investors for two decades. Ryan had no patience for Martin and brought his
power to bear. He leveled a lawsuit, revealed fraud, froze Martin’s assets, and sought
restitution.??

In 1900, the revival gained momentum in the Eureka district, and both local experts and
outside investors initiated a wave of significant mining ventures around proven properties. Local
experts developed the Hamlet Mine into one of the most important operations at Middleton,
before passing the property on to outside investors. Samuel Dresback, an independent miner in
Silverton, leased the Hamlet in 1900 and generated enough ore to prove the mine. James H.
Robin examined the property and purchased it in 1901. During the year, Robin developed the
vein with several tunnels and built a mechanized surface plant. He enjoyed regular income for
three years and sold the mine to Colorado Springs investors in 1904 while the vein still offered
ore. The new owners organized the Hamlet Mining & Milling Company and commissioned the
Hamlet Mill at the mouth of Maggie Gulch. Charles Dale erected the facility in 1905, and it
proved effective from the beginning. Manager William Lloyd increased the workforce to twenty-
five, divided between producing ore in the existing workings, running the mill, and driving a
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deep haulage tunnel known as Level No.6, or the Mill Level, to undercut the vein. For the next
several years, the Hamlet remained in this highly profitable but incomplete state.

The Mountain Queen, west of the Sunnyside Extension, followed a path similar to the
Hamlet. A party of Ouray miners leased the mine for several years beginning in 1900 and
produced ore from the upper workings. Rasmus Hanson, now in semi-retirement, purchased the
property in 1904 for $25,000 and completed needed development. Now ready for production,
Hanson convinced Cripple Creek interests to buy it for $100,000 in 1905. They organized the
Mountain Queen Mining Company, invested heavily in a new surface plant, and commissioned a
lower tunnel to undercut the shaft and develop the Mountain Queen Vein system at depth. Some
local experts claimed that the vein was an extension of the Gold King’s famed ore system, which
the character of the ore suggested.®*®

During 1901, the companies involved in the revival grew in size, financial resources, and
ambition. Edmond C. Van Diest organized one of the most important, the Eureka Exploration
Company. Van Diest was a trained mining engineer and consultant, born into a mining family in
1865 in the Dutch East Indies. His father, P.H. VVan Diest, brought the family to Boulder County
in 1872 to manage the Caribou Mine before moving to Rosita in 1874, where he ran the
Pennsylvania Reduction Works. When the smelter failed after around five years, the elder Van
Diest accepted the position of chief of the land department for the surveyor general's office in
Denver. The younger Van Diest studied engineering and metallurgy at the Colorado School of
Mines, graduated in 1886, and entered the industry as manager of the mining business of the
Trinchera and Costilla estates in Costilla County. He also accepted consulting jobs in southern
Colorado and New Mexico, settling in Denver by the late 1890s. When the revival began in the
Eureka district, Van Diest organized the Eureka Exploration Company as an umbrella
organization to speculate with both proven and new properties.

Van Diest had the opportunity to buy three particularly promising mines for which he
secured backing from railroad operators in the east. In 1900, he purchased the Ridgeway Mine in
Maggie Gulch, on the eastern side of Galena Mountain opposite from the Green Mountain and
Pride of the West mines. The following year, he purchased the Silver Wing and adjacent
Fredericka at auction. The Ridgeway was a sound acquisition because like the Hamlet, it lay on a
bold vein not yet developed. The Silver Wing had a record of production and was fully equipped
with a mill that, with refitting, could treat ore from the two mines.***

Immediately after the purchase, Van Diest put twenty-five miners to work producing ore
in the Ridgeway and Silver Wing and rehabilitating the mill. The facility provided the company
with some income during the year, but because it was inefficient, Van Diest installed new
concentration machinery. The ore in the Silver Wing resisted concentration, and so Van Diest
focused on the easily treated payrock in the Ridgeway and Fredericka. When this was exhausted,
Van Diest refitted the mill again in 1905 in an attempt to succeed with the complex ore that
remained in all three properties. His third try failed, but the Ross Mining & Milling Company
provided the solution. The company actively sought mines with ore compatible with the process
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it employed at the Kendrick-Gelder Smelter. Much to the relief of Van Diest, the Ross company
leased the Silver Wing in 1907, it at last generated income.

Despite completion of the Terry Mill and activity in the northern half of the district, the
town of Eureka remained small in the first decade of the twentieth century, despite the energy of
the revival. The town was fairly static with population of around one hundred residents and the
handful of businesses that survived the mid-1890s depression. Most workers lived either at the
mines or in Silverton. Alexander Anderson, manager of the Silverton Northern Railroad, in 1902
instituted regular commuter service between Eureka and Silverton. Not until 1910, however,
after the mining revival tapered, did Eureka see measurable growth. The population doubled and
two boardinghouses provided for workers. Guests stayed in the Eureka Hotel, liveries kept
horses, entrepreneurs opened two saloons, and existing mercantiles did a sound business.
Increased activity at the Sunnyside, regular rail service, and the decline of Animas Forks all
increased Eureka’s local importance.

Prominent mines in Cunningham Gulch drew attention to the southern portion of the
Eureka district during the revival. New ventures funneled capital into the Pride of the West,
Green Mountain, Old Hundred, and Buffalo Boy. The Pride of the West was the first in a
sequence. After developing the property and working it for twenty years, Christian Schoellkopf
was ready to sell. In 1897, Joseph Gibbons, Charles W. Denison, and A.B. Sullivan organized
the Joe Gibbons Mining & Milling Company and bought the Pride for $65,000. They understood
that the ore required concentration to make it profitable to ship and also bought the old King
Solomon Mill at Howardsville. In 1898, the company pursued a costly improvement campaign in
which workers erected a new surface plant, tramway and terminal on the floor of Cunningham
Gulch, and new appliances in the mill. During 1899, a crew of around thirty-five produced a
respectable fifty tons of ore per day and sent the material by wagon to the Howardsville mill. As
at the Silver Wing, the mill was not as successful as expected, which limited the company to the
highest grades of ore.**®

In 1903, a squabble between the three principals turned into full-blown litigation, which
caused work on the Pride to stall. Eben Smith, David Moffat, and their Denver syndicate took an
interest and could purchase the mine outright, if they liked what they saw. The potential sale
enticed the principals to cooperate again. Denison and Gibbons invested in additional
underground development to highlight the vein, installed new surface machinery, and developed
plans for a new mill at the lower tramway terminal. When Smith examined the property later in
the year, he was impressed, but not enough to buy it. The principals regressed into litigation
through 1907, when Gibbons bought out his partners. Gibbons then promptly reopened the mine
and resumed production.

In 1904, John Slattery reopened the Buffalo Boy after years of inactivity. Slattery would
later draw on his experience there when joining Otto Mears and associates in a lucrative lease at
the lowa Mine. Meanwhile, Howard Hines and investors from Ohio bought the Old Hundred.
Hines and partners organized the Old Hundred Mining Company with the intent of developing
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the property into a complete mining and milling operation. Manager Robert Davis hired a crew
of fifty to develop the workings, install machinery, erect a tramway to link tunnels, and build a
power plant and tram terminal on the valley floor. In 1905, the company financed a mill at the
terminal and had it running the following year. Miners began driving a haulage tunnel to
undercut the vein system in 1907. The company assumed that the tunnel would open vast ore
reserves, but in the interim the directors were content with the substantial amount of ore from the
upper workings. As with the majority of the mines in Cunningham Gulch, the ore proved
difficult to treat, the usual harbinger of difficulty.?®

One of the most infamous ventures in the Eureka district was the Gold Prince Mine.
Originally known as the Sunnyside Extension, the Sunnyside Extension Mining & Milling
Company bought the Gold Prince from Rasmus Hanson in 1892. Hanson reaped the best ore
during his tenure, and the Sunnyside Extension company struggled with the complex, low-grade
material that remained. In 1897, the outfit went bankrupt, company official F.W. Popple was
appointed receiver, and he attempted to repay the debts through income realized from ore
production. In 1900, Popple sold the property to the Smuggler-Union Mining Company, whose
principals also purchased the North Star. Smuggler-Union tinkered with the mine for several
years, decided it was not worth further effort, and planned to sell.**” Willis Kinney examined the
operation, and thought that if it could be worked in a manner similar to his Gold King, the
Sunnyside Extension would be at least as profitable. Flush with profits from the Gold King and
Silverton, Gladstone & Northerly Railroad, Kinney, Davis, and Soule purchased the property in
1903 under the Gold Prince Mines Company. Kinney began planning facilities larger than those
at the Gold King and made initial preparations for a substantial mill at Animas Forks, a two-
segment tramway to the mill, and other new facilities. In anticipation of hauling construction
materials and carrying out a stream of concentrates, the Silverton Northern Railroad finished a
line from Eureka to Animas Forks in 1904, as had been proposed years before. The only viable
route was up the Animas River, and the grade proved to be one of the most difficult in Mears’
railroad system. It was so steep that an engine could haul only two full or three empty cars up at
a time, and they were pushed to prevent breakaways.

In 1905, Kinney contracted for the mill and tramway. Meanwhile, the miners blocked six
million tons of low-grade material, enough to supply the mill for fifty years. As the mill took
form, and a number of innovations drew accolades from the greater mining industry. At a cost of
$500,000, the mill was steel frame with reinforced concrete floors and foundations, forced-air
heat, and electric power wired from the Animas Power & Water Company. The use of steel and
concrete with individual motors to run specific appliances were departures from conventional
mill design. The mill was capable of treating 500 tons of ore per day, and some experts claimed
that the facility was the largest comparable in the state. Stoiber’s Silver Lake Mill may have had
a higher capacity but was smaller in size.*®
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The tramway was an equally complex engineered Bleichert system. The route was not
direct due to the obstacle of Treasure Mountain, so the tramway featured an angle station similar
to the Silver Lake system. However, the Gold Prince tramway was further divided into three
sections, which isolated potential damage from avalanche or fire. The tramway descended down
Placer Gulch to a tension station; continued to an angle station on the northwest flank of
Treasure Mountain and from there reached the mill at Animas Forks. The angle station and upper
terminal featured concrete bases, steel frames, steam heat, and electric power.?* At the end of
1906, the modern operation was complete. Miners began sending ore down the tramway to the
mill, which processed the material and operated at around one-third capacity through most of
1907. The operation was a success, so Kinney and the local press claimed.

The Mineral Point Tunnel, a short distance west of Animas Forks, came to life in 1903
after remaining idle for nearly twenty years. N.R. Bagley, with support from the Rockefellers,
revived the idea of driving the tunnel to undercut the Vermillion and Red Cloud veins. He
organized the Frisco Mines & Tunnel Company, renamed the tunnel the Frisco-Bagley, and
began work. Meanwhile, the company planned a mill and tested ore samples from the Red Cloud
Vein to determine an effective treatment process. The investors patiently waited as Bagley
slowly made progress through 1907. The following year, the tunnel struck the vein, where the
ore proved to be uneconomical at depth. The operation stalled.**

The poor economic climate of the 1907 recession largely ceased development and
production in the Eureka district. While some properties remained intermittently profitable, none
were free of problems, and many failed within the next decade. For instance, the Gold Prince
was nothing less than a monumental disaster, which deeply affected the mood in the entire
county. At the end of 1907, low metals prices forced the company to stop the titanic mill.
Without the mill, the company was unable to generate the income necessary to meet its debt
obligations. At the same time, Davis and Soule, who provided most of the financing for the Gold
King and Gold Prince, faced their own crises when the recession ruined other investments they
held. These conditions precipitated a domino effect that brought down first the Gold Prince and
then the Gold King. Davis, Soule, and the Gold Prince company all were overextended, and
creditors clamored for payments on their loans. To help fund the Gold Prince, the partners
diverted most of the Gold King’s available resources, leaving that mine unable to meet its own
debt obligations, as well. Angry creditors threatened to foreclose on both mines, and Davis and
Soule negotiated a year to reconfigure their finances. A fire subsequently consumed the Gold
King plant in 1908. By the end of the year, it was obvious that Davis and Soule could not
extricate themselves and were bankrupted. The Gold King and Gold Prince were placed in
receivership.

J.0. Campbell assumed Gold Prince receiver in 1909 and prepared to resume where the
company left off. Campbell was qualified by his extensive experience with ASARCo, but even
he was unable to mitigate the ensuing series of problems. Campbell hired Paul Hanson to restart
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the mill, based on his experience with the Gold King. When Campbell and Hanson brought the
mill into action, they discovered that the process lost a considerable percentage of the ore’s metal
content, despite its careful engineering. The Sunnyside Extension Mill was a testing plant to
hone treatment methods known to be effective on Sunnyside Extension ore. Hanson refitted the
Gold Prince Mill at great cost, tried again, produced a considerable amount of concentrates, but
was still unsatisfied with the efficiency. Meanwhile, the Silverton Northern Railroad tracks
washed out, stranding Animas Forks and preventing Campbell from shipping his concentrates. In
1910, Hanson ran the mill one last time with discouraging results, and shut it down. The court
tried to find a buyer for the operation, but was unsuccessful.®*

The Hamlet Mine was among the Eureka district’s successes and remained highly
productive through the 1907 recession. Unlike most other mining and milling combined
operations, the Hamlet Mill generated concentrates as intended. In 1910, miners also drove the
Level No. 6 Tunnel into the depths of the vein and found the high-grade ore. Just as the company
prepared to develop the lower portion of the vein, William Lloyd, manager and driving force
behind the entire operation, suddenly died. Activity stalled, while investors sought a capable
replacement.®** The Mountain Queen was another operation that remained profitable through the
1907 recession. The Cripple Creek owners completed significant improvements and sold to the
Guggenheims in 1907. The Guggenheims installed new machinery and enjoyed ample
production. Later that year, an avalanche wrecked the surface plant. The company rebuilt at great
cost and kept the mine in production through 1910.

The Eureka district side of Cunningham Gulch was still a center of activity following the
1907 recession, but the mines were far from seamlessly productive. Once Joseph Gibbons
assumed control over Pride of the West in 1907, he enjoyed sound production for several years
and then leased the entire operation out. In 1910, I.C. Rosenfelt of Chicago, John Benson, and
M. Pearson leased both the Pride and Green Mountain with the idea of working them together.
Miners would produce ore from both and treat the material in the Green Mountain Mill.
However, the new operators did not adequately consider that the high zinc content confounded
milling. During the year, they had the properties in production and even went so far as to install a
new compressor at the mill. As in the past, the mill did not recover enough of the metals, though,
and the operation collapsed in 1912.

The Old Hundred Mining Company was already teetering when the recession pushed it
over the edge. Howell Hines overextended the company in 1905 by gambling on the assumption
that a tramway, mill, and power plant would facilitate production in economies of scale.
Complex ore, faulted veins easily lost, and mill troubles prevented Hines from realizing the
necessary income, and he defaulted on debts. An Ohio bank assumed control in 1908, and Hines
personally visited Silverton to assess the situation, found additional financing, and tried a last
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time in 1909 to salvage the operation. For two years, it generated significant amounts of ore,
milled at an unknown location. At the end of 1910, Hines closed the mine as unprofitable.*?

Mineral Point and Poughkeepsie Mining Districts

The mining revival of the late 1890s had only minor impacts on the Mineral Point and
Poughkeepsie districts, due to the ventures of prospectors, rather than capitalists or large mining
companies. The Ben Butler and San Juan Chief were the two principal operations in the Mineral
Point district when the revival began. James L. Hill, New York investor, backed the Ben Butler
Mining Company, which reopened the mine in 1898 and began production. Hill installed a new
hoisting system the following year to work the vein at depth but then lost interest. In 1900, he
sold to L.B. Jackson, who had purchased the San Juan Chief several years prior. Edward Brown
maintained his lease on the San Juan Chief through the ownership change and produced small
amounts of ore from the mine’s shallow workings.*** After purchasing the Ben Butler, Jackson
planned to link the two properties with a haulage tunnel driven from the San Juan Chief. The
project was risky as the tunnel would have to be around one mile long and hence extremely
costly. Meanwhile, Jackson developed the Ben Butler and treated the ore in the San Juan Chief
Mill. Neither of the properties was well-developed due to the inexperience of the past owners.
The Ben Butler ore proved impractical to treat, and Jackson’s operation collapsed in 1901.

The Mineral Point district otherwise had few mines of significance. The Bonanza King,
Early Bird, Lion Tunnel, London, and Polar Star produced small tonnages between 1900 and
1903, but none were consistent. As a result, the mercantile in Mineral Point closed and M.M.
Trickey moved his assay shop. The Poughkeepsie district was equally quiet. In 1899, Standard
Oil reopened the Maid of the Mist and conducted development for a short time. In 1900, an
unidentified interest tried working the Alaska, but it was sold the following year for back taxes
owed by Horace Tabor. These two operations and a number of prospects provided just enough
business to support the Poughkeepsie camp at the mouth of Poughkeepsie Gulch. During the late
1890s, it featured a mercantile, combination restaurant-saloon, several cabins, and mail. By the
early 1900s, the camp disappeared.®®

Mineral Creek Mining District

The Mineral Creek district was among the earliest areas in the county to boom with
massive capital investment, mine development, and heavy production. All, however, met with
the problems typical of operating in the San Juans. The Silver Ledge Mine, above the mostly
vacant town of Chattanooga in the district’s northern portion, was the first to draw investors of
note. In 1897, a group of Denver elite including John L. Routt, Robert W. Speer, and Charles
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Hartzell bought the mine. Despite this, they organized the Silver Ledge Mining Company and
contracted for a mill. A mill for an unproven property was predictably unwise. During the year,
miners found plenty of ore, struck a gold vein, and began production. Workers completed the
mill at the mine. By year’s end, the Silver Ledge was in full production, and through 1898,
miners ran the ore through the mill. But, at year’s end, the company announced suspension for
the winter, despite Silverton Railroad’s all-season service. The company had overspent, while
the mill was unable to recover adequate metal content. Debt forced the company into bankruptcy,
and the creditors sued.

In 1899, the directors reorganized to reconfigure the debt and lease the property out. The
strategy would provide regular income to repay creditors. The company appointed J.B. Warner
as manager, who installed new surface facilities to make the mine attractive. Under the Elmira
Mining & Milling Company’s first lease, Warner oversaw a crew of ten who generated as many
tons of ore per day. The operation proved successful enough to justify expansion, and the
following year Warner hired more workers to run the mill. Although inefficient, the facility
allowed Elmira to increase its production income. Warner convinced investors in the east to
provide capital for more improvements and new mill appliances. A 1901 fire burned the entire
surface plant, including the shaft house and mill, freeing Warner to erect a new mill. He replaced
the mine plant, sited the new mill at Chattanooga, and had it running by the end of 1902. The
Elmira company nevertheless suffered the same fate as its predecessor. Warner incurred more
debt than he could repay, and the Bank of Silverton seized the property. Warner, however, came
to an agreement to produce as much as possible and use the proceeds to repay the creditors. The
effort lasted only through 1903, as the new mill proved only slightly better than the old, and
Warner lost his position.**

The San Juan Mining & Leasing Company was the next outfit to lease the Silver Ledge,
where it pioneered a significant trend in the regional industry. The company metallurgist
recognized new demand for zinc and how to recover it with new concentration apparatuses. He
innovated an electric separator that relied on a magnetic field to force zinc and iron particles
from pulverized ore. The company refitted the mill in 1904 to both recover the zinc and
condition the ore so that the rest of the metals could be captured. Although the separators were
not perfect, they yielded the county’s first meaningful production of zinc and reconsideration of
the ore. At the Silver Ledge Mill, this translated into around thirty tons of concentrates per
day.**” For unknown reasons, the San Juan company did not continue its operation into 1905.
Instead, D.E. Carmichael and Jesse Kramer assumed the lease and maintained heavy production
with zinc separators. In the fall, litigation over unpaid debts restricted Carmichael and Kramer
from extracting ore out of the workings. The partners retained only enough workers to recover
low-grade material from the waste rock dump and treat it in the mill. After a year, the outfit
exhausted the profitable material and moved on.
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The qualified success of the zinc process followed by closure of the mine to litigation had
the effect of creating and then destroying a community almost overnight. Although Chattanooga
had never fully recovered from the late 1880s recession, it was not completely abandoned, either.
The small collection of buildings continued to serve as both a stop on the Silverton Railroad and
southern gateway into the Red Mountain district, and a few prospectors and miners occupied
cabins at times. Construction of the Silver Ledge Mill restored activity and population to the
defunct settlement, and by 1904 a post office opened under the name of Silver Ledge.
Excitement over the experimental zinc process drew attention to the hamlet. The Silver Ledge
Mine cg%sure, however, reversed two years of growth, and when the workers left, the post office
closed.

Sultan Mountain, with its row of well-developed mines, was another natural magnet for
capital and large engineering projects during the mining revival. The trend began with the
Victoria Mine, idle like the North Star property. In 1898, Victoria company manager Thomas
Kane organized the Little Dora Gold & Silver Mining Company to lease the Little Dora
workings. In 1899, Kane organized the Empire Consolidated Mining & Milling Company,
secured financing, and purchased the Empire Tunnel and Victoria Mill. The Empire Tunnel,
drove into the base of Sultan Mountain, tapped the Little Dora Vein, and with more work, could
reach the parallel Hercules Vein as well. At the same time, Kane established the Hercules
Consolidated Mining Company and purchased the Ajax and Boston tunnels and a second mill.
He refitted the Victoria Mill, instituted production in the Empire Tunnel, and did very well. The
Hercules company moved slower because it required more development than the Empire. In
1900, Kane refitted the mill, renamed one of the main tunnels the Hercules, and pushed it beyond
the Little Dora to other parallel veins. Later in the year, Kane had the Hercules mining and
milling combination in full production.®*°

To improve the economies of scale, Kane brought everything together under the Hercules
Consolidating Mining Company in 1901. He maintained production from the Empire and
Hercules tunnels, closed the Hercules Mill, designated the Victoria Mill as the Little Dora, and
improved the plant in 1902. The company may have been the single largest employer in
Silverton and retained a workforce of around fifty-five, producing 75 tons of ore per day. The
figure was among the highest in the county at the time. The operation was not trouble-free,
however, and complex ore forced Kane to install new milling machinery in 1905, junk the plant,
and erect a completely new mill. Heavy production continued for several more years.>*

A short distance to the south of the Hercules, wealthy investors included the King group
of claims in an unusual mining and power scheme. In 1900, G.A. Brouillet of Boston organized
the Sultan Mining, Smelting & Power Company, bought the King group, and announced plans to
build a power plant on Animas River at Rockwood to provide the Sultan Mountain area with
electricity. The relationship between the King group and the proposed power plant is uncertain,
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but Brouillet probably entertained the idea of a generator-consumer relationship similar to
Stoiber’s Silver Lake. The King group was supposed to be the principal electric consumer with
the surplus power sold to other mines. The company made little progress, however, beyond
starting a haulage tunnel and building a flume to the operation. In 1901, Edward M. Brown
leased the group but did little better with it than he did at the San Juan Chief. The following year,
the Royal Mining Company signed a lease, installed machinery, completed the tunnel to the King
Vein, and began production.

The North Star Mine was the last major property on Sultan Mountain to benefit from the
revival. The operation stalled in 1896 because the Silverton Mining Company directors were
unwilling to reinvest into a mill that kept failing. In 1901, they sold the operation, with its 10,000
feet of workings on several veins, ineffective mill, and multiple tunnels, including the Sultan.
John C. O’Neill, Chicago capitalist who already possessed interests elsewhere in the west,
researched mines in the San Juans for potential investment. He reviewed the North Star and
bought the company. During the summer, he hired a crew of fifty to rehabilitate the property and
secured Robert McCartney, who helped Stoiber design the Silver Lake Mill, as manager.
O’Neill’s experts claimed that the North Star Vein probably held value at depth and advised
sinki?g a shaft on the formation from within the mine. O’Neill commissioned the shaft that
year.

Preparing the operation for production consumed more than a year. McCartney rebuilt the
mill, installed a power plant, continued rehabilitation, and oversaw the exploratory shaft. By the
end of 1903, McCartney reported that the mine and mill were ready to produce, but died early in
1904 while at the Silver Lake Mill. McCartney’s replacement had mixed reports. The mine and
mill were in full production, but the shaft confirmed that the North Star Vein was too
impoverished at depth to justify further attention. The manager assured O’Neill that the upper
workings still offered plenty of ore, and began driving the Sultan and North Star tunnels farther
to intersect the Belcher Vein. The company then repeated the pattern that stymied profitability in
the past. The mill began losing some of the metals because the ore changed character, the
company focused on the highest grades and delayed refitting the mill, and when the rich ore was
exhausted in 1908, the company suspended.®*?

The 1907 recession impacted the Mineral Creek district in a manner similar to the
county’s other centers of mining. Most small operations ceased, while large mines survived for a
few years before succumbing to the poor economic climate and exhaustion of ore. The Silver
Ledge Mine was idle during the recession, because still locked in litigation. The owners came to
terms in 1909 and offered a lease to the Ross brothers, who no longer operated the Kendrick-
Gelder Smelter but retained their collection of zinc mines. They organized the Ledge
Consolidated Mining Company, unwatered the shaft, and struck rich zinc ore. Through 1912, the
mine enjoyed peak production. The Silverton Standard regularly reported accounts such as: “At
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the Silver Ledge overflowing bins are reported and more ore in the mine everywhere.”** Willis
Kinney, no longer at the Gold King, assumed the position of manager in 1911.

After production declined abruptly in 1913, Joseph Warner and William Feigel leased the
mill alone in an attempt to run it as a custom plant equipped for zinc. The press stated: “The
Warner Mill, formerly known as the Silver Ledge, appears in the list as the first recipient of
custom ores in the camp for many years and will henceforth be an active factor in the industrial
activity of the county.”®** The venture was sound in theory, but the complexity of ore in the
western portion of the county caused it to fail after a year.

The Hercules Consolidated Mining & Milling Company easily weathered the 1907
recession and remained Silverton’s flagship operation. Under Thomas Kane, the mining and
milling combination produced heavily through 1910, despite complex ore and several
adjustments to the mill. The Empire Tunnel developed the lower workings, and the Hercules
(Boston) Tunnel was the principal point of access for the upper workings. The operation attained
the status of largest county producer during 1910 before beginning a gradual decline. Around
1912, after nearly fifteen years of a constant yield, miners exhausted the profitable grades of ore.
In 1913, Kane suspended operations, and the following year the property was auctioned to repay
creditors.®*

The Silverton Mining Company tried one last time to remodel the North Star Mill when
the economy began to recover after the recession. In 1909, the company hired Paul Hanson from
the Gold Prince Mill, to install a zinc recovery process. Toward the end of the year, he had the
mill in operation, and the company optimistically prepared several ore bodies in the upper
workings. The mill functioned well enough to sustain production through 1910 and then stopped.
Supposedly, the company planned to install new motors, but when the mine failed to reopen, it
became obvious that the same old troubles reappeared. The North Star remained quiet through
foreclosure hearings in 1913.

Ice Lake Mining District

The Ice Lake district and its principal mine, the Bandora, followed inverse trends during
the mining revival. The Bandora Mining & Milling Company played a key role in preparing the
district for the revival by investing in development, building a mill, and grading a road. Even
though development focused on the Bandora, it inspired confidence. The road also opened the
area to other companies as early as 1897. The Golden Horn Consolidated Mining Company,
backed by London investors, bought the Golden Horn property in 1897 and refitted a mill there.
A group of Ouray miners leased the Lady Ellen and brought it into production. While these and
other small mines opened during the late 1890s, activity at the Bandora wound down. The
partnership of Patterson & Johnson signed a lease in 1897, produced well, but ran out of
profitable ore the next year. The partnership did not renew the lease, and the Bandora company

343 Silverton Standard (5/13/11): 1.
344 Silverton Standard (8/9/13): 1.
345 Mineral Resources, 1910: 432; "Mining News,” EMJ (13/21/14): 637; Silverton Standard (3/12/10): 1.
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conducted some development to restore the mine to a ready state. An unknown entity leased the
mine again for a short time before the property went quiet for the rest of the revival.

The 1907 recession snuffed out most district activity except for the Bandora. The Ross
Mining & Milling Company leased the mine in 1907 because its ore was suitable material for the
Kendrick-Gelder Smelter, which the firm had purchased in 1905. The Ross company assembled
a collection of mines, including the Bandora, either through acquisition or lease to provide a
continuous flow of ore to the smelter. When the company sold the plant in 1908, it no longer
needed the ore and relinquished the lease. Around this time, William Sullivan bought the mine
back, developed another section of the vein, and resumed production. He was rewarded in 1911
with a rich strike, which sustained limited production for several years. When the ore was gone,
Sullivan suspended the last major operation in the Ice Lake district.3*

The World War | Revival, 1915 — 1921

The revival of the late 1890s and first half of the 1900s created an energy and atmosphere
that San Juan County would never see again. Capital and mechanization lowered operating costs,
allowing companies to extract higher tonnages of ore from greater depths and thoroughly explore
the principal vein systems for more payrock. The improved milling technology also rendered
previously uneconomical grades of ore profitable to process. The 1907 recession culled those
mining operations based on speculation, poor science, faulty economic equations, and inadequate
ore reserves. And yet, enough companies were able to weather the recession to maintain
substantial production through 1910. That year the mining industry entered another watershed
period. Most mines ran out of medium-grade ore and faced an end to the profitable low-grade
material, which resulted in an overall decline of the industry. During the early 1910s, a handful
of large mines carried the county, and the future of the industry did not appear bright. Despite
this, the county improvements in concentration processes rendered zinc a metal worth
recovering. Zinc was now in demand and smelters such as Pueblo and Salida competed for ore
and concentrates. To encourage zinc production, in 1910, the Denver & Rio Grande Railroad
offered rate reductions for ore shipped to smelters at Pueblo and Salida, and on concentrates to
Canyon City. These conditions fostered a strong interest in the county’s zinc resources, and some
mines like the Silver Ledge came to rely on its production. In 1911, the American Zinc Ore
Separating Company installed a trial recovery process in the Sunnyside Mill at Eureka. At the
Sunnyside, American Zinc installed the first Huff Electrostatic machines in Colorado, which
immediately proved successful. The Sunnyside company enlarged the plant for commercial use
in response. It remains uncertain whether other companies in the county adopted the technology
or if the Sunnyside Mill started accepting custom ores from other mines. In either case, the
county’s zinc production ascended in the early 1910s.3’

346 "Mining News," EMJ (7/8/11): 85; Silverton Standard (2/23/07): 1; Silverton Standard (7/1/11): 1.
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A few other major mines were scattered throughout the county, and they produced
whatever type of ore they possessed. The Gold King, leased in 1910 by the Mears and Slattery
syndicate, ranked second in terms of output. The lowa, also syndicate-owned, was the county’s
third largest producer. The Eureka district saw a number of transitory ventures in the early
1910s. W.J. Rattle organized the Vermillion Mining Company in 1905 to work the Red Cloud
Vein between Animas Forks and Mineral Point. He developed the vein through the Bonanza and
Rattle tunnels, and built a mill in 1909. The company enjoyed production through 1911, when
the directors sued each other over debt. When the Frisco Mines & Tunnel Company intersected
the Red Cloud Vein in the Frisco-Bagley Tunnel, manager Charles Gagner reported the ore was
unprofitable at depth. In 1910, Gagner dispatched a party of prospectors to examine the vein
through the old Red Cloud workings near Mineral Point and confirm that the vein’s upper
reaches held value. They affirmed this, and in response, Gagner had miners drive a raise upward
on the vein from within the Frisco-Bagley Tunnel. When miners found plenty of ore, Gagner
commissioned the Frisco Mill in 1912 to treat the material. The mill did fine with ore from the
upper zone but was unable to process the material from depth. When the upper zone was
exhausted, the company struggled and suspended in 1914. When active, the Vermillion, Frisco-
Bagley, and other small mines were the economic foundation for Animas Forks in the wake of
the Gold Prince failure. The handful of mines, however, was insufficient to sustain the
community, which hung on in a marginal state until 1913, when the business district burned.
Instead of rebuilding, most people left, and, without a population of note, the post office closed
in 1915. Animas Forks embodied the county’s mining decline.

The southern portion of the Eureka district was a hotspot of activity during the early
1910s. The Hamlet Mining & Milling Company sought a new manager after William Lloyd died
in 1910 and hired the highly experienced Etienne A. Ritter. Ritter decided to develop the mine
for long-term production and convinced the investors to fund extensive work underground. The
campaign took two years and was highly successful. The Intersection Mine, at the head of
Minnie Gulch, proved to be a bonanza. In 1910, the Intersection Development Company
discovered an untapped gold vein. The company installed a simple hoisting system and small
mill, and enjoyed regular production for the next seven years. By limiting debt and the scale of
the operation, the investors maximized their profits. Samuel Martin resurfaced after his stint in
jail and moved on from the troubled Tom Moore operation to manipulating the Kittimac Mines
Company to support his lavish lifestyle. The company developed what was originally known as
the Minnie Gulch group. As he did with the Tom Moore, Martin promoted the Kittimac and its
high potential for ore but made little progress in actual production. The Hamlet, Intersection, and
Kittimac all contributed to the prosperity of Middleton and Eureka.>*®

The Buffalo Boy, west of the Intersection, showed great promise because it had not yet
been systematically developed. In 1909, Joseph Bordeleau organized the Continental Mining
Company to lease the property. Over the next three years, miners would encounter rich gold ore
in the vein, lose the trace, develop the ore formation further, reestablish contact, and repeat the

38 Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Intersection; Silverton Standard (5/13/05): 6; Silverton Standard (1/1/10): 1; Silverton Standard (5/3/13):
1; Silverton Standard (9/27/13): 1.
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cycle. Overall, the operation was moderately successful until a lawsuit among the owners froze
the operation.>*

Political unrest in Europe set the stage for another mining revival. When World War |
began in 1914, manufacturing industries first in Europe and then in the United States mobilized
to meet heavy wartime demand, and as the war progressed and devastated Europe’s economy,
governments sought monetary stability in silver. To the delight of the greater mining industry,
the value of industrial metals and silver slowly rose again and then shot upward as the war
dragged on. Silver ascended from an abysmal $.54 per ounce to $.73 and continued upward to
$.84 in 1916, a price not seen since the Silver Crash of 1893. Lead and zinc almost doubled.
Around 1910, zinc was valued at $.05 per pound and leaped to $.08 by 1917, while lead doubled
from $.04 to $.08 per pound. Ores that were moderately remunerative by 1910 standards became
almost the stuff of bonanza, and abundant low-grade ores were at last profitable.>*®

World War | ushered in a surge of activity across Colorado and restored a sense of
optimism, purpose, and prosperity to San Juan County. Conditions were now different, however,
when virgin ground still offered untapped resources. By World War I, the era of high-grade
discoveries, overnight millionaires, and investment schemes was replaced by new generations of
speculators, investors, and laborers reexamining areas that already witnessed decades of mining.
Hard work, experience, training, capital, and some intuition were all necessary to find untapped
deposits of profitable ore. The successful operators applied science, economics, and careful
scrutiny to identify mines that still offered potential, and most of these were the properties with
proven records of production.

One man who possessed the above qualities was Mears and Slattery syndicate member
Louis O. Bastian, who introduced a technological development that revolutionized the definition
of profitable ore. In 1914, Bastian installed the county’s first flotation machines in the
syndicate’s Gold King Mill. Specific to complex ore, flotation was a new treatment process that
exploited the behaviors of weight and gravity in separating metalliferous material from waste.
Flotation relied on oil or detergent to float metalliferous material away from finely pulverized
ore in rectangular cells or tanks. Mechanical sweeps or paddles shoved the metal-rich froth out of
the cells and into troughs that carried the material onward to other processes. The Atlas Mill in
the Sneffels district saw one of the first trials of flotation in the San Juans in 1914, and
progressive Bastian brought it to San Juan County shortly after.®*

Bastian concluded that flotation resolved the ore problems that had defied mill men for
decades. Mining companies scrambled to find the capital for flotation in their mills, and 1915
saw a wave of installations. Bastian refitted the North Star and lowa mills for the syndicate.
James O’Kelly did likewise at the Hamlet Mill. The American Oil Flotation Company planned a
massive plant at the Silver Lake Mill, and flotation expert James H. Hyde installed the process at

349 silverton Standard (1/2/09): 1; Silverton Standard (12/27/13): 1.
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%1 colorado Mine Inspectors’ Reports: Gold King; Henderson, 1926: 50; Mineral Resources, 1914: 299.



NPS Form 10-900-b OMB No.10twenty-four-0018

United States Department of the Interior Historic Mining Resources
National Park Service of San Juan County, Colorado

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet
Section number _E_ Page _129

the Sunnyside. Widespread utilization increased through 1916, with Bastian busy at the Highland
Mary and Contention mills, and flotation installed in the Green Mountain and Kittimac plants.
Because the process was new, its application was not yet universally successful. Bastian clearly
understood the process and his projects functioned correctly, but most of the others experienced
initial problems.®? By 1917, flotation began to deliver on its promise of improved ore
concentration. Not only did flotation separate the metal constituents from previously untreatable
ore, but also it rendered even lower grades of payrock profitable to produce. The result was that
mining companies revisited previously ignored veins, reopened old workings, and recovered
huge volumes of low-grade material cast off as waste.

World War 1 lasted longer than anticipated, prolonging inadvertent stimulus of the
mining industry. The prices and demand for industrial metals remained high, specifically interest
in silver because of its political and economic value abroad. As silver approached $.98 per ounce
in early 1918, Congress fixed the price and levied foreign interest to support a subsidy for silver
mining and increase profits. In April, the federal government approved the Pittman Act, which
fixed the value of trade silver at $1.00 per ounce internationally.*?

Silver mining interests in the county reveled in a price not seen since the Sherman Silver
Purchase Act of 1890. In contrast to market trends following previous silver subsidies, the value
of the metal continued to climb instead of erode. The affect on mining came with caveats,
however, that presented challenges to profitability. Because of the war, inflation for mining
supplies, equipment, transportation, and smelting fees was equally keen. Skilled labor was
increasingly difficult to find as fewer young men replaced older miners leaving the workforce.
To complicate matters, the ore that the workers did discover continued to decline in quality,
which forced mining companies to generate higher tonnages.***

Two other trends conspired against the profitability promised by the Pittman Act. The
first interfered with the transportation of ore, concentrates, and supplies. Specifically, the federal
Railroad Administration assumed control of all railroads as a wartime mobilization asset for two
years. The administration proved inefficient at managing freight traffic, which reduced service,
delayed the movement of materials, and increased freight rates by 25 percent. Congress
authorized payment to railroad companies for maintenance and operating costs, but the values
were usually underrepresented, leaving some railroad companies in such poor financial condition
that they closed.*®

In October 1918, a Spanish influenza pandemic struck the nation with force. The flu
spread quickly through Silverton and some of the boardinghouses at the large mines. Hundreds
of individuals fell ill, and doctors and volunteer nursing committees quarantined and attended to
them. Most of those who were ill languished for weeks before recovering, but a significant
number died, which instilled fear throughout the county. The environment and working

%2 colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Sunnyside; "Mining News,” EMJ (5/15/15): 879; "Mining News," EMJ (9/4/15): 412; "Mining News,"
EMJ (11/4/16): 845; Silverton Standard (4/17/15): 1; Silverton Standard (12/25/15): 1; Silverton Standard (7/22/16): 1.

353 wEvents and Economics of the War," EMJ (5/18/18): 926; "Industrial News from Washington," EMJ (4/27/18): 804; Saxon, 1959: 8.
34 George E. Collins, "Mining in Colorado in 1918," EMJ (1/18/19): 152.
%5 vEgitorial Correspondence,” EMJ (6/29/18): 1191; Sloan and Skowonski, 1975: 319.
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conditions at the mines contributed to who contracted the illness, how fast it spread, and the
number of deaths. Altitude, extreme cold in poorly heated buildings, and air pollution augmented
risk to miners. From the moment a miner entered the workplace, he was exposed to a challenging
respiratory conditions. In addition, the underground environment was cold and damp, the work
hard, and the commute from the tunnel portal to the boardinghouse frigid, especially when the
miner was already saturated with moisture and sweat. Physically taxed by these conditions, the
miner was predisposed to pathogenic illnesses easily transmitted in crowded boardinghouses
with poor sanitation.

A second wave of flu swept the county in November, and it was worse than the first. A
significant proportion of the population fell ill, several hundred died, and panic set in. Mining
companies closed due to both sanitary reasons and attrition of workforces. The situation grew so
severe that the conservative Engineering & Mining Journal reported: “Spanish influenza caused
more than 130 deaths in Silverton district in the last three weeks. Mines shut down will have
difficulty in resuming normal operations owing to labor shortage, many miners having left camp.
Epidemic appears under control.”**® The epidemic, however, was nothing close to being under
control. Most public halls and buildings became infirmaries and morgues, and as the dead
accumulated, flu committees buried the bodies in wooden boxes or blankets. In January and
March of 1919, two more waves of contagion swept through the region. Silverton suffered, and
the mining industry had a difficult time recovering.®’

Despite these challenges and hardships, the combination of an effective zinc separation
process, improvements in other milling methods, and the increase in metals prices revived the
county’s mining industry. Statistics for the latter half of the 1910s quantify the revival. During
this time, the county featured nine prospects, thirty-five small mines, twenty-six medium-sized
operations, and seven large producers, a significant increase over the turn of the century. Ore
production gradually increased from $273,000 in silver, $508,000 worth of gold, and $203,000 in
lead, and $50,000 for zinc in 1914 to $477,000 in silver, $257,000 worth of gold, $673,000 in
lead, and $310,000 in zinc by 1918. As during the late 1890s revival, the fact that most of the ore
was low in grade is significant because a greater tonnage of material had to be mined and treated
per dollar realized.**®

The declaration of Armistice in 1918 brought a long-awaited end to the World War 1, but
also it set in motion an irreversible decline of mining in much of Colorado. The economic and
political trends of the next two years belied the impending doom. As soon as the war was over,
European nations began the costly and protracted process of reconstruction, which maintained
the high demand and value of silver and industrial metals. The price of silver crept from $1.04
per ounce in 1918 to as high as $1.11 by the beginning of 1920. With metals values increasing
for almost two years after the war’s end and production in the county during 1920 a record

36 “Mining News,” EMJ (11/23/18): 932.
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$3,617,000, the impending industry-wide collapse across the west came as an even greater
shock.**

For a brief time during the late 1910s, prior to the collapse of mining, tungsten joined the
county’s portfolio of exploitable resources. Early prospectors and assayers were aware that some
veins in the Cement Creek drainage possessed high percentages of tungsten but took little
interest because almost no demand existed for the metal. During the late 1890s, European steel
manufacturers, primarily Krupps in Germany, developed a means of using it to make hardened
steel alloys. Within several years, American and British steel companies followed. At the time,
tungsten was exceedingly rare and few profitable deposits had been identified, which agents
from the steel makers aggressively pursued. When the agents learned of the rich deposits in
Boulder County around 1900, they stimulated a tungsten rush there. Individuals elsewhere in
Colorado began to pursue tungsten deposits in earnest.

Prospectors familiar with Cement Creek remembered that some veins featured tungsten.
Individuals communicated this to speculators that were interested in the metal. Charles Poulot
and Charles Voilleque, French metallurgists that specialized in rare metals, were the first experts
to respond. They were already in western Colorado developing the first uranium mines in North
America and made the short trip to Cement Creek to examine the tungsten reports. In 1900, they
examined the Leslie claims in Dry Gulch, one mile west of Gladstone, and leased the Fisher Mill
to run tests on the ore. William Schultz, a Denver speculator, arrived around the same time,
leased the Evaline claims and operated the mill. Refitting the facility successfully yielded
concentrate tungsten ore which stimulated further interest.>®

In 1903, Lucus Abbie and Joe Kattenbocker produced tungsten ore at the Ohio Mine in
Dry Gulch and treated the material in the Fisher Mill. They produced concentrates and shipped
them to Germany. Shortly afterward, Chicago investors organized the Venetian Mining
Company, bought the Evaline Mine and Fisher Mill, and planned on consistent production. The
operation failed, stifling the local tungsten market for years.***

The county’s tungsten resources drew serious attention again during World War 1.
Weapons manufacturers found that hardened steel made with tungsten was well-suited for battle,
and demand the metal reached unprecedented levels. This stimulated a wave of prospecting and
mine examination throughout the northwestern portion of the county in 1915, with several
operations in production the following year. Cement Creek was the center of interest. The
Colorado Metals Company assembled a small tungsten monopoly in 1915. The company leased
the Galty Boy and Congress mines, purchased the Sterling, and leased and refitted the idle
Yukon Mill to concentrate the ore. Colorado Metals then accepted custom ore in the mill and
fostered development of other operations during 1916. Frank C. Grimes and George Haskell
organized the Cascade Tungsten Mining Company to develop claims in Cascade Gulch, and
James Clifford worked the Conyers-Clifford, both on Cement Creek. Small outfits also

39 Henderson, 1926: 216; Saxon, 1959: 8.
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developed other properties in the area. The San Juan Tungsten Company organized in 1918 to
lease the North Star Mine and refit the mill for tungsten ore. Although tungsten continued to
draw interest through the 1950s, World War | was the only concerted period of production.
When the war ended in 1918, demand for the metal stalled.

Las Animas Mining District

After approximately twenty-five years of continuous, heavy production, Silver Lake
Basin remained one of the most important centers in the county. This was due largely to the
Mears and Slattery leasing syndicate, which continued its lease at the lowa Mine and sent the ore
down to the lowa Mill via tramway. The Melville and lowa-Tiger Leasing companies ran most
of the operation, while the syndicate leased additional ground in 1914 in the form of Delsante &
Company. In 1913, Mears, Slattery & Pitcher leased the idle Silver Lake Mine from ASARCo
and rehabilitated the Stoiber Tunnel. The combined lowa and Silver Lake workforce was large
enough to justify reopening the Arastra post office. Mears and Slattery renewed the lease in 1916
under the firm Slattery, Delsante & Gillette, also known as S.D. & G. Company. The syndicate
maintained a constant but limited production into 1917, when experienced miners noticed an
eight-foot-wide vein in the walls of the Stoiber Tunnel. The vein’s copper, silver, and gold
content were a boon to Mears and partners.*®

The Mears syndicate was not the only entity to work the Silver Lake and lowa mines
during the first years of World War I. Small parties of lessees, mostly Italians previously
employed by the Stoibers, enjoyed ample production. The Unity Tunnel was also abuzz with
lessees who worked ground above and below the tunnel level. Various partnerships pooled their
capital and modified the idle Bleichert tramway at the Unity so that it terminated near the lowa
Mill, where the lessees sent their ore. The lowa Mill was the center for production in and around
Silver Lake Basin. To improve the recovery of metals, Louis Bastian installed flotation
equipment in 1915. Even with flotation, the mill workers had a difficult time keeping up with the
ore flowing in from all directions. In 1916 alone, the mill processed a weighty 700 tons of
concentrates from lowa ore, as well as around fifty tons from the nearby Mayflower Mine.*®

The Mayflower, located amid the cliffs forming the east wall of Arrastra Gulch, was a
relatively late development. As early as 1913, G.H. Malchus scraped together enough capital to
develop the property, begin production, and build a Bleichert tramway from the lower tunnel
down to a terminal adjacent to the lowa Mill. While the distance to the mill was very short, the
steep, loose scree slopes made a reliable road impossible, and hence a tramway was necessary
for meaningful production. Malchus hired a crew to lengthen the development workings. As the
Mayflower proved itself, ASARCo examined it as a replacement for the idle Silver Lake Mine
and took an option in 1914, but let the deal fall through. In 1915, the American Qil Flotation
Company leased the Silver Lake Mill from ASARCo with the intent of converting the plant for

%62 Bauer, et al, 1990: 13; Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Silver Lake; Mineral Resources, 1916: 374; “Mining News," MSP (10/18/13): 628;
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custom flotation. The custom business, however, was slow, and American Oil sought its own
mine to provide a steady stream of ore. The Mayflower was the logical choice because it lay
almost directly on the Silver Lake tram system. American Oil took an option on the property and
paid Malchus $3,000 in earnest money, before workers accidentally set fire to the surface plant.
The sale failed to go through because American Oil ceased to function. The Mears and Slattery
syndicate moved in quickly as Malchus, ASARCo, and American Oil had collectively
demonstrated that the Mayflower had the potential to become a significant producer. In 1916, the
syndicate organized the Mayflower Leasing Company and developed enough ore for an excellent
production run.

Although the lowa, Silver Lake, and Mayflower mines produced well, they did not satisfy
the Mears syndicate. One of the syndicate members probably was aware that Edward Innis
ignored a number of silver veins in the Highland Mary Mine in his search for the lake of gold.
Around the turn of the century, lessees and the Gold Tunnel & Railway Company attempted to
find and mine the veins with limited success. The Mears syndicate was convinced that they could
make the Highland Mary pay well with proper management, ore concentration, and expert
miners. In 1916, J.H. Slattery & Company leased the property from owner Highland Mary
Mining & Milling Company.*** Initially, Slattery’s lease included the mine’s upper workings and
the surface plant. In the past, the mine’s various operators completed eight levels with the
Mountaineer, also known as Level No.1, as the highest, and the Innis Tunnel, also known as
Level No.8, the lowest. The main surface plant and the mill erected by the Gold Tunnel &
Railway outfit stood adjacent to the Innis Tunnel. As originally equipped, the mill failed to
recover enough of the ore’s metal content, so Louis Bastian put a crew to work remodeling the
facility. While the crew refitted the mill with flotation, Slattery sent ore down to the Contention
Mill, which Bastian remodeled earlier. By December the workers were finished, and the
Highland Mary Mill turned out around two tons of concentrates per day.

In 1917, Slattery remediated the inefficiencies posed by the haphazard organization of the
underground workings. According to conventional mining engineering, underground levels
should be linked by vertical passages that allowed ore mined in the highest levels to be easily
transferred down to the lowest with little handling. Miners could then haul the ore out to a mill or
holding bins. The Highland Mary, by contrast, had little such organization. Instead of expending
enormous sums on the necessary underground connections, Slattery diverted the ore completely
via two aerial tramways. One leg descended from Level No.2 Tunnel down to a station at the
Level No.7 Tunnel, and the second leg followed west Cunningham Gulch to the mill. While the
cost of a segmented system was high, it allowed large crews in both tunnels to produce as much
ore as the tram buckets could carry. The efficiency, success, and tonnage realized by the Slattery
lease confirmed the syndicate’s expertise.>®®

During 1917 and 1918, the syndicate operated the lowa, Silver Lake, Mayflower, and
Highland Mary mines, among the best producers in the Las Animas district. This began to
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change the following year. At the lowa and Silver Lake, three shifts of miners worked around the
clock until the influenza epidemic suspended operations. The October pandemic swept the crew
and Slattery personally nursed the sick in the boardinghouse. When the second wave further
decimated the crew in November, he closed the mines and had the boardinghouse fumigated.
Like most of the region’s other mine operators, Slattery had a difficult time finding replacement
workers and only reopened the lowa in 1919. At that time, Slattery renewed the lease for lowa
alone under the Southwestern Mining Company and the Melville Leasing Company, but cut the
workforce. The syndicate did not renew the Silver Lake lease, heralding an end to its run. These
issues indicated that the lowa and Silver Lake workings were running out of ore. The lowa Mine
then remained one of the Las Animas district’s best producers through 1920, when operations
collapsed.

The Mayflower and Highland Mary operations regressed in a similar manner. At the
Mayflower, a crew of thirteen miners sent ore down to the lowa Mill through 1918 and 1919 but
were discharged the following year. The mine remained quiet until 1922, when Slattery, John F.
Barnett, and Leonard L. Aiken organized the Mayflower Mining & Milling Company to work
the property with a crew of only six. This operation only lasted a year. The Highland Mary
Leasing Company kept the mine and mill producing through 1918 and developed several veins.
Slattery suspended operations during the flu epidemic, and when he resumed, hired only ten
workers in part because production declined. In 1920, Slattery found that the mill was not worth
operating, shut the facility down, and did not renew the lease when it expired. Between 1918 and
1920, the county lost four of its most important producers.®

In Dives Basin, west of and above the Highland Mary, Daniel McLean continued to work
the Shenandoah Mine through his Dives Leasing Company. McLean suspected that the mountain
shared by the Highland Mary, Trilby, and Shenandoah mines concealed a hidden vein system.
While this notion was not unlike Innis’ lake of gold, McLean’s hypothesis was founded on
geological knowledge. His miners extracted as much as four tons of ore per day from the
Shenandoah and conducted exploration for the elusive vein system as finances allowed. In 1917,
McLean formed the O.S. Leasing Company and included the Trilby in his operation. He hoped to
find the system from within the Trilby workings and with the Shenandoah to create a single
entity. The underground connection was not realized, but he did make several substantial
discoveries and operated both mines as a single unit with great success. As one operation after
another closed in the Las Animas district, the Dives Leasing Company assumed the role as the
most important producer by 1920. However, in 1921, after only nine months of operations,
McLean suddenly laid off the workforce of thirty and shut this mine down, as well.*®’

On the opposite side of Dives Basin, the North Star Mine saw activity after remaining
long idle. In 1916, a group of lessees reopened the original workings and produced a small

%6 Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Highland Mary, Mayflower; Mineral Resources, 1918: 861; "Mining News," EMJ (7/27/18): 195;
Silverton Standard (8/16/19); Weed, 1925: 724.

%7 Colorado Mine Inspectors’ Reports: Shenandoah-Dives , Trilby; "Mining News," EMJ (1/20/17): 167; "Mining News," EMJ (9/15/17): 499;
Silverton Standard (3/31/17).
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amount of ore, before accidentally set alight the tunnel house. The miners moved into the old
base camp in Dives Basin, found the mine difficult to work, and ended production in 1917. The
mine, a cornerstone of the Las Animas district for years, saw no further activity of note.**®

The Big Giant Mine, in Little Giant Basin below North Star Peak, also saw renewed
activity during the World War 1 revival. William Keith drove a tunnel to the Big Giant Vein and
built a mill in 1895, but the ore was too complex and Keith abandoned the operation within
several years. Peter Orella, who operated the Standard Bottling Works in Silverton as early as
1907, came to the conclusion that the vein had high potential Keith left undeveloped. When
metal values began to increase in 1914, Peter Orella & Company leased the Big Giant,
Contention Mill, and Contention tramway. He rehabilitated the surface plant and underground
workings and connected the Big Giant with the Contention tramway. Originally, the Contention
Mining Company built the tramway to connect the Contention Mill on the Animas River with the
North Star Mine outlet at the head of Little Giant Basin. In 1902, the Black Prince Gold Mining
Company bought the tramway and adapted it to their operation around one-half mile below the
Big Giant. In so doing, the Black Prince company shortened the tramway, leaving a gap between
the Black Prince terminal and the Big Giant. To span this distance, Orella built a double-rope
reversible segment and reused the old Keith Mill structure as his upper terminal.**® Orella wisely
realized that the Contention Mill would probably not treat the complex Big Giant ore and sent
batches to the Silver Lake and Highland Mary mills for testing. In 1916, Orella finally settled on
the best treatment process and hired Louis Bastian to install a flotation flow path almost identical
to that at the Highland Mary Mill. Once finished, the facility treated ore not only from the Big
Giant, but also from independent customers. Although Orella continued to lease the mine, he
bought the mill to retain his investment in the facility.>”

During the fall of 1916, someone, probably Orella, collected up the tailings left in Little
Giant Basin by the 1889 North Star Mill and sent them to the Contention Mill to be processed.
The terminal at the Big Giant was the nearest place to load the tailings, but a deep chasm blocked
easy access. To overcome this, Orella built another double-rope system that ascended from the
terminal up to a loading station on the basin floor, where workers transferred the material.
Orella’s complicated tramway system now included the tailings segment from the upper basin
down to the Big Giant terminal, the double-rope segment from the Big Giant terminal to the
Black Prince, and the Bleichert tramway to the Contention Mill.*"*

Ore in every mine in the county was slightly different in character even when from the
same geological formation, and so it was with the Big Giant. By 1917, Orella realized that
despite the flotation installed by Bastian, the Big Giant ore was still too complex to be easily

388 Mineral Resources, 1916: 374; "Mining News," EMJ (8/19/16): 365; "Mining News," EMJ (10/27/17): 777.
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treated. Because shipping the ore as crude material was not feasible, he closed the Big Giant by
1918 while continuing to run the mill as a custom facility.*"

The Black Prince Mine, on the west floor of Little Giant Basin, was among the operations
that responded to the high value of silver. J. Robert Crouse and H.A. Tremaine of Chicago
recognized the property’s potential because, like its Big Giant neighbor, the vein had never been
developed to depth. Further, the property required little capital because it already featured a 500-
foot tunnel and an excellent surface plant. In 1920, the investors organized the Crouse-Tremaine
Mines Company, purchased some claims and leased others, and leased the Contention tramway
and mill.*”® A crew completed necessary repairs and began driving a haulage tunnel. By the end
of 1920, the Black Prince had all the makings of a great operation, which is what the Las Animas
district needed to counter the decline of its other mines. The staff of the Silverton Standard was
impressed with the progress: “One of the largest undertakings of 1920 will be ready for
production during 1921. The Black Prince Group, under development by the Crouse-Tremaine
Mines Company, has been improved with sufficient buildings etc. to enable the management to
carry og7t4with the greatest speed the development of the Black Prince and other veins of the
group.”

By the spring of 1921, miners made the long-awaited breakthrough into the main vein. In
driving the haulage tunnel, the engineer followed the proper practice of undercutting the
formation at depth so miners could work the ore body from the bottom up. There was one
problem, however, there was no ore. The vein was highly mineralized, but lacked payrock of
economic worth. The company was forced to suspend operations.*”

During the World War | boom, the Lackawanna Mine became the focus of an important
project. In 1917, John M. Wagner, who owned a number of mines in San Juan and San Miguel
counties, confidently purchased the group of claims. During the winter, he made a deal with
William A. Way, R.E.L. Townsend, and Melvin Smith to lease the main complex as the
Lackawanna Mining & Reduction Company. Although relatively inexperienced, Way was a
respected Silvertonian. Born in Hancock County, Illinois in 1874 to a family of some means,
Way attended Western Illinois Normal School and studied law at the Northern Indiana Law
School. He came to Silverton around 1904 and practiced law under Judge Searcy until 1913,
when he established a partnership with H.E. Curran. In 1917, Way married Hazel Fletcher of Salt
Lake City and went into practice on his own. Townsend had slightly more direct experience with
Animas River mines than Way and had previously leased several properties. The Lackawanna
failed to meet expectations, and the partners dumped the lease during the year and moved on to
other mines around Eureka.

372 Mineral Resources, 1917: 840; "Mining News," EMJ (10/13/17): 663; "Mining News," EMJ (10/27/17): 777.
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In late 1917, a group of investors from the east assumed the Lackawanna Mine lease as
the D.L. & W. Mining & Reduction Company. Under manager C.B. Sheehan, a crew of twenty
attempted to ready the operation for work through the winter. One team accompanied master
tramway builder O.F. Sackett to the Titusville Mine, dismantled the idle Huson tramway, and
rebuilt it at the Lackawanna. The upper terminal stood near the main tunnel, and the lower
terminal was on the Silverton Northern Railroad. A second group erected a concentration mill at
the lower terminal. A third workforce developed ore and engaged in minor production. While
the mill was under construction, the company leased the Silver Lake Mill to process high-grade
ore that miners discovered in 1918. After sending the ore to the Silver Lake Mill, little more was
forthcoming, however. The compressor house and mill subsequently burned, and after the
company collected insurance money, it rebuilt the structures and dissolved.

Before Silver Lake Basin ran out of ore at the end of the 1910s, its mines were a
centerpiece of Otto Mears’ financial structure. Not only did they yield significant profits, but
Mears commissioned an unusual project involving the mill tailings dump that formed an artificial
beach on the shore of Silver Lake. Ironically, Edward Stoiber was concerned enough with the
water quality of the lake to install a sewer system for his boardinghouses, but flumed at least
500,000 tons of mill tailings from the original mill into the lake’s north end. Supposedly, Stoiber
did so to store the tailings for future reprocessing. Samuel Hallett planned on treating the tailings
in the second Silver Lake Mill after ASARCo acquired the property, but the logistics proved to
be too complicated. The tailings were in essence a ready form of extremely low-grade ore and,
although they had been treated once in Stoiber’s original mill, the tailings retained enough metal
content to be profitable. The costly steps of crushing and grinding had already been done and the
tailings only required advanced concentration.

Advanced concentration was the specialty of Arthur Redman Wilfley, renowned engineer
and metallurgist who split his time between Summit County and Denver. Born in Missouri in
1860, in 1878 Wilfley accompanied his father to join the Leadville rush, set up a sawmill, and
profited from the lucrative demand for lumber. The family ultimately went to Kokomo, just over
Fremont Pass from Leadville, where young Wilfley became a prospector and miner. In 1882,
Victor G. Hills, an engineer and surveyor, offered him a job as assistant surveyor. Wilfley
learned quickly, became a partner with Hills, and in 1885 leased the White Quail Mine under the
firm of Wilfley, Clark & Company. Investors provided Wilfley with capital to build a mill,
which he designed to concentrate low-grade ore. Thus began a protracted career focused on the
efficiency of milling and concentration.*’®

Wilfley continuously tinkered with various apparatuses to improve their performance. In
1895, he developed a particularly effective appliance that he patented as the Wilfley vibrating
table and began selling as a practical model in 1896. The Wilfley table featured a stationary
chassis and an irregular, four-sided tabletop that vibrated rapidly. The tabletop was coated with
linoleum and numerous fine riffles, and, as it oscillated, metal-rich particles settled against the

376 Jay E. Niebur, Arthur Redman Wilfley: Miner, Inventor, and Entrepreneur (Denver: Western Business History Research Center, Colorado
Historical Society, 1982): 12-23, 30.
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riffles while a water spray washed the waste away. Sales were slow at first, but the Silver Crash
only energized Wilfley because his device addressed making low-grade ore pay. Eben Smith,
principal of the Mine & Smelter Supply Company, contracted with Wilfley for the rights to make
and sell the table, and the device netted a fortune in the Rocky Mountain West. Wilfley
continued inventing and tinkering and in 1903 developed a multi-deck vibrating table
specifically to treat finely ground slurry usually piped out of mills as waste.*””

Mears, aware of Wilfley’s ingenuity and skill, approached him regarding a technical
solution to make tailings remunerative. In 1913, Mears explained the project to Wilfley, and
obtained money from his leasing syndicate. Mears and Wilfley selected a mill site on the north
side of the Animas River opposite the mouth of Arrastra Gulch, which seemed illogical, as it
necessitated moving the tailings from Silver Lake Basin down and across the river. The adverse
climate, propensity to freeze, and difficulty of access made Silver Lake Basin a poor choice, and
why Mears and Wilfley did not adjoin the new plant to the lowa Mill in Arrastra Gulch is not
known. The system that Mears and Wilfley devised for moving the tailings was also
unconventional. Special sand pumps mounted on a barge vacuumed up the tailings and piped
them over to the outlet of Silver Lake, whose fall was increased by a low dam. The torrent
carried the suspended particles over Arrastra Gulch’s cliff headwall and down to the base, where
another dam diverted the current into a large wooden drain box. Excess water flowed out of the
box and the tailings reverted to a slurry, which flowed into a wooden flume that descended
steeply along the gulch’s west side. A trestle carried the flume out beyond the mouth of the gulch
and over the river to the mill.3®

As a concentration facility, the Mears-Wilfley Mill was completely novel. The interior
was relatively level and featured only a handful of apparatuses that were radically different.
However, the most imposing were grossly enlarged versions of Wilfley tables 12’-wide and 48’-
long with two decks, in addition to several twenty-four-deck shaking tables. Wilfley designed the
contraptions to treat the tailings in economies of scale. The giant tables were for coarse particles,
and the twenty-four-deck machines treated slurry of extremely fine material. The Mears-Wilfley
Mill featured additional processing machinery, although Arrastra Creek naturally completed
some of the classification and separation stages that mills usually executed. According to design,
the custom facility could treat 600 tons of Silver Lake tailings per day.*”

Mears’ workers consumed nine months building the mill and flume system, while
Wilfley perfected his machinery. One device was a sand pump capable of withstanding the high-
impact tailings project. The deck shaking table, also known as a slime table after the material it
treated, occupied Wilfley such that he installed a unit in the lowa Mill for testing. By late
summgg(3 Mears and Wilfley opened the mill after a $22,000 investment, around $407,000
today.

377 Niebur, 1982: 735, 82, 84-8, 132-4: Spence, 1993: 369.
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The novel enterprise ran into trouble early in 1915. The flume developed a number of
leaks because the tailings slurry acted like liquid sandpaper and wore the wood rapidly. Instead
of lining the existing plank trough with sheet iron, Mears opted for concrete, another innovation
that drew the attention of engineers who became interested in the project. More problematically,
Wilfley’s new machinery failed to perform as expected, despite the results of tests that suggested
otherwise. Mears ultimately replaced the machinery with flotation.

Following troubleshooting, Mears operated the mill around the clock during in the short
working season. During the rest of the year, however, the mill recovered around $5,000 per
month, and so well worth the trouble. Mears and Wilfley must have enjoyed high profits since
the mill was relatively inexpensive and the basic work of mining and crushing the tailings was
already complete. From 1915 through 1918, Mears’ railroad hauled off dozens of rail cars of
concentrates that fetched, in total over $100,000. The facility functioned smoothly into 1919
when Wilfley, in ill health, sold his interest to Mears. During the year, Mears closed the
operation, having exhausted the richest and most debris-free tailings.*®*

Eureka Mining District

The Eureka Mining District followed the general trends of its southern neighbor, the Las
Animas district, during World War 1. Mining companies responded readily to the improved
climate and suspended just as quickly when that climate soured in 1921. The principal difference
was that some of the mining operations had greater staying power than those in the Las Animas
district. The Sunnyside was one, as the county’s greatest producer with a size and complexity
similar to the waning Silver Lake. Before John Terry died in 1910, he groomed his two sons to
replace him. Joseph focused on managing the mine and William the mills. William built the zinc
recovery plant in 1911 and Joseph the aerial tramway and other buildings after they burned two
years later. The zinc plant and tramway functioned well, which confirmed confidence in the
abilities of the two sons.*®* William led the Sunnyside’s response to the improved conditions of
World War 1. He improved the efficiency of the Eureka mill, increasing income and rendering
even lower grades of ore profitable to produce. In particular, he enlarged the Huff Electrostatic
plant and consulted with James H. Hyde to install flotation in 1915. Over the course of a year,
the Terrys were so impressed with flotation that they moved the machinery up to the Midway
Mill and installed a larger set in the Eureka plant, increasing metals recovery even further. The
mill at Lake Emma performed general concentration. By this time, Joseph managed a workforce
of ninety employees producing 180 tons of ore per day, double the usual average per worker.*®®

For years, the local ASARCo directors eyed the Sunnyside but were distracted by
constant trouble with the Silver Lake. It may be that as the Silver Lake wound down during the
mid-1910s, they had enough energy and capital to consider other producers and targeted the

38l Mineral Resources, 1917: 840; "Mining News," EMJ (10/7/16): 688; "Mining News," EMJ (10/6/17): 622; "Mining News," EMJ (7/27/18):
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Sunnyside. It remains uncertain whether ASARCo approached the brothers first or the reverse,
but by 1917, the two parties began discussions. The Terrys, nearing retirement, were open to
selling, and ASARCo made them a generous offer.

Repeating the pattern established with its Silver Lake properties, ASARCo bought the
Sunnyside, as well as the other principal mines on the ore system to ensure long-term reserves.
The mining giant also enlarged the operation. In 1917, ASARCo organized the Sunnyside
Mining & Milling Company and consolidated the Sunnyside, Washington, and Gold Prince
groups. W.G. Sharpe was president, F.W. Batchelder secretary, and E.L. Young manager. Young
planned a new mill at Eureka capable of treating 500 tons per day and to finish driving the Terry
Tunnel from the mill site to undercut the vein system at great depth. Overall, ASARCo’s plan
was the largest undertaking in the county since the Gold Prince operation. Young sent a crew of
forty to dismantle the Gold Prince plant and incorporate the materials and equipment into the
design. At the same time, Andrew Coyle gained the contract to drive a raise up into the old
workings from the Terry Tunnel.*®*

The town of Eureka was already bustling because of the existing Terry Mill and nearby
operations. New construction filled the available housing and provided business for local
merchants. With the Sunnyside Mill finished in 1918, the town’s permanent population reverted
to around 250 people, an increase from prior years. Workers lived in several boardinghouses,
received shaves and haircuts from Robert White, purchased candy and other treats from J.C.
Hopper, saw physician William Carter when ill, and patronized C.F. Worden’s billiard hall.
Local residents purchased goods in J.F. Warnock’s mercantile and feed and fuel at the McJunkin
station. Visiting dignitaries lodged and dined at the Eureka Hotel and had the A.L. Lashbaugh
livery tend their animals. Eureka was also home to several mining companies and assayers.**®

At first, ASARCo had equally poor luck with the Sunnyside as at Silver Lake. A portion
of the surface plant caught fire in 1917, and the following year burned to the ground. The new
Sunnyside Mill was ready, but the destruction at the mine shut the operation down. The company
hired a workforce of eighty to rebuild, and they made progress until the influenza epidemic,
avalanches, and power blackouts stalled the effort. After more than a year, the new surface plant
was ready and larger than ever. ASARCo continued Terry’s practice of providing superior
housing for the miners. The boardinghouse and bunkhouse each had three stories, dozens of
rooms, and hot water, steam heat, and showers. Off shift, the miners visited the commissary
equipped with billiards and a theater for films, while a doctor provided services. In total, the
comple3>é6housed 220 workers, as many as Stoiber employed at the Silver Lake twenty years
earlier.

The ASARCo directors exhaled a sigh of relief during the summer of 1919 when the host
of problems seemed to have passed. The new surface plant was finished, the mill ready, and the
influenza epidemic over. A crew of 270 brought the mine into full production and doubled the
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county’s total output. However, in 1920, the national recession, an abrupt drop in the prices of
industrial metals, and a decrease in demand forced ASARCo to suspend operations yet again.
The company laid off hundreds of workers who left. Despite its massive investment, ASARCo
responded to what appeared to be another countywide collapse of mining.®*’

The headwaters around Animas Forks and the Mineral Point district were nearly
forgotten during the World War 1 revival. ASARCo’s removal of the Gold Prince Mill was the
largest project in either area, although several small ventures tried to get going during the
revival. One was the idle Frisco-Bagley Tunnel, which eastern investors attempted to reopen in
1917. The other was the Columbus Mine on the north edge of Animas Forks. W.M. Johnson &
Company produced from the Norton Vein until the early 1910s. In 1915, Arthur Johnson
lengthened the Columbus Tunnel, the lowest of three entries, in an attempt to reach the
Columbus Vein, and extracted ore from the upper workings to pay for the work. In 1917, A.S.
Sturgeon, the subsequent operator, intermittently tried developing the ore formations. In 1918,
Johnson returned as manager for the Gnome Mining Company, which resumed driving the
lowest tunnel to the Columbus Vein. A crew of eight miners labored into 1919, but the vein did
not offer profitable ore at depth, and Johnson closed the mine.

The central portion of the Eureka district was a complete contrast to the Animas Forks
area. Perhaps the Sunnyside stimulated confidence among investors, but at any rate Minnie and
Maggie gulches in particular saw three substantial operations gain momentum during the revival.
However, just as they were on the brink of prosperity, these succumbed to the typical problems.
The Intersection Mine at the head of Minnie Gulch yielded gold ore regularly since the
Intersection company initially developed the property in 1910. After producing $177,000, the
miners simply ran out of ore in 1917 and were unable to find more. With no ore, the company
closed the mine, which had already lasted longer and generated more profits than expected.**®

Farther down the gulch, D.W. Fleming was at work on the Caledonia, originally known
as the Beaton Group where James Beaton developed a gold and silver vein during the 1880s. In
1905, Fleming organized the Peerless San Juan Mining Company to develop the vein at depth,
built a mill in 1909, and on the eve of production, suspended due to the effects of the 1907
recession. In 1918, he reorganized the outfit as the Caledonian Mining Company and resumed
where he left off. Little work was required to bring the Caledonia into production, and he ran the
mill on low-grade ore and sent the higher grades of material to the Durango Smelter. This lasted
into 1920, when the ore changed character at depth and miners exhausted the shipping-grade
material. Unfortunately, the mill was unable to treat the remaining low-grade ore, but Fleming
lacked the capital to refit the facility. In response, he scaled back operations, conducted
development, and sought more money. In 1921, economic woes and a collapse in metals prices
discouraged his investors, and he suspended work.

387 colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Sunnyside; Henn, 1999: 34; Marshall and Zanoni, 1998: 127; "Mining News" EMJ (9/6/19): 421.
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During the late 1900s and early 1910s, the Kittimac Mines Company struggled with the
Kittimac Mine, around one-half mile east of the Caledonia. The Kittimac paralleled the
Caledonia, in part because it tapped the same ore system. The Kittimac had extensive
underground workings, a mechanized surface plant, and a mill unable to treat the complex
payrock. Unlike Fleming, however, the Kittimac company had enough capital to refit its mill
under the guidance of an expert. In 1915, James Hyde installed Huff Electrostatic separators to
recover zinc and flotation machines to provide the final separation of other metals. In 1916, after
nearly four years puzzling out problems with the ore, the company successfully ran the mill for
several months to demonstrate its effectiveness, then leased the entire operation out.>®

The lessee was George A. Beaton, son of James Beaton, who had made a considerable
fortune from the Caledonia Mine during the 1880s. George Beaton organized the Kittimac
Mining & Milling Company to work the property. To avoid the pitfalls of earlier operators,
Beaton hired his own experts to manage the mine and the mill. P.M. Collins of the American Oil
Flotation Company ran the mill and improved the flotation process, and Augustus Malchus
oversaw operations. Malchus was also involved with the Mayflower in Arrastra Gulch. Almost
from the beginning, the mill did not recover adequate metals content and had to be refitted again.
Later in 1916, the mill finally functioned as expected, and as an added benefit, miners discovered
a rich pay chute underground during 1917. The operation became profitable, but short-lived as
the ore declined in quality. Mired in debt, the Kittimac Mining & Milling Company was unable
to meet its payments, causing the owner, Kittimac Mines Company, to default on its debts and
declare bankruptcy. The Kittimac Mines Company, however, remained in possession of the mine
and spent 1918 operating it to realize some income. Probably to evade creditors, principal Daniel
Carey dissolved the company in 1919, found new investors, and moved the assets to the Sullivan
Mines Company of Wyoming in hopes of resuming production. Carey was unable to work the
mine, however, and the property remained quiet for several years. Finally, in 1921, Carey
interested Pennsylvania investors who organized the San Juan Consolidated Mining & Milling
Company to lease and bond the property. They hired a crew of five miners who rehabilitated the
surface plant and began driving exploratory workings underground. As the nation’s economic
climate worsened, the new firm gave up.**®

Above Middleton, experienced engineer Etienne Ritter continued preparing the property
for long-term production for the Hamlet Mining & Milling Company. Workers refit the mill,
pushed Level No.6 Tunnel to undercut the old workings, and developed the vein. In 1914, a
portion of the mill burned, granting Ritter the opportunity to rebuild with flotation. In 1915,
Ritter finally brought the operation into production, only to discover that the mill was still not
effective enough. Before he was able to determine why, it burned to the ground. Insurance paid
for a new, properly designed plant. By the end of 1916, Ritter started the operation for a second
time and found that the new mill functioned perfectly. To keep the company from defaulting on

%89 Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Kittimac; "Mining News," EMJ (9/19/14): 549; "Mining News," EMJ (10/19/15): 619.

30 Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Kittimac; "Mining News," EMJ (7/22/16): 201; "Mining News," EMJ (10/7/16): 688; "Mining News,"
EMJ (12/2/16): 999; Weed, 1922: 622; Weed, 1926: 648.
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its debt payments, Ritter expedited production and had three shifts working around the clock. In
1917, the same two problems that plagued other companies in the region changed this. Miners
reached an end of the easily treated ore, and the mill had difficulty with the remaining material.
For the next two years, Ritter was caught in an endless cycle of intermittent production due to
inconsistent payrock, searching for treatable material, and adjusting the mill. In 1919, investors
were unwilling to spend any more money on the operation and suspended work. They leased the
operation to Al Koltz in 1920. Koltz encountered the same problems, hired Louis Bastian to
install the latest flotation equipment, and had no better luck. The Hamlet saw no further activity
of note.

The east side of Cunningham Gulch, in the southern portion of the Eureka district, was
another center of activity during the World War | revival. After remaining idle, the Green
Mountain and Pride of the West mines became the focus of a well-engineered and coordinated
effort, and the Gary Owen, quiet for at least a decade, also joined the county’s roster of
producers. These three mines, the Highland Mary, and several small operations sent so much ore
out of Cunningham Gulch that the Silverton Standard offered special recognition: “Cunningham
Gulch is the most active section of the county. Nearly all the old mines are going, and several
new ones have started up.”3"

The Garry Owen, on the east side of Stony Gulch, was among the few mines to operate
relatively free of problems through the revival. How the property escaped extensive development
in the past is unclear. Experts suggested that it lay on the northeast end of the same ore system as
the Green Mountain and Pride of the West, the two principal producers in the southern portion of
the Eureka district. And yet, the Garry Owen attracted little interest. Philip Flynn, one expert,
was convinced that the mine would yield if properly developed. During the early 1910s, he spent
his available capital buying the associated claims but had little money left for necessary work. In
1917, Flynn organized the Wide West Mining Company, obtained investors, and leased the
property to keep the operators separate from ownership. He employed William Pantalone as
superintendent over a crew of twelve that built a surface plant and drove development workings.
By 1918, Flynn’s suspicions proved correct, and the miners struck ore rich enough to ship to the
Durango Smelter without first being concentrated. Because Flynn was the first to tap the vein
system, he found enough payrock to sustain sound production into 1922.%%

The Green Mountain and Pride of the West, in contrast, were among the county’s oldest
producers and lay on the same vein system. Despite extensive development, the mines still
offered plenty of ore for two principal reasons. The vein system possessed vast reserves, but past
operators gave up because the payrock resisted every attempt at concentration. No one had yet
tried flotation. In 1916, two separate companies cooperated to profit from the Green Mountain
and Pride of the West. J.H. Bird & Company leased the Green Mountain, which featured three
tunnels and a mill on the floor of Cunningham Gulch, all connected by tramway. The Pride of

31 sjlverton Standard (7128/17): 1.
392 colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Gary Owen; Silverton Standard (3/10/17): 1.
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the West Mining Company, managed by A.W. Harrison, leased the Pride of the West, which
featured several tunnels, a power plant, and no mill. Both outfits prepared their mines for
production, and the Pride company offered to refit the Green Mountain Mill with flotation. As
part of the agreement, the Pride company realigned the Green Mountain tramway to serve its
own needs, which was no loss for Bird because ore could be hauled out the lowest Green
Mountain tunnel and directly into the mill. In 1917, the Pride company hired Bastian to install
flotation, and it was successful from the beginning.

During the spring, both operations began production with great promise. Under Harrison,
the Pride company generated around fifty tons of ore per day and ran it through the mill, while
the Bird lease slowly sputtered to a stop. Bird turned his lease over to ASARCo during the
summer, and the mineral giant brought the Green Mountain into regular production. ASARCo’s
interest in the mine was twofold. One was to profit from the ore, and the second to provide a
stream for the Silver Lake Mill and offset the dwindling custom business. Thus, instead of
treating ore in the Green Mountain Mill, located at the mine portal, ASARCo shipped the
material to the Silver Lake plant instead. The mill was busy, however, on payrock from the
Pride. The split arrangement continued through 1918, when dwindling ore reserves caused
ASARCo to end its lease. The Pride company more than made up for the loss and was so
productive, the mine assumed the status of fifth most important producer in the county. Around
this time, Joseph Terry, flush from the sale of the Sunnyside, replaced Harrison. Terry’s
experience was immediately put to a test in 1919 when the company temporarily ran out of ore.
The investors considered what to do, acceded to recommendations of an exploration campaign,
and then stalled in 1921 due to the poor economic climate.**®

Cement Creek Subdistrict

Other than the tungsten rush, the Cement Creek subdistrict was relatively quiet during the
World War | except for two principal operations. The most important was the Gold King Mine,
lifeblood of Gladstone and the Silverton, Gladstone & Northerly Railroad. The Mears and
Slattery syndicate therein leased one of the county’s top producers. The mine achieved this status
during the early 1910s, and Bastian’s groundbreaking 1914 application of flotation in the Gold
King Mill only increased the yield. In 1917, the syndicate failed to renew its lease, and Willis
Kinney seized the opportunity to regain the mine. Kinney must have understood that the
syndicate rarely quit a lease unless the ore was gone, but he established the Gold King Extension
Mines Company and put a workforce of eighty in search of ore and rehabilitating the mill for
greater efficiency. Although fifty of the workers lived in Gladstone, the town’s population was
insufficient to support any business other than the Gold King boardinghouse. In 1919, Kinney
located enough payrock to support intensive operations. With rehabilitation finished, he divided
the workers into three shifts and kept them busy around the clock producing ore and running the
mill. Kinney enjoyed this pattern until the economic climate of 1921 forced him to suspend.***

393 colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Pride of the West; Mineral Resources, 1918: 861; "Mining News" EMJ (7/28/17): 189.
39 Colorado Mine Inspectors’ Reports: Gold King; Mineral Resources, 1918: 862; "Mining News" EMJ (8/17/18): 325.
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The Silverton, Gladstone & Northerly Railroad stopped running in conjunction with the
Gold King, which adversely impacted the other principle operation in the Cement Creek
drainage. In 1917, the Henrietta Copper Mining Company purchased the Henrietta in Prospect
Gulch as justified by the increase in metals prices. The Henrietta was ready to produce because
its surface plant and tramway were intact, and the Mears and Slattery syndicate provided rail
service at the bottom terminal. The company hired experienced engineer E.W. Walter to reopen
the property. Once the mine was in sound condition, Walter leased it to the Adam & Eve Mining
Company, which enjoyed production until the profitable ore was gone in 1918. Walter employed
a small cgggw to find more ore through 1921, when the economy soured and the railroad stopped
running.

Mineral Creek Mining District

The Mineral Creek Mining District remained depressed during the World War | revival,
even though it featured what had been some of the county’s most important mines. Unlike Silver
Lake Basin or the Sunnyside Mine, the district’s large operations were depleted at the turn of the
century and had little profitable payrock left to offer. In contrast to the central portion of the
Eureka district, the small and medium-sized mines did not attract interest either. The Coming
Wonder was one exception, located on Anvil Mountain north of Silverton. The property overlay
the Crown Jewell Vein which, like the Garry Owen in Cunningham Gulch, saw almost no
development since the mid-1890s. Thus, three seasoned miners felt that Coming Wonder was an
appropriate name for their new venture, sure to be highly productive, and formalized in 1916 as
Andrean, Jackson & Gustafson. After only one year, however, Nels Anderson & Company
replaced the trio, conducted additional development, and enjoyed sound production through
1917. The firm generated so much ore that the directors built a double-rope reversible tramway
to lower it down to a shipping point. In 1918 Ed Johnson assumed the lease. Johnson specialized
in leasing small mines and had just finished with the Aspen when he organized the Anvil Leasing
Company. Under Johnson, a small crew kept the Coming Wonder in production for three years.
In 1921, the declining economy shut the operation down.*®

In Silverton, business owners and residents eagerly anticipated the impending reopening
of the Hercules and North Star mines. Although owned by separate parties, both ceased work in
1911 or 1912 due to problematic ore, were foreclosed upon, and put up for auction in 1915. The
North Star sold first. The size, condition, and history of property met the criteria favored by the
Mears and Slattery syndicate. They formally purchased through the S.D. & G. Leasing
Company, one of their many subsidiary organizations. Louis Bastian immediately refitted the
mill with flotation, and Matt Delsante employed a small crew rehabilitating critical underground

3% Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Henrietta; "Mining News," EMJ (4/7/17): 647; "Mining News," EMJ (10/6/17): 622; Silverton Standard
(6/9/17): 1.

3% Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Coming Wonder; "Mining News," EMJ (9/29/17): 579.
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workings. In 1916, they began production, some miners sending low-grade ore from old stopes,
others prospecting underground for fresh material. The North Star, however, lived up to its
reputation for difficult ore and was among the few operations that truly challenged Bastian’s
expertise. His flotation process did not recover enough of the ore’s metals content, so he refit the
mill in 1916 with flotation machines of his own design. Miners generated ore from the North
Star workings through 1917, when they began to run out of profitable grades of material. As
production decreased, Delsante kept the mill busy with ore hauled from the syndicate’s other
leases, such as the Detroit-Colorado and Silver Lake. By the end of 1918, the syndicate was
satisfisegc; that they had exhausted the last vestiges of ore out of the North Star and let the lease
lapse.

Even though the value of metals remained high, the North Star gradually declined until it
too succumbed to the economic troubles of 1921. The San Juan Tungsten Company leased the
mine, refitted the mill, tried producing tungsten, and failed. Phillip Sartori subsequently leased
the mill and used it to treat ore from the Silver Ledge Mine, hoping that it was more efficient
than the Silver Ledge Mill. Matt Delsante returned in 1920, when his North Star Leasing
Company leased the nearby Gladstone Mine and needed the mill to treat ore. Delsante built a
tramway up to the Gladstone and enjoyed sound production through 1921. Except for a few
limited partnerships, no one took an interest in the North Star workings for more than a decade
afterward.>%

The Hercules revived more slowly initially than the North Star. B.S. Robinson, Joseph M.
Boyce, and other investors organized the Dora Consolidated Mining Company and purchased the
operation in early 1916. The company split management of the mine and mill for efficiency.
W.R. Chase oversaw teams of miners who began an exploration campaign and generated some
ore, while John Hughes prepared the mill for its first run in almost ten years. When the entire
property was ready for production, the company increased the workforce to sixty-five, employed
at an efficient strategy tiered on the different grades of ore. Specifically, Hughes processed
simple material on-site in the Little Dora Mill and sent complex payrock, usually with a high
zinc content, to the Silver Lake Mill’s custom flotation plant. This lasted into 1919 when, like
other principal mines, miners exhausted the profitable grades of ore. The company conducted
some development work, resumed production in 1920, but closed the next year.3®

The Silver Ledge, at the head of Mineral Creek, was the district’s third and last major
operation during the World War 1 revival. In 1914, after Joseph Warner and William Feigel
failed at their custom milling venture, Louis Bonavida and Baptiste Matties leased the mine,
unwatered the shaft to the 400-foot level, and conducted development in new ground. They
struck fresh ore, enticed Feigel to prepare the mill for operations, and had both in production by
the end of the year. The operation did well into 1916, when Bonavida died, although his wife

37 colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Colorado Metals Co., North Star; “*Mining News," EMJ (7/29/16): 242; *"Mining News," EMJ (11/4/16):
845; Silverton Standard (1/22/16): 1; Silverton Standard (7/29/16): 1; Silverton Standard (10/14/16): 1; Silverton Standard (6/16/17).

3% Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: North Star; "Mining News," EMJ (12/7/18): 1013; Silverton Standard (9/13/19): 2; Silverton Standard
(10/4/19): 1; Silverton Standard (1/1/21): 1; Silverton Standard (8/13/21): 1.

3% Colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Dora, Hercules; Mineral Resources, 1916: 374; Mineral Resources, 1918: 862; Mineral Resources, 1920:
588; "Mining News," EMJ (3/25/16): 581; "Mining News," EMJ (8/26/16): 404.
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Jennie assumed his duties so the operation could continue. She held the lease, managed business
affairs, and worked with Fiegel to refit the mill. Further adjustments became unnecessary
because in 1917, the facility burned. Sartori now had to haul his ore to the North Star Mill, which
impacted profitability. In response, Sartori leased the mill in 1919 and ran it until miners
exhausted the Silver Ledge, which he closed later in the year.

Ice Lake Mining District

The Ice Lake Mining District’s quiet state during the late 1910s gave no hint that a
revival was under way in the rest of San Juan County. The only significant operation was the
Bandora, which saw intermittent activity at best. William Sullivan, the mine’s longtime operator,
produced silver ore on a limited basis until around 1912, when he suspended operations because
the best payrock was gone. When metals values began to creep upward, Sullivan waited until
1916 and reopened the Bandora, ostensibly under the Sullivan Mines Company. He employed a
small crew that altered between occasional production and vein development on a seasonal basis
into 1920, when metals prices reached their peak. Sullivan exploited the positive market to sell to
Henry Wycoff and other Denver mine speculators, before metals prices fell within a year.
Wycoff prepared for production and even contemplated moving the Yukon Mill onto the
property, before the 1921 depression struck.*®

Major Decline, 1921 - 1932

The spike of industry prosperity fostered by World War | ended by 1921 throughout
Colorado. The impending collapse struck with full force as almost the entire mining industry
failed, including the long-term producers. Conditions conspired against meaningful recovery.
Within the county, nearly all the known profitable ore bodies had been discovered, developed,
and worked to exhaustion after forty-five years of continuous activity. With the exception of a
few late-comers such as the Little Nation, Coming Wonder, and Garry Owen, the county offered
little potential for new discovery. In addition, the disappearance of custom concentration mills
ensured that the small operations had nowhere to process their low-grade ore. Outside the
county, as peace returned to the United States and Europe demand for and value of industrial
metals returned to lower pre-war prices. Furthermore, a deep, postwar depression crept over the
entire United States.

Those outside the county had only to consider statistics to recognize collapse. In 1921,
the mining industry generated a lowly $5,000 worth of gold, $64,000 in silver, $25,000 in lead,
and no zinc, tiny fractions of the previous years. Whereas miners produced $3,617,000 in 1920,
this diminished to $100,000 in 1921 and slightly double that for the following year, the least
amounts since 1882. The number of active mines fell proportionally. After 1921, the county had
around twenty small outfits, six medium-sized mines, and two large producers. Compared with
wartime, the small outfits fell by almost one-half and the rest by 75 percent. Only the late 1880s

490 colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Bandora; "Mining News," EMJ (8/21/20): 382; "Mining News," EMJ (11/13/20): 968.
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recession compared. The loss of jobs and ruined economy forced nearly half the population to
leave. In 1910, the county was home to around 3,000 individuals, and fewer than 1,700 remained
to make a living as they could.*®*

With a decrease in business came a reduction in railroad traffic. James Pitcher closed the
Silverton Railroad. Otto Mears, who had purchased the Silverton, Gladstone & Northerly
Railroad, ended service to Gladstone. Only the Sunnyside Mine reopened in 1922 along with a
handful of other companies hoping to profit from silver.*®® As early as 1920, however, the
Federal Reserve targeted the Pittman Act, creating insecurity in the silver market. Western
legislators and capitalists rallied in response, contested the anti-Pittman sentiments, and
safeguarded the Act in 1922. This kept the county’s mining industry alive, as federal statisticians
noted the situation from a broad perspective:

The situation in the Colorado metal-mining industry during the first half of 1922 was
disappointing, but there was a marked improvement as the year drew to an end,
particularly in November, when the prices for lead and zinc warranted hopes of a
stable market. There was also an increased interest in investigation of the industry by
capitalists. The price of $1 an ounce for silver derived from domestic ores under the
Pittman Act was all that kept many Colorado mines in operation in 1922.%

Just as the region seemed to be on the verge of low-level stability, however, the comptroller
general forced the Pittman Act to expire at the end of 1922. Silver reverted to its former value of
around $.65 per ounce, and the state mining industry fell apart. Coupled with a broad economic
shift toward finance and business, the expiration sealed the fate of silver mining in Colorado.**

Between 1923 and 1929, county residents left or found alternative sources of income.
Silverton miner Zeke Zanoni and Ouray resident Roger Henn recounted the distillation of liquor
to meet an enormous demand fostered by the Volstead Act, also known as Prohibition. Ethnic
Slavs and Italians produced wine. Henn noted that Ouray was a natural center for these activities
because of its remoteness and limited access. If Ouray was a sound location, Silverton was even
better and conducted as much business. Zanoni claimed that in Silverton, small saloons and
distilleries paid $25 per month to operate, large businesses provided $125, and the fees
guaranteed protection against federal raids.**®

Those workers who knew nothing other than mining faced a difficult struggle because
their skills were specialized and narrow. With no better means of income, many individuals
continued to mine with the lowered expectations of mere subsistence rather than finding
bonanzas. They sporadically leased blocks of ground in what had been the richest properties,

401 Henderson, 1926: 216 for production figures; Schulze, 1977: 1920. The number of active mines was derived from a survey of Colorado Mine
Inspectors’ Reports.

492 gj0an & Skowronski, 1975: 321.

493 Mineral Resources, 1922, V.1: 527.

404 wend of Pittman Silver Purchases Cut Profits Sharply," EMJ (12/1/23): 960; "News from Washington," EMJ (7/28/23): 165.

%% Henn, 1999: 50-2; Marshall and Zanoni, 1998: 12.
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secreting out small ore shoots and scraping together low-grade payrock left by previous outfits.
The leases tended to be short-lived as the subsistence miners moved from claim to claim
frequently. Production was limited to several tons per day. The lessees possessed resources
opposite to the strategy of economies of scale. Specifically, they had plenty of time, very little
capital, and expected little income, favoring hand-labor over mechanization. In an era of
relatively inexpensive and readily available machinery, the prevalence of such methods
effectively reversed fifty years of technological advancement, but also facilitated subsistence
survival.

Another subsistence strategy was gathering low-grade ore already brought to the surface
and abandoned by previous companies. While few companies willingly discarded profitable ore
outright, improved milling technologies, especially flotation, rendered this material profitable. all
The lessee sorted through waste rock dumps to recover formerly discarded payrock. Sorting was
well-suite to these impoverished lessees because it was ready at hand and required virtually no
capital or equipment except for shovels and screens. The work was not easy, though, and lessees
withstood alternately wind, storms, brilliant sun, frigid temperatures, or snow. During the latter
half of the 1920s, enough lessees braved the elements to constitute a small ore sorting industry
focused on the formerly richest mines.

In addition to the subsistence miners, a handful of capitalized companies maintained
some semblance of heavy industry in the county. They were few at the beginning of the 1920s
and increased in number as general economic conditions improved during the decade. All shared
similar characteristics that included proximity to transportation corridors, mines with histories of
production, profitable grades of ore, and an increasing reliance on machinery. Only a few of the
old mines in the county met these criteria, with the exception of the Eureka and Las Animas
districts. None of the operations were trouble-free except for the Sunnyside and Mayflower,
popularly known as the Shenandoah-Dives.

In 1922, ASARCo revived its subsidiary, Sunnyside Mining & Milling Company, and
reopened the Sunnyside. The Sunnyside company had no intention of permanently closing after
investing heavily in the property and resumed where it left off. A fortunate 162 miners were
offered jobs underground and an additional fifty-four positioned at the surface plant and two
mills. They produced and milled an impressive 500 tons of ore per day, double the normal
average per worker. The Sunnyside was already the largest employer and accounted for nearly
all the county’s output, and yet the company enlarged the operation.“

Management understood that the high rate of production would eventually exhaust the
known ore reserves and began a major development campaign in response. Most of the extant
workings were on the original Sunnyside property, so the company had wisely purchased all
adjoining claims in 1917 to support long-term operations. In 1922, the directors moved towards
development, beginning with Ruben McNutt’s old Washington. Miners started sinking the
Washington Shaft with three compartments instead of the usual two to maximize anticipated
production. By 1923, they reached the vein, drove development workings, and made available an

496 colorado Mine Inspectors' Reports: Sunnyside.
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entirely new ore reserve. In response, the company increased the workforce to 360 and hired an
additional 40 miners in 1926. An astounding 800 tons of ore poured out of the mine around the
clock and passed down the tramway to the mill at Eureka. The amount of concentrates supported
the Silverton Northern Railroad and constituted a huge percentage of the Durango Smelter’s
business. During 1926, the company reached production capacity and ensured its future by
expanding the underground workings into most of the adjoining ground including the Gold
Prince claims to the northeast and the old Mogul property to the northwest. Most of the ore was
low in grade, but the company sustained operations for the rest of the decade.*”’

Although the Sunnyside was the county’s most important operation, Charles Chase
developed the Mayflower into a close second. Chase was convinced that in the Las Animas
district, past mining operations gutted most of the high-grade ore in the upper reaches of the
veins but left vast deposits of low-grade material at depth. Chase, an exacting engineer, based his
educated opinion on twenty-five years of experience with deep mining in the San Juans. Born in
Hartford, Wisconsin, in 1876, Chase’s mining engineer father who brought the family to
Georgetown during the 1880s. Charles went east to Minneapolis for schooling, graduating in
1893. He returned to Colorado, studied metallurgy at the University of Colorado, and sought
work in the mining industry after graduating in 1898. Arthur Winslow hired him as surveyor and
assayer at the Liberty Bell Mine at Telluride, from whence Chase became general manager.
While at the Liberty Bell, Chase played various roles in the violent strikes that swept Telluride at
the turn of the century. Overall, he proved responsive to reasonable union demands such as better
living conditions, but he sided with the company and mine owners’ association in the face of
violence. When the industry slowed after the 1907 recession, Chase broadened his experience
elsewhere. By the